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CITATION OF REPORTS

Rule 46 of the Supreme Court is as follows:

Inasmuch as all the Reports prior to the 63rd have been reprinted by the
State, with the number of the Volume instead of the name of the Reporter,
counsel will cite the volumes prior to 63 N. C. as follows:

1 and 2 Martin, 9 Iredell Law
Paylor & Conf. } ............... as 1N.C. 10 “ P

1 Haywood ....c.cccvvemsecsesnenaes o2 1« “

2 B e L T 12« “

1 and 2 Car. Law Re- } “ 4w 13« “
pository & N, C. Term § 1 " Eq.

1 Murphey .....ccemenenn “ B ¢ 2 ¢ “

2 RN “ 6 3 “ “

3 & 13 7 * 4 “ [

1 Hawks ...... “ 8 « 5 ¢ o

2 [ [ 9 % 6 (1} [

3 13 [ 10 " 7 % €%

4 ¥ e L1 8 ¢ “

1 Devereux Law.... L1220 Busbee Law

2 o W13« “  Eq.

3 “ W14 1 Jones Law .

4 “ &“ 15 “ r_) i ““

1 “ o B, ceeererieireeesnenas (3 16 [ 3 13 “

2 B e “ 17 ¢ 4 “ “

1 Dev. 44 18 & 5 “ +“

2 13 “ 19 46 6 [ [

3&4¢ “ 20 ¢ 7 “ “

1 Dev. & Bat. Eq... “ 21 ¢ 8 s “

2 s “o “ 22 « 1 “ Eq.

1 Iredell Law “ 2 “ “

2 [ [ & 3 113 PR1)

3 6 [ 1] 4 [y “

4 & “ 4 5 [y [

5 g [ [ 6 £ “ ve.s

[} “ (U “ 1 and 2 Winsto "

7 ¢ “ “ Phillips Taw ... “

8§ o« “ s ¢ BqQ. e o

27 In quoting from the reprinted Reports, counsel will ecite always the
marginal (i.e., the original) paging.

The opinions published in the first six volumes of the reports were written
by the “Court of Conference” and the Supreme Court prior to 1819.

From the 7th to the 62d volumes, both inclusive, will be found the opinions
of the Supreme Court, consisting of three members, for the first fifty years
of its existence, or from 1818 to 1868. The opinions of the Court, consisting
of five members, immediately following the Civil War, are published in the
volumes from the 63d to the T9th, both inclusive. From the 80th to the
101st volumes, both inclusive, will be found the opinion of the Court, con-
sisting of three members, from 1879 to 1889. The opinions of the Court, con-
sisting of five members, from 1889 to 1 July, 1937, are published in volumes
102 to 211, both inclusive. Since 1 July, 1937, and beginning with volume 212,
the Court has consisted of seven members.
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JUSTICES

OF THE

SUPREME COURT OF NORTH CAROLINA

FALL TERM, 1949—SPRING TERM, 1950.

CHIEF JUSTICE !

WALTER P. STACY.

ASSOCIATE JUSTICES

WILLIAM A. DEVIN, A. A. F. SEAWELL,
M. V. BARNHILL, EMERY B. DENNY,
J. WALLACE WINBORNE, S. J. ERVIN, JR.

ATTORNEY-GENERAL @

HARRY McMULLAN.

ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS-GENERAL @

T. W. BRUTON,

H. J. RHODES,
RALPH MOODY,
JAMES E. TUCKER,
PEYTON B. ABBOTT,
JOHN HILL PAYLOR.

SUPREME COURT REPORTER:

JOHN M. STRONG.

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT:

ADRIAN J. NEWTON.

MARSHAL AND LIBRARIAN :

DILLARD S. GARDNER.
iii



JUDGES

OF THE

SUPERIOR COURTS OF NORTH CAROLINA

EASTERN DIVISION

Name District Address
CHESTER MORRIS.....ccereneerernminnissnsissinstssnnanes FirSt..cecveererccnienieesonsinnee Currituck.
WALTER J. BONE... JOREST:TTo3 ¢ Lo FOUTRNRR OO Nashville,

R. HUNT PARKER......... W THIPA.ceveeeeeeiennrennineereninne Roanoke Rapids.
OLAWSON L. WILLIAMS..ccciciernnneisnrsessenionian Fourth.. Sanford.
J. PauL FRIZZELLE.... Fifth..... Snow Hill.

HEgNRY L. STEVENS, JR.. errveereresrarenen 135 5.4 4 | PO SR Warsaw.
W. C. HARRIS....cocerveinene e Seventh. e Raleigh.

JoHN J. BURNEY.. Eighth Wilmington.
Q. K. NIMOCKS, JRucccrvienns ..Ninth TFayetteville,
LEO CARRu.covreverinrcrrererarnetisessressssismsssnnssisons Tenth...ce.es .Burlington.

SPECIAL JUDGES
W. H: S. BURGWYN.ioiieienrisiinenianseenns . vereeen. Woodland.
WiLrLiaM I. HALSTEAD ....South Mills.
WirLiaM T. HATCH... ....Raleigh.
WILKINS P. HORTONL. ..ottt Pittsboro.

WESTERN DIVISION

JOHN H. CLEMENT...ccoeceesressesrerssesnnrnns Eleventh.....coccnvrnenenns Winston-Salem.
H., HOYLE SINEK....cctvrmmeronmsessensssmosssesssnssonser Twelfth..cniennn Greensboro.

F. DONALD PHILLIPS.......cocoiieiiiineriiinnns Thirteenth. ..Rockingham.
WILLIAM H. BOBBITT.....ccovnievareressnns Fourteenth......cccconvenen Charlotte.

FRANK M. ARMSTRONG Fifteenth.....cccenneennnns Troy.

J. C. RUDISILL......coovviiiaiiinacinianie e Sixteenth.....ccoccveiivninnen Newton.

J. A. ROUSSEAU vesreerseeneresaens Seventeenth.. ..North Wilkesboro.
J. WILL PLESS, JR.ccisviiniininssissicesssicnnenns. Eighteenth.... Marion

ZeB V. NETTLES..... .

DaxN K. MOORE......

ALLEN H. GWYN

GEORGE B. PATTON....ccovvairrerirsocssssestersiossesasiansanssssssessssisssssssssssissssssins Franklin

HAROLD K. BENNETT. ..ooritieeireireeeieetteereeseiieseeninsasressseassesissnssssnnerss Asheville.
SUBIE SEIARP. ..o veseeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeseesaetee atosaeseeesseemeeaatoras st asssaie s sae s ettt Reidsville.

EMERGENCY JUDGES

HENRY A. GRADY ...oocvvrererrrreirereisisiseesssssrssimessnsssassnsosssssssssisssssssssssssssons New Bern.
FeLix E. ALLEY, SR. . . . Waynesville.
LUTHER HAMILTON. .....co0tiitiiieioiteateiarieesnesaamsnasassrie st st ae s esiiiesansans Morehead City.

1Deceased. Succeeded by Howard G. Godwin, Dunn, appointed 8 February, 1950.
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SOLICITORS

EASTERN DIVISION

Name District Address
WALTER W. COHOON...........ooovviviniecienn, FiArsteeceeeeencricnnninieennn. Elizabeth City.
GEORGE M. FOUNTAIN ...Second ...Tarboro.

....Roxobel.
XKenly.
.Greenville.
Roseboro.

ERNEST R. TYLER....
W. Jack Hooxks...
W.J. BUNDY.........
J. ABNER BARKERL...

WirLriaM Y. BICKETT. ....Seventh ....Raleigh.
CLiFToN L. MOORE.......... .Eighth... ..Burgaw.
MarcorM B. SEAWELL...........ccocooiiinen.n. Nintheoivn... Lumberton.
WitLiaM H. MURDOCK........ccccoooiiviiiii, Tenth....ccuenerinninesnennnn. Durham.

WALTER E. JOHNSTON, JB. .ccovvrrrnininrnnie. Eleventh......enienne. Winston-Salem.
...Greensboro.

M. G. BOYETTE....cocvvterersrnerurssressvemssuesssenerancne Thirteenth.. ..Carthage.
BasinL L. WHITENER .Fourteenth.. ...Gastonia.
JoHN R. MCLAUGHLIN..... Fifteenth..... ...Statesville.
JaMEs C. FARTHING..... ...8ixteenth. ...Lenoir.
AVALON H. HALL.....occotvrnrreerrvenrenissninn ...Seventeenth ....Yadkinville,
C. 0. RipINGS..... ...Eighteenth..... Forest City.

W. K. MCLEAN .cccorvnrenrcrrenranvessressessasiessansnns Nineteenth.. ....Asheville.
THADDEUS D. BRYSON, JR........oooovviinnnnn, Twentieth... ...Bryson City.
R, J. SCOTT...ocoiiiticciinnrinreriecsenteisiessonnes Twenty-Arst...cvveennnnn. Danbury.

1Deceased. Succeeded by Walter T. Britt, Clinton, appointed 20 December, 1949,
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SUPERIOR COURTS, SPRING TERM, 1950

The numbers in parentheses following the date of a term indicate the
number of weeks during which the term may be held.

THIS CALENDAR IS UNOFFICIAL

EASTERN DIVISION

FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Burney

Beaufort—Jan. 16* (2); Feb, 20 (2);
March 20* (A); Apr. 10t; May 8t (2);
June 26,

Camden—Mar, 13.

Chowan—Apr, 3; May 1.

Currituck—Mar. 6.

Dare—May 29.

Gates—Mar, 27,

Hyde—May 22.

Pasquotank-—-Jan. 9t;: Feb. 13%; Feb, 20¢
(A) (2); Mar. 20%; May 8% (A) (2); June
5*; June 12% (2).

Perquimans—Apr. 17.

Tyrrell—Feb. 6%; Apr. 24.

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Nimocks

Edgecombe~—Jan. 23; Mar. 6; Apr, 31 (2);
June 5 (2).

Martin—Mar. 20 (2); Apr. 17F (A) (2);
June 19.

Nash—Jan. 30; Feb. 20%f (2); Mar. 13;
Apr. 24% (2); May 29.

‘Washington—Jan, 9 (2); Apr, 174,

Wilson—Feb. 6t; Feb. 13‘ May 16*; May
.22%; June 26%.

THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Carr

Bertie—Feb. 13 (2); May 8 (2).

Halifax—Jan. 30 (2), Mar, 201' (2); May
1; June 5% (2).

Hertford—Feb. 27; Apr. 17 (2).

Northampton—Apr. 3 (2).

Vance—Jan. 9%; Mar. 6*; Mar. 18%; June
19%; June 26f.

Warren—Jan. 16%; Jan. 23%;
May 29t. .

May 22%;

FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Morris

Chatham-—Jan., 16; Mar. 6%; 20%;
May 15.

Harnett—Jan. 9*; Feb. 6t (2); Mar. 20¢
(A); Apr 3? (A) (2); May 8t; May 22%;
June 12t (

Johnston—Jan 9t (A) (2); Feb, 13 (A);
Feb. 20t (2); Mar. 6 (A); Mar. 13; Apr. 17
(A); Apr. 241 (2); June 26*,

Lee—Jan. 30t (A) (2); Mar. 27*; Apr.
3t; June 19t (A). )

Wayne—Jan. 23; Jan. 30t; Feb. 6% (A);
Mar. 6% (A) (2); Apr. 10; Apr. 17%; Apr.
241 (A); May 29; June 5%; June 12+ (A).

Mar.

¥FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Bone
Carteret—Mar, 13; June 12 (2).
Craven—Jan. 9; Jan., 301 (2); Feb. 13;
Apr. 10; May 15%; June 5.
Greene—Feb. 27 (2); June 26,

Jones—Apr. 8.

Pamlico—May 1 (2).

Pitt—Jan. 16t; Jan., 23; Feb. 26%; Mar.
22)(2); Apr. 17 (2); May 8} (A); May 22t
(2).

SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Parker

Duplin—Jan. 8% (2); Jan. 30*;
(2); Apr. 101 (2).

Lenoir—Jan, 23%; Feb. 201 (2); Apr. 24;
May 15% (2); June 121‘ (2); June 26*,

Onslow—Mar, 6; May 29 (2).

Sampson—Feb. 6 (2); Mar. 27 (2); May
11 (2); June 121 (A) (2).

Mar. 13%

SEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Williams

Franklin—Jan. 23% (2); Feh. 13%;
17%; May 11 (2).

Wake—Jan. 9*; Jan. 16f; Jan. 23t (A)
(2); Feb. 20% (2). Mar. 6* (2); Mar. 20t
(2); Apr. 3%; Apr. 174 (A); Apr. 24%; May
1t (A) May 8¢ (A); May 151‘ (3); June 5*
(2); June 19t (2).

Apr.

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Frizzelle

Brunswick—Jan. 23; Apr. 3}f; May 22,

Columbus-—Jan. 9t (A) (2); Jan. 30*% (2);
Feb. 20t (2); May 8%; June 19,

New Hanover—Jan. 16*; Feb. 6t (A);
Feb. 13f; Feb. 27* (A); Mar. 6%; Mar. 13t
(2); Apr. 10 (2); May 15*; May 291 (2);
June 12%.

Pender—Jan. 9; Mar. 27t; May 1.

NINTH JUDICTAL DISTRICT
Judge Stevens

Bladen-—Jan. 9; Mar. 20*; May 1t%.

Cumberland—Jan 16%; Feb 13% (2); Mar.
6* (A); Mar. 13%; Mar 27t (2); May 1*
(A); May 8% (2); June 5%,

Hoke—Jan. 28; Apr. 24,

Robeson—Jan. 161 (A) (2); Jan. 30* (2);
Feb. 27t (2); Mar. 20* (A); Apr. 10* (2):
Apr. 24%f (A); May 8* (A) (2); May 22t
(2); June 12f; June 19%,

TENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Harris
Alamance--Jan. 30t (A); Feb 27%;
3t; May 15* (A); May 29t (2)
Durham—Jan. 9*; Jan. 16} (2); Jan., 30t
(A); Feb. 20%; Feb. 27t (A); Mar. 61 (2);
Mar. 20t (A); Mar. 27%; Apr. 3* (A); Apr.
10t (A) (3); May 1% (2), May 22*; May
29t (A) (8); June 26*.
Granville—Feb, § (2); Apr, 10 (2),
Orange—Mar. 20; May 15%; June 12; June
19%

Person—Jan. 80; Feb. 6 (A); Apr. 24,

Apr.




COURT CALENDAR. vii

WESTERN DIVISION

ELEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Clement

Ashe—Apr, 17*; May 29% (2).

Alleghany——-Jan 30 (A): May 1.

Forsyth—Jan, 9* (2); Jan. 161 (A); Jan.
23+ (2); Feb, 6* (2); Feb, 131 (A); Feb. 20}
(2); Mar, 6* (2); Mar. 13t (A); Mar. 207
(2); Apr. 3* (2); Apr. 17 (A); Apr. 24; May
1 (A); May 15* (2); May 29%:(A) (2); June
12*% (2); June 191 (A) (2).

TWELFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Sink

Davidson—Jan. 30; Feb. 20t (2); Apr,
éO# (A) (2); May 8; May 29t (A) (2); June
6.

Guilford—Greensboro Division—Jan. 9%;
Jan. 16+ (2); Feb, 6* (2); Feb. 20t (A)
(2); Mar. 6%; Mar. 27*%; Apr. 3t (2); Apr.
17% (2); Apr. 24* (A); May 22%; June 6%t
(2); June 19*.

Guilford—High Point Division—Jan, 16*
(A); Feb. 13% (A); Mar. 13*; Mar., 20} (2);
May 1*; May 15t (A) 2); May 29%,

THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Phillips

Anson—Jan. 16%; Mar. 6t; Apr. 17 (2);
June 12%.

Moore-—Jan. 23%;
22%; May 29%.

Rlchmond—Jan g9*; Feb. 6t (A);
20%; Apr. 10%; May 291’ (A); June 19%.

Scotland—Mar, 13; May 1%,

Stanly—Feb. 6t; Feb. 13t (A); Apr. 3;
May 15%.

Union—Feb, 20 (2); May 8.

Feb. 131; Mar. 271; May
Mar,

FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Gwyn

Gaston—Jan, 16%; Jan. 23t (2); Mar. 13*
{A); Mar, 20 (2); Apr. 24*; May 221 (A)
{2); June 5%,

Mecklenburg—Jan. 9*; Jan. 9% (A) (2);
Jan. 23% (A) (2); Jan. 23t (A) (2); Feb.
6+ (A) (2); Feb. 6t (3); Feb. 20} (A) (2);
Feb., 27*; Mar. 6% (2); Mar. 6% (A) (2);
Mar. 20+ (A) (2); Mar. 20* (A) (2); Apr.
3f (2); Apr. 3% (A) (2); Apr. 17* (A);
Apr. 17t; Apr. 241 (A); May 1% (2); May 1t
(A) (2); May 15*; May 15% (A) (2); May
22% (2); May 29+ (A) (2); June 12} (A)
(2); June 12*; June 19%; June 26* (2).

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Bobbitt
Alexander—Jan 23 (A) (2).
Cabarrus—Jan. 9 (2); Feb. 27%; Mar. 6}
{A); Apr. 24 (2); June 121 (2).
Iredell—Jan, 30 (2); Mar. 13%; May 22

{2).
Montgomery—Jan. 23*; Apr, 10+ (2).

Randolph—Jan. 30+ (A) (2); Mar. 20t
(2); Apr. 3*; June 26%,

Rowan—Feb, 13 (2); Mar. 6t; Mar, 13%
{A); May 8 (2).

SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Armstrong
Burke—Feb, 20; Mar, 13 (2); June 5 (3).
Caldwell—Jan. 9% (A) (2); Feb. 27 (2);
May 8 (A); May 22t (2); June 5% (A) (2).
Catawba—Jan. 161 (2); Feb. 6 (2); Apr.
10t (2); May 8% (2).
Cleveland—Jan. 9; Mar. 27 (2); May 22%
(A) (2).
Lincoln—Jan 23 (A); Jan. 30%.
Watauga—Apr. 24%; June 12} (A) (2).

SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Rudistll

Avery—Apr, 17 (2).

Davie—Mar. 27; May 29%.

Mitchell—Apr. 3 (2).

Wilkes—Jan, 16t (3); Mar. 6 (3); May
1t (2); June 5 (2); June 191 (2).

Yadkin—Feb. § (3).

EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Rousseau

Henderson—Jan. 9t (2); Mar. 6 (2); May
1% (2); May 29% (2).

McDowell—Jan. -16* (A);
June 12 (2).

Polk—Jan. 230 (2).

Rutherford—Feb. 271; Apr. 17f (2); May
15 (2); June 261 (2).

Transylvania—Apr. 3 (2).

Yancey—Jan. 23%; Mar. 20 (2).

NINETEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Pless

Buncombe—Jan, 9t (2); Jan. 16 (A) (2);
Jan. 28*; Jan, 30; Feb. 6f (2); Feb. 20 (A)
(2); Feb 20%; Mar 6t (2); Mar. 20*; Mar.
20 (A) (2); Apr. 83t (2); Apr. 17*%; Apr 17
(A) (2); May 1; May 8% (2); May 22*; May
22 (A) (2); June 51 (2); June 19%; June 19
(A) (D).

Madison—Jan. 30t (A); Feb., 27; Apr. 3
(A) (2); May 29; June 26

TWENTIETH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Nettles
Cherokee—Jan. 231 (2); Apr. 3 (2); June
19% (2).
Clay—May 1,
Graham—Jan. 91 (A) (2); Mar. 20 (2);

Feb. 131 (2);

June 5% (2).

Haywood—Jan. 9t (2); Feb. 6 (2); May
8% (2).

Jackson—UFeb. 20 (2); May'22 (2); June
12% (A).

Macon—Apr.
Swain—Jan. 161‘ (A) (2); Mar, 6 (2).

TWENTY-FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Judge Moore

Caswell—Mar. 20 (2).

Rockingham—Jan. 23* (2); Mar, 6+; Mar.
13%; Apr. 171; May 8% (2); May 22* (2);
June 121 (2).

Stokes—Jan. 2*;
26*.

Surry—Jan. 9 (2); Feb, 13; Feb. 20 (2);
Apr. 24 (2); June 5.

Apr. 3*; Apr. 10t; June

*For criminal cases.
tFor civil cases.
tFor jail and civil cases.

{A) Special or Emergency Judge to be assigned.



UNITED STATES COURTS FOR NORTH CAROLINA

DISTRICT COURTS

Bastern District—DoN GILLIAM, Judge, Wilson,
Middle District—JoHNsoN J. HAYES, Judge, Greensboro.
Western District—WILsoN WARLICK, Judge, Newton.

EASTERN DISTRICT

Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Raleigh, Civil and criminal term, second Monday in March and Sep-
tember ; eriminal term, fourth Monday after the second Monday in
March and September. A. HAND JAMES, Clerk.

Fayetteville, third Monday in March and September. T. L. Honw,
Deputy Clerk.

Elizabeth City, third Monday after the second Monday in March and
September. Sapie A. Hoorer, Deputy Clerk, Elizabeth City.

Washington, sixth Monday after the second Monday in March and
September. Geo. TAYLoR, Deputy Clerk, Washington.

New Bern, fifth Monday after the second Monday in March and Sep-
tember. MaTriLpA H. TUBNER, Deputy Clerk, New Bern.

Wilson, eighth Monday after the second Monday in March and Sep-
tember. Mes. Eva L. Younea, Deputy Clerk, Wilson.

Wilmington, tenth Monday after the second Monday in March and
September.  J. Doucras TAYLOR, Deputy Clerk, Wilmington.

OFFICERS
JouxN Harr MANNING, U. S, Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
Howarp H. Hussarp, Clinton, LocaN D. Howegrr, Raleigh, N. C., Assistant
United States Attorneys.
F. S. WorTHY, United States Marshal, Raleigh.
A, Hanp Jaumes, Clerk United States District Court, Raleigh.

MIDDLE DISTRICT
Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Durham, fourth Monday in September and first Monday in February.
HEeENRY ReYNoOLDS, Clerk, Greensboro.

Greensboro, first Monday in June and December. HENRY REYNOLDS,
Clerk ; MYRTLE D. CoBB, Chief Deputy; LILLIAN HARKRADER, Deputy
Clerk ; P. H. BEEsoN, Deputy Clerk; MAupE B. Grurs, Deputy Clerk.

Rockingham, first Monday in March and September. HENRY REYN-
orps, Clerk, Greensboro.

Salisbury, third Monday in April and October. HENRY REYNOLDS,
Clerk, Greensboro.

Winston-Salem, first Monday in May and November. HENRY REYNOLDS,
Clerk, Greensboro; Erra SHORE, Deputy Clerk.

Wilkesboro, third Monday in May and November. HENRY REYNOLDS,
Clerk, Greensboro; C. H. COWLES, Depuﬁy\ Clerk.

OFFICERS ™
BryYcE R. Hort, United States District Attorney, Greensboro.
R. KENNEDY HARRIS, Assistant United States Attorney, Greensboro.
Miss Eprra HAWORTH, Assistant United States Attorney, Greensboro.
THEODORE C. BETHEA, Assistant United- States Attorney, Reidsville.
Wirriam D. Kizzia®, United States Marshal, Greensboro, N. C.
HenrY REYNoLDS, Clerk United States District Court, Greensboro.
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UNITED STATES COURTS. ix

WESTERN DISTRICT

Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Asherville, second Monday in May and November, Oscar L. McLUBD,
Clerk ; WiLLiaM A, LYTLE, Chief Deputy Clerk; VERNE E. BARTLETT,
Deputy Clerk ; MRs. NOREEN WARREN FREEMAN, Deputy Clerk.

Charlotte, first Monday in April and October. CHAas. A. RHINEHART,
Deputy Clerk, Charlotte.

Statesville, Third Monday in March and September. ANNIE ADER-
HOLDT, Deputy Clerk.

Shelby, Third Monday in April and third Monday in October. Oscar
L. McLurp, Clerk.

Bryson City, fourth Monday in May and November. Oscar L. McLURD,
Clerk.

OFFICERS

THos. A. UzzeLr, Jr., United States Attorney, Asheville.

Francis H, FamRLEY, Assistant United States Attorney, Charlotte.
JaMES B. CRAVEN, Jr., Assistant United States Attorney, Asheville.
JacoB C. BowMaN, United States Marshal, Asheville.

Oscae L. McLusp, Clerk United States District Court, Asheville,



LICENSED ATTORNEYS

SPRING TERM, 1950.

I, Edward L. Cannon, Secretary of the Board of Law Examiners of the
State of North Carolina, do certify that the following named persons have
duly passed examinations of the Board of Law Examiners as of the 10th
day of March, 1950:

BASON, WILLIAM ASHE....cccoimrrereersusresserrersransanssresersossossarsesssessessssssans ..Raleigh
BLANCHARD, CHARLES J'ULLER.....c.occceenvireciverenseisvsssessessntoresrsssressasssesses Raleigh
Boor, WILLIAM HARDING......... . . .Charlotte
BOULDIN, JOSEPH EDMUNDS...ccccviirirreensersirssiressresiessnssstesessssssarsesassssrssness Oxford

BRASWELL, JUNE RAY....cucrnnne. .Newland
BROUGHTON, JOSEPH MELVILLE, JR.... .Raleigh
BBOWN, GLENN WILLIAM...ocioiieeicrorconssssessorassoserssssenssssassessanssnsensssocnd Clyde
CANADAY, HARRY EDSEL....iqecrcssvererrsenreccannresscsicssmssosserressssesssssssosssossosses Benson
CLARK, DAVID : Lincolnton

CoLE, GENE PORTER. Charlotte

CRAFT, WILLIAM EARL Greenville
DAY, NORE ELEXUS, JB..cccverrirninruran reeert ettt nas st aesae s ereesssaaersnas Jacksonville
DOBY, HENBY CALVIN, JRucuiiirienmriimiriniiiiisasiscteseesessaseesassessonns Albemarle
EGGERS, STACY CLYDE, JR..oierrecrerrreeeane. et bret e ettt bt bebaenas b bee s s abaan Asgsheville
HESSER, GEORGE HYNDMAN, JRuuiiiiviiiiiiinnicsimmnnecniessenimnioneesssessesessens Chapel Hill
FINCH, BAXTER HERMAN ....cccvrerernsristireessacsimesiossesraassssssnssessrsosssoseossonrans Spring Hope

FRANKS, JOSEPH DANIEL, JR .Elon College
FULLER, LEROY FRANK............ ervereeestenressensrssaeed Chapel Hill
GILLIAM, STEBLING GARY....cccccosmrsersnnssiserssnseacens Henderson
HAMILTON, LUTHER, JR.....coserrenee Morehead City
HINES, ROBERT LEE......cccoscutrnreirnirsonnrsemsnressossasemssessressaressessaessnssans .Mount Airy
HiprP, EDWARD BRANDT............ reseiesesstsanpeere s tra b reeasase Srbesnnsernessnesanannen: Greensboro

HOFMANN, FREDERIC....
HoLLEMAN, CARL PARTIN.
Horroway, FULLER
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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED

SUPREME COURT
NORTH CAROLINA
RALEIGH

FALL TERM, 1249

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION OF JANE DOE, Mixor, By JAMES T.
McCRAW aAxp LOUISE M. McCRAW, His WIFE.

{Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Bastards § 15—

‘Where the mother and the reputed father of a child born out of wedlock
thereafter marry, the child acquires the status of legitimacy which accom-
panies it wherever it goes and is determinative of the rights and duties
of the parents as to its custody and support. G.S. 49-12 as amended by
chap. 663, sec. 2, Laws of 1947.

2. Appeal and Error § 51c—

A decision of the Supreme Court must be interpreted with reference to
the framework of the particular case. )

3. Adoption §8 4, 7, 8—Upon marriage of mother and veputed father, pro-
ceedings for adoption upon consent of mother should be revoked.

Where proceeding for the adoption of a child born out of wedlock is insti-
tuted in conformity with the statute upon the written consent of its
mother, G.8. 48-5, but its mother and reputed father marry prior to an
order of reference directing the Superintendent of Public Welfare of the
county to make a full investigation to determine if the child is a proper
child for adoption, etc., and the natural parents intervened and moved to
vacate and dismiss the proceeding, held at the time of the reference and at
the time the court came to determine whether “the child is the proper sub-
ject for adoption,” G.S. 48-3, G.8. 48-4, G.S. 485, the status of the child
had changed from illegitimate to legitimate, and the motion of interveners
to vacate the proceeding and for the custody of their child should have
been allowed, it being required in a proceeding for the adoption of a
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legitimate child that its natural parents be parties or their consent to the
adoption be made to appear unless they had abandoned the child. G.S.
14-322, G.S. 14-326. The institution of bastardy proceedings against the
father prior to the birth of the child is in itself insufficient to establish
such abandonment.

ArpEaL by interveners, Hubert C. Wilder and his wife, Elizabeth May
Wilder, minors, by their next friend, W. C. Wilder, from Bone, J., at
Chambers in Nashville, North Carolina, 5 August, 1949. From Wirson.

Proceeding for the adoption of a minor child born out of wedlock, at
Rocky Mount, in Nash County, N, C., instituted 1 January, 1949, before
Clerk of Superior Court of Wilson County, N. C., in which proceeding
the natural parents, after marriage 4 January, 1949, intervened on
4 June, 1949, and moved to vacate and dismiss the proceeding.

The record diseloses that the procedure in this adoption proceeding up
to and including the interlocutory order, dated 28 February, 1949, seems
to follow the provisions of the General Statutes of North Carolina,
Chapter 48, as amended by Chapter 281 of P.L. 1941, pertaining to the
adoption of a minor child, applicable to a case where the child is born
out of wedlock, and the mother of the child releases all rights to the child,
and surrenders it to the Superintendent of Public Welfare of the county
for placement and adoption, and consents to the adoption by any person
selected by him. See G.S. 48-4 and G.S. 48-5 as amended by P.L. 1941,
Chapter 281.

The record shows that an order of 1eference was made on 7 Januar Y,
1949, by Clerk of Superior Court of Wilson County, directing James A.
Glover, Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash County to “make a
full, careful and complete investigation of the conditions and antecedents
of the said minor for the purpose of ascertaining whether she is a proper
subject for adoption,” ete.

The record further shows that an interlocutory order was entered in
the proceeding by the Clerk of Superior Court of Wilson County, N. C,,
on 28 February, 1949, in which after reciting the representations set
forth in the petition and, further, that “whereas upon examination and
consideration of the reports of the investigating officials assigned to this
case, and other evidence now available to the court, it is found by the
court that the home of the petitioners is a proper and suitable home in
which to place the said Jane Doe and that the said minor is a fit subJect
for adoption, and that the adoption of said minor by said petitioners is
for the best interest of the said child,” the court tentatively approved the
adoption of said child by the petitioners, and ordered that she “be, and is
hereby placed in the care and custody of petitioners until further orders
of this court.” The court further “expressly ordered that this order shall
be provisional only and may be rescinded or modified at any time prior to
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final order of adoption which shall be made not less than one year or more
than two years after this date,” and “that until said final order of adop-
tion the said minor shall be and remain a ward of this court, and its care
shall be under the supervision of Monroe Fulghum, Superintendent of
Public Welfare of Wilson County, unless otherwise directed by the court.”

The motion of the interveners, filed 4 June, 19498, in substance and in
material part, is predicated upon these allegations: That they, the
natural parents of the child, the subject of the proceeding, made definite
plans on 31 December, 1948, to intermarry; that about 8:30 o’clock a.m;,
on 3 January, 1949, they gave oral notice thereof to James A. Glover,
County Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash County; that they
were intermarried at 5 o'clock a.m., on 4 January, 1949, at Dillon, in the
State of South Carolina; that thereby their child was legitimated, upon
which “all basis for adoption expired”; that thereupon they proceeded
directly to the office of the said James A. Glover at Nashville, North
Carolina, arriving at approximately 10 o’clock a.m., on same day, and
gave to him notice of their intermarriage,—exhibiting to him a certificate
of their marriage, and demanded to have the care and custody of their
child, to which he, the said Glover, answered, “It’s too late,” and declined
to give them information as to the whereabouts of the child, or as to
pendency of the adoption proceeding in Wilson County, and continued
to ignore their pleas for, and as to the whereabouts of their child,—as
well as to ignore their legal status as legitimate parents of the child, and
that despite all of which he continued to participate in the proceeding;
that the notice of the marriage given to the Superintendent of Public
Welfare of Nash County, and the demand for the child was adequate
notice of the legitimation of the ehild and of the mother’s withdrawal of
any consent to the custody and adoption of her child which she may have
previously given; that by reason of legitimation of the child by the mar-
riage of her parents on 4 January, 1949, the order of reference on
7 January, 1949, and the interlocutory order of 28 February, 1949, as
well as intermediate proceedings, whatever such proceedings may have
been, their contents being denied to them, were void; and that they, the
interveners, ave entitled to the care and custody of their child.

While the petitioners, in reply to the averments in the motjon of inter-
veners, plead the regularity of the adoption proceeding upon the consent
of the mother of the child, they say (1) that they “are advised and so
believe that on January 3, 1949, one W. C. Wilder went to see James A.
Flover, County Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash County, at his
office in Nashville, North Carolina, and thercupon . . . advised . . .
Glover that he, Wilder, was of the opinion that Elizabeth May Jacobs
(Wilder) and Hubert C. Wilder might marry in the event that they
would thereby be able to secure custody of the child, which is the subject
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of this proceeding”; (2) that “it is not denied that Hubert C. Wilder and
Elizabeth May Jacobs (Wilder) were married on January 4, 1949”; (3)
that “petitioners are informed, advised, and so aver that on January 4,
1949, Elizabeth May Jacobs (Wilder) went into the oftice of James A.
Glover alone and advised him of her marriage”; (4) that “it is not denied
that Hubert C. Wilder, the alleged father of said child, has not consented
to its adoption”; and (5) that “petitioners admit that Section 12 of
Chapter 49 of the General Statutes of North Carolina apply as between
Hubert C. Wilder and the child, which is the subjeet of this adoption
proceeding.”

And petitioners further say that the intervener, Hubert C. Wilder,
denied paternity of the child consistently prior to 4 January, 1949, and
failed and refused to “wmake any provision for its maintenance and sup-
port prior” thereto, and that in consequence Elizabeth May Jacobs
{Wilder) swore out a warrant against him in the Recorder’s Court of
Nash County on 13 September, 1948, alleging his paternity of the child,
and failure to support it.

The reeord also contains purported copy of warrant, and of the affidavit
upon which the warrant was issued, together with bond for appearance
of Hubert . Wilder in the Recorder’s Court at Nashville, N. C., on
4 October, 1948, which the Clerk of Superior Court of Nash County
certifies are true coples of such papers “in a certain eriminal action lately
pending in the Recorder’s Court of this County wherein the State of
North Carolina was prosecutor and Hubert Cordell Wilder was the de-
fendant, as the same is taken from and compared with the original which
is on file in this office.”

The record also contains affidavits of twenty-uine persons, men and
women, mostly of Nash County, and some of Franklin County, who sax
they have known Hubert C, Wilder and his wife, Elizabeth May Wilder,
for various periods of time, from 7 to 20 years; that they intermarried
subsequent to the birth of their child; that otherwise their general repu-
tation and character in the community in which they live is good; that
they are suitable persons to have the care and custody of their child; that
cach believes they will provide a good home for themselves and their
child; and that the custody of their child should be awarded to them,

When the cause came on for hearing on 27 June, 1949, upon the said
motion of interveners, and after consideration thereof, the Clerk of
Superior Clourt made extensive findings of fact,—the material portions of
which in summary are these:

1. That the child, which is the subjeet of the proceeding, was born to
1ilizabeth M. Jacobs (Wilder) out of wedlock. on 6 December, 1948, in
Park View Hospital, Rocky Mount, N. C.
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2. That prior to the birth of this child, Hubert C. Wilder was its
putative father, and that (he denied paternity and refused to contribute
to its support). (The portion in parenthesis was disapproved by the
judge on appeal as hereinafter shown.)

3. That Elizabeth May Jacobs (Wilder) caused a warrant to be issued
from the Recorder’s Court of Nash County, North Carolina, against
Hubert C. Wilder on 13 September, 1948, in which she complained that
he had denied paternity of the child and had failed and refused to main-
tain and support the child ; and that the eriminal proceeding was pending
at the date of the birth of the child, as well as at the time the child was
placed in the custody of the petitioners, and at the time of the institution
of this adoption proceeding.

4. That on 8 December, 1948, Elizabeth May Jacobs (Wilder) executed
a written consent and surrender, in due form, releasing all her rights in,
and claim to her said child to the Superintendent of Public Welfare of
Nash County, North Carolina, and granting to him authority to place
her child in a foster home selected by him with the privilege of legal
adoption, without further notice to her.

5. That on 20 December, 1948, Klizabeth May Jacobs (Wilder)
executed in conformity with law and voluntarily a request for the separa-
tion from her of her infant child under six months of age, and James A.
Glover, Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash County, North Caro-
lina, executed his acceptance thereof on 23 December, 1948, and on same
day executed his approval of the separation, all in due form and in com-
pliance with the law for such cases.

6. That the child, the subject of this proceeding, was placed in the home
of the petitioners on 23 December, 1948,

7. That the petition for adoption of the child by James T. MeCraw
and wife, Louise M. McCraw, was filed 1 January, 1949,

8. That James A. Glover, Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash
County, North Carolina, executed his consent to the adoption of this
child by petitioners on 3 January, 1949,

9. That Elizabeth May Jacobs, the mother of the child, the subject of
this proceeding, and Hubert C. Wilder, its putative father, were married
at 5 o’clock a.m., on 4 January, 1949.

10. That an order of reference was entered in the cause on 7 January,
1949, directing James A. Glover, Superintendent of Public Welfare of
Nash County, North Carolina, to make a full, careful and complete in-
vestigation of the conditions and antecedents of said child to determine
if she was a proper child for adoption, ete.

11. And upon an examination and consideration of the reports of the
investigating officials so assigned, and other evidence, the Clerk of Supe-
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rior Court of Wilson County entered an interlocutory order on 28 Febru-
ary, 1949.

12. That on 4 June, 1949, W. C. Wilder, as next friend (duly ap-
pointed) of Hubert O, Wilder and Elizabeth May Jacobs Wilder, filed
a motion on their behalf to dismiss the adoption proceeding.

18. That the petitioners are fit persons to become adoptive parents of
the child, and have assumed obligations on behalf of said child and have
made far-reaching plans and provisions for its future, and it is to the best
interest of the child that she remain in the home of the petitioners.

Upon the findings of fact, the Clerk on 2 July, 1949, “ordered, adjudged
and decreed :

“1. That this proceeding is properly constituted in the form required
by law.

“2. That the motion herein filed by Hubert C. Wilder and Elizabeth
May Jacobs Wilder, by their next friend, W. C. Wilder, to vacate the
petition, the order of reference, the consent of the County Superintendent
of Public Welfare of Nash County, and the interlocutory order entered
in this cause be, and the same is hereby denied.

“3. That the motion for a final order to be entered herein delivering
the custody of the minor child to Hubert C. Wilder and Elizaheth May
Jacobs Wilder be, and the same is hereby denied.

“Let the cause be retained to the end that such other and further orders
may be entered hereafter as may by the court be considered just and
proper.”

From this order W. C. Wilder, as next friend of Hubert C. Wilder
and Elizabeth May Wilder, appealed to the judge of the Superior Court.
On such appeal interveners applied for an order permitting them and
their attorneys to inspect the confidential reports of the welfare officer
n respect to the adoption of the child. The application was denied, and
they except.

And on such appeal the judge, resident of the Second Judicial Distriet,
entered judgment in which it is stated that “the court is of the opinion
that while some of the clerk’s findings of fact are not necessary upon an
adjudication of the motion, nevertheless, all of them are supported by the
evidence, except that portion of finding which states that ‘he denied pater-
nity and refused to contribute to its support.” With the exception of this
finding the eourt approves the clerk’s findings of facts as set out in his
order which is here appealed from. Upon the facts found the court is of
the opinion that the said order of the clerk denying appellants’ motion
is correct in law,”—and thereupon affirmed the order.

The interveners appeal therefrom to Supreme Court and assign error,
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F. L. Carr and Lucas & Rand for petitioners, appellees.
M. Butler Prescott and G. L. Parker for interveners, appellants.

Wixneorwg, J. The question of law raised by the appellants upon the
facts of this case relate to, and is determined by the legal effect the inter-
marriage of the mother of the child, born out of wedlock, and the reputed
father, has upon the status of the child as a proper subject for adoption
in an adoption proceeding, then pending,—based upon consent of the
mother in a manner provided by the statute. G.S. 48-5. This exact
question does not appear to have been considered and passed upon by this
Court. Yet we find guidance in pertinent statutes of this State, and
related decisions of this Court.

The statute, pertaining to legitimation of children born out of wedlock,
provides that “when the mother of any child born out of wedlock and the
reputed father of such child intermarry or shall have intermarried at any
time after the birth of the child, the child shall in all respects after such
intermarriage be deemed and held to be legitimate and entitled to all the
rights in and to the estate, real and personal, of its father and mother
that it would have had had it been born in lawful wedlock.,” P.L. 1917,
Chapter 219, See. 1, later C.S. 279 and now G.S. 49-12 as amended by
Laws 1947, Chapter 663, Sec. 2.

By this statute, upon the happening of the event of intermarriage of
the mother of a child, born out of wedlock, and the reputed father of such
child, the status of the child is transmuted from that of illegitimacy to
that of legitimaey in all respects, except as to rights of inheritance. This
Court has held that “legitimacy is a status,” and accompanies the child
wherever it goes. Fowler v. Fowler, 131 N.C. 169, 42 S.E. 563. Status
is “the legal position of the individual in or with regard to the rest of
the community.” Black’s Law Dictionary, 3rd Ed.

Indeed, in the case of Fowler v. Fowler, supra, decided in the year
1902, long before the enactment of the statute in 1917, now under con-
sideration, this Court adverted to the effect of an Illinois statute of
similar import. There the father, then a resident of North Carolina,
instituted an action here to legitimate his child born out of wedlock in the
State of Illinois, This Court, in dismissing the action ex mero motu,
had this to say in an opinion by Clark, J.: “This proceeding is provided
to legitimate illegitimates, but it appears from the averments in the com-
plaint that the child is already legitimated. By the laws of this State the
subsequent marriage of the parent does not legitimate their children born
prior to the marriage. But legitimacy is a stafus, and by the laws of
Illinois the subsequent marriage of the parents legitimates their prior
offspring. ‘If the mother of any bastard child and the reputed father
shall, at any time after its birth intermarry, the said child shall in all
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respects be deemed and held legitimate.” Rev. Stat. (1895), page 203,
Sec. 15. The parties were domiciled, according to the complaint, at the
time of the child’s birth and up to the time of the marriage in Illinois,
and it is well settled that the child, being still a minor, its legitimaey
then accrued and accompanies it wherever it goes.”

And in Vernier’s American Family Laws, Vol. IV, Sec. 246, the author
states that, in general, “Statutes providing for the legitimation of the
child by the intermarriage of its parents ordinarily have the effect of
rendering the child legitimate for all purposes.” And the author adds
this note : “If the child becomes fully legitimate, it follows that he should
be treated as a child born in lawful wedlock in determining rights and
duties of parent and child, such as custody, support and inheritance.”

This would seem to be the reasonable and logical meaning of G.S. 49-12.
In declaring in this statute that “the child shall in all respects after such
intermarriage be deemed and held to be legitimate,” the General Assembly
clearly intended that the child should be treated as a child born in lawful
wedlock in determining the rights and duties of parent and child as to
custody and support.

However, as to the right of inheritance provided for, in G.S. 49-12
this Court has construed the statute in these cases: Bowman v. Howard,
182 N.C. 662, 110 S.E. 98; Stewart v. Stewart, 195 N.C. 476, 142 S.E.
5775 In re Estate of Wallace, 197 N.C. 334, 148 S.E. 456 ; Reed v. Blair,
202 N.C. 745, 164 S.E. 118. There the Court was only considering the
result of the change in the status of the child, brought about by the mar-
riage of the mother to the reputed father, as to “rights in and to the
estate, real and personal, of its father and mother.” And “the law dis-
cussed in any opinion is set within the framework of that particular
case,” sald Barrhill, J., in Light Co. v. Moss, 220 N.C. 200, 17 S.E. 2d
10. See also 8. ». Crandall, 225 N.C. 148, 33 S.E. 2d 861, and cases
there cited. In this light, nothing said by the Court in those cases,
Bowman v. Howard, supra, and the others supra, is in conflict with what
is said otherwise hereinabove as to the effect such intermarriage has upon
the status of the child. .

Therefore, while at the time of the institution of the present adoption
proceeding on 1 January, 1949, the status of the child sought to be
adopted was that of illegitimacy, the status of the child, after the inter-
marriage of her mother and her reputed father, at 5 o’clock a.m., on
4 Janunary, 1949, was that of legitimacy. The transmutation in her status
came about by operation of law. Thus when the order was made refer-
ring the case to the County Superintendent of Public Welfare of Nash
County, “to investigate the conditions and antecedents of the child for
the purpose of ascertaining whether she is a proper subject for adoption,”
and when the Superintendent made written report of his findings for
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examination by the court of adoption, all as required by G.S. 48-3, and
when the court of adoption came to determine whether “the child is a
proper subject for adoption,” as required in (+.S. 48-5, the subject under
investigation and consideration was a legitimate child—of natural
parents, who as such had not consented to the adoption. And the court of
adoption should have so treated and considered the child in determining
whether she was a proper subject for adoption as required before tentative
order of adoption be entered. G.S. 48-5. True it is, that prior to the
intermarriage of the parents the mother had set in motion her consent to
an adoption in a method provided by the statute. But she did so at a
time when the child occupied the status of illegitimacy. At that time her
consent to the adoption of her child, born out of wedlock, is all that the
law seems to require. Ashby v. Page, 106 N.C. 328, 11 S.E. 283; In re
Shelton, 203 N.C. 75, 164 S.E. 332; In re Foster, 209 N.C. 489, 183 S.E.
7445 In re McGraw, 228 N.C. 46, 44 S.E. 2d 349. However, when the
status of the child became legitimate, upon intermarriage of her parents,
the consent of the mother previously given was no longer sufficient to
render the child a proper subject for adoption. Rather it is more reason-
able that such consent previously given was revoked by operation of law,
But be that as it may, under the statutes, now G.S. 48-4 and G.S. 48-3,
read together, the parents of the child must be parties to this adoption
proceeding, or their consent to the adoption must be made to appear,
unless, perchance, they had willfully abandoned the child within the
meaning of the eriminal statute pertaining to abandonment. G.S. 14-322
and G.S. 14-326. See Trueclove v. Parker, 191 N.C. 430, 132 S.E. 295;
Ward v. Howard, 217 N.C. 201, 7 S.E. 2d 625. And on this record there
is no finding that either of the parents of the child had willfully aban-
doned her. A finding that a warrant was issued against the reputed
father, as shown, three months before the birth of the child is insufficient.

Hence, in the light of the rulings, applied to the facts of this case, as
hereinabove set forth, we hold that the child sought to be adopted was
not a proper subject for adoption at the time the court of adoption entered
the tentative order of adoption on 28 February, 1949. Therefore, the
court was without authority to make the order. Thus there is ervor in
the denial of interveners’ motion to vacate the proceeding and for the
custody of their child.

The cause will be remanded for further proceedings in accordauce with
this opinion.

Reversed.
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LAMM v. SHINGLETON.

BLUMMER WADDELL LAMM v. W. W. SHINGLETON, EDWARD E.

2

e

SHINGLETON, W. W. SHINGLETON, JR., Axp GERALD SHINGLETON,
T/A HUNT FUNERAL HOME.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
Trial §§ 22b, 26—

‘Where at the close of plaintiff’s evidence, nonsuit is entered on one of
the causes of action, that cause is no longer pending, and defendant's evi-
dence thereafter introduced cannot be considered in determining the cor-
rectness of the nonsuit.

Dead Bodies § 21—

Where, in an action for breach of contract to furnish a watertight vault,
plaintiff’s evidence tends to show that water and mud entered the vault
by reason of the fact that the top was not locked to the base at one end at
the time of the original interment, but offers no evidence tending te show
that the vault was not waterproof as represented by defendant under-
takers, nonsuit is proper, there being no evidence of breach of warranty
in the sale of the vault.

Dead Bodies § 1—

The widow has the primary right to the possession of the body of her
deceased husband and to control its burial.

Dead Bodies § 21—

‘Where an undertaker agrees to conduct a funeral, he impliedly cove-
nants to perform the services contemplated in a good and workmanlike
manner.

Same—

‘Where plaintiff alleges that defendants contracted to conduct the funeral
of her husband, and that at the time of interment the top of the vault was
not locked to the bottom, so that water and mud entered the vault and
forced its top to the surface, the action is for breach of contract, and
further allegations that such failure was negligent and careless does not
convert it into an action in tort.

Contracts § 25a—

Damages recoverable for breach of contract are those which are the
direct, natural and proximate result of the breach and which, in the ordi-
nary course of events, could have been reasonably foreseen by the parties
at the time of the execution of the contract.

Same—

In commercial contracts, mental anguish and suffering by reason of the
breach thereof are ordinarily not recoverable, since they are deemed too
remote to have been in the contemplation of the parties at the time of its
execution.

Same—

Where a contract is personal and so coupled with matters of mental
concern or solicitude, or with the sensibilities of the party to whom the
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duty is owed, that mental anguish can reasonably be anticipated as a
result of its breach, compensatory damages for mental suffering may be
recovered.

9. Dead Bodies § 24—

Where a widow alleges breach of contract by defendants to conduct the
funeral of her husband in failing to lock the top of the vault to its base
so that water and mud seeped into the vault and forced its top to the sur-
face, causing her shock which injured her health when she viewed the
scene, compensatory damages for such suffering may be recovered.

10. Contracts § 25a—

‘Where the breach of a personal contract results in shock or fright which
impairs plaintiff’s health, there is a physical injury entitling plaintiff to
compensatory damages regardless of whether the breaeh amounted to a
willful or independent tort.

11. Dead Bodies § 2% —

This action was instituted against undertakers for breach of contract
to conduct the funeral of plaintiff’s husband, plaintiff alleging that the top
of the vaunlt was not locked to its base at the time of interment so that
water and mud seeped into the vault. Defendants’ evidence was to the
effect that they were without authority to make actual interments under
the rules and regulations of the cemetery authorities, but that the inter-
ments were made exclusively by the cemetery authorities. Held: Defend-
ants’ evidence raised matters of defense for the consideration of the jury
and does not compel judgment of nonsuit.

SEawELL, J., dissenting.

Arrrar by plaintiff from Morris, J., February Term, 1949, Wirsow,
New trial.

Civil action bottomed on two alleged causes of action: (1) for damages
for breach of contract to conduct the funeral and inter the body of plain-
tiff’s deceased husband, and (2) for damages for breach of warranty in
the sale of a vault.

Plaintiff’s first husband, Larry Waddell, died 3 August, 1946. She
employed the defendant undertakers to conduct the funeral and purchased
from them a casket and vault. The vault was composed of two sections:
a base on which the casket rested and a metal cover or lid which fitted
over the casket and locked to the base with ratchet locks at each end. The
defendants represented and warranted that it was watertight and would
protect the body from water for years.

On Wednesday before Thanksgiving Day, plaintiff discovered that the
vault, during a very rainy spell of weather, had risen above the level of
the ground, the top of one end being about six inches above the ground
level. She reported the condition to defendants and to the cemetery
authorities. Defendants (or the cemetery authorities) undertook to
reinter the body.
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On the following Saturday, employees of defendant and of the cemetery
authorities met at the grave for the purpose of placing the vault in an
adjoining grave prepared for that purpose. Plaintiff was present. When
the vault, including the base, was raised, it was discovered that water and
mud had entered it, and the casket was wet.

The plaintiff offered evidence tending to show that the vault was not
locked and had not been locked at the time of the original interment.
The defendants contended and offered evidence tending to show that the
vault was securely locked, that to remove the vault from the original grave
1t was Decessary to use a lever to prize it out, that the lever slipped, struck
the top or lid, and dislodged the locks at one end, permitting the water
and mud to enter at that time.

Plaintiff testified that “seeing the vault out of the ground that first
time” ecaused her considerable shock and made her extremely nervous as a
result of which she became a nervous wreck. She also testified that while
the men were about the grave after a discussion about getting the mud out
of the vault, defendant Shingleton said he was not going to get it out
and “To hell with the whole damned business, it’s no concern of mine,”
and that this language made her so nervous she could hardly stand up.

The defendants offered evidence tending to show that under the rules
of the cemetery association they were forbidden to inter the body or to
remove the vault and that the original interment and the reinterment
were made by the cemetery authorities.

When the plaintiff rested, the court dismissed the cause of action for
damages for breach of warranty but overruled the motion to dismiss the
action for breach of contract to inter. At the conclusion of all the evi-
dence, the court again denied the motion to dismiss the action and sub-
mitted issues to the jury. The first issue, to wit, “1. Did the defendants
by their unlawful, willful negligence and carelessness in the burial of
the body of the husband of the plaintiff cause plaintiff to suffer injury
and damages, as alleged #’, was answered “no.” From judgment that
plaintiff take nothing she appealed.

Sharpe & Pittman, Connor, Gardner & Connor, and Robert A. Farris
for plaintiff appellant.
Lucas & Rand and Z. Hardy Rose for defendant appellees.

BarxzirL, J.  All the testimony offered by plaintiff tends to show that
water and mud entered the vault by reason of the fact the top was not
locked to the base at one end at the time of the original interment. She
offered no testimony tending to prove that it was not waterproof as repre-
sented by defendants.
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It is true the evidence offered by defendants is to the effect the vault
was securely locked. On this record, however, that testimony is not
available to plaintiff on the cause of action for breach of warranty and
may not be considered on the question of nonsuit of that cause of action.
At the time it was offered, judgment of nonsuit had been directed, and so
that cause was not pending and at issue. As the nonsuit was entered
when plaintiff rested, the correctness of the ruling of the court below is
to be determined by a consideration of her evidence only. As she offered
no proof that the vault was not waterproof when properly locked to the
base, the ruling must be sustained.

Indeed, plaintiff’s primary cause of action is grounded on the theory
that the vault was not locked at one end. On this record the bhase of the
vault was not dislodged and did not rise. Only one end of the top was
forced up by water which entered at the unlocked end. This and the con-
dition thereby produced, as alleged by her, is the basis of her claim to
damages for breach of contract of burial.

The first issue submitted required the jury to find that plaintiff’s
alleged injuries resulted from the “unlawful, willful negligence and care-
lessness” of defendants. The charge of the court on this issue was to like
effect. In the submission of the issue and in the charge thereon there was
error.

On the death of a husband, the primary right to possession of the body
and to control of hurial is in the widow. 15 A.J. 839, 847; Anno. L.R.A.
1915B 519. She may maintain an action for mutilation of the body.
Stephenson . Duke University. 202 N.C. 624, 163 S.E. 698; Morrow ».
Cline, 211 N.C. 254, 189 S.E. &§85: Morrow ». R. R., 213 N.C. 127, 195
S.E. 383; Gurganious v. Simpson. 213 N.C. 613, 197 S.E. 163. But here
no mutilation is alleged.

This is essentially an aetion for damages for breach of contract. Plain-
tiff alleges a contract to furnish a casket and watertight vault and con-
duct the funeral and inter the body. the breach thereof by failure to lock
the vault, and damages resulting from the breach. The further allega-
tion that the defendants’ failure to lock the vault at the time of the burial,
as a result of which water and mud entered the vault and forced its top
to the surface, was due to their negligence and carvelessness does not con-
vert it into an action in tort.

The defendants held themselves out as specially qualified to perform
the duties of an undertaker. When they undertook to conduct the funeral
of plaintiff’s deceased husband they impliedly covenanted to perform the
services contemplated by the contract in a good and workmanlike manner.
Any breach of the duty thus assumed was a breach of the duty imposed
bv the contraet and not by law,
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So then, the primary question posed for decision iz this: Is mental
anguish an element of damages to be considered by the jury in an action
for the breach of the contract alleged and, if so, must plaintiff show that
the breach amounted to a willful tort?

“A party to a contract who is injured by another’s breach of the con-
tract is entitled to recover from the latter damages for all injuries and
only such injuries as are the direct, natural, and proximate result of the
breach or which, in the ordinary course of events, would likely result
from a breach and can reasonably be said to have been foreseen, contem-
plated, or expected by the parties at the time when they made the contract
as a probable or natural result of a breach . . .” 15 A.J. 449, sec. 51;
25 C.J.S. 441, sec. 24; T'roitino v. Goodman, 225 N.C. 406, 35 S.E. 2d
277; Price v. Goodman, 226 N.C. 223, 37 S.E. 2d 592; Chesson v. Con-
tasner Co., 216 N.C. 337, 4 S.E. 2d 886; Monger v. Lutterioh, 195 N.C.
274, 142 S.E. 12.

Even so, contracts are usually commercial in nature and relate to
property or to services to be rendered in connection with business or
professional operations. Pecuniary interest is dominant. Therefore, as
a general rule, damages for mental anguish suffered by reason of the
breach thereof are not recoverable. Some type of mental anguish,
anxiety, or distress is apt to result from the breach of any contract which
causes pecuniary loss. Yet damages therefor are deemed to be too remote
to have been in the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract
was entered into to be considered as an element of compensatory damages.
MecCormick on Damages 592, sec. 145; 15 A.J. 599, sec. 182; Anno.
23 A.L.R. 872, 44 A L.R. 428, 56 A.L.R. 659.

The rule is not absolute. Indeed, the trend of modern decisions tends
to leave it in a state of flux. Some courts qualify the rule by holding that
such damages are recoverable when the breach amounts in substance to a
willful or independent tort or is accompanied by physical injury. 15
A.J. 599, 603 ; Hall v. Jackson, 134 P, 151. Still others treat the breach
ag an act of negligence and decide the question as though the action were
cast in tort, and thus confuse the issue. Thus, to some extent the courts
have modified the common law rule.

In this process of modification a definite exception to the doctrine has
developed. Where the contract is personal in nature and the contractual
duty or obligation is so coupled with matters of mental concern or solici-
tude, or with the sensibilities of the party to whom the duty is owed, that
a breach of that duty will necessarily or reasonably result in mental
anguish or suffering, and it should be known to the parties from the
nature of the contract that such suffering will result from its breach, com-
pensatory damages therefor may be recovered. 15 A.J. 600; McCormick
on Damages 592; Warner v. Allen, 3¢ ALK. 1348, In such case the
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party sought to be charged is presumed to have contracted with reference
to the payment of damages of that character in the event such damages
should accrue on account of his breach of the contract. Renthan wv.
Wright, 25 N.E. 822 (Ind.) ; McCormick on Damages 595.

Thus we have held that such damages may be recovered in an action
for breach of contract of marriage, Allen v. Baker, 86 N.C. 91, 41 Am.
Rep. 444; Anno. 41 L.R.A. ns 849, and for breach of contract to trans-
mit a death message, Russ v. Telegraph Co., 222 N.C. 504, 23 S.E. 2d
681; Johnson v. Telegraph Co., 175 N.C. 588, 96 S.E. 36; Betts v. Tele-
graph Co., 167 N.C. 75, 83 S.E. 164, when the meaning or import of the
message and the interest of the addressee or beneficiary of the contract is
made known to the telegraph company at the time the message is accepted
for transmittal. Thomason v. Hackney, 159 N.C. 299, 74 S.E. 1022,

The tenderest feelings of the human heart center around the remains
of the dead. When the defendants contracted with plaintiff to inter the
body of her deceased husband in a workmanlike manner they did so with
the knowledge that she was the widow and would naturally and probably
suffer mental anguish if they failed to fulfill their contractual obligation
in the manner here charged. The contract was predominantly personal
in nature and no substantial pecuniary loss would follow its breach. Her
mental concern, her sensibilities, and her solicitude were the prime con-
siderations for the contract, and the contract itself was such as to put
the defendants on notice that a failure on their part to inter the body
properly would probably produce mental suffering on her part. It cannot
be said, therefore, that such damages were not within the contemplation
of the parties at the time the contract was made. Wright v. Beardsley,
89 P. 172; Renthan v. Wright, supra; Burrus v. Ry., 145 P. 926; Fitz-
simmons v. Olinger Mortuary Ass'n., 17 -P. 2d 535; Hall v. Jackson,
supra; Brown Funeral Homes v. Baughn, 148 So. 154; Loy v. Reid, 65
So. 8553 Dunn v. Smith, 74 S.W. 576; McCormick on Damages 592,
sec. 145; 15 A.J. 601,

On this record the “willful and intentional tort” doctrine, even if we
should be disposed to adopt it in a proper case, does not apply here so as
to bar recovery for the reason that, with us, impairment of health proxi-
mately resulting from a state of nervousness, produced by shock and
fright, constitutes a physical injury. Kimberly v. Howland, 143 N.C.
398; Kirby v. Stores Corp., 210 N.C. 808, 188 S.E. 625; Sparks v. Prod-
ucts Corp., 212 N.C. 211, 193 S.E. 31.

The defendants offered evidence tending to show that the cemetery in
which the interment was made is the property of the City of Wilson and
that under the rules and regulations of the cemetery authorities inter-
ments are made exclusively by agents or employees of the city; that while
undertakers conduct funerals they are not permitted to and do not make
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the actual interment; that they lower the casket or vault into the open
grave and leave the rest to the municipal authorities as they are required
to do. These are matters in defense which, on proper evidence thereof,
must be considered by the jury. In the light of plaintiff’s testimony,
they do not compel judgment of nonsuit.

The court below erred in submitting the quoted issue and in its charge
thereon. It is therefore necessary that the cause be remanded for trial
upon the issues raised by the pleadings. It is so ordered.

New trial.

Seawerr, J., dissenting: I think the case should be sent back for
retrial but not with the restrictions and limitations on plaintiff’s cause of
action which I find in ratione decidendi of the main opinion,

I think the vault used in the burial undertaken by the defendants
should be regarded as an accessory to the burial contracted for and under-
taken by defendants and not as a separate sales transaction in which the
contract, with its warranty, might be performed by delivery in its un-
assembled state.

The defendants are not relieved from liability by reason of the faet
that plaintiff did not show that the vault was not watertight when prop-
erly locked.

The contract was one of burial in which the defendants undertook to
bury the body of plaintiff’s husband in this particular vault. Its poten-
tialities as a watertight vault were useless and unavailable for the pur-
pose for which the vault was intended until the top was locked to the
base. The nature of the contract, and plaintiff’s evidence put this duty
on the defendants and they failed to discharge it. By reason of that fact
water and mud soaked the body and plaintiff is entitled to recovery for
the breach of the contract, made specifically to prevent that occurrence,
and the consequent and ensuing mental suffering, if the jury should
so find.

The gravamen of the plaintiff’s action does not rest in a claim that the
burial was not done in a workmanlike manner—that is entirely too
narrow ;—it lies in the breach of the specific contract to bury her hus-
band’s body in a watertight vault, selected for the purpose; a vault woter-
tight at the time of the burial, by proper assembly of its parts, by locking
of the top to the base, if necessary to make it perform the intended funec-
tion,—and 1t was. This has nothing to do with the way defendants “held
themselves out as specially qualified to perform the duties of an under-
taker” or the corollary statement in the opinion of the Court: “When
defendants undertook to conduet the funeral of plaintiff’s deceased hus-
band they impliedly covenanted to perform the services contemplated by
the contract in a good and workmanlike manner.” That exists, of course,
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but it cannot be used to exclude the specific obligation of the contract,
to wit: To bury the body in a specific way, in a watertight vault. Yet,
of this, in discussing the nonsuit, the Court, in its opinion, observes:
“As she offered no proof that the vault was not waterproof when properly
locked to the base the ruling must be sustained.” Thus plaintiff’s main
cause of action is dismissed by nonsuit, and another, upon which she did
not declare, and in which there are plenty of hurdles, is handed to her for
prosecution. I question—not the power of the Court, of course—but the
propriety of that action.

STATE v. BENNIE DANIELS axp LLOYD RAY DANIELS.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

1. Criminal Law § 73a—

It is the sole responsibility of defendant’s counsel to make out and serve
statement of case on appeal within the time allowed and they are charged
with knowledge of the procedure to be followed and with knowledge of the
necessity of filing same within the time prescribed and the consequences
of failure to do so.

2, Same—

Service of statement of case on appeal may be made by a proper officer
by leaving a copy thereof in the office of the solicitor, G.S. 1-282. The
Supreme Court will take judicial notice that a solicitor is perforce absent
from his office much of the time in the prosecution of the docket in the
various counties of his district, hence the liberal method of service per-
mitted under the statute.

3. Same—

The rules relating to the time of service of statement of case on appeal
are mandatory and not directive.

4., Criminal Law § 76a—-

Where, upon defendants’ petition for certiorari, it does not appear that
delay of the court reporter or the voluminousness of the record presented
insurmountable difficulties to serving case on appeal within the time
allowed, but to the contrary, that case on appeal was ready for service
within the time allowed and could have been served by a proper officer by
leaving a copy in the office of the solicitor, defendants’ petition for cer-
tiorari will be denied. The press of other duties upon defendants’ counsel
will not excuse failure to serve statement of case on appeal in time.

5. Criminal Law § 57d—
The common law writ of error coram nobis is available to a defendant to
challenge the constitutionality of conviction for matters extraneous the
record, G.8. 4-1.



18 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [231

STATE ». DANIELS.

6. Same—

Application for permission to apply for a writ of error coram nobis must
be made to the Supreme Court, where it will be allowed upon a prima facie
showing of substance, leaving the ultimate merits of the petition for the
determination of the trial court, with the right of petitioner to appeal
from an adverse ruling. N. C. Constitution, Art. IV, sec. 8.

Ar May Term, 1949, of the Superior Court of Pitt County, the defend-
ants were tried and convicted of first degree murder, without recom-
mendation of mercy, and were sentenced to death. Judgment was pro-
nounced on June 6, 1949, on which day the court adjourned. The defend-
ants were allowed 60 days from that date in which to make out and serve
case on appeal, and the State was allowed 30 days thereafter to serve
countercase or exceptions.

The defendants did not serve their case within the time allowed; but
on August 6 left a copy thereof at the office of the Solicitor of the district.
No extension or waiver of time to serve the statement of case on appeal
other than that contained in the appeal entries was made, and none was
requested. The Solicitor, however, served amendments and exceptions
to the defendants’ statement and caused the same to be served on an
attorney for the defendants, making, however, the following reservations:

“The undersigned Solicitor of the Fifth Judicial District, not waiving
any rights, and specifically reserving and now reasserting exception by
the State to the failure of the defendants to serve Statement of Case on
Appeal within the time fixed by the Court, and renewing its motion to
strike the said Statement of Case on Appeal from the record, objects to
the Statement of Case on Appeal as left at the Solicitor’s office and offers
the following exceptions or amendments thereto.”

The Solicitor filed a written motion to strike out the statement of case
on appeal for failure of defendants to make up and serve the same within
the time fixed by the court, serving notice of the motion on Herman L.
Taylor, attorney for the defendants.

On the hearing defendants’ attorney admitted that the statement of
case on appeal was left in the Solicitor’s office with his secretary on
Aungust 6, 1949, and that the attempted service was not within the 60
days fixed by the court. G.S. 1-282.

At the hearing, October 1, 1949, Judge Williams, finding these facts,
allowed the motion and struck out defendants’ statement of case on
appeal.

The defendants have filed in this Court two petitions for certiorars:
One on September 27, 1949, before the order of Judge Williams above
recited ; the other on October 10, 1949, after that event. Both are of the
same import, and they may be considered here as one petition. For
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convenience, any reference to the “petition” will be understood as imply-
ing both. The petitions are as follows:

“Bennie Daniels and Lloyd Ray Daniels, petitioners, respectfully
show unto the court:

“1. That at the March, 1949 Term of the Superior Court of Pitt
County, North Carolina, that petitioners were indicted for the crime
of first-degree murder.

“2. That at the May 30, 1949 Term of said court petitioners were
tried upon said bill of indictment and convicted of the capital erime
of first-degree murder without recommendation of mercy.

“3. That from the judgment of death pronounced by His Honor
Clawson L. Williams, Judge Presiding, petitioners, with the allow-
ance of the Court appealed n forma pauperis to the Supreme Court
of North Carolina.

“4. That the said May 30, 1949 term of the said court, at which
petitioners were tried and convicted, was duly convened on the said
30th day of May, 1949, and the judgment of the Court was pro-
nounced on June 6, 1949.

“5. That the defendants were allowed sixty (60) days from the
date of the judgment in which to make out and serve case on appeal
upon the Solicitor of the Fifth Judicial District, and the Solicitor
was allowed thirty (30) days after such service to serve counter-case,
or exceptions thereto.

“6. That some forty-five (45) or fifty (50) days elapsed before
the court reporter attendant upon the said May 30, 1949 Term of
the aforesaid court, at which petitioners were tried and convicted, due
to her attendance at and upon other courts, delivered into the hands
of the attorneys for petitioners the full and complete record of the
proceedings had in said trial.

“7. That the record in the cause covers some four (4) volumes,
consisting of some five or six hundred pages.

“g. That counsel for petitioners, with all of the diligent efforts
they could bring to bear, being under the pressure of other cases,
both before this Court and pending in other inferior courts, as well
as being retarded in the effort by the lateness of receipt of the com-
plete record in the cause from the Court Stenographer, as afore-
mentioned, served statement of case on appeal upon the Solicitor on
the 6th day of August, 1949 ; that within thirty (30) days thereafter,
the Solicitor filed some 132 exceptions to the case on appeal in addi-
tion to a motion to strike same; that because of the filing of said
exceptions and motion, it will be necessary for counsel for defendants
and the Solicitor to meet with the Presiding Judge for a ruling on
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said exceptions and motion; that the aforementioned hearing will
carry the settlement in this cause well beyond the date on which,
under the rules of this Court, said cause should be docketed.

“9. That cases from the Fifth Judicial District must be docketed
in this Court on Tuesday, September 27, 1949,

“10. That the inability to docket said cause within the time pre-
seribed is not due to any lack of diligence or good faith on the part
of any of the parties herein involved, but to the reasons previously
set out.

“11. That petitioner has caused to be docketed in the office of the
Clerk of the Supreme Court of North Carolina contemporaneously
with the filing of this petition the record prepared in this case as the
same appears on the record in the office of the Clerk of Superior
Court of Pitt County, North Carolina, properly certified to by
said clerk.

“12. That petitioner has a meritorious appeal, based upon preju-
dicial errors committed by the Court during the course of his trial,
in particular, (1) in denying petitioner’s motion challenging the
array of petit jurors, timely lodged, upon the ground of systematic
discrimination against, and disproportionate representation of,
Negroes in the selection of petit juries and jurors in Pitt County,
solely and wholly on the basis of race or color, your petitioner being
of the Negro race; and (2) in admitting into evidence, over peti-
tioners’ objection, confessions which the record shows were extorted
through fear and were involuntarily made.

“WHEREFORE, petitioners pray that in order that they may be
protected, the Court issue to the Clerk of the Superior Court of Pitt
County, North Carolina, a writ of certiorari, to the end that the
record and the ease on appeal in its entirety be certified to the
Supreme Court of North Carolina, and that this cause be docketed
and set by the Court for hearing at the end of the call of the calendar
for the hearing of appeals from some other Judicial Distriet other
than the Fifth Judicial District.”

“Now come Bennie Daniels and Lloyd Ray Daniels, petitioners,
through their attorneys, Herman L. Taylor and C. J. Gates, and
respectfully show unto the Court:

“1, That on the 27th day of September, 1949, petitioners filed in
this Court a petition for writ of certiorari, praying the Court that
they be allowed to docket the appeal which they duly noted at the
May 30, 1949 term of the Superior Court of Pitt County, from a
judgment and sentence of death for first-degree murder, at a time
other than that set for the docketing of appeals from the Fifth Judi-
cial District, upon the ground that as the case on appeal in their
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cause had not been settled, they could not docket said case as required
by the rules of this Court.

“2. That in the said petition for certiorart, petitioners set out in
paragraph eight thereof that an additional factor which precluded
the timely docketing of their appeal was the filing by the Solicitor
of a motion to strike the statement of case on appeal, in addition to
numerous exceptions thereto, the hearing on which was set for a time
subsequent to the day on which this appeal should have been docketed
under rules of this Court.

“3. That on Thursday, September 29, 1949, a hearing was held in
the Superior Court of Lenoir County before the Honorable Clawson
J. Williams, Judge, who presided over the trial of this cause, on the
motion of the Solicitor to strike defendants’ statement of case on
appeal, for that the same was not served within the time set by the
order of the court, entered on the day the appeal was noted, but was
one day late, to wit, defendants had sixty days from June 6th in
which to prepare and serve case on appeal, and said service was
attempted on August 6th.

“4, That His Honor Clawson L. Williams, on the last day of
October, 1949, issued an order allowing the motion of the Solicitor
to strike defendants’ statement of case on appeal and ordered same
to be stricken.

“5. That a detailed affidavit of ome of counsel for defendants,
attached hereto and prayed to be made a part hereof, sets out that
personal service of the statement of case on appeal was not had and
could not be had on the Solicitor of the Fifth Judicial District on
the day on which time for serving case on appeal expired, for that
the said Solicitor was neither in his office nor at home, but was out
of town and was not expected back before three days after the dead-
line for serving case on appeal; that counsel for defendants did not
know of the whereabouts of the Solicitor or how to contact him with
respect to serving case on appeal.

“6. That defendants’ failure to perfect their appeal, as set out
in the aflidavit of counsel, was not and is not due to any laches on the
part of them or their counsel.

“7, That the trial Judge having allowed the striking of defend-
ants’ statement of case on appeal, petitioners have no other remedy
whereby their cause may be brought before this Court except by the
granting of the writ herein prayed for.

“8, That as specifically pointed out in the petition filed in this
Court on the 27th day of September, 1949, to which this petition is
a supplement, petitioners have a meritorious appeal, based upon
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prejudicial errors committed by the court during the trial of their
cause,

“WHEREFORE, petitioners pray the Court that in order that they
may be fully protecteéd in their life and limbs that the writ herein
prayed for be allowed and that they be given leave to bring their said
cause before this Court upon certiorari.

“This 10th day of Oectober, 1949.”

A supporting affidavit of Herman L. Taylor, attorney for the defend-
ants, is as follows:

“Herman L. Taylor, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: that
he is a practicing attorney in the courts of the State of North Caro-
lina ; that he is one of the counsel of record for the defendants in the
above entitled matter; that as such he has been in charge of the
preparation of defendants’ case on appeal, in particular, the prepara-
tion and service of statement of case on appeal in the above entitled
matter;

“That on the 6th day of June, 1949, a judgment of death by
asphyxiation was rendered against the defendants, upon a verdict of
guilty of first-degree murder; that from said judgment defendants
noted an appeal to this Court and were allowed sixty (60) days in
which to make out and serve statement of case on appeal upon the
solicitor of the Fifth Judicial District; that some fifty (50) or fifty-
one (51) days, out of the sixty (60) days allowed defendants in
which to prepare statement of case on appeal, passed before counsel
for defendants received the full and eomplete record in this cause;
that the record in this cause comprises some four volumes, consisting
of some 500 or more pages; that approximately one month passed
before counsel for defendants received even the first volume of said
record, consisting of some 300 or more pages, as is evidenced by a
letter of the stenographer attendant upon the term of court at which
defendants were convieted and sentenced, a copy of which letter is
hereto attached;

“That despite the delay in receipt of the record in this cause,
counsel for defendants made all diligent efforts to prepare statement
of case on appeal within the time prescribed by the order of the
court; that although the last volume of the record on appeal was
received only about one week prior to the expiration of the time for
service of statement of case on appeal, counsel for defendants, by the
exertion of diligent and painstaking efforts, completed preparation of
the said statement of case on appeal in the afternoon of Thursday,
August 4th, one day prior to the deadline; that on the morning of
Friday, August 5, 1949, the last day on which service of statement
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of case on appeal could have been made, under the order of the court
setting time for service of statement of case on appeal, he, Herman
L. Taylor, telephoned the office of the Honorable William J. Bundy,
Solicitor, in Greenville, North Carolina, from Fayetteville, North
Carolina, where he was engaged in another matier, attempting to
contact him with respect to service of case on appeal in this matter;
that upon being told by the telephone operator that the Solicitor
was not in his office, he talked to Mrs. M. W. Fields, secretary in the
office of the Solicitor; that the said Mrs. M. W. Fields stated to him
that the Solicitor was not in his office, was not at home, that he was
out of town and could not be reached until he returned to his office
on Monday morning, August 8th; that in default of being able to
contact the Solicitor in person, on Saturday morning, August 6th,
he left a copy of the statement of case on appeal at the office of the
Solicitor with his secretary and received in return a signed statement
of acceptance of said statement of case on appeal by the said Mrs.
M. W. Fields, on behalf of the Solicitor, a copy of which acceptance
is attached hereto;

“That at the hearing before His Honor Clawson L. Williams, held
by agreement, in Kinston, North Carolina, on Thursday, September
29th, the Honorable Solicitor admitted that he had forgotten that
service of statement of case on appeal in the above entitled matter
was due to be made during the week of August 1st, and further
admitted that he and his family were at a beach on the morning of
Friday, August 5th, when counsel for defendants attempted to con-
tact him by telephone and that he did not return to Greenville until
Sunday evening, August 7th, and to his office until Monday, August
8th.”

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Moody
for the State.

Herman L. Taylor and C. J. Gates for defendants, petitioners.

Seawerr, J. The fact that the defendants, convicted of a capital
offense, have been, since the pronouncement of judgment, under sentence
of death should inspire in all persons concerned in the further administra-
tion of justice the most careful attention to the duties resting upon them.
But especially it should admonish those upon whom, by reason of their
special relation to the defendants as attorneys, and who are also officers
of the court, to exercise the utmost diligence in the performance of those
duties, which are essential to appellate review, the making out and serving
within the allotted time defendants’ case on appeal, for which they are
solely responsible. As practicing lawyers they are presumed to know this
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necessity and the consequence of inattention or failure; and they are
charged with the knowledge of the procedure to be followed.

The affidavit of the attorney now pressing for certiorari pleads, as
excuging the delay, a great press of business in the courts and elsewhere
on other matters; that the stenographer’s transcript of the trial con-
tained 500 pages or more; that only the first volume, containing 365
pages, was received near the end of the first month; and the final 150
pages, more or less, was received a week before the time allotted for
service expired. He adds that, by great diligence, the case on appeal had
been completed and was ready for service on the afternoon of the last
day of the period during which legal service could be made. The attorney
then undertook to locate the Solicitor for the purpose of making per-
sonal service on him, and on being informed that he was not in his office
went no further in his attempted service until the time had expired. He
then attempted service by leaving a copy of the statement of the case on
appeal at the office of the Solicitor. That method of service is authorized
by the statute and would bave been good if made in time by a proper
officer. Cummings v. Hoffman, 113 N.C. 267, 18 S.E. 170; Roberts v.
Partridge, 118 N.C. 355, 24 S8.E. 15; McNeill v. Raleigh, ete., By. Co.,
117 N.C. 642, 23 S.E. 268.

The attorneys for petitioners were not impeded or delayed by the
absence of the Solicitor. The Court will take judicial notice of the fact
that he is absent from his office much of the time in prosecution of the
docket in various counties of his district, hence the liberal method of
service preseribed by the statute.

What pressing duties the attorneys may have had in other matters, and
other places, and the priority given them we need not inquire; but we
can think of nothing more important and more pressing at this time than
attention to the elicnts’ appeal.

As to the voluminous character of the record, and the manner of dealing
with it, we do not think that it presented an insurmountable obstacle to
timely service, or one which the diligence demanded of the attorneys
might not have overcome; or that service in the manner required by law
might not have been made after the case admittedly was complete.

Rules requiring service to be made of case on appeal within the allotted
time are mandatory, not directive. S. v. Moore, 210 N.C. 686, 188 S.E.
421; 8. v. Lampkin, 227 N.C. 620, 44 S.E. 2d 30; S. v. Nash, 226 N.C.
608, 30 S.E. 2d 596; S. v. Watson, 208 N.C. 70, 179 S.E. 455.

The petitioners aver that they have a meritorious defense. The Court
is interested in that, of course. But the merit which excuses nonperform-
ance of the specifie duty under discussion does not lie in the soundness of
the exceptions taken on the trial, but rather in the circumstances which
render performance impossible or impractical.

The petition must be denied.
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The gravamen of the present challenge to the validity of the trial is
found in the two objections referred to in the petition: The alleged syste-
matic exclusion of members of the Negro race from the jury lists of
Pitt County and the consequent absence of Negroes from the panel which
tried them; the admission in evidence of confessions of guilt by the
accused which confessions they contend were not voluntary but were
procured by illegal means.

Both these objections involve questions of invasion of econstitutional
rights which, in the instant case, can be presented only through matter
extraneous to the record. Ordinarily in this situation resort may be had
to writs of error coram nobis.

The common law writ of error coram nobis has been recognized and
used in this State in similar sitnations from early times and is in common
use elsewhere. Its authority here is referred to the statute G.S. 4-1,
which adopts the common law as the law of this State when not modi-
fied,—with exceptions not applicable to this case,—and to the State
Constitution, Article I'V, Section 8, which gives this Court authority to
exercise supervision over the inferior courts of the State. Authority for
the writ, its nature and limitations, oceasion for its exercise and relevant
procedure are dealt with in the following cases and authorities: In re
Taylor, 230 N.C. 566; In re Taylor, 229 N.C. 297, 49 S.E. 2d 749;
Roughton v. Brown, 53 N.C. 893; Lassiter v. Harper, 32 N.C. 392;
Tyler v. Morris, 20 N.C. 625 ; Berry v. State, 22 Ind. 294, 173 N.E. 705,
72 A.LR. 117; 3 Am. Jur., p. 766, sec. 1276; see also, Hysler v. Fla.,
315 U.S. 411; Taylor v. Ala., 335 U.S. 252, 92 L. Ed. 1935, (anno., p.
1936). The writ of error coram nobis can only be granted in the court
where the judgment was rendered. Ernst. v, State, 179 Wis, 646, 192
N.W. 65, 30 A.L.R. 681, headnote 5; Roughton v. Brown, supra; § Am.
Jur., supra, sec. 1276.

Since here the authority for the writ stems from the supervisory power
given the Supreme Court in the section of the Constitution cited, it is
necessary that an application be made to this Court for permission to
apply for the writ to the Superior Court in which the case was tried.
In re Taylor (supra), 230 N.C. 566, 569. It is granted here only upon a
“prima facie showing of substantiality,” and it is observed in the Taylor
case last cited, “The ultimate merits of the petitioner’s claim are not for
us but for the trial court.”

On consideration in the trial court, if the decision is adverse to the
petitioners, the court will find the facts, and an appeal to this Court will
lie as in other cases.

A full consideration of the nature and limitations of the writ and
relevant procedure may be found in In re Taylor, 230 N.C. 566, and
In re Taylor, 229 N.C. 297, both supra.
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The space given to this somewhat incidental discussion is justified, we
think, by the desire to make it clear to the petitioners that the writ of
error coram. nobis is available to them only if they can bring themselves
within the purview of such a writ.

The petition for certiorar: is denied.

NORTH CAROQLINA JOINT STOCK LAND BANK OF DURHAM, axp W. L.
TOTTEN, AssIGNEE, v. R. E. BLAND anp Wire, LOUISA BLAND, AND
F. B. BLAND.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Waiver § 2—
A waiver is simply an intentional relinquishment of a known right.

2. Homestead § 8—

A written request by judgment debtors to the sheriff to sell lands under
execution without the allotment of homestead to the end that the property
might bring the highest price possible, and the joinder of the judgment
debtors in the sheriff’s deed to the purchaser, constitute an authorization
and ratification of the act of the sheriff in making the execution sale with-
out allotment of homestead and is a valid waiver by the judgment debtors
of their homestead exemption in regard to that particular execution.

3. Same—

Homestead is a right created for the benefit of the judgment debtor, and
therefore other judgment creditors cannot complain of a waiver by the
debtor of this right in designated realty as to a particular judgment.
N. C. Constitution, Art. X, sec. 2.

4. Execution § 16—
Where the judgment debtor waives his homestead in specific realty as to
a particular judgment, the sheriff may sell the lands under execution with-
out allotting homestead.

5. Same—

Where it is not made to appear that the judgment debtors possessed
personalty, attack of the sale on the ground that the sheriff failed to satisfy
the judgment out of the personalty is untenable, since it will be presumed
that the sheriff levied on realty because he could not find any personalty.
G.S.1-313 (1).

6. Same: Execution § 2314 —

The requirement that the personalty of the judgment debtor be first
exhausted before sale of his realty under execution is for the benefit of the
judgment debtor and other judgment creditors may not attack the execu-
tion sale on the ground that this was not done.
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7. Execution § 16—

A judgment debtor waives his right to have his personalty first ex-
hausted before sale of his realty under execution by requesting the sheriff
to levy upon the realty, or by failing to disclose his personalty when the
sheriff is about to make a levy.

8. Same-—

Upon the expiration of ten days after the sale during which the sale is
held open for receipt of an advance bid, the right of the purchaser to deed
becomes absolute, and when this right vests within ninety days after the
issuance of execution the validity of the sale is not affected by delay of
the sheriff in making formal return or in executing deed to the purchaser.
G.S. 45-28, G.8. 1-310.

9. Execution § 22—

The sheriff’s deed to the purchaser at an execution sale relates back to
the sale and operates to pass title as of that time.

10, Deeds § 2a (1)—

‘Where the owners of land join in as grantors in the sheriff’s deed to the
purchaser at execution sale, the deed passes their title to the purchaser
independently of any acts or participation by the sheriff under the execu-
tion sale, subject to the lien of any other judgments against them.

11, Judgments § 28—

Where a judgment rendered in another county is docketed in the county
in which the judgment debtor owns realty, the lien of the judgment expires
at the end of ten years from the date of the rendition of the judgment and
not the date of docketing. G.8. 1-234, G.S. 1-306.

12. Same: Judgments § 22a—

An action on a judgment does not extend the lien of the original judg-
ment and the new judgment does not become a lien on the realty until
docketed in the county wherein the land is situate, and therefore where the
judgment debtors have conveyed the property prior to the docketing of
the new judgment, their grantees take the land free from the lien of the
original judgment after the expiration of ten years from the date the
original judgment was rendered.

Apprar by plaintiff, W. L. Totten, from Frizzelle, J., at the June
Term, 1949, of Levorxr.

The facts resulting in this litigation have been established by the
written stipulation of the parties. They are summarized below.,
“ 1. On 8 March, 1927, the Superior Court of Lenoir County entered
judgment in favor of Jesse Wallace and against R. E. Bland and his
wife, Louisa Bland, for $3,843.75 with certain interest and costs. This
judgment was immediately docketed on the judgment docket of the court
in which it was rendered. On December 19, 1930, it was assigned to
F. B. Bland, the son of R. E. Bland and Louisa Bland.
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2. On 2 October, 1933, the Superior Court of Durham County rendered
judgment in favor of the North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank of
Durham and against R. E. Bland and his wife, Louisa Bland, for
$4,124.04 with certain interest and costs. This judgment was docketed
on the judgment docket of the Superior Court of Lenoir County on
11 October, 1933. Afterwards, to wit, on 3 November, 1942, this judg-
ment was assigned to W. L. Totten.

3. Meanwhile, to wit, on 10 June, 1936, an execution was issued upon
the Jesse Wallace judgment and placed in the hands of the Sheriff of
Lenoir County, who forthwith levied the same upon 29 acres of land
situated on the Neuse River in Lenoir County and owned by R. E. Bland
and his wife, Louisa Bland. This levy was made at the instance of the
owners, who requested the Sheriff in writing to sell such land under the
execution without any allotment of any homestead to them “to the end
that the full value of said lands may be realized at the sale” and who
assured the Sheriff in writing that they would join in the Sheriff’s deed
to the purchaser at the execution sale “to the end that the complete title,
including their homestead rights, may be conveyed to the purchaser.”
Pursuant to this request and assurance, the Sheriff did not cause any
homestead to be set apart to the judgment debtors. After an advertise-
ment conforming to G.S. 1-325 and notifying prospective bidders of the
terms of the request and assurance of the judgment debtors, the sheriff
sold the 29 acres under the execution at public outery to F. B. Bland, the
last and highest bidder, for $1,750.00 in cash at the courthouse door of
Lenoir County on the first day of the regular August Term of the Supe-
rior Court of Lenoir County, 7.e.. on Monday, 24 August, 1936. The sale
was forthwith reported to the Clerk of the Superior Court of Lenoir
County, and was held open for ten days for the receipt of advanced bids.
This period expired without the bid being increased.

4. On 3 October, 1936, the Sheriff of Lenoir County and R. E. Bland
and his wife, Louisa Bland, as parties of the first part, signed, sealed,
acknowledged, and delivered to F. B. Bland, as party of the second part,
a deed dated 9 September, 1936, in the form customarily employed by
sheriffs making sales of realty under executions. After prefatory recitals
of all the details of the execution sale and of the fact that it had been
made by the Sheriff without any allotment of homestead pursuant to the
written request of the judgment debtors “to the end that the land might
be sold for the highest possible price and to the end that the purchaser
at said execution sale would acquire a full and complete title to said land
freed from all homestead rights of said judgment debtors,” the deed
acknowledged the receipt of the sale price by the Sheriff and specified
that “the parties of the first part” conveyed the 29 acres of land “with
all privileges and appurtenances thereunto belonging” to ¥. B. Bland
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“and his legal representatives in as full and ample manner as the said
first parties are authorized and empowered to convey the same.” On the
date of the execution of the deed, ¢.¢., on 3 October, 1936, the Sheriff made
formal return to the execution to the Superior Court of Lenoir County,
and nine days later, 7.e., on 12 October, 1936, the deed was recorded in
the office of the Register of Deeds of Lenoir County.

5. The North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank of Durham and W. L.
Totten had no actual knowledge of the execution sale and the ensuing
deed until the latter part of the year 1942.

6. On 2 September, 1943, the North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank
of Durham and W. L. Totten sued R. E. Bland and his wife, Louisa
Bland, on the judgment of 2 October, 1933, in the Superior Court of
Durham County, and on 15 November, 1943, the Superior Court of
Durham County rendered judgment in such action in favor of the North
Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank and W. L. Totten and against R. E.
Bland and his wife, Louisa Bland, for $4,124.04 with certain interest and
costs. This judgment was forthwith docketed on the judgment docket
of the Superior Court of Lenoir County. Oun 2 September, 1943, the
North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank of Durham had no interest what-
ever in the original judgment of 2 October, 1933, upon which the new
judgment was entered, and it has no interest in such judgment now.

The stipulation of facts does not reveal whether the judgment debtors
possessed any personal property at the time of the levy and sale.

The North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank of Durham and W. L.
Totten Lrought the present action against R. E. Bland and his wife,
Louisa Bland, and F. B, Bland, in the Superior Court of Lenoir County
on 31 December, 1943, for the avowed purpose of obtaining a judgment
setting aside the execution sale and the ensuing deed to F. B. Bland and
ordering a sale of the 29 acres by a commissioner for the satisfaction of
“the plaintiffs’ judgment.”

When the cause was heard upon the facts stipulated by the parties, the
court reached the conclusions adverted to in the opinion and rendered
judgment that the deed from the Sheriff, and R. E. Bland and Louisa
Bland to F. B. Bland “is good and sufficient and conveyed the title to the
lands therein described” to F. B. Bland. The plaintiff, W. L. Totten,
excepted and appealed, assigning errors.

8. J. Bennett and R. M. Ganlt for the plaintiff, W. L. Totten, appel-
lant.

Allen, Allen & LaRoque and John (. Dawson for the defendants, ap-
pellees.
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Ervin, J.  The first objection of appellant to the judgment is founded
on the theory that the execution sale and the ensuing deed are void because
“the Sheriff failed to allot the homestead to R. E. Bland and his wife,
Louisa Bland.” This assumption rests, in turn, upon these three succes-
sive and diverse hypotheses: (1) That the acts of the judgment debtors
were insufficient in form to waive their homestead rights in the land
embraced by the deed; (2) that the judgment debtors were incapacitated
by Iaw to waive such rights in the land even if their acts were adequate in
form to effect such purpose; and (8) that in any event it was obligatory
for the Sheriff to cause a homestead to be set apart to the judgment
debtors in the land in question as a condition precedent to a valid execu-
tion sale of any part of such land.

The first of these presuppositions is clearly not maintainable. A
waiver is simply an intentional relinquishment of a known right. In re
Wil of Yelverton, 198 N.C. 746, 153 S.E. 319; Aldridge v. Insurance
Company, 194 N.C. 683, 140 S.E. 706. By their previous writing and
their subsequent deed, R. E. Bland and Louisa Bland expressly authorized
and specifically ratified the act of the Sheriff in making the execution
sale of their land without the allotment of any homestead “to the end
that the land might be sold for the highest possible price and to the end
that the purchaser at said execution sale would acquire a full and complete
title to said land, freed from all homestead rights of said judgment
debtors.” They could not have chosen a more unequivocal and efficacious
way of manifesting their deliberate intention to forego their homestead
rights in the property in controversy.

The second and third hypotheses of the appellant on the present phase
of the case necessarily arise out of the idea that the right to a homestead
exemption is intended to advantage the judgment creditor. This notion
is fallacious. The right is created for the benefit of the judgment debtor,
and belongs to him. N. C. Const., Art. X, see. 2; Joyner v. Sugg, 132
N.C. 580, 44 S.E. 122. This being so, a judgment debtor, who possesses
legal competency, may waive his homestead rights in specific realty as to
a particular judgment. Cameron v. McDonald, 216 N.C. 712, 6 S.E. 2d
497; Pence v. Price, 211 N.C. 707, 192 S.E. 99; Sugg v. Pollard, 184
N.C. 494, 115 S.E. 153 ; Simmons v. McCullin, 163 N.C. 409, 79 S.E. 625,
Ann, Cas. 1915 B, 244. When a judgment debtor does that, the Sheriff
may sell the land under an execution issued upon the particular judg-
ment without causing any homestead to be set apart for the judgment
debtor, and the sale is effectual against the judgment debtor and the
owners of judgments docketed against the judgment debtor subsequent to
the docketing of the particular judgment. Sugg v. Pollard, supra: Sim-
mons v. McCullin, supra.,
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The second objection of appellant to the judgment is based on the con-
tention that the execution sale and the ensuing deed are void because the
Sheriff did not exhaust the personalty of the judgment debtors before
taking their realty for the satisfaction of the judgment.

The execution in the case at bar conformed strictly to G.S. 1-313 (1),
which preseribes that an execution against the property of a judgment
debtor shall require the Sheriff “to satisfy the judgment out of his per-
sonal property, and if sufficient personal property cannot be found out
of the real property belonging to him on the day when the judgment was
docketed in the county, or at any time thereafter.” ‘

Divers reasons render appellant’s second objection to the judgment
untenable. Manifestly, the statute can apply only in case the judgment
debtor owns both personal and real property. Since the stipulation of
the parties as to the facts does not disclose that the judgment debtors
possessed any personalty when the realty was levied upon and sold, it
must be presumed that the Sheriff performed his duty and levied on the
land because he could not find any personal property. Anox v. Randall,
24 Minn. 479; Godman v. Boggs, 12 Nebr. 13, 10 N.W. 403; Vilas v.
Reynolds, 6 Wis. 214, Besides, the statutory provision that the personal
property of a judgment debtor is to be exhausted before recourse is had
to his realty for the satisfaction of a judgment is intended solely for the
benefit of the judgment debtor. Stancill v. Branch, 61 N.C. 306, 93 Am.
Deec. 592 ; Stmpson v. Hiatt, 35 N.C. 470; Sloan v. Stanly, 33 N.C. 627.
Consequently, nobody else can object if the Sheriff levies on and sells land
without first exhausting the judgment debtor’s personalty. Whitaker
v, Petway, 26 N.C. 182; McCoy v. Beard, 9 N.C. 377, 11 Am. Dee. 773.
Moreover, the judgment debtor waives or forfeits his right to have his
personal property taken in preference to his land for the satisfaction of a
judgment by requesting the Sheriff to levy upon the land in the first
instance, or by failing to disclose his personal property when the Sheriff
is about to make a levy. Stancill v. Branch, supra; Sloan v. Stanly,
supra.

The third objection of appellant to the judgment is predicated upon
the assumption that the execution sale and the ensuing deed are void
because the Sheriff did not make his formal return to the execution or
execute the deed to the purchaser at the execution sale within ninety days
from the issuance of the execution.

This objection is insupportable. The sale under execution took place
24 August, 1936, and was held open for ten days for the receipt of an
advanced bid in conformity to G.S. 45-28. The statutory period expired
without the bid being increased, and the right of the purchaser at the
execution sale to a deed from the Sheriff thereupon became absolute.
Dillingham v. Gardner, 219 N.C. 227, 13 S.E. 2d 478; Building & Loan
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Assn, v. Black, 218 N.C. 400, 2 S.E. 2d 6; Pringle v. Loan Asso., 182
N.C. 816, 108 S.E. 914. Thus, the right to the deed acerued during the
life of the execution, ¢.e., within ninety days after its issuance. G.S.
1-310. This being true, the validity of the execution sale is not affected
by the delay of the Sheriff in making his formal return to the exeeution
or in executing his deed to the purchaser. McCullen v. Durham, 229
N.C. 418, 50 S.E. 2d 511; 33 C.J.S., Executions, sections 270 and 330.
The deed has relation back to the sale and operates to pass title from that
time. Cowles v. Coffey, 88 N.C. 840; Dobson v. Murphy, 18 N.C. 586.

What has been said fully sustains the conclusion of the trial court that
the Sheriff’s deed is valid and “conveyed the title to the lands therein
described” to F. B. Bland.

The adjudication as to the ownership of the property by the defendant,
F. B. Bland, is supportable upon the other ground specified by the trial
court. The judgment debtors joined in the execution of the deed as
“parties of the first part.” In so doing, they did more than waive their
homestead rights in the land embraced thereby. They also expressly
conveyed such land to F. B. Bland “and his legal representatives in as
full and ample manner as the said first parties are authorized and em-
powered to convey the same.” Hence, the court below rightly concluded
that the deed “would have passed title to the lands therein described
independently of any acts or participation by the Sheriff under the
execution sale, but subject to any existing judgment lien.”

The appellant took an assignment of the judgment which was rendered
in favor of the North Carolina Joint Stock Land Bank of Durham and
against R. E. Bland and Louisa Bland by the Superior Court of Durham
County on 2 October, 1983. This judgment was docketed in the Superior
Court of Lenoir County on 11 October, 1933, and became a lien on real
property in Lenoir County owned by the judgment debtors at the time of
the docketing or acquired by them at any time thereafter “for ten years
from the date of the rendition of the judgment.” The land in controversy
was never allotted to the judgment debtors as a homestead. Moreover,
neither the appellant nor his assignor, the North Carolina Joint Stock
Land Bank of Durham, was ever restrained from proceeding on the judg-
ment “by an order of injunction, or other order, or by the operation of
any appeal, or by a statutory prohibition.” Consequently, the lien of
the original judgment expired at the end of ten years from the date of its
rendition, i.e., on 2 October, 1943. G.S. 1-234; G.8. 1-306; McCullen
v. Durham, supra,; Cheshire v. Drake, 228 N.C. 577, 27 S.E. 2d 627;
Lupton v. Edmundson, 220 N.C. 188, 16 S.E. 2d 840. The Tegislature
has decreed that an action upon a judgment shall not “have the effect to
continue the lien of the original judgment.” G.S. 1-47 (1), Hence,
neither the action on the original judgment, which was commenced on
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2 September, 1943, nor the new judgment entered in such action on
15 November, 1943, extended the lien of the original judgment beyond
2 October, 1943. The new judgment could not become a lien on any
realty in Lenoir County until it was docketed on the judgment docket of
the Superior Court of Lenoir County. G.S. 1-234. At that time R. E.
Bland and Louisa Bland had no interest in the 29 acres.

It manifestly follows that the title acquired by the defendant, F. B.
Bland, under the deed of the judgment debtors would have been freed
from the lien of the original judgment on 2 October, 1943, even if the
execution sale and the Sheriff’s deed had been void.

Since such matter has not been mooted by the parties, we refrain from
expressing any opinion as to whether the appellant ought to have pro-
ceeded by a motion in the cause rather than by this independent action.
Finance Co. v. Trust Co., 213 N.C. 369, 196 S.E. 340; Weir v. Werr,
196 N.C. 268, 145 S.E. 283.

The judgment of the court below 1s

Affirmed.

E. R. WILLIAMS v. FRANCES G. WILLIAMS.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

1. Husband and Wife §§ 12a, 12c: Trusts § 4b—

Where the husband furnishes the purchase price for lands taken in the
name of the wife it will be presumed that the lands were a gift to her,
but he may overcome the presumption and establish a resulting trust by
clear, strong and convincing proof that the parties intended at the time
the property was conveyed that she hold title for his benefit or for their
joint benefit.

2, Same—

G.8. 52-12 does not apply in an action by the husband to establish a
resulting trust in lands conveyed to the wife by a third person under agree-
ment that she hold same for his benefit or for their joint benefit, since such
agreement does not involve her separate estate.

3. Husband and Wife §§ 12a, 12c: Trusts § 4b—

Where the husband pays premiums on a policy of insurance on the life
of the wife’s father, in which the wife is named beneficiary, under an
agreement between them that the proceeds of the policy should be used for
the purchase of a joint home, held, the proceeds of the policy are not the
property of the wife individually but she bolds same as a trust fund, and
the use of the proceeds for the purpose agreed constitutes a basis for a
resulting trust in his favor notwithstanding title in the property is taken
in the name of the wife.
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4. Husband and Wife 15b-——

During coverture the husband is entitled to the rents and profits from
lands held by them by entireties to the exclusion of the wife.

5. Husband and Wife §§ 12a, 12¢: Trusts § 4b—

Where, in a husband’s action to establish a resulting trust, it appears
upon the uncontroverted facts that joint funds were used to make a down
payment on property agreed to be purchased for a joint home, although
the wife alone was named grantee in the deed, and that payments on the
purchase money mortgage were made with rents from the property, held,
the husband has sufficiently established his payment of at least one-half of
the purchase price of the property, since he was entitled exclusively to the
rents from the property thus held in trust as an estate by entirety, and
upon their subsequent divorce he may establish his tenancy in common
under the resulting trust.

6. Trial § 38—

The refusal to submit an issue tendered will not be held for error when
the first part of the issue follows as a matter of law upon the uncontro-
verted facts and the second part of the issue is expressly covered in the
issue submitted.

7. Appeal and Error § 29—

Exceptions in support of which no reason or argument is stated or
authority cited in the brief are deemed abandoned. Rule of Practice in the
Supreme Court No. 28.

AppraL by defendant from Edmundson, Special Judge, 19 March, 1949,
as of November Special Term, 1948, of WayYNE.

Civil action to have defendant declared trustee for plaintiff as to an
undivided one-half interest in certain land in Wayne County, North
Carolina.

These facts appear to be uncontroverted : Plaintiff and defendant were
intermarried in the year 1936. They were living together in October,
1938, when a $2,500 policy of insurance on the life of defendant’s father
was issued by the New York Life Insurance Company. Defendant was
named the beneficiary in the policy. The insured died 19 March, 1941,
and the proceeds of the insurance policy, $2,512.10, was paid to defend-
ant, Thereafter, by deed dated 10 July, 1941, T. A. Forrest and wife
executed a deed to defendant by which the land in question was conveyed.
The purchase price was $4,400; $900 of which was paid out of the
insurance money, and the balance of $3,500 was paid with money bor-
rowed cotemporaneously from the Goldsboro Building and Loan Associa-
tion, as security for which plaintiff and defendant as husband and wife
gave a deed of trust on the land in question. The balance of the indebted-
ness secured by this deed of trust was paid on 8 March, 1946. Thereafter,
on 27 June, 1947, a decree of absolute divorce from the bonds of matri-
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mony existing between plaintiff and defendant was entered in an action
in Superior Court at Atlanta, Georgia.

Plaintiff alleges in his complaint, and on the trial in Superior Court
offered evidence tending to show that in October, 1938, an agent of the
New York Life Insurance Company had several policies of insurance
issued by that company on the life of defendant’s father, in which a son
of the insured was named beneficiary; that defendant’s father had not
requested the policies to be issued, but the agent had them issued in the
hope that delivery would be accepted. Neither the named insured nor
the named beneficiary accepted the delivery of a certain one of the poli-
cies; that defendant brought this fact to plaintiff’s attention and after
discussing the matter plaintiff and defendant, then husband and wife,
“agreed to accept delivery of said policy and to invest in it for the pur-
pose of saving enough to buy a mutual home to be jointly owned by”
them—it being specifically understood between plaintiff and defendant
that in the event of the death of the insured the proceeds from the policy
would be devoted to the purchase of a joint home; that it was agreed at
the time that in order to eliminate any question as to whether plaintiff
had an insurable interest in the life of the assured, defendant alone should
be named beneficiary, but with distinet understanding between.them that
no gift of the insurance policy was being made by plaintiff to defendant,
except in so far as she would benefit by their mutual and joint purchase
of a home as tenants by the entirety; that pursuant thereto plaintiff
paid the initial annual premium of $204.55, less the agent’s commissions,
reducing the payment to $150, and the policy was delivered, and the
defendant was named beneficiary therein in lieu of the son of the insured;
and that plaintiff paid all premiums due on the said policy on a quarterly
basis of $54.20 per quarter until the death of the insured. (The evidence
of plaintiff provides the details as to payments.)

Plaintiff further alleges in his complaint, and on the trial below
offered evidence tending to show that after receipt of the proceeds of the
insurance policy he and defendant, intending to carry out their agreement
as aforesaid, negotiated for the purchase as a home a triplex unit in one
apartment of which they then resided in Goldsboro, N. C.; that the owner
agreed with them on purchase price of $4,400, and a deed was prepared
conveying the property to plaintiff and defendant as tenants by the
entirety, but that, on account of objections made by defendant’s family to
the title being so conveyed, he and defendant agreed for the deed to be
made to her and that, when the “furor should have subsided,” defendant
would convey the title, or cause it to be conveyed to plaintiff and defend-
ant as tenants by the entirety; that the transaction was closed, and the’
owners conveyed the property to defendant, as set forth hereinabove in
the uncontroverted facts; that thereafter two units of the triplex were



36 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [231

WiILLIAMS v. WILLIAMS.

rented out and ke, plaintiff, paid all monthly installments of $51.00 each,
falling due on the note to building and loan association so given as afore-
said for balance of purchase price and secured by the deed of trust; and
that sometimes he paid from his own earnings and sometimes from the
rental income; that the payments were about 60% from his own funds
and about 40% from rents of the house; and that such payments were
kept up until 8 March, 1946, when pursuant to a separation agreement
between him and his wife, he paid from his own personal funds $1,272.44
and she paid approximately $200 from her personal funds in full of the
note. (The details here are taken from evidence of plaintiff.)

Plaintiff further alleges in his complaint, and on the trial offered evi-
dence tending to show that the purchase of the property and the payment
therefor, as well as the payment of the premiums on the life insurance
policy were not intended to be a gift from plaintiff to defendant, but were
made for the purposes stated “and with the contract, agreement and
intent that the title to the said lands should be conveyed to and held by
plaintiff and defendant as tenants by the entirety”; but that defendant
has failed and refused to comply with said contract and agreement; and
that, by the laws of North Carolina, upon the granting of the divorce
as aforesaid the said tenancy by the entirety was converted into a tenancy
in common.

Defendant, on the other hand, in her answer, denies these allegations
of plaintiff as to matters not uncontroverted as hereinabove stated, and
on the trial in the Superior Court offered evidence tending to support the
averments of her denial. And as witness for herself, she testified in part:
“The mortgage to the building and loan association was to be paid $51.00
per month. I paid the installments from the rents from the two apart-
ments which are rented in the house. The rent was $55.00 per month
for both apartments and when the rent was paid T would go to the build-
ing and loan office and make the payments . . . The payments continued
to be received and applied on the mortgage every month up until the time
we separated.”

The case was submitted to the jury upon this issue:

“Did the defendant agree to take title to the lands deseribed in the com-
plaint and to hold same for the use and benefit of herself and the plaintift
as alleged in the complaint?”’ The jury answered “Yes.”

And from the judgment, declaring that plaintiff is the owner and
entitled to the immediate possession of one-half undivided interest in
the tract of land in controversy, ete., defendant appeals to the Supreme
Court and assigns error.

L. L. Davenport and John E. Feagin for plaintiff, appellee.
J. Faison Thomson and Martin & Wellons for defendant, appellant.
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WixBornNEg, J. Defendant, appellant, contends primarily that the evi-
dence shown in the record on this appeal taken in the light most favorable
to plaintiff fails to make out a case for the jury. She bases her contention
in the main upon these grounds: First, that the alleged agreements, on
which the action is based, took place between husband and wife during
coverture and, not being in writing and proved in the manner required
by the provisions of G.8. 52-12 as amended, are unenforceable.

As to this contention, the principles of law most recently stated and
applied by this Court in opinions by Denny, J., in Carlisle v. Carlisle,
225 N.C. 462, 35 S.E. 2d 418, and Bass v. Bass, 229 N.C. 171, 48 S.E. 2d
48, are that “a married woman may enter into a parol agreement with her
husband to hold title to real estate conveyed to her by a third party, for
his benefit or for their joint benefit, and that such an agreement would
not involve her separate estate, and, consequently, such contract is not
required to be executed in the manner set forth in G.S. 52-12.” But it is
there declared that even so, a husband, in order to establish a parol trust
in his favor, where his wife holds title to property purchased by him and
placed in her name, must overcome the presumption that it was a gift.
And that in order to overcome this presumption and establish a parol
trust in his favor, in the absence of fraud, mistake or undue influence, the
burden is on the husband to show by clear, cogent and convincing proof
that it was the intention of the parties at the time the property was pur-
chased and conveyed to the wife, that such property was to be held for the
benefit of the husband or for their joint benefit.

The second contention is that the plaintiff has failed to show that the
property in question was purchased by him. TIn this connection it does
not appear that there is any dispute between the parties as to the sources
from which the purchase money came. And if the transaction between
plaintiff and defendant in respect to the insurance be as plaintiff alleges
and offered evidence to prove, the insurance money, though paid to de-
fendant as the named beneficiary, was not the property of defendant
individually. Rather, she received it as a trust fund for a particular
purpose,—“the purchase of a joint home.” Hence, the payment of
$900.00 which she made from this fund on the purchase price of the
property in question inured to the joint benefit of plaintiff and defendant,
as husband and wife.

Moreover, if the transaction in respect to the purchase of the house and
lot be as plaintiff alleges, and offered evidence tending to prove, defend-
ant took title thereto in trust for the benefit of plaintiff and defendant
as husband and wife, that is, as an estate by the entirety. The evidence
is sufficient to support the finding of the jury in this respect. Thus, even
though the installment payments in the process of liquidating the debt
incurred for the money borrowed and applied in payment of the halance
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of the purchase price, were made as defendant contends, that is, from
rents received from the property in question, this was tantamount to
payment by plaintiff. For where an estate by the entirety exists the
husband, during the coverture, is entitled to the full control and the
usufruet of the land to the exclusion of the wife. West v, R. E., 140
N.C. 620, 53 S.E. 477; Bank v. Hall, 201 N.C. 789, 161 S.E. 483,

Therefore it is seen, by mathematical calculation, that the monthly
installments due from the date of the deed of trust to the building and
loan association, 10 July, 1941, to the date of the separation between
plaintiff and defendant, 8 March, 1946, at $51.00 per month, amounts to
more than one-half of the whole purchase price of the property in ques-
tion. Assuming that the amount of the monthly installments included
payments on principal and interest, it is inconceivable that the amount
of the payments on the principal would be less than one-half of the
amount of the debt of $3,500.00. Since the defendant says in her testi-
mony that those installment payments were made from rents received
from the property, it affirmatively appears that plaintiff, in legal effect,
has paid at least one-half of the purchase price of the property in ques-
tion. Hence, no issue of fact in this respect remained to be submitted to
the jury. No error, therefore, is made to appear in the ruling of the
court on the motion of defendant for judgment as of nonsuit.

Defendant also assigns as error the refusal of the court to submit this
issue:

“Did the plaintiff pay or furnish the purchase price or a portion of the
purchase price with the agreement hefore the execution of the deed that
the lot of land should be purchased and title taken jointly in the name
of the plaintiff and the defendant ¢’

In the light of what is said above in respect to the evidence as to pay-
ment of the installments on the indebtedness incurred for balance of the
purchase price, the first part of the issue is immaterial, and the latter
part is expressly covered by the issue submitted. Hence, error is not made
to appear.

Defendant also assigns as error several portions of the charge. How-
ever, when the charge is considered contextually in light of the evidence
presented, no prejudicial error is shown.

Defendant has expressly abandoned numerous exceptions, and as to
some others, no reason or argument being stated or authorities cited in
support of them, they are, for that cause, taken as abandoned. Rule 28
of the Rules of Practice in the Supreme Court, 221 N.C. 544, at p. 563.

After consideration of all assignments of error, we find no just cause to
disturb the judgment from which appeal is taken.

No error.
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STATE v. GARNEY CHURCH, CHARLIE WYATT axp DEAN POWERS.

1.

Y

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

Criminal Law § 52a (1)—
Upon motion to nonsuit, the evidence must be considered in the light
most favorable to the State.

. Criminal Law § 31g—

The fact that the testimony of a witness as to the identity of defendants
is not positive does not render the testimony incompetent but goes only to
its weight.

Criminal Law § 52a (2)—

Testimony as to the identity of defendants as the parties, who in com-
pany with other unidentified persons, made a concerted assault with deadly
weapons upon the prosecuting witnesses, i¢ held sufficient to be submitted
to the jury, and the fact that the State failed to introduce evidence as to
the identity of such others is immaterial as to defendants’ guilt.

. Assault § 12—

In a prosecution for assault with a deadly weapon with intent to kill,
inflicting serious injury, testimony as to a threat made by one of defend-
ants against one of the prosecuting witnesses, in conjunction with testi-
mony tending to establish his presence at the scene at the time of the
offense, is competent as tending to implicate him.

Criminal Law § 8b: Assault § 14a—-

Where the evidence discloses that defendants made an assault upon the
prosecuting witnesses, each defendant being present, and acting in con-
cert and aiding and abetting each other in making the assaults, all are
principals and equally guilty, and defendants are not entitled to the sub-
mission to the jury of the question as to the guilt of each defendant sepa-
rately as to assault upon a particular prosecuting witness.

Criminal Law § 53g—
‘Where there is no evidence of defendants’ guilt of lesser degrees of the
crime charged, the court is not required to submit the question to the jury.

Assault § 14c—

‘Where in a prosecution for assault with a deadly weapon with intent to
kill, inflicting serious injury, the evidence tends to show assault upon
a female at least, objection to the failure of the court to submit the ques-
tion of defendants’ guilt of simple assaunlt cannot be sustained.

Assault § 8e—
An assault on a female, committed by a man or boy over 18 years of age,
is a misdemeanor punishable in the diseretion of the court.
Criminal Law § 81¢ (2)~—

Where defendants are convicted of assault with a deadly weapon, the
failure of the court to submit the question of their guilt of assault upon a



40 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [231

STATE v. CHURCH.

female, if justified by the evidence, cannot be held for prejudicial error,
since both offenses are misdemeanors punishable in the discretion of the
court.

Apprar by defendants from Pless, J., at March Term, 1949, of WrLkss.

The defendants, Garney Church, Charlie Wyatt and Dean Powers,
were charged in three separate bills of indictment with assault with
deadly weapon with intent to kill, inflicting serious injury not resulting
in death, on Billy Vanover, Jack Vineyard and Myrtle Jean Price,
respectively.,

Charlie Wyatt died before the trial, and the action abated as to him.
The cases were consolidated for trial.

The State’s evidence discloses that on the night of 8 January, 1949,
Myrtle Jean Price, Billy Vanover, Jack Vineyard, John Vineyard,
Lucille Greer and Pearlie Mae Lambert had driven from West Jefferson
in a convertible Chevrolet automobile, which belonged to Jack and John
Vineyard, to “Pop Triplett’s Place,” in Wilkes County. The place was
closed when they arrived, but while they were sitting in their parked car,
about 11:15 or 11:30 p.m., Charlie Wyatt went to the Vineyard car and
said, “How are you all?”’ Someone in the car answered, “We are all
right.” He left and immediately several shots were fired behind the
Vineyard car. Some of the occupants of the Vineyard car had seen six
men get out of an automobile shortly before the shooting started, and
when the first shots were fired, six men were standing behind the Vineyard
car. Mgyrtle Jean Price testified she could not identify any of the six
men; that she got out of the car and went up to three of the men and
said, “Don’t shoot any more in the ear. There are girls in there.” She
further testified that she thought the three men were Garney Chureh,
Dean Powers and Charlie Wyatt, and that the one she took to be Garney
Church hit her in the eye with his fist, which “staggered” her, and some-
one hit her in the mouth, knocked out a front tooth, and she was “knocked
out.” On cross-examination she was not positive in her identification of
any of the defendants except Charlie Wyatt, but she did say: “To my
best knowledge I saw Garney Church and Dean Powers there that night.”

The evidence further discloses that after the attack on Myrtle Jean
Price, three of the men went on one side of the Vineyard car and three
on the other; that Charlie Wyatt held a pistol on Billy Vanover, while
Dean Powers dragged him from the ear; that Vanover was beaten and
left on the ground ; that Jack Vineyard was shot while he was in the car,
the bullet entering his shoulder.

Jack Vineyard testified that before Myrtle Jean Price got out of the
car she looked through the glass and said, “I see Garney Church. Let
me out, I will stop him.” Thereafter he started to.get out of the car,
and Charlie Wyatt had a pistol and punched him in the stomach. “I
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Jjust got one foot on the ground. Pearlie said, ‘Look what they have done
to Bill” Somebody hit me with something and busted my skull and
knocked me out. When I next knew anything was in Glendale Springs
on my way to the hospital.” He also testified that he later examined his
car and one bullet entered the car through the back glass and “it looked
like they shot in from both front doors, (shots) went in each corner of
back seat. . . . I was sitting on the left side of the back seat at the time
T got shot.”

Mathie Triplett testified that he was at “Pop’s Place” the night of the
shooting. “I knew Garney Church. I have known him about three
months. I saw him the night this shooting occurred. I saw him walking
down the road from his car. That was before the shooting, a matter, I
reckon, of a half or two minutes, something like that. He was walking
from his car when I saw him. I know his automobile, it was there. I am
positive it was him, I saw. I did not see the Vineyard boys or Billy
Vanover or any of the witnesses on the stand. . . . We had lights in the
house. . . . I opened the door and asked what was going on out there.
Shooting was going on. I saw Church just a minute before anything
started. . . . I was standing in the door when I saw Garney Church; I
opened it enough to stick my head out the door. I didn’t know none of
the rest. I saw four men.”

The defendants moved for judgment as of nonsuit at the close of the
State’s evidence. The motion was overruled. The defendants offered
no evidence and renewed their motion, which was again overruled.

The jury found the defendants guilty in each case of assault with a
deadly weapon. The court imposed a sentence on both defendants in each
case, of two years in the common jail of Wilkes County, to be assigned
to work on the roads under the supervision of the State Highway and
Public Works Commission, the sentences to run consecutively.

The defendants appeal, assigning error.

Attorney-General McdMullan and Assistant Altorney-General Moody
and Forrest H. Shuford, II, Member of Staff, for the State.
F.J. McDuffie and Trivette, Holshouser & Mitchell for defendants.

Dexxy, J. These defendants seriously contend that their motion for
judgment as of nonsuit should have been granted for the following rea-
sons: (1) That the identity of the defendants was not sufficiently shown
to warrant the submission of the charges to the jury; and (2) that the
evidence is insufficient to show that the defendants conspired to assault
Jack Vineyard, Billy Vanover and Myrtle Jean Price, or that they were
acting in concert or aiding and abetting one another when the assaults
were made.
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We think the evidence adduced in the trial below, when considered in
the light most favorable to the State, as it must be on motion to nonsuit,
is sufficient to carry each of these cases to the jury as against both defend-
ants. 8. v. Gentry, 228 N.C. 644, 46 S.E. 2d 863; S. v. Davenport, 227
N.C. 475, 42 S.E. 2d 686; S. v. Gordon, 225 N.C. 757, 36 S.E. 2d 143;
8. v. Scoggins, 225 N.C. 71, 33 S.E. 2d 473; S. v. McKinnon, 223 N.C.
160, 25 S.E. 2d 606; S. v. Woodard, 218 N.C. 572, 11 8.E. 2d 882.

The inability of the State to introduce evidence as to the identity of
three of the six men who were present and aiding in the assault on these
prosecuting witnesses, has no material bearing on the question of the
guilt or innocence of these defendants. The evidence is unequivocal as to
the presence and conduct of Charlie Wyatt and Dean Powers, and while
the prosecuting witness, Myrtle Jean Price, would not say positively that
she knew Garney Church and Dean Powers were two of the three men
she requested not to “shoot any more in the car,” she did testify that she
thought they were present and that she thought Garney Church was the
person who hit her in the eye with his fist. The fact that this witness was
not positive in her identification of these defendants did not make her
testimony inadmissible. The lack of positiveness as to the identity of
Dean Powers and Garney Church went only to the weight and not to the
admissibility of her testimony. Stansbury, N. C. Evidence, Sec. 129,
8. v. Lytle, 117 N.C. 799, 23 S.E. 476; 8. v. Costner, 127 N.C. 566,
37 S.E. 326; 8. v. Carmon, 145 N.C. 481, 59 S.E. 657; S. v. Lane, 166
N.C. 333, 81 S.E. 620; S. v. Walton, 186 N.C. 485, 119 S.E. 886; 8. ».
Lawrence, 196 N.C. 562, 146 S.E. 395. Moreover, there is other evidence
on this record which tends to show that Garney Church was present before
the shooting started and while the assaults were being committed. These
assignments of error will not be sustained.

The defendants also except to and assign as error the admission of
the testimony of Myrtle Jean Price, as to the identity of Garney Church,
in response to the following inquiry by the court: “Tell upon what ground
you thought you recognized him #” Among other things the witness said :
“He was at the cafe earlier in the afternoon. They were in there talking.
He said he had some dealings with Billy Vanover and he was going to get
even with him, he didn’t say how or when. . . . I had known him all my
life. He was raised in the same community I was.”

The existence of a motive which prompts one to do a particular act,
may be considered as “a circumstance tending to make it more probable
that the person in question did the act, hence evidence of motive is always
admissible when the doing of the act is in dispute,” Stansbury, N. C.
Evidence, Sec. 83. In 8. v. Wilcox, 132 N.C. 1120, 44 S.E. 625, it is
said: “A man’s motive may be gathered from his acts and so his conduet
may be gathered from the motive by which he was known to be influ-
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enced. Proof that the party accused was influenced by a strong motive
of interest to commit the offense proved to have been committed although
weak and inconclusive in itself, yet it is a circumstance to be used in
conjunction with others which tend to implicate the accused.” 8. w.
Bynum, 175 N.C. 777, 95 S.E. 101; 8. v. Alderman, 182 N.C. 917, 110
S.E. 595 S. v. Coffey, 210 N.C. 561, 187 S.E. 754. Consequently, the
threat made by Church against one of the prosecuting witnesses may be
considered as a cireumstance in conjunction with his presence at the scene
of the erime before the shooting started, together with the other evidence,
as tending to implicate him.

These defendants further contend they cannot be guilty of assaulting
all three of the prosecuting witnesses, since they were fighting different
parties. And on this theory they contend there is no evidence that the
defendant Garney Church did anything more than to commit a simple
assanlt on Myrtle Jean Price, and that the defendant Dean Powers did
not assault Jack Vineyard or Myrtle Jean Price. Therefore, they con-
tend the jury should not have been permitted to consider but two charges,
to wit: One against Dean Powers for assaulting Billy Vanover, and the
other against Garney Church for assaulting Myrtle Jean Price. The
contention will not be upheld in view of the evidence disclosed by the
record.

The evidence tends to show that these defendants got out of a car at
“Pop’s Place” after the Vineyard car was parked; that Charlie Wyatt
went to the Vineyard car, doubtless for the purpose of ascertaining who
occupied the car, for immediately after rejoining his associates they began
to shoot in the rear of the car; and when Myrtle Jean Price got out of
the Vineyard car and went where three of the six men were then standing
and said: “Don’t shoot any more in the car. There are girls in there,”
she was assaulted immediately, and one of the men fired a pistol in the
direction of the car.

The jury might well have inferred from the conduct of the defendants
that at the time the assaults were committed, these defendants and others
had conspired to commit an assault on the prosecuting witnesses, or at
least one of them, S. v. Knotts, 168 N.C. 173, 83 S.E. 972, but the
evidence is also sufficient to show that these defendants were present,
acting in concert and aiding and abetting each other in making the
assaults. And an indiscriminate assault upon several individnals is an
assault upon each one of them. 8. v. Merritt, 61 N.C. 134; S. v. Nash,
86 N.C. 652; 8. v. Knotts, supra. Moreover, without regard to previous
agreement or design, when two or more persons aid and abet each other
in the commission of a crime or crimes, all being present, all are prin-
cipals and equally guilty. S. v. Gosnell, 208 N.C. 401, 181 S.E. 323;
8. v. Ray, 212 N.C. 725, 194 S.E. 482; S. v. Kelly, 216 N.C. 627, 6 S.E.
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2d 533; S. v. Johnson, 226 N.C. 671, 40 S.E. 2d 113; S. v. Forshee, 228
N.C. 268, 45 S.E. 2d 372.

The defendants likewise except and assign as error the failure of the
trial court to charge the jury that it might bring in a verdict of simple
assault against each defendant on each charge in the respective bills of
indictment.

But when there is no evidence to sustain a verdict of guilty of a lesser
degree of the offense charged, it is not error to fail to submit issues of
lesser degrees. S. v. Gregory, 223 N.C. 415, 27 S.E. 2d 140; S. v. Muse,
229 N.C. 536, 50 S.E. 2d 311. There is certainly no evidence that would
justify a verdiet of simple assault on Jack Vineyard or Billy Vanover.
There is evidence to the effect that both were assaulted with a deadly
weapon and both received serious injuries. On the other hand, these
defendants were not entitled to have the jury instructed that it might
return a verdict of simple assault against them under the bill of indiet-
ment charging an assault on Myrtle Jean Price. S. v. Smith, 174 N.C.
804, 93 S.E. 910. An assault on a female, committed by a man or boy
over 18 years of age, is not a simple assault according to the usually
accepted meaning of that charge. It is a misdemeanor punishable in the
discretion of the court. 8. v. Jackson, 226 N.C. 66, 36 S.E. 2d 706. The
defendants were convicted of an assault with a deadly weapon, which is
also a misdemeanor punishable in the discretion of the court. G.S. 14-33;
8. v. Smith, supra. Therefore, if it be conceded that the evidence did
warrant an instruetion to the effect that the jury might return a verdiet
of guilty of an assault on a female in this particular case, prejudicial
error has not been shown in view of the verdict rendered by the jury.

There are 70 assignments of error in this record, based on 99 excep-
tions. Obviously we have not attempted to discuss them seriatim. How-
ever, all of them have been carefully considered and in the trial below
we find no prejudicial error.

No error.-

MRS. VIRGINIA LEE LINDLEY v. KERMIT O. FRAZIER aAnxp OSCAR
LINDLEY, ADMINISTRATORS OF THE ESTATE oF A. Q. LINDLEY, DECEASED.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

1. Executors and Administrators § 15d—

‘While there is no presumption that personal services rendered by a
daughter-in-law are gratuitous, in her action against the estate of her
father-in-law to recover for such services upon quantum meruit the burden
still rests upon her to show circumstances from which it can be inferred
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that the services were rendered and received with a mutual understanding
that they were to be paid for, but proof that such services were knowingly
received raises such inference.

2. Same-—Evidence held insufficient to establish implied promise to pay for
Ppersonal services of daughter-in-law.

Plaintiff’s evidence was to the effect that she and her husband went to
live with her father-in-law at his request, that her husband worked on the
farm and received therefor wages or a share of the crop as agreed upon by
them and that plaintiff did the cooking and household duties. Plaintiff’s
husband .testified that his father stated he wanted him and his wife to
have a home and that he had made a deed to them for a part of the tract,
but there was no testimony connecting this to any promise by intestate.
The deed was never delivered. Held: The evidence is insufficient to show
an implied contract to pay for plaintiff’s services, and nonsuit in her action
to recover upon quantum meruit should have been entered.

Derexpants’ appeal from Crisp, Special Judge, July Term, 1949,
Ranvorrr Superior Court.

The plaintiff brought this action against the defendant administrators
to recover for services alleged to have been rendered A. O. Lindley, the
decedent, basing her claim upon a quantum meruit.

The plaintiff, daughter-in-law of the deceased Lindley, elaims that at
the request of Lindley she went to live in the home and undertook for
him the care of his houschold, doing the cooking, a large part of the
ironing and other domestic duties, and that Lindley died intestate with-
out having paid her for the services. The defendants deny the material
allegations of the eomplaint.

A summary of the evidence pertinent to the decision follows:

Dwight Lindley, husband of the plaintiff, was released from the army
on July 29, 1943, upon his own request, for the purpose of farming. He
states that his father, A. O. Lindley “got me out of the army to stay with
him and help take care of the farm.” On August 1, 1943, Dwight came
to see his father and the latter asked him to bring the plaintiff “down
so she could cook for us.” At that time the plaintiff was living with her
father in McLeansville. The plaintiff, with her husband and one child,
moved into the home of A. O, Lindley that night, and continued to reside
there until the last of October, 1947. Another child was born to the
plaintiff during such residence. A. O. Lindley told Dwight Lindley and
the plaintiff that he was expeeting them to have a home there and he
made a deed for eight aeres, which deed was never delivered to them.

The plaintiff did the cooking, housecleaning, part of the washing and
ironing and did general housework and helped her husband in the field.
A daughter of A. O. Lindley did some of the washing for him. Dwight
stated that the bargain was that A. O. Lindley would pay the light bill
so long as the plaintiff and her husband stayed and if she would do the
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housework. Dwight Lindley helped his father complete the 1943 crop
and was paid for his services. For the next three years he farmed the
land on a rent-share basis, getting one-half the crop. A. O. Lindley paid
for Dwight’s part of the fertilizer for two years, after which Dwight paid
his own expenses. Dwight Lindley testified that he and his wife bought
most of the food of the household with their own money, most of which
was made by his wife, who was working.

He did not, however, farm for the year 1947 because a brother had
come in and there was not enough land for them all. The father was
approximately 70 years old when plaintiff and her husband moved in.
While unable at times to do a full day’s work, he was never bedridden,
and looked after the farm chores and did the milking. During this time
there were two adult brothers of Dwight Lindley and a share-cropper who
at intervals took their meals in the home. Plaintiff, with her husband,
moved away in October, 1947, about three months before A. O. Lindley
died. Dwight and his family moved back to the farm then because they
had a lot there, and their furniture, and because they could not find a
house.

When the plaintiff rested her case defendants demurred to the evidence
and moved for judgment of nonsuit, which was overruled. Defendants
excepted. Defendants offered no evidence.

The evidence was submitted to the jury and the issues were answered
in favor of the plaintiff. Defendants moved to set aside the verdict for
errors committed on the trial. The motion was declined and defendants
excepted. To the ensuing judgment upon the verdict defendants objected,
excepted, and gave notice of appeal.

Stedman H. Hines, of Hughes & Hines, and Marvin J, Gatlin for
plaintiff, appellee.
T. R. Wall and Miller & Moser for defendants, appellants.

Seawsrr, J. The relationship of daughter-in-law has been held not to
raise the presumption that services performed while living within the
family are gratuitous. Dunn v. Currie, 141 N.C. 123, 53 S.E. 533;
Nesbitt v. Donoho, 198 N.C. 147, 150 S.E. 875; Landreth v. Morrs,
214 N.C. 619, 200 S.E. 378; Francis v. Francis, 223 N.C. 401, 26 S.E. 2d
907. But, although the plaintiff may not have been confronted with this
presumption to hurdle, the burden still rested upon her to show cireum-
stances from which it might be inferred that the services were rendered
and received with the mutual understanding that they were to be paid for.
The quantum meruit must rest upon an implied contract. Nothing else
appearing, such an inference is permissible when a person knowingly
accepts from another services of value, or, as it is sometimes put, under
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circumstances calculated to put a reasonable person on notice that the
services are not gratuitous. Frances v. Francis, supra; Stewart v. Wyrick,
228 N.C. 429, 45 S.E. 2d 764; Ray v. Robinson, 216 N.C. 430, 5 S.E. 2d
127; Potter ». Clark, 229 N.C. 350, 49 S.E. 2d 636; Pew v, First National
Bank, 130 Mass. 391, 54 A.L.R., Anno., p. 549.

But the transaction with which we are dealing in the instant case is
not so simple; much else appears to challenge the application of the rule
and defeat the inference. Carlson v. Krantz, 214 N.W. 928 (Minn.),
54 A.LR. 545, Anno., pp. 548, 549.

The strongest bid for recognition of an implied contract lies in the
testimony of Dwight Lindley that his father stated to him and his wife
that he intended they should have a home, and that he had made a deed
for eight acres, (which was never delivered). This, however, appears in
the evidence without any attempt to attach it or couple it with any
promise made by A. O. Lindley and, in fact, without reference to the
subject of compensation at all and may well be attributed to parental
motives. It is not in evidence that any promise was made.

The whole evidence seems to indicate that the parties, in living to-
gether, were engaged in a joint venture or enterprise, each contributing
to the extent of his or her abilities for the common good without mutual
understanding that any of the services so contributed were to be paid for.
No obligation survived the termination of the modus vivends.

The demurrer to the evidence should have been sustained and the
motion for nonsuit allowed.

The judgment to the contrary is

Reversed.

DR. H. W. BARRIER v. HOMER L. TROUTMAN anxp CAROLINA AIR
PARK, INC.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Nuisances §§ 4, 5—

The ancient writ of nuisance has been superseded under the code by
civil action for damages or for a removal of the nuisance, or for both.
G.S. 1-539.

2.. Nuisances § 4: Injunctions § 4d—

An individual may not maintain an action for a public nuisance unless
he shows unusual and special damage, different from that suffered by the
general public.

8. Nuisances § 4: Injunctions § 4d—

The injured party is entitled to restrain the operation of a business or
enterprise, even though lawful, when he makes it appear that in its manner
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of operation it constitutes a private nuisance, but interference by the court
should not extend beyond that which is necessary to correct the evil and
prevent the injury.

4, Same-—

Abatement of a private nuisance is not dependent upon recovery of
damages.

5. Same: Injunctions § 83—

In order for an injury to be irreparable it is not required that it be
beyond the possibility of repair or compensation in damages, but it is
sufficient if it be one to which complainant should not be required to submit
or the other party to inflict and is of such continuous and frequent recur-
rence that reasonable redress cannot be had in a court of law,

6. Nuisances § 1—

An airport is a lawful enterprise and is not a nuisance per se, but may
become a nuisance if its location, structure and manner of use and opera-
tion result in depriving complainant of the comfort and enjoyment of his
property.

7. Same: Nuisances § 4: Injunctions § 4d—

Plaintiff alleged that by reason of the topography and the manner of its
use and operation, planes using the airport on adjoining property flew over
plaintiff’s clinic at a height of not more than 100 feet, so as to constitute a
recurrent danger and disturbance to plaintiff and patients of his clinie.
Held: The complaint alleges a private nuisance, and upon verdict of the
jury that the airport constituted a nuisance as alleged in the complaint,
plaintiff is entitled to enjoin such use notwithstanding the further finding
of the jury that plaintiff had not been damaged in a special and peculiar
way.

8. Costs § 3a—

Where a cause has been remanded on appeal, the taxing of costs will
follow the final judgment.

Apprar by plaintiff from Rudisill, J., June Term, 1949, of Canarrus,
Error and remanded.

This was a suit to enjoin the use of an airport alleged to have been so
located and operated by the defendants as to constitute a private nuisance
injurious to the plaintiff,

Plaintiff alleged that defendants had construeted the runway of their
airport adjoining the premises on which plaintiff maintains his home and
a clinic used in connection with his medical practice; that the runway
extends in an east-west direction, with the west end thereof coming within
400 yards of plaintiff’s property, and is 100 feet lower in elevation; that,
due to the location and construction of the runway, aireraft in taking off
and landing thereon must do so at so low an altitude as to endanger plain-
tif’s property and disturb the peace and enjoyment of the homes of
plaintiff and of other local residents, and that the continuous use and
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operation of the airstrip is injurious to health of those in plaintiff’s
home and clinie; that aireraft using defendants’ airport continually fly
over plaintiff’s home and eclinic at a height of not more than 100 feet and
branches of trees on plaintiff’s premises have been broken off; that the
harsh noises incident to the use of the runway disturb plaintiff and his
family, and the serenity, peace and security of his home and clinic; that
the operation of the airport as it is now being operated constitutes a haz-
ard and danger to person and property of plaintiff and to those who come
to plaintiff’s clinic for medical treatment, and constitutes a nuisance;
that defendants after notice refuse to cease the operation of aireraft upon
and along said runway in the manner in which it is now being used.

During the progress of the trial the plaintiff announced he was not
seeking damages but an abatement of the nuisance, and to restrain the
flying of airplanes over plaintifi’s house and property.

The determinative issues submitted to the jury were answered as
follows:

“Is the airport of defendants so located and used that planes operating
to and from it constitute a nuisance as alleged in the complaint? An-
swer: Yes.

“If so0, has the plaintiff been damaged in a special and peculiar way by
reason thereof? Answer: No.”

It was adjudged that plaintiff recover nothing from defendants, that
plaintiff’s prayer for an 1nJunct10n be denied, and that plaintiff pay the
costs.

Plaintiff excepted and appealed.

Hartsell & Hartsell, John Hugh Williams, end E. T. Bost, Jr for
plawntiff, appellant.

Smathers, Smathers & Carpenter, R. Furman James, and W. S. Bogle
for defendants, appellees.

Devin, J. The trial leading up to the verdict was without exception.
The defendants did not appeal, and the plaintiff’s appeal brings up only
his exception to the denial of his motion for an injunction based upon
the verdict of the jury.

Remedy by the ancient writ of nuisance has long since been superseded
under the code by civil action for damages, or for removal of the nuisance,
or both. G.S. 1-539. And the rule is established that for a public nui-
sance where rights and privileges common to the public or to all the
people of the community are injuriously interfered with, no action lies
in favor of an individual in the absence of a showing of unusual and
special damage, differing from that suffered by the general public. But
where the nuisance results from violation of private rights and are such
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as to constitute a private wrong by injuring property or health, or where
by the use of structures and permitted conditions a nuisance has been
created, causing annoyance to the individual and disturbing him in the
possession of his premises and rendering the use and occupancy thereof
uncomfortable, injuriously affecting the peace and menacing the health
and safety of his home, the law affords the injured person redress
remedial or preventive. Cherry v. Williams, 147 N.C. 452, 61 S.E. 267;
McManus v. Southern Ry. Co., 150 N.C. 655, 64 S.E. 766; Pruitt v.
Bethell, 174 N.C. 454, 93 S.E. 945; Anderson v. Waynesville, 203 N.C.
37,164 S.E. 583; Clinton v. Ross, 226 N.C. 682, 40 S.E. 2d 593; 39 Am.
Jur. 428. Where the nuisance is continuous and recurrent and the injury
irreparable, and remedy by way of damages inadequate, equity will
restrain, even though the enterprise be in itself lawful. But to justify
injunetion it must appear that the business or enterprise complained of,
in the manner in which it is conducted, is a nuisance, and that inter-
ference by the court does not extend beyond what is necessary to correct
the evil and prevent the injury. Clinton v. Ross, supra.

The equitable remedy of injunction to abate a private nuisance is not
dependent upon recovery of damages, if the right is clearly established.
Simpson v. Justice, 43 N.C. 115; Redd v. Cotton Mills, 136 N.C. 342,
48 S.E. 761; 2 Wood on Nuisances, 1128,

To constitute irreparable injury it is not essential that it be shown
that the injury is beyond the possibility of repair or possible compensation
in damages, but that the injury is one to which the complainant should
not be required to submit or the other party permitted to inflict, and is
of such continuous and frequent recurrence that no reasonable redress
can be had in a court of law. 2 Wood on Nuisances, 1126 ; Black’s Law
Dictionary; 39 Am. Jur. 425, et seq.

The establishment and maintenance of an airport is a lawful enter-
prise, of growing significance in modern life. Goswick v. Durham, 211
N.C. 687, 191 S.E. 729; Turner v. Reidsville, 224 N.C. 42 (45), 29 S.E.
2d 211; Atrport Authority v. Johnson, 226 N.C. 1, 36 S.E. 2d 803. An
airport may not be regarded as a nuisance per se, but in the location, struc-
ture and manner of use and operation it may become so where its opera-
tion deprives the complainant of the comfort and enjoyment of. his
property. U. 8. v. Causby, 828 U.S. 256; Sweetland v. Curtis Airport
Corp., 55 F. 2d 201, 83 A.L.R. 819; Delta Air Corp. v. Kersey, 193 Ga.
862, 20 S.E. 2d 245; G.S. 63-13; G.S. 63-18; G.8S. 63-30. In Baltimore
& Potomac R. R. Co. v. Fifth Baptist Church, 108 U.S. 317, it was said:
“That it is a nuisance, which annoys and disturbs one in the possession of
his property, rendering its prdinary use and cccupation physically un-
comfortable to him. For such annoyance and discomfort the courts of
law will afford redress by giving damages against the wrong-doer, and
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when the cause of annoyance and diseomfort are continuous, courts of
equity will interfere and restrain the nuisance.” In Sweetland v. Curtis
Airport Corp., supra, it was said: “Courts have not hesitated to enjoin
the operation of a legitimate business which, because of its location,
constituted a private nuisance, when it clearly appeared that there was
no other complete remedy for the injury done.”

In the case at bar the verdict of the jury established the fact that the
airport of the defendants was so located and used that planes operating
to and from it constituted a nuisance “as alleged in the complaint.” This
finding was without exception by the defendants. The complaint alleged
a private nuisance as distinguished from a public nuisance, that is, that
the described injuries, discomforts, and annoyances resulted from viola-
tion of plaintiff’s private rights rather than those common to the public
generally. 1 Wood on Nuisances, 34. Hence, we think the plaintiff was
entitled to the remedy by injunction, restraining the continued use and
operation of the airport in such a way as to injure the plaintiff in the
manner alleged in his complaint.

Plaintiff assigns error in the adjudication against him of the costs in
the trial court, but as the cause must be remanded for the error herein
pointed out, the costs will follow the final judgment. Williams v. Hughes,
139 N.C. 17, 51 S.E. 790; Zebulon v. Dawson, 216 N.C. 520, 5 S.E. 2d
535. ‘

Error and remanded.

STATE v. J. R. BOWMAN.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Criminal Law § 22—

Where in a prosecution for willful failure to support an illegitimate
child, the court in its discretion withdraws a juror and orders a mistrial
because it had not been made te appear that demand had been made upon
defendant to support the child, the mistrial is ordered in the interest of
justice and such disposition will not support a plea of former jeopardy in
a subsequent prosecution for the same offense.

2., Parent and Child § 2: Bastards § 5—

In a prosecution of defendant for willful failure to support his illegiti-
mate child conceived during wedlock of the mother, the mother, while not
competent to testify as to the nonaccess of her husband, is competent to
testify as to acts of illicit intercourse of defendant, that he was the father
of the child in question, and had admitted paternity and promised to pro-
vide for the child and had failed to do so after demand..
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3. Bastards § 6—

Evidence in this prosecution of defendant for willful failure to support
his illegitimate child is held sufficient to be submitted to the jury.

Arpear by defendant from Shuford, Special Judge, at May 9th Special
Term, 1949, of CaLpWELL.

Criminal prosecution upon a warrant issued out of the recorder’s court
of Caldwell County, 8 March, 1948, charging defendant with willful
failure to provide support for his illegitimate child begotten upon the
body of one Irene Roberts.

Upon trial in recorder’s court the jury returned a verdict of guilty.
Judgment was pronounced thereon imposing a six months’ jail sentence.
Defendant appealed therefrom to Superior Court.

When the case was called, and before pleading, and the impaneling of
a jury, defendant entered a plea of former jeopardy. Pless, J., then
presiding, found facts in respect thereto substantially these: That a
warrant issued out of the recorder’s court of Caldwell County on 7 March,
1947, charging defendant with willful failure to support his illegitimate
child, born of Irene Roberts; that defendant was found guilty in said
court and judgment was pronounced; that he appealed therefrom to
Superior Court; that in course of the trial in Superior Court on such
appeal, when it appeared that the prosecuting witness, Irene Roberts,
had made no demand of the defendant that he support the child in ques-
tion, the court in its discretion withdrew a juror and ordered a mistrial;
and that later the Solicitor for the State took a'nol pros in the case. And
another warrant, the one on which present prosecution is based, was
issued on 8 March, 1948,

On these facts the judge held that the plea of former jeopardy is not
well taken. Defendant excepted.

A trial in Superior Court followed,—resulting in a jury verdict of
guilty, on which the court sentenced defendant to a term of six months
in the common jail of Caldwell County to work the roads under super-
vision of the State Highway and Public Works Commission. (Counsel
for the prosecuting witness recommended to the court that the sentence be
suspended upon econdition that defendant support the child.) (“Counsel
for defendant will not consent.”) Defendant appealed to Supreme Court
and assigned errors, among which is that the court erred “in overruling
defendant’s plea on former jeopardy.” All the above appears from record
on former appeal, No. 289 at Spring Term, 1949,

On such appeal a new trial was ordered for error in admitting incom-
petent evidence. See 230 N.C. 203, 52 S.E. 2d 345.

And when the case came on for second time in Superior Court of
Caldwell County, it appears from the record on this appeal that before
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the jury was selected and chosen defendant again entered a plea of former
jeopardy—and the motion was overruled, to which he excepted.

On such retrial evidence was offered by the State, and by the defendant.

The jury again found the defendant guilty. On the verdict so finding
the judgment of the court is that defendant be confined in the common
jail of Caldwell County for a term of six months to be assigned to work
on the roads under the control and supervision of the State Highway and
Public Works Commission. He appeals therefrom to Supreme Court,
and assighs error.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Rhodes
for the State.

W. H. Strickland, John C. Stroupe, and L. M. Abernathy for defend-
ant, appellant.

‘WixsoryE, J. By referring to record on former appeal, No. 289 at
Spring Term, 1949, of this Court, it is seen that the first assignment of
error brought forward there, as it is now, by defendant, is based upon
exception to the ruling of the court in denying his plea of former jeop-
ardy. This ruling is accordant with prevailing decisions of this Court,—
so much so, that on former appeal the exeception merited no particular
consideration. And on this appeal the same authorities are cited by
defendant as on former appeal. If the point could be presented again
on this appeal, it is still without merit. It is apparent that the mistrial
in question was ordered in the interest of justice. As was said by Brown,
J.,in 8. v. Tyson, 138 N.C. 627, 50 S.E. 456: “It is well settled and
admits of no controversy that in all cases, capital included, the court may
discharge a jury and order a mistrial when it is necessary to attain the
ends of justice. It is a matter resting in the sound discretion of the trial
judge.” See also S. v. Guthrie, 145 N.C. 492, 59 S.E. 652; S. v. Beal,
199 N.C. 278, 154 S.E. 604, and 8. v. Dove, 222 N.C. 162, 22 S.E. 2d 231,

Defendant next assigns as error numerous rulings of the court in per-
mitting the prosecutrix to testify (1) to acts of sexual intercourse with
defendant, (2) that he was the father of the child in question, (3) that
he had said to her “that he knew it was his baby . . . and he would pro-
vide for the baby,” and (4) that before 8 March, 1948, the date of the
warrant on which this prosecution is based, she had demanded of defend-
ant that he support the child—and that he has not given any support—
even though he is an able-bodied man.

These assignments are held to be without merit. - In the case of Ray
v. Ray, 219 N.C. 217, 18 S.E. 2d 224, in opinion by Barnhdll, J., this
Court, speaking of the competency of a married woman to testify as to
the paternity of her child born in wedlock, had this to say: “The question
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of legitimacy or illegitimacy of the child of a married woman, under
the prevailing rules, rests on proof as to the nonaccess of the husband
and she is not a competent witness to prove the nonaccess of the husband.
But she is permitted to testify to the illicit relations in an action directly
involving the parentage of the child, for in such cases, proof thereof
frequently would be an impossibility, except through her testimony,”
citing 8. v. Pettaway, 10 N.C. 623; S. v. Wilson, 32 N.C. 131; §S. .
McDowell, 101 N.C. 734, 7 S.E. 785.

Indeed, the rulings to which these assignments of error relate are not
in conflict with the rule of evidence applied in granting a new trial on
former appeal, 230 N.C. 203, 52 S.E. 2d 345.

Defendant also assigns as error the denial of his motions for judgment
as of nonsuit. A reading of the evidence shown in the record also dis-
closes it is sufficient to take the case to the jury on all essential elements
of the offense charged and to support the verdict rendered.

After careful consideration of all assignments of error presented by
defendant for consideration on this appeal, we find

No error.

J. B. WALKER aAxp FANNIE WALKER v. F. B. WALKER.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

[

. Deeds § 6—

Where there is no allegation or evidence that the deed attacked was a
deed of gift, delay in recording does not invalidate the instrument.

2, Trusts § 2a—

Neither a grantor nor those claiming under him may engraft a parol
trust upon his deed absolute in form.

8. Frauds, Statute of, § 9—

A parol agreement of the grantee to revest title in the grantor by de-
stroying his deed, comes within the statute of frauds and is voidable at
the election of the grantee.

4, Trusts §§ 2a, 5b—Exercise of legal right in lawful manner cannot be
made basis of charge of fraud so as to create constructive trust.

Plaintiffs’ allegations and evidence were to the effect that after defend-
ant’s father had conveyed the lands to him defendant requested his father
to repurchase same, that the father paid a sum of money for the repurchase
and went into possession, that the son said his deed had been lost and that
as soon as he could find it he would destroy it and thus revest title in his
father, and that subsequent to the father’s death the son recorded the
deed. Held: The parol agreement to revest fitle in the father comes
within the statute of frauds and is voidable at the option of the son, and
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therefore the action of the son in doing what he had a legal right to do
cannot be made the basis for a charge of fraud so as to impress a trust
upon his title to the property.

Appear by plaintiffs from Rousseau, J., March-April Term, 1949,
Creveranp. Affirmed.

Civil action to impress a trust upon defendant’s title to certain real
property.

On 3 October 1932, F. J. Walker and wife, for a valuable consideration,
conveyed a ten-acre tract of land by warranty deed to defendant, their
son. In the summer of 1933 defendant asked his father to repurchase the
property. F. J. Walker then borrowed $300 which he paid to defendant
for the repurchase. Defendant said his deed had been lost or misplaced
and as soon as he could find it he would destroy it and thus revest title in
F. J. Walker. No paper writing or memorandum was signed. Instead,
the contract was wholly oral. After the agreement of repurchase was
entered into, ¥. J. Walker took possession of the land and remained in
possession thereof until the time of his death. On 19 Oectober 1947,
F. J. Walker died. On 28 October 1947, defendant filed his deed for
registration. These are the facts disclosed by the allegations in the com-
plaint and the testimony offered when considered in the light most favor-
able to plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs, heirs at law and devisees of F. J. Walker, instituted this
action for judgment that defendant holds title to said land as trustee for
the use and benefit of plaintiffs. The defendant denied the oral agree-
ment to sell and reconvey and pleaded the statute of frauds.

At the conclusion of plaintiff’s evidence in chief, the court, on motion
of defendant, entered judgment as in case of nonsuit.

Horace Kennedy and J. W. Osborne for plainliff appellants.
Falls & Falls for defendant appellee.

Barwnuins, J.  The plaintiffs do not allege, and there is no evidence
tending to show, that the conveyance from F. J. Walker and wife to
F. B. Walker was a deed of gift. On the contrary, the testimony tends
to show that it was supported by a valuable consideration. Hence the
delay in recording the deed did not invalidate the instrument.

Nor is it contended that any agreement was made at or before the
time the deed was delivered respecting the quality of defendant’s title
or the nature of his seizure other than such as is disclosed by the deed
itself. Any such agreement attempting to bind defendant to stand seized
for the benefit of the grantor, if made, would be unenforceable. Gaylord
v. Gaylord, 150 N.C. 222, 63 S.E. 1028; Bass v. Bass, 229 N.C. 171,
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The delivery of the deed consummated the transaction and vested title
in defendant free of any claim of right of the grantor. Turlington v.
Neighbors, 222 N.C. 694, 24 S.E. 2d 648.

The plaintiffs ground their action on an oral agreement by defendant
to reconvey the premises to . J. Walker, by the destruction of his unre-
corded deed, and his alleged fraudulent misrepresentations in respect to
the loss of the deed and his consequent inability to destroy it. He agreed
to revest title in his father by destroying his unrecorded deed to the locus.
This he failed to do. Now he should be compelled to comply with his
agreement or else be declared trustee for the use and benefit of plaintiffs.
So they contend. Their position finds no support in law or equity.

The contract to reconvey, if made, was voidable at the election of
defendant. Arps v. Davenport, 183 N.C. 72, 110 S.E. 580; Coley wv.
Dalrymple, 225 N.C. 67, 33 S.E. 2d 477; Westmoreland v. Lowe, 225
N.C. 553, 85 S.E. 2d 613; Wright v. Allred, 226 N.C. 113, 37 S.E. 2d 107.
Upon his denial of the contract and plea of the statute of frauds, it
became wholly unenforceable. Harvey v. Linker, 226 N.C. 711, 40 S.E.
2d 202.

In disavowing the contract and refusing to abide by its terms, defend-
ant was exercising a legal right and his exercise of a legal right in a
lawful manner cannot be made the basis of a charge of fraud such as
would impress a trust upon his title to the property.

Even if we accept plaintiffs’ version of the transaction, defendant’s
promissory representations created no right in equity and cannot serve to
vest in plaintiffs any interest in the land in the form of any type of trust
known to equity jurisprudence. Certainly they are insufficient to con-
stitute a conveyance recognized in law. Real estate is not conveyed in
that manner.

Lefkowitz v. Stlver, 182 N.C. 339, 109 S.E. 56, and other authorities
of like import relied on by plaintiffs are not in point. Here no title
passed to defendant by virtue of his representations, and he did not take
title subject to any equity thereby created.

The judgment below is

Affirmed.

ZELL BROWN v. F. E. VESTAL Anxp Wirg, DAISY VESTAL.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Trial § 7—

Counsel have the right to argue the law to the jury as well as the facts.
G.8. 84-14.
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2. Trial § $1b—

It is the duty of the court to explain the law and apply it to the testi-
mony in the case. G.S.1-180.

8. Same—

An instruction that the jury should be guided by the law as argued by
counsel if not inconsistent with the rules of law laid down by the court,
but to follow the instructions given by the court if argument of counsel
was inconsistent therewith, must be held for reversible error.

4. Trusts § 4c—

In this action to impress a trust on title to realty upon allegations that
at the time defendants purchased the property and took title, it was agreed
that they hold it for the benefit of plaintiff and defendants, demurrer held
properly overruled.

Apprar by defendants from Edmundson, Special Judge, March Term,
1949, Raxporrn. New trial.

Civil action to impress a trust on defendants’ title to real property.

The male defendant purchased a parcel of land in Asheboro, N. C,,
for the sum of $60,000. Plaintiff alleges, and offered evidence tending
to_show, that prior to the purchase he and defendant agreed that they
would purchase the tract jointly, that Vestal would proceed with the
negotiations with the owner, acquire the premises, and take title thereto
in his name for the use and benefit of himself and plaintiff.

Defendants admit that Vestal agreed to purchase the premises, retain
therefrom a lot 300 by 300 for his own use, and “let the plaintiff in on the
balance.” They allege, however, that the seller’s price was so high they
abandoned the agreement and then at a later date Vestal purchased for
his own benefit. They offered evidence in support of this and other
matters pleaded in defense.

There was a verdict for plaintiff. From judgment thereon the defend-
ants appeal.

J. A. Spence and Ferree & Gavin for plaintiff appellee.
H. M. Robins for defendant appellants.

Barnuirr, J. The court in its charge instructed the jury in part as
follows:

“Now, Gentlemen of the Jury, counsel in this case for both the plaintiff
and the defendant have argued to you at some length not only the evidence
and facts, as was their duty so to do, but from various opinions of the
Supreme Court touching the questions arising in the trial of this case.
‘If those questions of law so argued by counsel are not inconsistent with
what I have laid down as a rule of law, you should be guided by them, and
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if they are inconsistent, you are to disabuse your minds of them and
follow the instructions laid down by the Court.” »

This must be held for error.

Counsel have the right to argue “the whole case as well of law as of
fact.” G.S. 84-14; Howard v. Telegraph Co., 170 N.C. 495, 87 S.E. 313.
Frequently it is necessary for them to do so in order to present, in an
intelligent manner, the facts they contend the jury should find from the
evidence offered. Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Banking Co., 191 N.C. 500,
132 S.E. 468.

Even so, it is the duty of the court in its charge to explaln and apply
the law to the various aspects of the testimony and the jury, in arriving
at a verdict, must follow the law as thus stated to them. 8. v. Friddle,
223 N.C. 258, 25 S.E. 2d 751; Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Banking Co.,
supra; Spencer v. Brown, 214 N.C. 114, 198 S.E. 630.

The court ought not to submit his charge to the jury for elimination
of inconsistencies. S. v. Jackson, 228 N.C. 656, 46 S.E. 2d 858. A fortiore,
the jury should not be required to compare the charge of the court on the
law of the case with the statements of the law by counsel, pick and choose
between the consistent and inconsistent, eliminate the inconsistent, and
then decide the case under the law as applied by the court and such other
law as may have been argued by counsel and deemed consistent with the
charge of the court.

Not infrequently lawyers and judges find it difficult to transplant the
law as limited by the facts in a case and apply it correctly to another
state of faets. Light Co. v. Moss, 220 N.C. 200, 17 S.E. 2d 10. To
require this of a jury places upon them too heavy a burden and runs
counter to our system of trial by jury.

That counsel are permitted to argue the legal aspects of the case serves
to emphasize the necessity of compliance with the provisions of G.S.
1-180. When counsel avail themselves of this right the court should
explain and apply the law so as to remove any doubt in respect thereto
which may have been eungendered by conflicting statements of counsel.
The duty to set at rest any question as to the law of the case rests upon
the judge and not the jury.

The order of the court overruling the demurrer may not be held for
error. The defendants seek to dismiss the action on the basis of an agree-
ment the existence of which they positively deny in their pleadings and
in their testimony. In any event the cause assigned is not sufficient to
bar plaintiff from proceeding in equity.

For the error in the charge there must be a

New trial.
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STATE v. JOHN HENRY MERRITT.
(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

1. Intoxicating Liquor § 9d: Automobiles § 29b~——

Evidence tending to show that defendant was driving his automobile
on a highway, that when officers attempted to stop him he attempted to
elude them, threw a carton containing three gallons of nontax-paid whiskey
from the car, and drove in a reckless manner until struck from the rear
by the officers’ car and run off the road, is held sufficient to overrule non-
suit upon each of the charges of illegal possession of whiskey for the
purpose of sale, unlawful transportation of same, and with reckless driving.

2. Intoxicating Liquor § 9b—

The warrant charged generally that deferdant had in his possession
“non-tax-paid whiskey for the purpose of sale.” Held: Upon the facts of
this case the word ‘“non-tax-paid” was merely used to describe the whiskey
and to designate it as unlawful rather than to restrict the offense charged
to a violation of G.S. 18-50, and therefore the prima facie presumption
from the possession of three gallons of such whiskey, that the possession
was for the purpose of sale, obtains. G.8. 18-11.

8. Criminal Law § 81c (4)—

‘Where equal sentences upon conviction of three separate charges are
imposed to run concurrently, appellant must show error affecting all three
counts in order to be entitled to a new trial or to arrest of judgment.

4, Criminal Law § 58f—

Where the State’s testimony that officers had picked up three gallons
of whiskey thrown from defendant’s car, is not contradicted, and the
whiskey is introduced in evidence, a statement in the charge that the State
“offered in evidence the whiskey picked up by the officers” cannot be held
for error as an expression of opinion by the court. ‘

5. Criminal Law § 81c (8)—

The admission of evidence as to a fact admitted by defendant cannot
be held prejudicial.

AppEsL by defendant from Williams, J., at August Term, 1949, of
Sampson. No error.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Rhodes,
and John R. Jordan, Jr., Member of Staff, for the State.
J. Faison Thomson and Algernon L: Butler for defendant.

Devin, J. The defendant was charged (1) with the unlawful posses-
sion of whiskey for the purpose of sale; (2) with unlawfully transporting
same in an automobile; and (8) with reckless driving of the automobile.
There was verdict of guilty on each of these counts, and judgment was
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rendered on each count, sentences to run concurrently. The defendant
assigns error in the ruling of the trial court in several particulars.

There was no error in the denial of defendant’s motion for judgment
of nonsuit. The State’s evidence tended to show that the defendant was
driving his automobile on the highway, and that when the officers at-
tempted to stop him he drove away, and as the officers pursued, with
siren sounding, a carton containing three gallons of nontax-paid whiskey
was thrown from the automobile. Defendant continued to drive rapidly,
driving in the middle and on the left side of the road, until his automobile
struck from the rear by the officers’ car wound up in the ditech. Defend-
ant abandoned his automobile and ran. Defendant’s evidence did not
contradict the officers’ testimony, his defense being that he was not driving
the automobile, admittedly his, but that it was being driven by others
without his knowledge or consent.

Defendant assigns error in that the court in charging the jury on the
first count instructed them that proper proof of possession by the defend-
ant of the whiskey offered in evidence by the State would raise a prima
facte presumption that the possession was for the purpose of sale. It was
argued that the warrant under which the defendant was tried was drawn
under G.S. 18-49 and G.S. 18-50, and that the prima facie effect of the
possession of intoxicating liquor given by G.S. 18-11 was inapplicable
and the instruction prejudicial to the defendant. However, we observe
that the warrant charged generally that the defendant did unlawfully
“have in his possession non-tax-paid whiskey for the purpose of sale,” and
we think that the word “non-tax-paid” was used merely to describe the
whiskey and to designate it as unlawful, rather than to restrict the offense
charged to a violation of G.S. 18-50. For this reason the decisions in
S. v. Peterson, 226 N.C. 255, 37 S.E. 2d 591; S. v. McNeill, 225 N.C.
560, 35 S.E. 2d 629, and 8. v. Lockey, 214 N.C. 525, 199 S.E. 715, do not
support defendant’s position. Considering G.S. 18-11 and G.S. 18-32 as
analyzed in 8. v. Suddreth, 223 N.C. 610, 27 S.E. 2d 623; S. v. Wilson,
227 N.C. 43, 40 S.E. 2d 449, and S. v. Barnhardt, 230 N.C. 223, 52 S.E.
2d 904, in the light of the evidence in this case, the instruction given may
not be held for error.

Furthermore, as the verdict convicted the defendant on each of three
counts and the judgment thereon imposed sentences to be served con-
currently, if as to either of the charges the trial was free from error the
conviction would be upheld. To obtain relief the defendant must show
error affecting the whole case. 8. v. Gordon, 224 N.C. 304, 30 S.E. 2d
43: 8. v. Graham, 224 N.C. 347, 30 S.E. 2d 151; S. v. Smith, 226 N.C.
738, 40 S.E. 2d 363 ; S. v. Revels, 227 N.C. 34 (37), 40 S.E. 2d 474.

Defendant further assigns error in.that the court in his charge to the
jury, in reciting the State’s evidence, said, “The State offered in evidence
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the whiskey picked up by the officers,” and argues that this constitutes an
expression of opinion, but we do not think this manner of stating the
evidence affords the defendant ground for complaint. The officer had
testified he picked up three gallons of whiskey which had been thrown
from defendant’s automobile, and apparently this whiskey had been
offered in evidence. This testimony was uncontradicted, and we see no
impropriety in the use by the court of the language complained of while
stating the evidence. There were other exceptions noted by the defend-
ant, but upon examination of the entire charge in the light of defendant’s
criticisms, we reach the conclusion that no error which would warrant a
new trial has been shown. Likewise defendant’s objection to the evidence
as to defendant’s ownership of the automobile is without merit as the
defendant in his testimony admitted its ownership.

The defendant also assigns error in the denial of his motion in arrest
of judgment on the charge of reckless driving. He presents the view that
the charge is insufficiently alleged in the warrant, and that the court in
his charge thereon did not apply the law to the facts (S. v. Flinchem,
228 N.C. 149, 44 S.E. 2d 724.) However, if there be error in these
respects, which is not conceded, the defendant could derive no benefit in
view of his convietion on other counts properly determined.

In the trial we find

Neo error.

L. M. MACON v. MISS E. M. MURRAY, JOHN MURRAY, anp SAM MURRAY.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
Reference § 10—

‘Where the trial court, passing upon exceptions to the referee’s report,
summarily enters judgment overruling all of the exceptions and confirm-
ing the report in its entirety simply because there was evidence to support
each of the findings of fact of the referee, the cause must be remanded,
since the law contemplates that the court should consider and deliberately
weigh the evidence adduced before the referee and make his own inde-
pendent determination of the facts in passing upon the exceptions.

Avrpmar by defendants from Crisp, Special Judge, at the July Term,
1949, of RaxpoLrH.

The plaintiff sued the defendants to recover compensation for work
performed by him for them in cutting timber standing on their farm and
sawing it into marketable lumber. The defendants answered, denying
liability. By consent of the parties, the action was referred to W. E.
Gavin, Esquire, who heard the witnesses on both sides and made a report
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stating separately the facts found by him and his conclusions of law
thereon. The report sustained the plaintifi’s version of the controversy,
and concluded that he was entitled to judgment against defendants for
$4,311.22 with interest thereon from 24 June; 1948, and the costs of the
action. The defendants took many exceptions to the findings of fact and
the conclusions of law of the referee. When the cause was heard in the
Superior Court, the judge summarily entered judgment overruling all
of the exceptions of the defendants and confirming the report in its
entirety. He stated at the time that he took this course because the record
disclosed that there was “some evidence to support the findings of fact”
of the referee. The defendants excepted to the judgment and appealed,
assigning errors.

J. G. Prevette for the plaintiff, appellee.
John L. Murray for the defendants, appellants.

Ervin, J. A perusal of the record discloses that each finding of fact
embodied in the report has some support in the testimony taken before
the referee and reported by him to the court. Moreover, the conclusions
of law of the referee are sound if the facts found by him reveal the truth
in respect to the controversy between the parties. Notwithstanding these
observations, the judgment must be vacated and the cause remanded to the
Superior Court for further proceedings for the reason that the court below
abdicated its judicial function when it overruled the exceptions of the
defendants to the report of the referee and confirmed such report as a
whole simply because there was some evidence at the hearing to sustain
the referee’s findings of fact.

Where exceptions are taken to the report of a referee, the law expects
the judge, who reviews them, to decide their validity by the exercise of
his own mental faculties. 1t does not contemplate that he will perfunec-
torily place the stamp of his approval upon the labor of the referee merely
because a mechanical inspection of the record divulges that the findings
of fact have some support in the testimony, irrespective of whether such
supporting evidence be strong or weak, or credible or incredible.

‘When the judge passes on exceptions to the findings of fact of a referee,
his task is assimilated to that of a jury. He must carefully consider and
deliberately weigh the evidence adduced before the referee and returned to
the court, and in that way make his own independent determination of
what the truth is with respect to the mooted issues of fact. Furthermore,
he should give the litigants the full benefit of his well-considered opinions
upon the legal questions raised by any exceptions to the referee’s con-
clusions of law.
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The importancy of faithful observance of these principles by the judge
cannot be exaggerated for a twofold reason. His review is designed to
clear away errors of the referee. Besides, facts found by the judge on
his review of the referee’s report are accepted as final on appeal to this
Court if they are supported by testimony.

These legal propositions are fully sanctioned by these decisions: Dumas
v, Morrison, 175 N.C. 431, 95 S.E. 775; Overman v. Lanier, 156 N.C.
537,12 S.E. 575; Thompson v. Smith, 156 N.C. 345, 72 S.E. 379 ; Mzller
v, Groome, 109 N.C. 148, 13 S.E. 840.

Since the court did not really consider any of the exceptions of the
defendants, the judgment is set aside and the cause is remanded to the
end that the judge of the Superior Court may review the referee’s findings
of fact and rulings of law upon the defendants’ exceptions in accordance
with the principles enunciated in this opinion.

Error.

LICURKIS JONES axp OLIVE JONES v. M. DEWITT BRINSON AND WIFE,
MRS. LESSIE BRINSON.

(Filed 2 Novewmber, 1949.)
Trusts § 2a—

In the absence of fraud, mistake or undue influence, the grantor in a
deed conveying property in fee simple may not engraft a parol trust
thereon upon allegations that he had purchased the property and con-
veyed it to the grantee under oral agreement that the grantee would
advance the purchase money and would hold the property for the use
and benefit of grantor.

ArpeaL by plaintiffs from Morris, J., at May Term, 1949, of Pamvrico.

This is an action to enforce an alleged parol trust; and the facts perti-
nent to the appeal are as follows:

1. It is alleged in the complaint that the plaintiffs entered into an
agreement with the defendant, M. DeWitt Brinson, to advance to them
sufficient money to purchase a certain tract of land; that the owners of
said land executed a deed to one of the plaintiffs, Licurkis Jones, in fee
simple, for the property, on 24 December, 1947, and in turn Licurkis
Jones executed a warranty deed on 30 December, 1947, conveying the
premises to the defendant M. DeWitt Brinson, who paid the considera-
tion of $1,200.00 for the land; that both deeds were duly recorded 31
December, 1947 ; and that it was understood at the time of the execution
of the deed from Licurkis Jones to the defendant M. DeWitt Brinsom,
that he would hold the property for the use and benefit of the plaintiffs.
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2. The complaint also alleges the deed was intended as security for the
purchase money and the plaintiffs pray the court to construe and declare
the deed to be in effect a mortgage, securing the amount advanced by the
defendant, M. DeWitt Brinson, for the plaintiffs.

3. At the hearing below, in open court, however, counsel for plaintiffs
entered the following stipulation: “That it was not contended by the
plaintiff that the deed from the co-plaintiff Licurkis Jones to the defend-
ant M. DeWitt Brinson constituted a mortgage, nor was intended to con-
stitute a mortgage, and that it was understood at the time of its execution
and delivery to be a deed, the plaintiff relying upon his contention that
the deed was executed and delivered to the defendant under such eircum-
stances as to give rise to a constructive trust (sic).”

The defendants demurred ore. tenus to the complaint on the ground
that it did not state a cause of action. The demurrer was sustained and
the plaintiffs appeal.

Charles L. Abernethy, Jr., for plaintiffs.
A.D. Ward, H. P. Whitehurst, and Bernard B. Hollowell for defend-
ants.

Dexxy, J. The question presented for our determination is simply
this: Are the allegations of the complaint sufficient to take this case out
of the well settled rule that a parol trust, in the absence of fraud, mistake
or undue influence, cannot be established between parties in favor of a
grantor in a deed, when the parol agreement is in direct conflict with the
express provisions of the written deed? The answer must he in the
negative.

The plaintiffs by their stipulation have eliminated all questions of
fraud, mistake or undue influence. Therefore, they bottom their right,
to the relief they seek, exclusively on the alleged oral agreement to convey
the land in controversy to them, upon their payment to the defendant,
M. DeWitt Brinson, of the money advanced by him for the purchase of
the property.

The law is well settled and firmly established in this jurisdiction, that
in the absence of fraud, mistake or undue influence, a trust cannot be
established between the parties in favor of a grantor in a deed, by parol
evidence, when such evidence is in direct conflict with the express pro-
visions of the written deed. Gaylord v. Gaylord, 150 N.C. 222, 63 S.E.
1028 ; Campbell v. Stgmon, 170 N.C. 348, 87 S.E. 116; Walters v. Wal-
ters, 172 N.C. 328, 90 S.E. 304; Swain v. Goodman, 183 N.C. 531, 112
S.E. 86; Blue v. Wilmington, 186 N.C. 821, 119 S.E. 741; Davis v. Davis,
293 N.C. 36, 25 S.E. 2d 181; Carlisle v. Carlisle, 225 N.C. 462, 35 S.E.
2d 418; Loftin v. Kornegay, 225 N.C. 490, 35 S.E. 2d 607; Poston v.
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Bowen, 228 N.C. 202, 44 S.E. 2d 881; Bass v. Bass, 229 N.C. 171, 48
S.E. 24 48,

The judgment of the court below is

Affirmed.

JESSE J. McDOWELL AxD Wirg, ANNIE McDOWELL, v. HARVEY STALEY
AXD WrFE, LILLIE STALEY.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Evidence § 2014 —

A party is entitled to introduce in evidence that part of a paragraph in
the pleading of the adverse party which makes an admission of an inde-
pendent fact, without introducing in evidence the remainder of the allega-
tions in the paragraph.

2, Partition § 5d: Ejectment § 17—

Defendants in partition who plead sole seizin are not entitled to nonsuit
on the ground that plaintiff had introduced in evidence deed conveying the
property to them, since the introduction of the deed admits its execution,
but not necessarily the truth of its recitals or its legal effect. In the
present case plaintiff claimed as an heir-at-law, and the deed introduced
in evidence recited that the grantors therein derived title as heirs of the
same ancestor, and supported plaintiff’s contention that he had not con-
veyed his interest in the land.

ApprAL by defendants from McSwain, Special Judge, at January
Term, 1949, of RaxpvorpH. No error.

This was a petition for partition of -a tract of land containing 41 acres.
Plaintiff Jesse J. McDowell alleged title to a one-thirteenth undivided in-
terest in this land as son and one of the heirs at law of J. Riley MeDowell
who died seized thereof in 1936. It was alleged that defendants owned
the remaining twelve-thirteenths interest in said land. In their original
answer, in the third parargaph, defendants admitted that plaintiff was
one of the heirs of J. Riley McDowell who died seized of the land de-
seribed and was entitled to a one-thirteenth interest in all the lands
descended from his father, but in an amended answer defendants denied
plaintiffs’ title to any interest in the land and alleged title to the entire
interest therein in themselves under a deed from P. W. Hulin and wife
in 1943. -

Plaintiff Jesse J. McDowell testified he had never made any convey-
ance of his interest in the land described. e also offered in evidence
paragraph 8 of the original answer, and so much of paragraph 3 of the
amended answer as admitted that J. Riley MeDowell died seized of the
lands described. Plaintiffs also offered the deed from Hulin and wife

4—231
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to the defendants which recited that the land had been conveyed to Hulin
and wife by Val MeDowell, Lizzie McDowell and C. L. McDowell.
Hulin’s grantors were some of the heirs of J. Riley McDowell. One issue
was submitted to the jury and answered as follows: “Is the plaintiff the
owner of 14 interest in the lands described in the complaint? Answer:
Yes.”

From judgment on the verdiet defendants appealed.

H. Wade Yates for plantiffs, appellees.
J. G. Prevette for defendants, appellants.

Drvixy, J. The defendants in their appeal raise two questions:

1. Did the court err in admitting only a portion of paragraph 3 of
defendants’ amended answer? As the admission was of a distinet fact,
to wit, that the ancestor from whom plaintiff derived title died seized
of the land desceribed, it was competent for the plaintiff to offer this
without adding the other allegations in the paragraph in which defend-
ants asserted title in themselves to the entire interest in the land. Lupton
v. Day, 211 N.C. 443, 190 S.E. 722; Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Banking
Co., 191 N.C. 500, 132 S.E. 468.

2. Were defendants entitled to the allowance of their motion for non-
suit upon the ground that plaintiffs had offered in evidence a deed to the
defendants from Hulin and wife? The answer is no. The rule is that a
party who introduces a deed admits its execution but not necessarily the
truth of its recitals or its legal effect, and may show by further evidence
the truth of the matter and the relation of the deed to the entire trans-
action.

The deed here offered recited that the grantors derived title from three
of the heirs of the ancestor under whom plaintiff claims, and tends to
support plaintiff’s contention that he had not conveyed his interest in
the land, and that by virtue of the deed to defendants conveying interests
of other heirs, the plaintiffs and defendants were tenants in common in
the land. 20 Am. Jur. 771. By analogy a party who calls a witness to
the stand may not impeach his veracity but by other evidence may show
the facts are different. Helms v. Green, 105 N.C. 251, 11 S.E. 470;
58 A. J. 442,

In the trial we find

No error.



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949 67

STATE v. HELLER.

STATE v. LEE HELLER.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
Homicide § 27c—

In a prosecution for uxorcide where defendant’s own testimony is to the
effect that he did not intend to shoot his wife but intended to kill the
person he thought to be her paramour whom he believed to be in the house,
an instruction that if defendant feloniously and with premeditation and
deliberation intended to kill another person and killed his wife instead,
he would be guilty of murder in the first degree, cannot be held for preju-
dicial error.

Arpear by defendant from Rousseau, J., February Criminal Term,
1949, of CaTawsna.

Criminal prosecution on indictment charging the defendant with the
murder of his wife, Nettie Simmons Heller.

The defendant and his wife were estranged, living separate and apart
apparently on account of the wife’s children, the defendant’s step-children.
It also appears that the defendant thought his wife was unfaithful to him
and was keeping company with one Roy Simms.

On Sunday afternoon, 10 October, 1948, the defendant went to his
wife’s home and engaged her in conversation on the porch. She went
back into the kitchen. The defendant then went to the back door, drew
his pistol and shot his wife in the breast. She died almost instantly.

‘When the defendant was brought to the jail, he said to the jailer, “I
hate I did not get him also.” The defendant says the jailer misunder-
stood him; that what he said was he did not intend to shoot his wife but
someone else, meaning Roy Simms. He thought Roy Simms was in the
house.

At the close of all the evidence, the defendant tendered a plea of guilty
of murder in the second degree, it appearing and being admitted that he
killed his wife with a deadly weapon. This was rejected by the solicitor.

Verdict: Guilty as charged in the bill of indietment.

Judgment: Death by asphyxiation.

The defendant appeals, assigning error.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Moody
for the State.

J. W. Hollingsworth and Russell W. Whitener for defendant.

Srtacy, C. J. The defendant has been convicted of a capital felony,
murder in the first degree, with no récommendation from the jury, and
sentenced to die as the law commands in such case. His only exception
and assignment of error is to the court’s instruction to the jury that if the
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defendant feloniously and with premeditation and deliberation intended
to kill another person and killed his wife instead he would be guilty of
murder in the first degree.

It is conceded that this instruetion would be correct under appropriate
circumstances. S. v. Burney, 215 N.C. 598, 3 S.E. 2d 24; S. v. Sheffield,
206 N.C. 374, 174 S.E. 105; 8. v. Dalton, 178 N.C. 779, 101 S.E. 548;
8. v. Fulkerson, 61 N.C. 233. See, also, S. v. Lilliston, 141 N.C. 857,
54 S.E. 427. Here, however, the defendant says the facts do not eall for
its application, and hence it was misleading. 8. ». Anderson, 222 N.C.
148, 22 S.E. 2d 271; 8. v. Bryson, 200 N.C. 50, 156 S.E. 143; S. v. Lee,
193 N.C. 321, 136 S.E. 877; 8. ». Waldroop, 193 N.C. 12, 135 S.E. 165.

While the principle might have been applied with more directness to
the facts in hand, it is manifest that no material prejudice has resulted
to the defendant from the instruction as given. It finds support in the
defendant’s own evidence. Hence, as no reversible error has been made
manifest, the verdict and judgment will be upheld.

No error.

W. A. MITCHELL, SR, axp W. A. MITCHELL, JR., TrapING AS W. A.
MITCHELL & SON, A PartyeErsurip, v. McKINLEY BATTLE.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)

Chattel Mortgages and Conditional Sales § 2214 —

A title retaining conditional sales contract for personalty is in effect a
chattel mortgage, and when the property has been repossessed upon default
and sold at public auction under the terms of the conditional sales con-
tract, such repossession is not a rescission and does not return title to the
vendor for his own use but solely for the purpose of sale, and therefore
the vendor may recover the deficiency after applying the proceeds of the
sale to the purchase price. G.S. 45-24.

Derexpant’s appeal from Stevens, J., November Term, 1948, Lexorr
Superior Court.

The defendant bought from the plaintiffs a mule, executing a condi-
tional sales contract in which title was retained by the vendor until the
installment payments on the contract were fully made. The note for the
balance of the purchase price was $495 with interest at 6% per annum.
The mule was in the possession of the defendant from the date of sale,
April 16, 1947, until April 27, 1948, without further payment. In
default of payment of the installments due, the plaintiffs repossessed the
mule and it was sold under the terms of the conditional sales contract
at public auction on May 25, 1948, bringing the sum of $125, which
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was applied on the debt, leaving a balance due of $432.32, with interest.
Plaintiffs sued to recover the deficiency. They also claim expenses for
the keep of the mule pending its sale and other costs of foreclosure covered
by the complaint, in addition to this amount.

The defendant demurred to the complaint, contending that the plain-
tiffs had exercised and exhausted all rights and interests they retained or
had in the conditional sales contract; and that the repossession of the
mule terminated all relationship between seller and buyer and ended all
cause of action against the defendant. The demurrer was overruled and
the defendant appealed.

P. H, Bell for defendant, appellant.
Allen & Parrott for plawntiffs, appellees.

Seawsrr, J.  Authority in this State is against the position taken by
the defendant. Heall v. Tillman, 115 N.C. 500, 20 S.E. 726; Observer
Co. v. Little, 175 N.C. 42, 94 S.E. 526; House v. Parker, 181 N.C. 40,
106 S.E. 137,

Conditional sales contracts in which title is retained as security for
the debt are treated here as chattel mortgages in this respect and statutes
relating to chattel mortgage foreclosures and incidents have more
than an analogical force. In S. v. Stinnett, 203 N.C. 829, 832, 167 S.E.
61, Justice Brogden says for the Court: “Moreover, it has been definitely
determined that a title retaining contract of the type disclosed by the
present record is in effect a chattel mortgage,” citing Harris v. R, R,
190 N.C. 480, 130 S.E. 319; to which we add Charles Hackley Piano Co.
v. Kennedy, 152 N.C. 196, 67 S.E. 488, See Mordecai’s Lectures, pp.
566, 567; Williston on Contracts, sec. 734 et seq.,; Vold, Sales, pp. 289,
291.

It may be inferred from G.S. 45-24 that repossession of the title-
retained property is not to be referred to the principle of rescission, but
to the power of sale given by the statute, and the necessity of repossession
in aid of the public sale and delivery of the chattel to the purchaser.
The property does not return to the vendor in virtue of his right to its
use as owner, nor is it repossessed by him for that purpose. Chapter 856,
Session Laws of 1949, which is not applicable here, may well be consid-
ered to be declarative of a principle already obtaining. (27 N.C.L.R. 49.)

Conclusive on the point is Hall v. Tillman, supra, which we do not
find modified in subsequently reported eases. In this case note the explicit
statement by Justice Avery, speaking for the Court, at p. 504,

The judgment overrnling the demurrer is affirmed.

Affirmed.
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IN RE WILL OF YORK.

IN THE MATTER OF THE WILL oF MILLARD F. YORK, DECEASED.

(Filed 2 November, 1949.)
1. Wills § 22—

The burden is upon caveators to prove mental incapacity by the greater
weight of the evidence, since the presumption is against them.

2. Wills § 28b—

It is reversible error to permit witnesses to testify that in their opinion
testator had sufficient mental capacity to “make a will” on the date in
question, but testimony of a nonexpert witness should be limited to his
opinion as to whether testator had sufficient mental capacity to know what
he was doing, what property he had and to whom he wished to give it, it
being the province of the jury to decide upon the evidence whether testator
had sufficient mental capacity to make the will.

ArpeAL by caveators from McSwain, Spectal Judge, at January Term,
1949, of Rawporprn.

The issue of devisavit vel non was answered by the jury in favor of
the propounders.

In the course of the trial below, the propounders asked a number of
witnesses offered by them, a question bearing on the mental capacity of
Millard F. York to make a will, on the date of the instrument probated
in common form, substantially as follows: “From your association with
him and from what he said, do you have an opinion satisfactory to your-
self as to whether or not, on 29 July, 1946, he had mind sufficient to make
a will? A. Yes, sir. Q. What is your opinion? A. I think he had his
right mind and was capable of making a will.”

The caveators duly excepted to the admission of this evidence and
appeal from the judgment entered on the verdict.

J. A. Spence and J. L. Moody for propounders.
John . Prevette and Bell & Horton for caveators.

Dex~y, J. The law presumes that a testator possessed testamentary
capacity, and those who allege otherwise have the burden of proving by
the preponderance or greater weight of the evidence that he lacked such
capacity. In re Burns’ Will, 121 N.C. 336, 28 S.E. 519; In re Cherry's
Well, 164 N.C. 363, 79 S.E. 288; In re Craven’s Will, 169 N.C. 561,
86 S.E. 587; In re Staud’s Will, 172 N.C. 138, 90 S.E. 119. But it is
improper for nonexpert witnesses to testify that in their opinion a testator
did or did not have the mental capacity to make a will. In re Will of
Lomaz, 224 N.C. 459, 31 S.E. 2 369; S. ¢., 225 N.C. 592, 33 S.E. 2d
63 ; Page on Wills, 3rd Ed., Vol. 2, sec. 789.
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It follows, therefore, that questions bearing on the issue of devisavet
vel non, should he so framed as to inform the jury as to the mental con-
dition of the testator at the time under consideration, but leaving it for
the jury to decide from the evidence, upon a proper charge by the court,
whether the testator did or did not have sufficient mental capacity to
make the will.

A nonexpert witness may be permitted to testify from his own knowledge
and observation that in his opinion a testator did or did not have sufficient
mental capaeity to know the natural objects of his bounty, to comprehend
the kind and character of his property, to understand the nature and
effect of his act, and to make a disposition of his property. Likewise,
where a witness knew the testator, had conversations or business trans-
actions with him, saw him, heard him talk and observed his conduct, such
witness is competent to testify whether in his opinion the testator had
the mental capacity to know what he was doing, what property he had
and to whom he wished to give it. Lawrence v. Steel, 66 N.C. 584;
Bost v. Bost, 87 N.C. 477; Horah v. Knozx, 87 N.C. 483; In re Rawlings’
Will, 170 N.C. 58, 86 S.E. 794; In re Broack’s Will, 172 N.C. 520,
90 S.E. 681; In re Will of Stocks, 175 N.C. 224, 95 S.E. 360; In re Wil
of Brown, 194 N.C. 583, 140 S.E. 192; Page on Wills, 3rd Ed., Vol. 2,
see. 788; 57 Am. Jur., p. 81. But the opinions expressed by the witnesses
in the trial below, to which the caveators excepted, do not fall within the
permissible expression of opinion by nonexpert witnesses. In re Wil
of Lomax, supra.

The caveators are entitled to a new trial, and it is so ordered.

New trial.

PINENEY DAVIS, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE EsTATE oF HARVEY LEE DAVIS,
Deceasep, v. ERNEST RHODES axp JAMES RIGGS.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Pleadings § 3a—

A statement of a defective cause of action is one in which there is a
defect which goes to the substance of the cause of action and not merely
to its form of statement; a defective statement of a good cause of action
is one in which an enforceable cause of action is stated, but is stated
inartificially or without sufficient clearness, or definiteness or particularity.

2. Pleadings §8§ 15, 22b, 26: Negligence § 16—

A demurrer should be sustained only if there is a statement of a defec-
tive cause of action; if there is a defective statement of a good cause of
action, the remedy is by motion to make the complaint more definite, G.S.
1-1583, or the court may allow an amendment. G.S. 1-129. This rule applies
to negligence cases.
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3. Pleadings § 20—

Right to demur where the complaint contains a defective statement of
a good cause of action is waived by filing answer, but demurrer to a state-
ment of a defective cause of action is not waived by answer, but may be
made at any time before final judgment.

4. Negligence § 16—

Allegations to the effect that defendant employee was driving the truck
of defendant employer in the regular course of his business, that the
employee approached from the rear and ‘“unlawfully, wrongfully, reck-
lessly and negligently” struck and collided with the motor scooter on which
plaintiff’s intestate was riding, thereby causing the death of intestate,
i8 held to constitute a defective statement of a good cause of action, cured
by an amendment particularizing the acts of negligence relied on.

5. Actions § 9: Death § 4—

‘Where, in an action for wrongful death, the complaint discloses that the
action was instituted within one year from the death, but plaintiff is
thereafter permitted to amend the defective statement of his good cause
of action by particularizing the acts of negligence complained of, the
amendment does not introduce a new cause of action, and the cause is not
barred by G.S. 28-173.

Arrear by plaintiff from Williams, J., September Term, 1949, Lexorr.
Reversed. .

Civil action to recover damages for wrongful death, heard on demurrer.

This action was instituted 18 December 1947, The plaintiff in his
complaint makes the necessary formal allegations and then alleges in
substance that his intestate died 19 December 1946; that he was killed
while riding as a passenger on a motor scooter operated by plaintiff;
that the scooter was being operated on its right-hand side of the highway;
that defendant Rhodes’ automobile, being operated by his employee,
defendant Riggs, in the regular course of his business, approached from
the rear; and that the driver “unlawfully, wrongfully, recklessly and
negligently” struck and collided with said motor scooter, thereby causing
the death of plaintiff’s intestate.

The defendants, answering, admitted the collision and the death of
the plaintiff’s intestate, denied any negligence on their part, and pleaded
the negligence of plaintiff and his wife in bar.

Thereafter, on 23 June 1949, Frizzelle, J., entered an order permitting
plaintiff to amend his complaint. Pursuant to said order, plaintiff, on
28 June, filed an amendment to the complaint in which he particularizes
the acts of negligence relied upon. The defendants filed their answer
thereto in which they allege by way of further answer that the original
complaint “does not state a cause of action against the said defendants,
or either of them,” and that the amended complaint was filed 28 June
1949, more than twelve months after the death of plaintiff’s intestate.
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They plead the provisions of G.S. 28-173 in bar and move to dismiss
the action.

At the September Term, 1949, the cause came on to be heard in the
court below on demurrer ore tenus and the motion to dismiss. The court,
being of the opinion plaintiff’s alleged cause of action is barred for the
reason that the original complaint does not state a cause of action and
the amendment to the complaint was filed more than twelve months after
the death of plaintiff’s intestate, sustained the demurrer and dismissed
the action. Plaintiff excepted and appealed.

Allen & Parrott and Allen, Allen & LaRoque for plaintiff appellant.

J. A. Jones, Weston Olin Reed, and Thomas B. Griffin for defendant
appellees.

Bar~uiir, J. Does the original complaint fail to state a cause of
action for wrongful death? If so, then the complaint, as amended, was
filed more than twelve months after the death of plaintiff’s intestate, and
the action is barred by the provisions of G.S. 28-173.

On this question the defendants contend that the original complaint
is fatally defective in that it states no cause of action. On the other
hand, plaintiff insists that at least it constitutes a defective statement
of a good cause of action and that the amendment does not inject new
matter but merely particularizes the acts of negligence on the part of the
defendants relied on by plaintiff.

The question thus presented involves a question of pleading which has
been the subject of discussion in many decisions of this Court. It is
useless for us to quote and cite all of them. Suffice it to say that they
establish well-recognized prineciples of law which we have consistently
followed.

There is a marked difference between the statement of a defective cause
of action and a defective statement of a good cause of action.

When the defect goes to the substance of the cause and not to the form
of the statement, it is a defective cause of action which cannot be made
good by adding other allegations not included in the original complaint.
Tt is in no event, however expertly stated, an enforceable cause of action.
Ladd v. Ladd, 121 N.C. 118; Lassiter v. R. R., 136 N.C. 89.

When, however, there is an enforceable cause of action stated but the
statement thereof is inartificially expressed, or is in general terms, or the
facts are not clearly and definitely stated, or it is lacking in some material
allegation, it constitutes a defective statement of a good cause. That is,
if the defect goes to the form of the statement and not to the substance
of the cause, it is a defective statement of a good cause. Lassiter v. R. R.,
supra; MeIntosh, N.C.P.&P. 379.



74 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [231

DaAvis v. RHODES.

A demurrer is designed to challenge the sufficiency of a complaint
which contains the statement of a defective cause of action, McIntosh,
N.C.P.&P. 399, 455, and is to be resorted to when the complaint is fatally
defective in this respect. Womack v. Carter, 160 N.C. 286, 75 S.E. 1102,
and cases cited; S. v. T'rust Co., 192 N.C. 246, 134 S.E. 656; Hoke .
Glenn, 167 N.C. 594, 83 S.E. 807; Hartsfield v. Bryan, 177 N.C. 1686,
98 S.E. 379; Foy v. Stephens, 168 N.C. 438, 84 S.E. 758; Bowling v.
Bank, 209 N.C. 463, 184 S.E. 13; Capps v. B. R., 183 N.C. 181, 111
S.E. 533. Answer to the merits does not waive the defect. '

That a complaint does not state a cause of action or there is a want of
jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action are the radical grounds
of objection to a pleading which are not waived by pleading to the merits
and may be taken advantage of by demurrer at any time before final
judgment. Halstead ». Mullen, 93 N.C. 252; Bank v. Cocke, 127 N.C.
467 ; Power Co. v. Elizabeth City, 188 N.C. 278, 124 S.E. 611.

When, however, the complaint alleges or attempts to allege a good
cause of action but is defective in that it does not definitely and sufficiently
set out all the essential, ultimate facts, or is inartificially stated, or is in
general terms, demurrer will not lie if, when liberally construed, the
allegations are sufficiently intelligible to inform the defendant as to what
he is required to answer. The remedy is by motion to make the complaing
more definite. Allen v. B. R., 120 N.C. 548; R. R. v. Main, 132 N.C.
445 ;5 Bowling v. Bank, supra; Canal Co. v. Burnham, 147 N.C. 41.

“The general rule is that if there is any cause of action stated in the
complaint, however inartificially expressed, the demurrer will be over-
ruled. Blackmore v. Winders, 144 N.C. 212; Caho v. RB. R., ante, 20. If
the defendant desired a more certain and definite statement of the alleged
negligence in order that it might know the precise nature of the charge,
and so that its answer might be fully responsive to the complaint, the
proper remedy was by motion” to make more definite. Jones v. Hender-
son, 147 N.C. 120; Gillikin v. Canal Co., 147 N.C. 39.

A demurrer to a defective statement of a good cause of action comes
too late after answer. The defendant, by answering to the merits, waives
the defect which is not fatal but may be cured by amendment. He may,
however, move to make the complaint more definite. G.S. 1-153; Eddle-
man v. Lentz, 158 N.C. 65, 72 S.E. 1011; Bank v. Cocke, supra; Hitch
v. Commassioners, 132 N.C. 578; Dockery v. Hamlet, 162 N.C. 118, 78
8.E. 13; Livingston v. Investment Co., 219 N.C. 416, 14 S.E. 2d 489.

When, as is often the case, counsel resort to a demurrer, rather than
a motion to make more definite, to challenge the sufficiency of the state-
ment of a good cause of action and the defect may be cured by amend-
ment, the courts will allow the amendment rather than dismiss the action.
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Presnell v. Beshears, 227 N.C. 279, 41 S.E. 2d 835; Foy v. Stephens,
supra; (.8, 1-129; Dockery v. Hamlet, supra.

This rule applies in negligence cases. In S. v. Trust Co., supra, the
plaintiff alleged that defendants “negligently and wrongfully” engaged in
certain transactions which caused the loss for which recovery was prayed.
Judgment sustaining a demurrer was reversed. Likewise in Allen wv.
R. R., supra, it was held that when the complaint is defective in not def-
initely and sufficiently setting out the negligence complained of, objection
thereto should have been taken, not by demurrer, but by motion to have
the plaintiff make his complaint more definite. Judgment overruling the
demurrer was sustained. Jones v. Henderson, supra, and Gillikin v. Canal
Co., supra, are to like effect. See also Oonley v. B. R., 109 N.C. 692. In
Dockery v. Hamlet, supra, a wrongful death case, the cause was dismissed
on demurrer for that the complaint failed to allege certain essential facts.
The judgment was reversed and the cause was left open for amendment.

Here the plaintiff alleges the death of his intestate and that defendant
Riggs, agent of defendant Rhodes, approaching from the rear on a publie
highway, “unlawfully, wrongfully, recklessly, and negligently” drove
his vehicle into a motor scooter on which plaintiff’s intestate was riding,
thereby proximately causing the death of said intestate. This consti-
tutes a defective statement of a good cause of action and not a statement
of a defective cause of action. The defendants were thereby informed
of the grievance asserted and the remedy sought. Gillikin v. Canal Co.,
supra. They deemed it sufficient to call forth an answer. ZHddleman ».
Lentz, supra. The plaintiff, in voluntarily amending after answer and
before demurrer, introduced no new cause of action or new matter. He
merely made the complaint more definite by particularizing the acts of
negligence relied on. Foy v. Stephens, supra. Hence the action has been
pending since its inception. The judgment dismissing the same must
therefore be held for error.

The defendants rely on Webb v. Fggleston, 228 N.C. 574, 46 S.E. 2d
700, which they assert sustains the action of the court below. But that
case is distinguishable. There, a demurrer was interposed and the court,
in sustaining the same, adjudged that the original complaint failed to
state a cause of action. We may concede, without deciding, that the
judgment was erroneous. Even so, plaintiff elected not to appeal. In
the absence of an appeal it became the law of the case, binding on us as
well as the parties. Necessarily, then, the new complaint constituted new
matter and for the first time stated a cause of action. As it was filed more
than twelve months after the death of plaintiff’s intestate, the action was
barred by G.S. 28-173. Capps ». B. R., supra, and George v. R. R., 210
N.C. 58, 185 S.E. 431, are similarly distinguishable.

For the reasons stated the judgment below is

Reversed.
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CULBRETH v. BRITT CORP,

WILLIE E. CULBRETH, INpIVIDUALLY, AND WILLIE E. CCLBRETH, ExgcU-
TRIX OF THE EsTate oFr D. W. CULBRETH, Deceasep, v. THE BRITT
CORPORATION.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)

1. Appeal and Error § 40a—

A sole assignment of error that the court erred in signing the judgment
appealed from presents only whether the facts agreed support the judg-
ment and whether error appears on the face of the record.

2. Deeds § 17: Judgments § 29—

Where grantors in the mesne conveyances are given notice by the ulti-
mate grantee of an action contesting his title and are called upon to come
in and defend the action in accordance with their respective covenants
and warranties, they are bound by the adjudication of want of fee simple
title in the ultimate grantee, and are concluded as to all defenses which
could have been set up in that aetion.

8. Deeds § 17—

Where successive grantors are bound by judgment that the ultimate
grantee acquired only an estate pur outre vie, by reason of notice and
demand upon them to come'in and defend the action instituted by persons
claiming the fee, and thereafter the grantee recovers against his imme-
diate grantor on the covenant and warranty of title, such grantor may
recover in turn against his grantor, and it is immaterial that no notice was
given him of the first action for breach of warranty, since not this judg-
ment, but the judgment against the ultimate grantee established failure
of title by which he is concluded.

ArpeAL by defendant from Nimocks, J., at May Term, 1948, of
Sampson (Judgment signed 17 May, 1949, out of term by agreement).

Civil action instituted 9 July, 1946, to recover for alleged breach of
warranty of title to certain tract of land in Sampson County, North
Carolina—the same being composed of the two tracts of land, one con-
taining 49 acres and the other 50 acres, designated in combination as
100 acres, which were the subjects of controversy in the action entitled
Culbreth v. Caison, heard in this Court on appeal,—the decision being
reported in 220 N.C. 717, 18 S.E. 2d 136, to which this action is a sequel.

The agreed statement of facts on which this action was heard in Supe-
rior Clourt ineorporated substantially the same facts as those stipulated in
the said former action as disclosed by the record on the said appeal.
That appeal involved the interpretation of Jtems 1, 2 and 3 of the will
of Thomas Neill Culbreth,—particularly Item 3 which related to the
Cornelius Culbreth place, of which the property there in controversy is
a part.

The court there held, summarily stated, that Thomas Neill Culbreth
(who died testate in 1903), under the terms of his will, devised the prop-
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erty in question to his children for life with restricted power of disposal
and remainder to their children; that, therefore, in the proceeding for
partition of said property in kind among his children, including his son,
L. L. Culbreth, and his daughter, Amelia Underwood, instituted 30
Mareh, 1904, and concluded 20 May, 1904, his son, L. L. Culbreth, took
only a life estate in respect of the 49-acre tract allotted to him, and
Amelia Underwood took only a life estate in respect of the 50-acre tract
allotted to her; that the devise being coupled with the power to convey
to one or more of the brothers or sisters in fee simple, and providing
that such brother or sister shall hold the land so purchased for life with
remainder in fee to the purchaser’s children, L. L. Culbreth, by the deed
from his sister Amelia Underwood and her husband, dated 5 February,
1905, and conveying the said 50-acre tract, acquired only a life estate
therein, with remainder to his children; and that, hence, L. L. Culbreth
and his wife, by the indemnity deed of trust, that is, the deed of trust
dated 22 April, 1929, by which they conveyed said land to M. T. Britt,
Trustee, to indemnify the Britt Corporation, cestui que trust, against
any loss by reason of its guaranty of the payment of certain notes, under
which deed of trust, by mesne conveyance, the defendants there claimed,
conveyed no more than this life estate of L. L. Culbreth.

And, in this connection, these facts also appear:

1. That the said deed of trust from L. L. Culbreth and wife to M. T.
Britt, Trustee, is second to a prior deed of trust executed by them, con-
veying the same land, as security for certain notes, the payment of which
1s guaranteed by the Britt Corporation, and contains (1) power of sale
in case of default in payment as there specified, and (2) covenants of
seizin, right to convey, freedom from other encumbrances, and “that they
will warrant and forever defend their said title to said premises against
the lawful claims of all persons.”

9. That on or about 2 February, 1932, M. T. Britt, Trustee as afore-
said, pusuant to the power of sale contained in said deed of trust, fore-
closed the same, and executed and delivered a trustee’s deed to the pur-
chaser at such sale, The Britt Corporation, purporting to convey said
lIands.

3. That thereafter on 23 December, 1938, The Britt Corporation, for
a valuable consideration, to wit, $1,600.00 paid to it by D. W. Culbreth
and wife, Willie E. Culbreth, conveyed the said 100 acres to D. W,
Culbreth and wife, Willie E. Culbreth as tenants by the entirety, by deed
sufficient in form to convey whatever title the Britt Corporation owned in
the said land, which deed contained habendum and covenants as follows:
“To Have axp To HoLp the aforesaid tract or parcel of land, and all
privileges and appurtenances thereto belonging, to the said D. W. Cul-
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breth and Willie Culbreth, and their heirs and assigns, to their only use
and behoof forever.

“And the said The Britt Corporation, for itself and its heirs, executors
and administrators, covenant with said D. W, Culbreth and Willie Cul-
breth and their heirs and assigns that 1t is seized of said premises in fee
simple ; that the same are free and clear from all encumbrances, and that
it does hereby forever warrant and will forever defend the said title to the
same against the claims of all persons whomsoever.”

4. That on 21 November, 1935, D. W. Culbreth and wife, Willie E.
Culbreth, for a valuable consideration of $2,000.00 to them paid by W. C.
Caison, executed their deed to him, purporting, and in sufficient form to
convey said lands in fee simple, and containing specific habendum and
covenants of like effect to those above quoted from the deed of The Britt
Corporation to them. That Willie E. Culbreth, wife of D. W, Culbreth,
is a sister of L. L. Culbreth and a daughter of Thomas Neill Culbreth—
and is named in Item 1 of the latter’s will.

5. That on 26 February, 1940, Emmett Culbreth and others, children
of L. L. Culbreth, who died intestate 19 March, 1987, instituted an action
in Superior Court of Sampson County against said W. (. Caison and
his wife, Nellie Caison, to recover possession of said 100-acre tract of
land, and were therein adjudged to be the owners of said lands. And
on appeal to the Supreme Court of North Carolina the judgment of
Superior Court was affirmed by opinion filed 7 January, 1942, and
reported in 220 N.C. 717, 18 S.E. 2d 136, recited hereinabove. And
that thereupon W. C. Caison was ousted and dispossessed of said land.

6. That in April, 1941, during the pendency of the action deseribed in
the last preceding paragraph, “W. C. Caison caused notice of the pend-
ency of said action, the cause of action stated therein, and to come in and
defend the same in acecordance with their covenants and warranty, to be
served by the Sheriff of Sampson County upon Janie Culbreth (widow
of L. L. Culbreth, deceased), The Britt Corporation; and Willie E. Cul-
breth, individually and as executrix of the estate of D. W. Culbreth,
deceased, but neither of said parties so notified ever came in and became a
party to said action or defended said action, nor did either of them
contribute anything whatever in defense thereof.”

7. That on 20 February, 1948, said W. C. Caison brought an action in
Superior Court of Sampson County against said Willie E. Culbreth,
individually and as executrix of the estate of D. W. Culbreth, to recover
his loss and damages by reason of the breach of their warranty to him of
the title to said 100-acre tract of land,—by the failure of such title as
result of the said action against him by the children of L. L. Culbreth,
to wit, $1,950.00 with interest, costs and attorney’s fee expended in
defending said action. And that on 17 August, 1943, this claim of W. C.
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Caison was settled by Willie E. Culbreth, individually and as executrix
of the estate of D. W. Culbreth paying to him the sum of $2,926.67,
together /with costs of the action, and a consent judgment effectuating
the settlement was entered in said action by consent of attorneys for
plaintiff and for defendants.

“That neither The Britt Corporation nor said Janie Culbreth was
served with any notice of the pendency of said action, nor made parties
thereto, nor did either of them contribute in any way to the defense of
said action, and so far as the record disclosed neither of them knew of
the pendency of said action.”

8. That “the present action was commenced 9 July, 1946, wherein the
plaintiffs . . . demand judgment against the defendant The Britt Corpo-
ration upon the contract of warranty of title and seizin upon the part of
The Britt Corporation in the sale of the lands in controversy to D. W,
Culbreth and wife, Willie E. Culbreth, and by reason of the breach of
said warranty . . . their damages . . . the sum of §1550 with interest,
being the purchase money with interest paid by them to The Britt Corpo-
ration for said land . . . the further sum of $300 attorney’s fee and
$68.05 costs reimbursed by them to said W. C. Caison, and the cost of
this action.”

When the cause came on for hearing in Superior Court, a jury trial
being waived, and it being agreed that the presiding judge might hear
and determine the cause and enter judgment herein out of term, out of the
county, and out of the Judicial District, on the agreed statement of facts,
the presiding judge being of opinion that, by reason of the notice of the
pendency of action by the children of L. L. Culbreth against said W. C.
Caison, served on The Britt Corporation and the present plaintiffs in
this action, The Britt Corporation and the present plaintiffs are bound
by the record and judgment in said action whereof they were notified;
and being of the further opinion that upon the agreed facts that plaintiffs
are entitled to recover of the defendant as thereinafter set out, entered
judgment on 17 May, 1949, that plaintiffs recover of defendant $1,918.05
with interest and costs to be taxed, ete.

Defendant appeals therefrom to Supreme Court and assigns error.

J. Abner Barker and Faoircloth & Faircloth for plaintiffs, appellees.
Butler & Butler for defendant, appellant.

WinsorxE, J. The only assignment of error presented on this appeal
is that the court erred in signing the judgment set out in the record.
This assignment of error raises only the questions (1) as to whether the
agreed facts, on which the trial judge acted, support the judgment, and
(2) whether error in matters of law appears upon the face of the record.
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Simmons v. Lee, 230 N.C. 216, 53 S.E. 2d 79, and cases cited. See also
Van Hanford v. McSwain, 280 N.C. 229, 53 S.E. 2d 84; Employment
Security Comm. v. Roberts, 280 N.C. 262, 52 S.E. 2d 890; Credit Corp.
v. Roberts, 230 N.C. 654, 55 S.E. 2d 85; Parker v. Duke University,
230 N.C. 656, 55 S.E. 2d 189 ; Henderson County v. Johnson, 230 N.C,
723, 55 S.E. 2d 502.

Defendant, in brief filed in this Court, contends that the judgment from
which appeal is taken is erroneous in many aspects, and states ten ques-
tions as being involved,—nine of which it debates at length. In the
main these contentions are predicated upon the premise that defendant
is not bound by the judgment rendered in Culbreth ». Caison, 220 N.C.
717,18 S.E. 2d 136. This assumption is untenable. See Jones v. Balsley,
154 N.C. 61, 69 S.E. 827; Cover v. McAden, 183 N.C. 641, 112 S.E. 817,

The pertinent principles of law are stated by this Court in the Corer
case in opinion by Adams, J., in this manner: “In the modern law a
covenant of warranty is treated as an agreement of the warrantor to make
good by compensation in money any loss directly ecaused by failure of the
title which his deed purports to convey. It is not always essential to
the grantee’s right of action on the covenant that he should give his
covenantor notice to come in and defend the title. But if no notice is
given, the covenantee, in his suit against the covenantor for breach of
warranty, does not make out a prema facie case by showing judgment and
eviction, he must show, in addition, that he was evicted under a para-
mount title, unless the covenantor was a party to the suit that brought
about the evietion. 15 C.J. 1265, Sec. 97. In Jones v. Balsley, supra,
Walker, J., approved the doctrine stated in Carroll v. Nodine, 41 Oregon,
412, to this effect: ‘Before an indemnitor can be expected to defend, he
must have reasonable notice of the pendency of the suit or action by which
he is to be bound, and afforded an opportunity to participate in or inter-
pose such defense as he may desire; and it is only by complying with such
conditions that the party to be indemnified can estop the indemnitor to
controvert the matter anew in an action against him upon the indemnity
contract or obligation.” And the Court concludes ‘that the great weight
of authority in England and in this country is to the effect that it is
sufficient to conclude the vendor by the judgment if he is made construc-
tively a party by substantial notice to come in and defend his title, and
that it is not necessary that he be actually a party to the suit,”” citing
Jones v. Balsley, supra.

In the present case it is specifically agreed as a fact that W. C. Caison,
the defendant there, caused notice of the action and its purpose to be
given to the parties who are now the plaintiffs and the defendant in the
present action, and called upon them to come in and to defend the action
in accordance with their covenants and warranties. Thus the decision in
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Culbreth v. Caison, supra, establishes the failure of title and concludes
both plaintiff and defendant on all defenses to the action which could
have been pleaded there. Gibbs v. Higgins, 215 N.C. 201, 1 S.E. 2d
554, and cases cited. Indeed, the defenses pointed out by defendant in
this action are, in the light of the agreed facts, not tenable.

And the parties agree that pursuant to the judgment in Culbreth v.
Caison, supra, W. C. Caison was evicted from the land in question to
which the warranty of title relates.

Furthermore, the facts agreed show that the amount for which the
action of W. C. Caison was settled by the defendants there, who are the
plaintiffs here, is the purchase price plus interest, attorney’s fee and
costs,—the measure of damages as to which there seems to be no contro-
versy. It was not necessary that The Britt Corporation, defendant here,
be given notice of the action which W. C. Caison brought against his
immediate covenantor, the plaintiffs in the present action. For defend-
ant’s liability on the warranty contained in its deed to the plaintiffs here
resulted by the failure of title which was declared by the judgment in
Culbreth v. Catson, supra, by which it is concluded. And the plaintiffs
here, having satisfied the damage sustained by W. C. Caison, are in posi-
tion to recover of defendant here on the warranty of title made in its deed
to the plaintiffs—by the measure of damages applied. See Williams v.
Beeman, 18 N.C. 483 ; Markland v. Crump, 18 N.C. 94.

Other contentions as to error in the judgment below have been given
due consideration, and are held to be without merit.

Hence the judgment below is

Affirmed.

LOTTIE B. TOWNSEND v. CAROLINA COACH COMPANY, A CORPORATION.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Negligence § 1—
As a general rule, negligence of one person will not be imputed to another
unless the relationship of master and servant exists between them.

2, Judgments § 27a—

Service of summons was had on defendant bus company by service on an
employee of the lessees of a bus station who sold tickets for the bus com-
panies using the station, G.8. 1-97 (1). The ticket saleswoman failed to
notify defendant, and judgment by default final was taken against it.
Held: The neglect of the ticket saleswoman will not be imputed to defend-
ant, and the trial court had discretionary power to set aside the judgment
upon a showing of meritorious defense. G.8. 1-220.
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8. Same: Constitutional Law § 21—

The intent and purpose of the statutes in regard to service of summons
is to give notice and an opportunity to be heard, and where service is had
upon a statutory process agent who is not in fact an agent or officer of
defendant corporation, the imputation of the negligence of such process
agent to the corporation so as to preclude it from moving to set aside a
default judgment against it for surprise and excusable neglect would be a
denial of due process of law. Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
Federal Constitution, Art. I, sec. 17, of the Constitution of North Carolina.

Apprar by plaintiff from Bennett, Special Judge, at August Term,
1949, of CaBarrUS.

This case was before us at the Fall Term, 1948, on appeal from a
judgment dismissing the action. Default judgment had been entered
theretofore for loss of baggage and wearing apparel in the sum of $676.00.
The trial judge held the plaintiff had not obtained valid service of sum-
mons on the defendant. The ruling was reversed, “without prejudice to
the right of the defendant to move to set aside the judgment for excusable
neglect, if so advised.” See Townsend v. Coach Co., 229 N.C. 528,
50 S.E. 2d 567, where the facts are fully stated.

The defendant in apt time moved to set aside the judgment, on the
ground that it had been taken through the mistake, inadvertence, surprise
or excusable neglect of the defendant, and set out as a meritorious defense,
its contention that its liability, if any, is limited by statute to $50.00.

His Honor found the facts and held the judgment was taken through
the mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect of the defendant;
that the defendant had a meritorious defense, and, for the reasons stated,
set aside the judgment in his discretion.

The plaintiff appeals and assigns error.

B. W. Blackwelder for plaintiff.
Areh T. Allen and E. T. Bost, Jr., for defendant.

Denny, J. The decision on this appeal turns on whether or not the
mistake, inadvertence or neglect of one who is not an officer or employee
of a corporation, but a statutory agent upon whom process may be served,
may be held to constitute surprise or excusable neglect within the purview
of G.S. 1-220.

Where service is obtained by publication, or upon a nonresident driver
of a motor vehicle, as provided in G.S. 1-105 and 1-107, the defendant
against whom such service is obtained “or his representative, on applica-
tion and sufficient cause shown at any time before judgment, must be
allowed to defend the action; and, except in an action for divorce or in
an action for the foreclosure of county or municipal taxes, the defendant
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against whom publication is ordered, or his representative, may in like
manner, upon good cause shown, be allowed to defend after judgment, or
at any time within one year after notice thereof, and within five years
after its rendition, on such terms as are just; and if the defense is suc-
cessful and the judgment or any part thereof has been collected or other-
wise enforced, such restitution may be compelled as the court directs.
... G.8. 1-108. Russell v. Edney, 227 N.C. 203, 41 S.E. 2d 505;
Moore v. Rankin, 172 N.C. 599, 90 S.E. 759; Page v. McDonald, 159
N.C. 88, 74 S.E. 642; Bank v. Palmer, 153 N.C. 501, 69 S.E. 507.

It will also be noted that in order to obtain service on a nonresident
driver of a motor vehicle, under the provisions of G.S. 1-105, the plaintiff
or the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles must forthwith notify the defend-
ant of such serviee and forward a copy of the process by registered mail,
and the defendant’s return receipt and the plaintiff’s affidavit of com-
pliance with the provisions of the statute must be filed with the summons,
complaint and other papers in the cause. And the statute further pro-
vides: “The court in which the action is pending shall order such con-
tinuance as may be necessary to afford the defendant reasonable oppor-
tunity to defend the action.”

Likewise, it is provided by statute, that service of process may be
obtained on a corporation doing business in this State, whether incorpo-
rated under its laws or not, under certain circumstances by serving the
process on the Secretary of State. However, the statute requires the
Secretary of State in such cases, to mail the copy of process served on him
to the president, secretary or other officer of the corporation, upon whom,
if residing in the State, service eould be obtained. G.S. 55-38.

Substantially the same procedure is required to obtain service of process
on an insurance, bonding or surety company, admitted and authorized to
do business in this State, when the process is served on the Commissioner
of Insurance. G.S. 58-154.

It is provided in G.8. 1-97 (1) that service of process on a corporation
may be obtained by delivering summons “to the president or other head of
the corporation, secretary, cashier, treasurer, director, managing or local
agent thereof.” Then the statute contains this further provision: “Any
person receiving or collecting money in this state for a corporation of this
or any other state or government is a loeal agent for the purpose of this
section.”

The primary purpose in the enactment of the latter provision was to
provide a method of service on a domestic or foreign corporation when
the officers of the corporation reside at a great distance. Townsend v.
Coach Co., supra. This being true, we do not think the mistake, inad-
vertence or neglect of such an agent is imputable to the corporation so as
to deny relief as a matter of law, under the provisions of G.S. 1-220. We
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think there is a distinction in this respect between officers and agents
who represent a corporation as its officers and agents resulting from their
official or contractual status and one who is an agent by operation of law.
It is the general rule that unless the relation of master and servant exists,
the law will not impute to a party the negligent acts of another. Johnson
v. Turner, 319 I11. 265, 49 N.E. 2d 297; Jenks v. Veeder Contracting Co.,
177 Mise. 240, 30 N.Y.S. 2d 278.

It is the intent and purpose of the law that no judgment of the char-
acter entered below, shall be taken against a defendant until after due
notice has been given by service of process on such defendant as provided
by law, and that such defendant shall be given a reasonable opportunity
to defend the action. Here the defendant has been served with process,
but given no opportunity to defend; no officer or agent, charged with the
duty of defending actions against the corporation, knew of the existence
of the suit until after judgment had been taken. To hold as a matter of
law, that no relief could be granted in such a situation would, in our
opinion, be a denial of due process of law. Const. of U. S., Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendments; Const. of N. C., Art. I, Sec. 17; Galpin v.
Page, 85 U.S. 350, 21 L. Ed. 959; King Tonopah Mining Co. v. Lynch,
232 Fed. 485 ; Process & Service by Bowers, Sec. 349, at p. 515; Harvard
Law Review, Vol. 40, p. 905; Minn. Law Review, Vol. 11, p. 559. “The
fundamental object of all laws relating to service of process is to give that
notice which will, in the nature of things, most likely bring the attention
of the corporation to commencement of the proceedings against it.” 42
Am, Jur, p. 99.

The agent upon whom process was served in this case, had no contract-
ual relationship with the defendant. She was an employee of the lessees
of the Concord Bus Station and sold tickets for the defendant and other
bus lines using the facilities of the station; and the lessees remitted. the
receipts from the sale of such tickets to the respective bus companies.
Conceding she was negligent in not notifying the defendant of the service
of process on her, we think his Honor was clothed with the power, under
the provisions of the statute, to hold such neglect was excusable on the
part of the defendant, thereby giving him the right, in his discretion, to
set aside the judgment. Rierson v. York, 227 N.C. 575, 42 S.E. 2d 902;
Everett v. Johnson, 219 N.C. 540, 14 S.E. 2d 520; Skinner v. Terry, 107
N.C. 103, 12 S.E. 118; Rollins v. Ins. Co., 107 W. Va. 602, 149 S.E. 838;
Stretch v. Montezuma Min. Co., 29 Nev. 163, 86 Pac. 445; Roberts v.
Wilson, 3 Cal. App. 82, 84 Pac. 216; Fletcher Cyclopedia Corp., Vol. 18,
Sec. 8740, p. 465 ; Freeman on Judgments, Vol. 1, Sec. 250, Accident and
Surprise, p. 503.

In Skinner v. Terry, supra, this Court said: “The statutory provision
(The Code, sec. 274), (now G.S. 1-220), invoked by the defendant, pro-
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vides that ‘“The judge . . . may also, in his discretion, and upon such
terms as may be just, at any time within one year after notice thereof,
relieve a party from a judgment, order, or other proceeding, taken against
him through his mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect,’ ete.
This implies not simply any, but reasonable mistake, inadvertence, or
excusable neglect as to, or surprise occasioned by some fact, or something
that has or has not been done, of which the complaining party ought to
have knowledge, and which, if he had had such knowledge, might have
prevented the judgment, order or other proceeding of which he com-
plains.”

It is also said in 49 C.J.S,, sec. 280 (c), at p. 503: “The surprise con-
templated by the statute is some condition or situation in which a party
to a cause is unexpectedly placed to his injury, without any fault or
negligence of his own, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded
against.” Miller v. Lee, 52 Cal. App. 2d 10, 125 P. 2d 627.

In the case of Rollins v. Ins. Co., supra, service of process was accepted
by the State Auditor. An employee in charge of such matters in the
Auditor’s office, filed an affidavit to the effect that, according to his
records, copy of the summons was forwarded to the defendant by regis-
tered mail and that a return receipt was requested by his office, but that
none was received. An officer of the defendant corporation filed an
aflidavit to the effect that he had charge of all correspondence from the
Auditor of West Virginia to his company, and that the summons was
never received by his office; that defendant had no knowledge of the suit
until after judgment had been rendered against it; and that it had a good
defense. The Court said: “The loss of the summons in the mail was a
circumstance entirely beyond the control of the defendant and was occa-
sioned by no neglect on its part. That circumstance was adventitious in
that it was unusual and unexpected. . . . Suppose a person upon whom
a summons has been served is immediately stricken with amnesia, which
continues until after judgment is rendered against him. Would any court
hesitate to.vaédate the judgment upon motion seasonably made? While
the statute makes the acceptance of the summons herein by the auditor
notice to the defendant, nevertheless the defendant was in reality as
ignorant of the pendency of this suit as would have been one suffering
from amnesia. Therefore, the circumstance presented by defendant is
clearly within the judicial designation of good cause. No reason appears
why the judgment should not be set aside under this showing.”

We are not inadvertent to the prineiple that corporations, domestic or
foreign, doing business in a state are deemed to have assented to its lawful
methods of serving process. Even so, it is contemplated that the atten-
tion of some officer or agent of a corporation, whose duty it is to defend -
actions, will receive actual notice of its pendency before judgment is
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taken. And where no such officer or agent has any notice of the pending
action, until after judgment, such corporation has not had its day in
court; and a day in court means an opportunity to be heard after notice
to appear.

The ruling of his Honor in setting aside the judgment and permitting
the defendant to file answer, is

Affirmed.

MRS. W. E. BAILEY axp MRS. FANNIE BAILEY HOLLAND, PARTNERS,
TrapiNG A W. E. BAILEY PLUMBING & HEATING COMPANY, v.
RACHEL D. DAVIS.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Pleadings § 6—

A pleading is “filed” when it is delivered for that purpose to the proper
officer and received by him, and upon plaintiff’s admission that answer had
been filed, it will be presumed that copy thereof for the use of plaintiff
had likewise been filed and mailed to him or his attorney of record, as
required by statute. G.S. 1-125.

2. Judgments § 9—

Judgment by default may be entered only when defendant has not an-
swered, and therefore when answer has been filed, even though after time
for answering has expired, the clerk is without authority, so long as the
answer remains filed of record, to enter judgment by default. G.S. 1-209;
G.S. 1-214. Upon {filing of answer and joinder of issues, the cause is, in
effect, transmitted by operation of law to the Superior Court. G.S. 1-171.

3. Judgments § 27a—

A motion in the cause to set aside a default judgment on the ground
that at the time it was rendered by the clerk a duly filed answer appeared
of record, is held not a motion to set aside for surprise and excusable
neglect, since G.S. 1-220 applies only when the judgment is rendered accord-
ing to the course and practice of the court.

4. Courts § 4c: Pleadings § 6—

Upon appeal from the denial by the clerk of a motion to set aside a
default judgment on the ground that at the time of its rendition a duly
filed answer appeared of record, the Superior Court acquires jurisdiction
of the entire cause, G.S. 1-276, and has the power to permit the answer to
remain of record, even though it was filed after time for answering had
expired. G.S.1-152.

Arprar by plaintiffs from Edmundson, Special Judge, at May Term,
1949, of Lenoir.

Civil action to recover on contract for an oil burning furnace, etc.,
installed in office building of defendant.
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On 21 January, 1949, the Clerk of Superior Court of Lenoir County,
upon motion of attorney for plaintiffs, entered judgment by default final
against defendant upon these findings of fact: That summons issued in
this action on 18 December, 1948, and plaintiffs filed duly verified com-
plaint on same date; that the summons, together with a copy of the com-
plaint so filed, was duly, regularly and personally served upon defendant
on 18 December, 1948, by the Sheriff of Lenoir County, acting through
his duly authorized deputy sheriff by delivering to her a copy of the
summons and a copy of the said complaint; that defendant filed no answer
within the time allowed by law, and made no appearance of any kind,
either in person or by attorney, and no extension of time in which to
plead was either requested by defendant or granted to her within the
time provided by law in which to answer the plaintiffs’ complaint; that
more than thirty days have elapsed since the said service of summons and
complaint, and the time for answering said complaint expired on 17
January, 1949 ; that the complaint sets forth a cause of action for breach
of an express contract to pay a sum of money fixed by the terms of the
contract or capable of being ascertained therefrom by computation—an
itemized statement of the amount claimed by plaintiffs being attached to
and forming a part of the complaint and served with the summons and
complaint, ete.

Defendant moved, on 22 January, 1949, to set aside the foregoing judg-
ment for that defendant duly filed answer as appears of record on 19
January, 1949, before judgment was rendered, and said answer has not
been set aside and no motion made, or notice given of motion to be made
before said clerk of Superior Court to set aside the answer, and defendant
further moved that the answer filed on 19 January, 1949, be allowed as
filed on said date on grounds set out in affidavit and written motion.
The answer appears in the record and purports to deny the indebtedness
alleged in the complaint, and to set up a counterclaim.

Plaintiffs filed answer to the motion and affidavit of defendant, in
which among other things plaintiffs say: (1) “It is further admitted that
the defendant’s attorney prepared and filed a paper writing purporting
to be an answer on the 19th day of January, 1949, . . .”; (2) “That
on the 19th day of January, 1949, and without notice to plaintiffs’ coun-
gel . . . counsel for defendant filed a paper writing purporting to be an
answer; that plaintiff’ counsel received a copy of the paper writing

._on January 20, 1949, and in the same mail received a letter from
the plaintiffs instructing him to move for judgment, whereupon the plain-
tiffs, through counsel, moved for judgment by default on January 21,
1949, which judgment was signed and entered by the clerk of the Superior
Court of Lenoir County”; and thereupon plaintiffs pray (1) that the
motion of defendant to set aside the judgment so entered be denied; (2)
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that the paper writing filed by defendant on 19 January, 1949, purporting
to be an answer to plaintiffs’ complaint, be stricken and withdrawn from
the court papers; and (8) that defendant’s motion be dismissed at her
cost.

The motion to set aside the judgment was disallowed, and defendant
appealed to the Superior Court.

‘When the appeal came on for hearing in Superior Court the presiding
judge, being of opinion that the ruling to be made upon defendant’s
motion is entirely within the sound discretion of the court, and that the
plaintiffs’ request to find the facts should be denied, and defendant’s
motion should be allowed, entered an order, in the discretion of the court,
that the judgment by default final rendered by the clerk of Superior
Court of Lenoir County on 21 January, 1949, in this cause be and the
same is thereby vacated and set aside; and “that the paper writing filed
by the defendant on 19 January, 1949, be and it is hereby allowed and
filed as the defendant’s answer, with leave to the plaintiffs to plead
thereto as provided by law.”

Plaintiffs appeal therefrom to Supreme Court, and assign error.

Thos. J. White for plaintiffs, appellants.
Whitaker & Jeffress for defendant, appellee.

WinsorNE, J. Appellants contend that the judge below erred in not
treating the motion of defendant as a motion to set aside the judgment
by default for excusable neglect, pursuant to provisions of G.S. 1-220,
and in not finding facts in accordance therewith. It may be conceded
that if the judgment in question had been taken according to the course
and practice of the court, the judge, under this statute, should find the
facts of excusable neglect and meritorious defense. However, in the
light of pertinent statutes in this State and pertinent decisions of this
Court, the judgment here was entered without authority in that judgment
by default may be entered only when defendant has not answered. G.S.
1-211 and G.S. 1-214. Hence the provisions of G.S. 1-220 are inappli-
cable.

The General Statutes of North Carolina, G.S. 1-125, provide that
defendant must appear and answer or demur within thirty days after
service of summons upon him; and that the clerk shall not extend the
time for filing answer or demurrer more than once nor for a period of
time exceeding twenty days, except by consent of the parties.

And it is provided in G.S. 1-211 that judgment by default final may be
had on failure of defendant to answer, and in G.S. 1-214 that if no answer
is filed the plaintiff shall be entitled to judgment by default final or
default and inquiry as authorized by G.S. 1-211, ete.
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This raises the question in the present case as to whether an answer
had been filed in a legal sense at the time the clerk entered the judgment
by default final. As to this, it is pertinent to note that G.S. 1-125
further provides that defendant, when he files answer, shall likewise file
at least one copy thereof for the use of the plaintiff and his attorney;
that the clerk shall not receive and file any answer until and unless such
copy is filed therewith; and that the clerk shall forthwith mail the copy
of answer filed to the plaintiff or his attorney of record. In the light
of these provisions it may be fairly inferred from the fact, admitted by
plaintiffs, that a copy of the answer was mailed to plaintiffs’ counsel, that
defendant filed with the clerk a copy of her answer, and that the clerk
mailed 1t, thereby taking cognizance of the filing.

Moreover, the parties say that defendant filed what purports to be
an answer,—though two days late. What then is the meaning of the
word “filed”? It has a distinct significance. This Court, speaking of it
in the ease of Power Co. v. Power Co., 175 N.C. 668, 96 S.E. 99, stated :
“It has been held that ‘a paper writing is deemed to be filed within the
meaning of the law when it is delivered for that purpose to the proper
officer and received by him, and it is not necessary to the filing of a paper
that it shall be endorsed as having been so filed. The file mark of the
officer is evidence of filing, but it is not the essential element of the act,’
unless the statute makes it so.” Authorities are cited; including in prin-
ciple the cases of Glanton ». Jacobs, 117 N.C. 427, 23 S.E. 335, and
Smath ©. Lumber Co., 144 N.C. 47, 56 S.E. 555.

Thus on the face of the record on 21 January, 1949, when the clerk
acted upon the motion of plaintiffs for judgment by default final, it
appeared that defendant had filed an answer on 19 January, 1949. If it
were not filed within the meaning of the law plaintiffs, upon motion so to
do, might have had the answer stricken from the record, and, if such
motion were allowed, to move then for judgment by default final. This
was not done.

And while the clerk is authorized by statute, G.S. 1-209, to enter all
judgments by default final as are authorized in G.S. 1-211, and others,
the situation of the record, at the time he came to act on plaintiffs’
motion for such judgment, failed to present a case where the defendant
had not answered. Hence, so long as the answer remained filed of record,
the clerk was without authority to enter a judgment by default final.
This being so, the judgment entered may, on motion in the cause, be
set aside.

And it is noted that we have here more than there was in the case of
Elramy v. Abeyounis, 189 N.C. 278, 126 S.E. 743, where it is said, “the
defendant’s attorney deposited in the clerk’s office a paper writing.”
Hence that case is not controlling here.
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Furthermore, this Court has held that where the plaintiff is entitled
to judgment by default before the clerk for failure of defendant to
answer within the statutory time, he waives this right by waiting until
after the clerk has permitted an answer to be filed and the matter has
been transferred to the civil issue docket for trial. Cahoon v. Everton,
187 N.C. 869,121 S.E. 612.

Moreover, it is provided by statute, G.S. 1-171, that the pleadings
shall be made up and issues joined before the clerk and that after the
pleadings have been so made up and issues joined, the elerk shall forth-
with transmit the original papers in the cause to the court at term for
trial upon the issues, when the case shall be proceeded with according to
the course and practice of the court. The transmission is, in effect, by
operation of law. Hence, when the answer was filed the transmission
took place,—and the case was in Superior Court.

This Court also held in the Cahoon case, supra, that where the plain-
tiff has waived his right to judgment by default before the clerk, and
the cause has been transferred to the civil issue docket for trial, the trial
judge has the authority, under the provisions of G.S. 1-152, formerly
(.8. 536, to allow defendant to amend his answer. In truth, the statute
declares that “The judge may likewise, in his discretion, and upon such
terms as may be just, allow an answer or reply to be made, or other act to
be done, after the time limited, or by an order may enlarge the time.”
But whether this cause was in Superior Court by operation of law or by
appeal of defendant from order of the clerk, the judge has jurisdiction.
It is provided in G.S. 1-276 that “whenever a civil action or special
proceeding begun before the clerk of a Superior Court is for any ground
whatever sent to the Superior Court before the judge, the judge has
jurisdiction; and it is his duty, upon the request of either party, to pro-
ceed to hear and determine all matters in controversy in such action,
unless it appears to him that justice would be more cheaply and speedily
administered by sending the action back to be proceeded in before the
clerk, in which case he may do so.” This provision is applied most
recently in McDaniel v. Leggett, 224 N.C. 806, 32 S.E. 2d 602; Moody
v. Howell, 229 N.C. 198, 49 S.E. 2d 233, and Plemmons v. Cutshall,
930 N.C. 595, 55 S.E. 2d 74.

For reasons stated, the judgment below is

Affirmed.



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 91

IN RE CRANFORD.

IN THE MATTER OF THE RESTRAINT oOF NORMAN DOUGLAS CRANFORD.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

(Filed 9 November, 1949,)

Parent and Child § 4a: Clerks of Court § 7—-

Under the 1949 amendment to G.S. 50-13 (Ch. 1010, Session Laws of
1949) either parent may institute a speecial proceeding to obtain custody
of his or her child in cases not theretofore provided for by this statute or
G.S. 17-39, and this amendment authorizes a special proceeding by the
mother of an illegitimate child to obtain its custody from her aunt, with
whom she had entrusted the child, and thus restricts the jurisdiction of
the Juvenile Court in such instances, G.S. 110-21, et seq.

Judges § 2b: Parent and Child § 4a: Habeas Corpus § 3—

A special judge has concurrent jurisdiction with the judge of the district
to hear and determine a proceeding instituted by the mother of a child to
obtain its custody, provided the proceeding can be heard and judgment
rendered during the term of court the special judge is commissioned to
hold. G.S. 7-58; G.8. 7-65.

Parent and Child § 4a: Habeas Corpus § 3: Appeal and Error § 37—

Where the mother of an illegitimate child, after her marriage to a
person not its father, institutes habeas corpus proceedings against her aunt
with whom she had left the child, to regain its custody, and the respondent
files answer and thus makes a general appearance and at no time chal-
lenges the jurisdiction of the court, the Supreme Court, in its discretion,
will treat the petition as a special proceeding under G.S. 50-13, and con-
sider the appeal on its merits.

Appeal and Error § 40d—
The Supreme Court is not bound by a finding which is based on a con-
clusion of law.

Parent and Child § 9—

The acts of a mother of an illegitimate child in taking the child with
her to live with her aunt and in leaving the child with her aunt upon her
subsequent marriage to a person other than the father of the child, even
though done with an accompanying statement that she waived right to
further claim, is held not an abandonment of the child in law.

Parent and Child § 4a—

Where the mother of an illegitimate child takes it with her to live with
her aunt, and upon her subsequent marriage to a person not the father of
the child, leaves the child with her aunt, held: the mother is entitled to
regain custody of the child from the aunt in proceedings instituted for this
purpose upon the court’s finding that the mother is a woman of good char-
acter and has a home proper and fit for the child to visit, notwithstanding
that the aunt may be able to provide a more advantageous environment,
the natural right of the mother to the custody of the child being para-
mount in the absence of a showing of unfitness.
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Perimioner’s appeal from Sharp, Special Judge, September Term,
1949, Raxvorer Superior Court.

The petitioner brought a habeas corpus proceeding for the purpose of
regaining the custody of her illegitimate child whom she alleges she had
entrusted to the care of an aunt, Mrs. W. O. Marsh. Shortly after the
birth of the child she came to live in the home of her aunt and lived there
with the child until her marriage to a person not the father of her child.
She then left to live elsewhere, leaving the child in the custody of the
aunt, as petitioner says, to remain while she was good to him, but as
respondent says, as an unqualified surrender of custody and control,
declaring that she would make no further claim. There was no adoption.

The matter came in due course to be heard by Judge Sharp, who heard
evidence, made a finding of facts in which she found that the mother had
abandoned the child by surrendering him to the unqualified custody of the
aunt and asserting that she would make no further claim. She further
found that the respondent is a woman of good character and is a fit person
to have the custody of the child and that her home is a proper and fit
place to rear it; that the mother of the child at the present time is a
woman of good character and her home is a proper and fit place for the
child to visit.

The order provides that the custody and the control of the child be
awarded to the respondent and that the petitioner be allowed to visit the
child at stated periods which shall not conflict with its school attendance;
and that petitioner shall be allowed to have the child visit her on alter-
nate week-ends.

The petitioner excepted to the finding of fact that she had abandoned
the child and that it was to the best interest of the child that he remain
in custody of the respondent; and to other findings on which the award
of custody was based ; excepted to the order, and appealed.

}ﬁm, Smith & Walker for petitioner, appellant.

Y Miller & Moser for respondent, appellee.
Seawkrr, J. The petitioner, having suffered an adverse decision
below, now makes an ore tenus objection to the jurisdiction of the trial
court, and moves to dismiss the proceeding, intending, we understand, to
bring her grievance to the Juvenile Court (G.S. 110-21 to -44) as a
court having exclusive jurisdiction of the subject matter. This brings
up the necessity of clarifying the jurisdiction, in limine, in order to see
whether, with procedural propriety, we can reach decision on the merits.
Prior to the creation of the Juvenile Court habeas corpus was the
recognized procedure for determining the custody of a child in the factual
situation presented in this case, and was in common use. Ashby v. Page,
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106 N.C. 328, 11 S.E. 283; Latham v. Ellis, 116 N.C. 30, 20 S.E. 1012;
In re Jones, 153 N.C. 312, 69 S.E. 317; Thompson v. Thompson, 72
N.C. 32. Statutory exceptions and practice existing in certain relation-
ships of parties, not obtaining here, did not, of course, affect the pro-
cedure.

In the creation of the Juvenile Court the Legislature gave it exclusive
jurisdiction of the custody of children in certain categories set out in
G.8. 110-21, in 1, 2, 3, order, including delinquency, parental neglect,
abandonment, and other conditions detrimental to the welfare of the child.
And, by a sweeping addendum in division 3, supra, extended such juris-
diction to all cases where the custody of children is involved, rendering
the proceeding by habeas corpus unavailable. In re Coston, 187 N.C.
509, 122 S.E. 183; see In re Tenhoopen, 202 N.C. 223, 224, 162 S.E. 619.
This is thoroughly discussed in its relation to habeas corpus in Phipps
v. Vannoy, 229 N.C. 629, 50 S.E. 2d 906, which see. We may say now,
since it is no longer law, that this provision was scarcely germane to the
general tenor and purpose of the act, and put the natural rights of the
parents who must resort to it in some jeopardy by its social implications,
paramounting the interest of the State.

For this reason (or some other—we need not inquire), there was
enacted Chapter 1010, Session Laws of 1949, (to which counsel seem not
to have been advertent), making certain amendments to another statute,
(G.S. 50-18), which, upon analysis, will be found to apply to the present
controversy, and strictly affects the cited provisions of the statute. The
amending provision rewrites the first seetion of G.S. 50-13, making it
read as follows:

“Provided, custody of children of parents who have been divoreced
outside of North Carolina, and controversies respecting the custody
of children not provided for by this Section or Section 17-39 of the
General Statutes of North Carolina, may be determined in a special
proceeding instituted by either of said parents, or by the surviving
parent if the other be dead, in the Superior Court of the county
where the petitioner, or the respondent or child at the time of filing
said petition, is a resident.”

Examination of G.S. 50-13 and G.S. 17-39 discloses that neither of
them, before amendment, made any provision for the custody of children
under the factual situation or relationships involved in the case before
us; and this remedy (Chap. 1010, Session Laws of 1949) was open to the
petitioner when she mistakenly sued out habeas corpus.

The question arises whether, the remedy by habeas corpus having been
completely eclipsed by the Juvenile Court jurisdiction, the act amending
G.S. 50-13 has not revived it as an alternate remedy.
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It certainly destroys the exclusiveness of the Juvenile Court in the
premises, but it apparently does more. Considering the history of the
legislation, and its intendments, we think the better view is that it pro-
vides a new and exclusive procedure for determining the custody of the
child covering cases not coming within the exceptive provisions of the
amendment, and hence inclusive of the case under review.

We now come to consider the jurisdiction of the hearing court from
another angle.

Judge Sharp is a Special Judge. The record shows that she heard the
matter at and during a regular term of Randolph Superior Court under
a proper commission. Statutes delineating the jurisdiction of Special
Judges have broadened that jurisdiction in close, if not final, approxima-
tion to that of “regular or elective judges” while holding the court to
which they are assigned. Shephard v. Leonard, 223 N.C. 110, 25 S.E.
2d 445. Considering in pari materia the statutes covering the jurisdic-
tion of judges with reference to the jurisdiction of special proceedings
of this nature, especially G.S. 7-58 and 7-65, we are of the opinion that
a special judge has concurring jurisdiction of matters of this kind with
the resident judge and regular judge holding the courts of the distriet,
if heard and completed, and judgment rendered, pending the duration of
the court which such judge is commissioned to hold.

The petition in habeas corpus adequately set up the grievance com-
plained of with all its essentials, and the answer of the respondent was
correlative. By filing such answer she made a general appearance and
did not at any time challenge the jurisdietion. In form and substance
the petition is hardly distinguishable, except in name only, from the
special proceeding contemplated in the statute. The Court will, there-
fore, in its diseretion, treat the petition as a petition in a special proceed-
ing under the statute and consider the appeal on its merits.

The Appellate Court is not bound by the findings of fact that the
petitioner abandoned her child by entrusting her custody to her aunt,
even though it may have been with an accompanying statement that she
waived right to further claim. That is not the legal significance of
abandonment in the statutes which have dealt with it as a basis of judi-
cial jurisdiction, and we do not think it is in accord with its moral intend-
ment where disposition of a child is concerned.

There was no adoption here, and respondent had no legal right to the
possession of the child. In re Shelton, 203 N.C. 75, 79, 164 S.E. 322.
As against the natural right of the mother she had only such defense as
might be hers in consideration of the welfare of the child and the fitness
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or suitability of the claimants of the custody. In this respect the judge,
as above stated, found as follows: '

“That the respondent Mrs. W. O. Marsh is a woman of good char-
acter and is a fit person to have the custody of said child, and that
her home is a proper and fit place in which to rear said child; that
the mother of the child at the present time is a woman of good char-
acter and her home is a proper and fit place for the child to visit.”

On this finding establishing the fact that the woman is now of good
character and her home a fit place for the child to visit or spend alternate
week-ends, the award of custody of the child to the aunt cannot be
sustained.

‘Where the fitness of the petitioner is unchallenged the natural right of
the parent to the custody of the child cannot be denied because a more
suitable custodian or a more advantageous environment is available, or
because at sacrifice of parental right the child may have a better chance
in life, and the “interest of the State” be protected. In a similar situa-
tion in In re Shelton, supra, the Court says as controlling the decision:

“As there is no finding of fact that the petitioner is not a suitable
person to have the custody and control of her child, she has not
forfeited her natural and legal right to such custody and control.
It is well settled as the law of this State that the mother of an
illegitimate child, if a suitable person, is entitled to the care and
custody of the child, even though there be others who are more
suitable. Ashby v. Page, 106 N.C. 328, 11 S.E. 283. As it appears
from the findings of fact made by the court that the petitioner has
not been deprived of her legal right to the custody of her child by a
valid order of adoption by the respondents and has not forfeited
such right by a wilful abandonment of the child, and is a suitable
person to have its care and custody, there is error in the judgment
awarding the custody of the child to the respondents.”

We observe here that the question of unsuitability is one which must
be advanced and shown by the respondent. The finding here has nega-
tived such condition.

There is nothing that tears at the heart more pathetically than separa-
tion from a child over whom one has watched, has cared for and loved
during the years until it has become a part of the very life; but the
natural right of a parent, whose unfitness has not been shown, to the
custody of a child given to it by a higher power is fundamental, inti-
mately concerned with the integrity of the oldest and most sacred human
institution, the home, the family; and we dare not say upon the evidence
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and findings before us that social considerations or the superior suitability
of another custodian should be of such paramount consideration as to
defeat that right.

The judgment of the court below is

Reversed.

WELLINGTON-SEARS COMPANY, INC,, v. KERR BLEACHING &
FINISHING WORKS, INC.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Bailment § 1—

Where the owner delivers goods to another for processing at a fixed
price and return to the owner, the contract is one of bailment for mutual
benefit.

2, Bailment § 8—

Admissions or proof that bailor delivered goods in good condition to
bailee and that they were damaged by fire while in the bailee’s possession,
establishes a prime facie case entitling bailor to go to the jury in the
absence of some fatal admission or confession on its part.

Appear, by plaintiff from Rudisill, J., at June Term, 1949, of
CABARRUS.

Civil action to recover damages to goods of plaintiff allegedly negli-
gently caused by fire while in possession of defendant as bailee pursuant
to a written contract.

Plaintiff alleges in its complaint these facts in summary: That on or
about 831 December, 1946, plaintiff delivered to defendant eight bales of
cotton drill material it owned, and defendant accepted same pursuant
to a contract and understanding between them, whereby defendant was to
process the material for a fixed price to be paid by plaintiff, and return
same to plaintiff in good, merchantable and usable condition; that on or
about said date said material was damaged by fire while it was in posses-
sion and on the premises of defendant in Concord, North Carolina; that
defendant failed to exercise that care for the protection of said material
required of it as a bailee, and through its own negligence destroyed same,
and failed to return it to plaintiff in good merchantable and usable condi-
tion as it had contracted and agreed to do, all to plaintiff’s great damage
as thereinafter set forth, and “that plaintiff is informed and so believes
that the damage to the aforesaid material by fire was proximately caused
by the negligence of defendant, acting by and through its agents, servants
and employees,” in that: Defendant (a) failed (1) “to exercise reason-
able care in the handling of said material so that said material became
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ignited”; and (2) “to properly safeguard said material and take reason-
able precautions to prevent said material from becoming ignited while in
its possession”; and (b) “carelessly and recklessly caused said material
to become ignited.”

Defendant, answering the complaint of plaintiff, admits that on or
about 31 December, 1946, plaintiff owned certain eight bales of cotton
drill material, which had been delivered to and accepted by, and was in
possession of defendant, pursuant to a written contract; and that on or
about said date the aforementioned bales of material were damaged by
fire while in the possession of defendant on premises of the defendant in
Concord, North Carolina; but denies all allegations of negligence.

And for further answer and in bar of plaintiff’s right to recover,
defendant avers: That the relationship between plaintiff and defendant
with reference to the goods referred to in the complaint is determined by
the provisions of a written contract, No. 2846, dated 20 February, 1946,
among which is this provision: “All goods at our plant are at your risk
of damage by fire or sprinkler leakage and all other casualties while in
transit or in our possession. Imsurance rate at our plant is one-tenth
of one per cent. We will insure upon request, duly acknowledged by us”;
and that plaintiff did not request defendant to insure said goods, and
defendant did not insure same.

On the trial in Superior Court it was stipulated and agreed by plaintiff
and by defendant, through counsel, among other things, “that upon receipt
of the involved material, the defendant placed same in its warehouse
known as the old Buffalo Mill; that on the 31st day of December, 19486,
at approximately 3:30 P. M., said material was loaded into a box car of
the Southern Railway Company by employees of the Kerr Bleachery;
that the Southern Railway Company moved said box ear on said date a
distance of approximately half a mile to a siding at the defendant’s main
plant in Concord, N. C.; that around 11:30 o’clock . M. on the same
date the material was discovered to be on fire; and that the aforemen-
tioned goods were received and accepted by defendant pursuant to a price
quotation No. 2846, dated 20 February, 1946, addressed to plaintiff,
subject to the terms and conditions appearing on said price quotation, a
copy of which is attached to the answer.

. And on such trial plaintiff first offered in evidence the admissions made
by defendant in its answer as hereinabove stated. Then one C. L. Miller,
as witness for plaintiff, testified: “As assistant chief of the Concord
Fire Department at 11:40 P. M. on December 31, 1946, T received a call
and we went to the Kerr Bleachery and found a box car on fire. The box
car was on a side-track on property of Kerr Bleachery between two mills.
Tt was necessary to go through a mill to get to the car. On arrival I
could see nothing but smoke. The box car was opened under my super-

5—231
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vision. I don’t recall whether it was sealed. The box car was hard to
open and we used a crowbar. Two or three or four feet inside of the
door, cloth and the side of the box car were on fire. The fire appeared
to be from the inside. There was no evidence of fire from the outside.
A good bit of the cloth had caught on fire.”

And one Clifford Cress, also witness for plaintiff, testified: “I am a
volunteer fireman and was present with Mr. Miller at the time of the
fire which he described. When we got there we saw smoke coming out
of the box car. The doors were shut. I couldn’t say whether there was a
seal on the box car. The door was opened with a crowbar. I did not see
any fire burning from the outside. The fire was on the inside about 2 feet
from the door on the left side at the bottom of the floor.”

Thereupon plaintiff rested its case, and defendant entered motion for
judgment as of nonsuit. The motion was allowed. And from judgment
in accordance therewith, plaintiff appeals to Supreme Court and assigns
error.

Taliaferro, Clarkson & Grier and John Hugh Williams for plaintiff,
appellant.
Hartsell & Hartsell for defendant, appellee.

WixeorNE, J. This action is predicated upon a bailment for the
mutual benefit of plaintiff and defendant. The relation of plaintiff and
defendant, in respect thereto, is that of bailor and bailee. The action is
founded on negligence. The question, therefore, is whether the evidence
introduced by plaintiff, plus the facts stipulated by the parties, is suffi-
cient to withstand a motion for judgment as of nonsuit. The trial judge
did not think so, and so ruled. But this Court entertains a contrary
view, and holds that it is sufficient to take the case to the jury.

The factual situation thus presented is so nearly identical with that in
the case of Hutchins v. Taylor-Buick Co., 198 N.C. 777, 153 S.E. 397,
the decision here turns upon the decision there. And the facts stipulated
are not so complete as to justify a holding that, as a matter of law, the
prima facie case, relied upon by plaintiff, is explained away.

Thus, as stated in the Hutchins case, “in the absence of some fatal
admission or confession, as against a demurrer to the evidence, or motion
to nonsuit, a prima facte showing carries the case to the jury.”

Hence on the authority of the case of Hulchins v. Taylor-Buick Co.,
supra, the judgment below is

Reversed.
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LESTER RAYNOR anp L. F. EDENS, o¥ BEHALF oF THEMSELVES AND ALL
OTHERS HAVING AN INTEREST IN THE EDENS COMMUNITY CEMETERY
OR BURIAL GROUND, v. 8. A, OTTOWAY.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Highways § 11—

Where it is controverted whether the road in gquestion was used per-
missively as a way to a private cemetery or whether it was used by the
public under claim of right to a community cemetery, petitioners are not
entitled to have it adjudicated a neighborhood public road solely upon a
finding by the jury that it was constructed or reconstructed with employ-
ment relief funds under the supervision of the Department of Public
Welfare. G.S. 136-67.

2. Same—

Testimony that relief funds were used under authorization of the Depart-
ment of Public Welfare on a cemetery project, and that the supervisor in
charge of the work, upon suggestion of an interested worker, had the
workers improve the road to the cemetery, is held insufficient to establish
that the reconstruction of the road was authorized or directed by the
Department of Public Welfare within the meaning of G.S. 136-67.

3. Same—
Evidence of the prescriptive use of a road across defendant’s land under
claim of right entitles petitioners to go to the jury in a proceeding to
establish the way as a neighborhood public road.

Arrear. by respondent from Edmundson, Special Judge, May-June
Term, 1949, OxsLow. New trial.

Petition to have a cartway declared a neighborhood public road.

A burial ground known as Edens Cemetery is located on the land now
owned by respondent. A cartway leading from the public road to the
cemetery has been in existence for many years, perhaps a hundred.
Defendant built a fence across the road, thereby blocking it. Thereupon,
the petitioners instituted this action.

They allege that the cemetery is a community burial ground and the
cartway is and has been for many years a neighborhood driveway; that
both have been generally used by the community; and that in 1933 or
1934 the cartway was repaired and reconstructed with unemployment
relief funds under the supervision of the superintendent of public welfare.
They pray that the cartway be adjudged a neighborhood public road to
remain open and unobstructed at all times for the use of the community
in traveling to and from the cemetery.

The defendant, answering, admits that he has built a fence across said
cartway to prevent the use thereof and alleges that there are other ways
to the cemetery. He asserts further that the cemetery is a private, family
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burial ground in which members of his family have been interred, from
time to time, for several generations, and that the cartway is a private
way over his land to said burial ground.

During the trial the court announced there was only one issue to be
submitted to the jury, to wit:

“Has the road in question been laid out, constructed or reconstructed
with unemployment relief funds under the supervision of the Department
of Public Welfare ?”

The jury answered the issue in the affirmative. From judgment
thereon as appears of record, the respondent appealed.

Warlick & Ellis for petitioner appellees.
W. K. Rhodes, Jr., for respondent appellant.

Barwmrirr, J.  The verdict of the jury is not sufficient to support the
judgment.

The Edens Cemetery is on the land of defendant. There is testimony
tending to show that it is a private burial ground and that the cartway
from the public road to the cemetery is a private way used at times by
the community, with the consent of respondent, and that such use is not,
and has never been, hostile to respondent or his predecessors in title.
Thus it appears that the nature both of the burial ground and the pathway
was at issue.

The statute (G.S. 136-67) does not contemplate that a private way
shall be converted into a neighborhood public road by the mere use of
relief funds in its reconstruction.

The Act, c. 183, P.L. 1941, now G.S. 136-67, constitutes a legislative
definition of neighborhood public roads and reads as follows :

“All those portions of the public road system of the State which have
not been taken over and placed under maintenance or which have been
abandoned by the State Highway and Public Works Commission, but
which remain open and in general use by the public, and all those roads
that have been laid out, constructed, or reconstructed with unemployment
relief funds under the supervision of the Department of Public Welfare,
and all other roads or streets or portions of roads or streets whatsoever
outside of the boundaries of any incorporated eity . . . which serve a
public use . . . are hereby declared to be neighborhood public roads
. . .1 Provided, that this definition of neighborhood public roads shall
not be construed to embrace any street, road or driveway that serves an
essentially private use.” (Italies supplied.)

While the cartway across defendant’s land to the burial ground has
been used for many years, it has not been judicially determined whether
this was by permission of the owner or under claim of right such as would
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create an easement. Nor has it been determined that the burial ground
i a community and not a private cemetery.

In the absence of a finding that the cartway serves a public rather than
a private use—that it is a neighborhood way to community cemetery and
not a private way to a family burial ground—the judgment cannot be
sustained.

Furthermore, it is not made to appear that the way was reconstructed
with unemployment relief funds under the supervision of the department
of public welfare.

The director of the Emergency Relief Association of the county who
had control of relief funds was a witness for the plaintiffs. He testified
that there was a relief project known as Edens Cemetery project, that
there was no road project and no road was mentioned when the work on
the cemetery was authorized. While the men were working on the
cemetery, the overseer or supervisor in charge of the laborers, one of the
petitioners here, asked the defendant: “How about taking them men and
cleaning out the ditch bank and throwing the dirt up in the road and
building up the road # The defendant assented and the suggested work
was done. The workmen were paid out of relief funds. Thus the repair
of the road was incidental to the cemetery project. Use of the funds for
that purpose was not authorized or directed by the Department of Public
Welfare, but they were expended in the diseretion of the party in charge
of the workmen. This falls short of proof that the road was recon-
structed under the supervision of the Department of Public Welfare.

There is, however, evidence of prescriptive use of the road across the
defendant’s land. The petitioners, if they are the parties interested, are
entitled to have this view of the case submitted to the jury. To that end
the cause is remanded for a

New trial.

MRS. CARRIE O. JORDAN v. BE. T. MAYNARD, TrapING As MAYNARD’S
FLOOR SHOP, anp PENNSYLVANIA THRESHERMAN & FARMERS
MUTUAL CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)

1. Contracts § 5: Insurance § 48—

Promise to the injured person made by the carrier of liability insurance
that insurer would pay all hospital and medical expenses, is held without
consideration and unenforceable.

2. Pleadings § 19b—

In a suit against the owner of the store in which plaintiff was injured
and the carrier of liability insurance for the owner, demurrer for mis-
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joinder of parties and causes is improperly granted when the complaint
fails to state a cause of action against insurer, and the cause will be re-
manded to the end that it be dismissed as to the insurer and retained for
trial against the store owner, after granting plaintiff time in which to
replead.

8. Insurance §§ 43d, 48—

A policy of liability insurance is for the protection and indemnity of
insured, and neither by express terms nor underlying purpose is it made
for the benefit of third parties, and, in the action by the injured person
against insured, all reference to liability insurance is prejudicial, and all
such references should be stricken from the complaint.

Apprar by defendants from Stevens, J., May Term, 1949, Waxe.
Error and remanded.

Plaintiff, a customer in the store of defendant Maynard, sat or at-
tempted to sit in a chair provided for customers. The chair slipped or
skidded out from under her, causing certain personal injuries. She
makes allegations of negligence in the construction of the chair and the
condition of the floor.

Thereafter, a claim adjuster or agent of the defendant insurance com-
pany informed the plaintiff that it carried insurance upon the defendant
Maynard to protect him against liability for such injuries as she had
sustained, and that it desired the plaintiffi to have all necessary and
proper medical, surgical, hospital, and nursing treatment on account of
her said injuries, and that it would pay the expense of the same. Subse-
quent thereto she incurred hospital, doctors’ and nurses’ bills.

Plaintiff now prays recovery against both defendants for the injuries
sustained and the expenses incurred. Each defendant demurred for mis-
joinder of parties and causes of action. The demurrers were overruled
and defendants appealed.

Stmms & Stmms for plaintiff appellee.
Smith, Leach & Anderson for defendant appellants.

Barxnuiry, J.  The defendant insurance company, in this Court, inter-
posed demurrer ore tenus for that the complaint fails to state a cause of
action against it in that the alleged promise by its agent, if made, was
without consideration and is therefore unenforceable. The demurrer is
well advised and must be sustained. Stonestreet v. Oil Co., 226 N.C. 261,
37 8.E. 2d 678.

So far as this record discloses, the insurance company was under no
contractual duty to plaintiff to provide hospital and medical care for
her. The assurance of its claim adjuster or employee that the company
would pay the expenses of hospitalization including the charges of the
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doctors and nurses was voluntary and without consideration. Hence,
aside from the question of authority, which is not now at issue, it imposed
no liability enforceable in a court of law.

Since no cause of action is stated as against the defendant insurance
company, there is no misjoinder of parties and causes of action. Shaw
v. Barnard, 229 N.C. 713, 51 S.E. 2d 295.

In an action ex delicto for damages proximately caused by the alleged
negligence of the defendant, his liability insurance carrier is not a proper
party defendant. Clark v. Bonsal, 157 N.C. 270, 72 S.E. 954; Johnson
v. Transfer Co., 204 N.C. 420, 168 S.E. 495; Scott v. Bryan, 210 N.C.
478,187 S.E. 756. The contract is made for the protection and indemnity
of the insured, fortifying him against unexpected and uncertain demands
which might otherwise prove disastrous to him. Neither by express
terms nor underlying purpose is it made for the benefit of third parties.

It is so alien to a cause of action, sueh as the one here alleged, that
evidence thereof or referenmce thereto in the presence of the jury is
prejudicial. Stanley v. Lumber Co., 184 N.C. 302, 114 S.E. 385;
Featherstone v. Cotton Malls, 159 N.C. 429, 74 S.E. 918; Luttrell v.
Hardin, 193 N.C. 266, 136 S.E. 726. The presiding judge should at all
times “guard against prejudicial references to liability insurance.” Scott
v. Bryan, supra, and cases cited.

It follows that the defendant insurance company is an improper party
defendant and all reference to it and to liability insurance should be
eliminated from the complaint. To that end the court below will allow
the plaintifi reasonable time within which to redraft her pleading.

The cause is remanded to the end that an order may be entered dis-
missing the action as to the defendant insuranee company and granting
plaintiff time in which to replead. The cause must be retained on the
civil issue docket for trial as against the defendant Maynard. It is so
ordered.

Error and remanded.

EDWARD M. TERRY v. CAPITAL ICE & COAL CO.
(Filed 9 November, 1949.)

1. Appeal and Error § 40a—

A sole assignment of error to the signing of the judgment presents only
the question whether error appears on the face of the record.
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2, Appeal and Error § 40f—

The denial of a motion to strike certain allegations from the pleadings
will ordinarily be affirmed on appeal when the matter can best be deter-
mined by rulings on the evidence.

ArpeaL by defendant from Girady, Emergency Judge, September Term,
1949, of Waxs.

Civil action to recover damages arising out of a collision between plain-
tiff’s automobile and defendant’s truck at the intersection of Branch and
Bloodworth Streets in the City of Raleigh.

It is alleged that at the time of the collision on 14 December, 1948, the
defendant’s truck was being operated by an incompetent, reckless and
unreliable colored boy, without driver’s license, under the express direction
and control of defendant’s agent and driver, with the knowledge and
consent of the defendant, actual or constructive.

In apt time, the defendant moved to strike from the complaint all the
allegations pertaining to the actual operator of the truck as referring
to its non-agent and being inapplicable, improper and prejudicial.

The motion was overruled, the court being of opinion that the more
appropriate procedure would be to determine the matter at the hearing
on rulings pertaining to the competency and sufficiency of the evidence.
From this order, the defendant appeals, assigning as error “the signing
of the foregoing judgment.”

Mordecar & Mills for plainiiff, appellee.
A. J. Fletcher and F. T. Dupree, Jr., for defendant, appellant.

Stacy, C. J. The single imputed error “in signing the judgment,”
presents only the question whether error appears on the face of the
record.

While extraneous matters in a pleading may invite or attract a motion
to strike, this does not put the pleader in a strait-jacket in respect of
pertinent allegations. Hill ». Stansbury, 221 N.C. 339, 20 S.E. 2d 308.
Nor is it the province of an appeal in such cases to have this Court chart
the course of the trial in advance of the hearing. There seems little or
nothing extraneous in the present complaint when viewed in the light of
the apposite decisions on the subject. Reaves v. Power Co., 206 N.C. 523,
174 S.E. 413; Dover v. Mfg. Co., 157 N.C. 324, 72 S.E. 1067; Cotton
». Transp. Co., 197 N.C. 709, 150 S.E. 505; Russell v. Cutshall, 223
N.C. 353, 26 S.E. 24 866.

In addition, the reasons assigned by the trial court, bring the case
clearly within the prineciple of Parker v. Duke Uneversity, 230 N.C., 656,
55 S.E. 2d 189. The case is controlled by the decision in that case.

Affirmed.
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C. E. FORD v. FORD MOULDING COMPANY, A CorproraTION oF NORTH
CAROLINA, anp FORD METAL MOULDING CORPORATION, A CorpPO-
RATION oF NEW JERSEY.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
Ejectment §8 1, 7—

Evidence that the relationship of landlord and tenant existed between
the parties and that defendants were holding over after the expiration of
the term is sufficient to take the case to the jury and support judgment
for plaintiff in summary ejectment, and defendants’ claim in respect to
improvements is outside the scope of the proceeding and mnot justiciable
therein. G.8. 42, Art. 3.

ArppEar by defendants from Burgwyn, Special Judge, at April-May
Civil Term, 1949, of FrRangLIN.

Civil action in summary ejectment instituted 9 April, 1949, for the
possession of certain land and building thereon in Franklin County,
North Carolina, heard in Superior Court on appeal thereto from judg-
ment entered in the court of a justice of the peace of said county.

Upon the trial in Superior Court the plaintiff offered in evidence a
written lease dated 20 January, 1948, by the terms of which plaintiff
and his wife, as lessors, leased to defendant, Ford Metal Moulding
Corporation, organized and existing under the laws of the State of New
Jersey, as lessee, a certain pareel of land, together with the buildings and
other improvements thereon situate, in the town of Louisburg, Franklin
County, North Carolina, for one year beginning 15 March, 1948, and
continuing until 15 March, 1949, at a fixed rental. The lessee was given
option to purchase the property at any time during the term of the lease.
And the evidence for plaintiff shown in the record tends to show that
the lessee did not exercise its option to purchase, and that the term of the
lease expired 15 March, 1949, and that then plaintiff demanded posses-
sion of the property.

Defendants, in evidence offered on the trial, do not elaim that the option
was exercised, and admit the existence and terms of the written lease and
possession of the premises, and that Ford Moulding Company is sub-
lessee. But they offer evidence tending to show mnegotiations for con-
tinuance of the lease, without avail, and that the lessee had expended
large sums of money in preparing the building for the purposes for
which it was leased, the removal of which plaintiff forbids.

The jury returned verdiet that plaintiff is the owner and entitled to
the possession of the premises deseribed in the affidavit on which summons
issued. Thereupon the court entered judgment declaring that defendants
are in the wrongful possession thereof, and ordering that they be removed
therefrom and plaintiff be put in possession thereof.
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Defendants appeal to Supreme Court and assign error.

Malone & Malone and Yarborough & Yarborough for plaintiff, ap-
pellee.

Bdward F. Griffin for defendants, appellants.

WinsorNE, J. Defendants challenge the jurisdietion of a court of a
justice of the peace in this proceeding, and assign as error the denial of
their motions for judgment as of nonsuit.

The jurisdiction of a justice of the peace in civil action for recovery
of possession of real estate is entirely statutory, and is derived from the
landlord and tenant act providing for summary ejectment. Article 3
of Chapter 42 of the General Statutes of North Carolina. Such juris-
diction may be exercised only in cases where the relationship of landlord
and tenant existed within the terms and meaning of this act, and where
the tenant holds over after the expiration of the term. See Simons .
Lebrun, 219 N.C. 42, 12 S.E. 2d 644, and cases there cited.

Testing the evidence in the present case by this principle it is clear
that the relationship of landlord and tenant existed between plaintiff as
lessor and defendant, Ford Metal Moulding Company, as lessee, and that
the Jessee holds over after the expiration of the term fixed by the written
lease. Hence the court of a justice of the peace would have jurisdiction
as to who is entitled to the possession. This is the question presented here.

But on the record on this appeal, the rights of the parties in respect of
improvements, if any, put upon the property by lessee, whatever may be
their nature and character, are not presented,—and as to such rights we
make no decision.

However, on this record it would seem, after due consideration of the
questions presented, that there is sufficient evidence to take the case to
the jury and to justify and support the verdict rendered. Hence in the
judgment below, we find

No error.

STATE v. W. H. BRYANT.
(Filed 9 November, 1949.)

1. Criminal Law § 29b—

In a prosecution for possession of lottery tickets, testimony that on
another occasion a short time previously like tickets had been found in
defendant’s home, i¢ held competent as tending to show intent, guilty
knowledge, system, purposeful possession of the tickets charged, and as
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supporting the State’s view that defendant was engaged in operating a
lottery.

2, Criminal Law § 58b—

A charge that reasonable doubt is one growing “out of the evidence”
will not be held for prejudicial error when immediately thereafter the
court instructs the jury that, if after considering all the evidence, the jury
did not have an abiding conviction of defendant’s guilt to a moral cer-
tainty, then the jury would have a reasonable doubt.

Arrrar by defendant from Williams, J., March Term, 1949, of Waxs.
No error.

The defendant was charged with operating a lottery and with having
in his possession a quantity of numbers tickets, in violation of G.S. 14-290
and G.S. 14-291.1. The jury returned verdict of guilty as charged, and
from judgment imposing sentence the defendant appealed.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Rhodes
for the State.

W. H. Yarborough for defendant, appellant.

Dxvin, J. There was evidence on the part of the State that 29 Janu-
ary, 1949, a police officer went with one Ivy Riddick to the latter’s home,
and found the defendant in a room therein and close by in a heater a
quantity of tickets, or pieces of paper marked with numbers, which the
officer testified were “butter and egg” lottery tickets. Apparently the
defendant had unsucecessfully attempted to burn the tickets. Riddick
testified he had at the direction of defendant delivered the tickets to him
there. The officer also testified, over objection, that he had shortly before
visited the defendant in his home and found therein lottery tickets of
the same kind and type. Defendant’s objection to this testimony ecannot
be sustained sinee it throws light on defendant’s intent, guilty knowledge,
system, and tends to show defendant’s purposeful possession of the lottery
tickets where found, as well as supporting the State’s view that defendant
was engaged in operating a lottery. S. v. Fowler, 230 N.C. 470, 53 S.E.
2d 853; S. v. Edwards, 224 N.C. 527, 31 S.E. 2d 516,

The defendant assigns as error that the court in charging the jury
defined reasonable doubt as one “growing out of the evidence in the case
and supported by common sense and reason,” citing S. ». Tyndall, 230
N.C. 174, 52 S.E. 2d 272, and S. ». Brazton, 230 N.C. 312, 52 . E. 2d
895, where it was pointed out that a reasonable doubt may arise out of a
lack of evidence or from its deficiency. However, we observe that imme-
diately following the use of the language complained of, the court
instructed the jury, “If, after considering, comparing and weighing all
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the evidence in the case you cannot say you have an abiding conviction to
a moral certainty of defendant’s guilt, then you have a reascnable doubt
about it, otherwise not.” Considering the entire charge of the court as
to the burden of proof and in defining reasonable doubt, we conclude that
the defendant’s exception on this ground cannot be sustained.. S. .
Wood, 230 N.C. 740, 55 S.E. 2d 491. It may be noted that this case
was tried below before the decisions in the T'yndall and Brawzton cases
were issued.

In the trial we find

No error.

HARRY E. HOLLINGSWORTH v. RICHARD GRIER.

(Filed 9 November, 1949.)
1. Negligence § 16—

In negligent injury actions, demurrer on the ground of contributery
negligence should not be sustained unless such negligence appear patently
and unquestionably upon the face of the complaint.

2. Automobiles §§ 8d, 18a—

The complaint alleged that plaintiff was driving his car on his right
gide of the highway on a cloudy, foggy and rainy night, when he suddenly
came upon defendant’s car which was parked without lights in his lane
of traffic, and that immediately upon seeing the parked vehicle, plaintiff
swerved hig car to the left, but did not have time to avoid the collision.
Held: Defendant’s demurrer should have been sustained on the ground
that contributory negligence appeared patently and unquestionably upon
the face of the complaint.

Arprar by defendant from Bennett, Special Judge, August Term, 1949,
of CABARRUS.

Civil action to recover damages arising from a rear-end collision with
defendant’s automobile alleged parked on the highway.

The gist of the complaint follows:

3. That on the 21st day of January, 1949, about 7 p.m. the plaintiff
was operating his automobile in a northern direction on Highway 29,
about 200 yards north of Lowe’s Trading Center in Kannapolis at a rate
of speed of 30 to 35 miles per hour in his right-hand lane of said highway
on a slight downgrade, the weather being cloudy and foggy with a light
drizzle of rain falling, when he suddenly came upon the automobile of
the defendant parked directly in his lane of trafic without any lights.

4, That immediately upon seeing the automobile of the defendant
parked directly in the middle of the right-hand lane of said highway, the



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 109

HOLLINGSWORTH v. GRIER.

plaintiff swerved his car to the left as far as he possibly could within the
limit of time and space but was unable to avoid collision with the auto-
mobile of the defendant which said collision caused the damages herein-
after alleged.

The defendant interposed a demurrer to the complaint on the ground
that it does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, in
that upon the face of the complaint, the plaintiff’s contributory negli-
gence is manifest and apparent. The defendant also moved for judgment
on the pleadings.

From judgment overruling the demurrer and denying the motion for
judgment on the pleadings, the defendant appeals, assigning error.

J. Laurence Jones, C. M. Llewellyn and Sam H. Wilds for plaintiff,
appellee.
Hartsell & Hartsell for defendant, appellant.

Sracy, C. J. The question for decision is the sufficiency of the com-
plaint to survive the demurrer. The trial court thought it good as against
the challenge. We are inclined to a different view.

True it is, a complaint may not be overthrown by demurrer on the
ground of the plaintiff’s contributory negligence unless such negligence
appear patently and unquestionably upon the face of the complaint.
Ramsey v. Nash Furn. Co., 209 N.C. 165, 183 S.E. 536. - But here, we
think such negligence does so appear on the face of the complaint. The
plaintiff says he saw the defendant’s automobile too late to avoid a
collision. This was negligence on his part which contributed to the
injury, as he was evidently “outrunning his headlights” or iﬂa’gtentive
to his own safety. Note the allegation is not that the plaintiff was unable
to see the defendant’s car in time to avoid a collision, but that he did
not see it in time. He omits to state whether he was keeping a proper
lookout or the ecollision was without fault on his part. The subject is
fully discussed in the following, recent cases: Tyson v. Ford, 228 N.C.
778, 47 S.E. 2d 251; Riggs v. 0t Co., 228 N.C. 774, 47 S/E. 2d 254;
Bus Co. v. Coble Dairy Products Co., 229 N.C. 352, 49 S.E. 2d 623;
Cox v. Lee, 230 N.C. 155, 52 S.E. 2d 355.

No doubt the plaintiff may desire to reform his pleading.

Reversed.
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NORTH STATE FINANCE COMPANY v. W. C. LUCK.
(Filed 9 November, 1949.)

Pleadings § 29: Courts § 4c—

‘Where the clerk renders judgment on the pleadings upon the filing of
answer admitting the allegations of the complaint entitling plaintiff to the
recovery, and such judgment is affirmed on appeal to the Superior Court,
the matter will not be disturbed on further appeal to the Supreme Court,
since the Superior Court had jurisdiction to enter the judgment.

DerExpaANTs appeal from Sharp, Special Judge, September Term,
1949, (by consent), Ranovorru Superior Court.

J. G. Prevette for defendont, appellant.
Ottway Burton for plaintiff, appellee.

Psr Curtam. This action was instituted in Randolph County Supe-
rior Court November 30, 1948, to recover judgment on a note for bor-
rowed money in the amount of $1,078.66, with interest, secured by a
chattel mortgage on an automobile. Service of summons and eomplaint
was made on defendant on that same day.

The complaint sets up sufficient allegations for recovery upon the
- deelared amount but adds an allegation in the 6th paragraph, “. . . the
defendant has fraudulently disposed of the mortgaged property through
one of his agents. That the plaintiff has exercised diligence in trying
to obtain possession of this automobile, and that it has been unable to
do s0.”

On 29 December, 1948, defendant Luck obtained an order for addi-
tional time to file answer to and including the 18th day of January, 1949.

On motion of plaintiff on January 10, 1949, the Clerk of the Superior
Court of that eounty signed a default judgment for plaintiff; the appli-
cation for extension to file answer had been mislaid by personnel in the
Clerk’s office. The attorney for the defendant some time later brought
it to the attention of the Clerk of the Superior Court that he had obtained
an extension of time to file answer and the judgment of January 10, 1949,
was withdrawn. The defendant, through his attorney, filed a verified
answer on 18 January, 1949 (within the extension of time granted him},
admitting all the material allegations of the plaintiff’s complaint except
the allegation in aforesaid paragraph 6, charging him with fraudulently
digposing of the mortgaged property, which he denied.

Upon motion of plaintiff, after notice to the defendant’s attorney of
record, the Clerk signed a judgment on the pleadings, in favor of the
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plaintiff, dated May 17, 1949, for recovery of the amount above stated.
The action had not been transferred to the civil issue docket.

Motion by defendant to set the judgment aside was declined by the
Clerk of the Superior Court and on appeal to the Superior Court the
judgment was affirmed. Defendant appeals to this Court from the judge’s
order.

Upon the facts stated the Court is of the opinion that the judgment on
the pleadings was within the jurisdiction of the judge and a proper exer-
cise of her authority. The judgment of the Superior Court is, therefore,

Affirmed.

MRS. ZENNIE LIDE axp HusBaNp, E. M. LIDE; LUCILE MARR aA~xp Hus-
BAND, R. W. MARR; WALTER MARLETTE; LAWRENCE K. MEARS:
THELMA MEARS HENDERSON anxp Huseanp, K. A. HENDERSON;
MARK MEARS aAxD Wire, MARGIE MEARS; GERALDINE MEARS
FIELDS aAxp Huseanp, JAMES LEON FIELDS; MAMIE RUTHER
MEARS HALLEY AnD HusBaxNp, LEONARD B. HALLEY ; LINTON NOR-
MAN MEARS AND Wirg, MARY MEARS, aAxp LAWRENCE K. MEARS,
TrUSTEE, V. BERNARD LAWRENCE MEARS, LYNN LAREE MEARS
AND MARY VICTORIA MEARS, CHILDREN oF ALTON HORACE MEARS,
DECEASED, AND ALL UNKNOWN PERSONS, BY THEIR GUARDIAN Ap LITEM,
W. R. FRANCIS, axp FLORENCE SADLER.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Declaratory Judgment Act § 2¢c—

The Declaratory Judgment Act does not authorize courts to give advisory
opinions or academic legal guidance, but actions for declaratory judgments
will lie for an adjudication of rights, status or other legal relations only
when there is an actual or existing controversy between the parties. G.S.
1-253.

2. Same: Declaratory Judgment Act § 4—

A litigant seeking a declaratory judgment must set forth in his pleading
all facts necessary to disclose the existence of an actual controversy be-
tween the parties, but the adverse party cannot confer jurisdiction on the
court by failing to demur to an insufficient pleading.

8. Same—

The court acquires jurisdiction to render a declaratory judgment as to
those matters concerning which it can be inferred from a liberal interpre-
tation of the pleading that there is an actual or existing controversy be-
tween the parties.

4. Trusts § 28—

Where a will gives specific directions that a trust therein created shall
terminate twenty years from the date of testator’s death, upon expiration



112 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [231

Lipe v. MEARS.

of this twenty year period the corpus of the estate passes to the beneficia-
ries entitled thereto and the offices and duties of the trustees end.

5. Wills § 81—

8.

7.

8.

9.

A will must be construed as it is written.

Same—

Where a will, in one item, provides for the distribution of income from
property to be held in trust, and by subsequent item directs that upon the
termination of the trust the property should be equally divided among the
“heirs” of testator’s children, held, a codicil, amending the first item by
making disposition of a parcel of the property in fee, controls, and pre-
cludes the division of such parcel among the heirs of testator’s children
upon the termination of the trust.

Wills § 83b—

A devise of one-half interest in realty for life of the beneficiary and at
his death “ih fee to his bodily heirs” gives the beneficiary the fee simple
title to an undivided one-half interest under the rule in Shelley’s casc.

Wills § 33c—

A devise of realty in fee with the proviso that if the beneficiary should
die without bodily heirs the property should go to another, confers a
defeasible fee which is converted into a fee simple absolute upon the death
of the beneficiary leaving issue.

Same—

Testator devised the land in question to his two granddaughters in fee,
defeasible as to each upon her dying without issue living at the time of
her death, in which case her share was to go to the survivor. Held: The
defeasance was contingent upon the happening of two events (1) the death
of one beneficiary without issue and (2) the survivorship of the other, and
upon the death of one of the grandchildren leaving a child her surviving,
the other grandchild takes a fee simple absolute and indefeasible as to
the other share, since the second contingency was rendered impossible of
happening.

10. Wills § 34b—

11

Where a will directs that at the termination of the trust therein set up,
the property should be “equally divided between the heirs of my children
. . . per stirpes,” the beneficiaries take by right of representation through
their respective parents and not as individuals.

Wills § 33g—

Testator set up a trust with provision that a specified beneficiary should
be entitled to the use of certain property so long as she paid taxes and
kept same in repair, but with discretionary power in the trustees to sell
the specified property at any.time for reinvestment. By another item it
was directed the trust should terminate at the end of twenty years from
the date of testator’s death and the corpus be divided as specified. Held:
The beneficiary did not take a life estate but only a conditional right of
occupancy pending sale or termination of the trust, and upon the termina-
tion of the trust all her interest in the property ceased.
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12. Wills § 38c—

The will in suit set up a trust with provision that at the expiration of
twenty years the trust should terminate and the corpus be distributed to
the heirs of testator’s children. Held: Upon the death of testator the re-
mainder vested in the children of the son and daughter of testator with
the right of enjoyment postponed until the expiration of the twenty years,
and their rights are not dependent upon whether or not they survive the
twenty year period.

18, Declaratory Judgment Act § 2c—
Where it is not alleged that a prospective purchaser has been obtained
for the property in question, the courts will not give an advisory opinion

as to the marketability of the title.

14. Infants § 2: Declaratory Judgment Act § 1—

The court may not order that the interests of infant defendants in cer-
tain realty be sold in the absence of allegation or evidence that such sale
would benefit them. Whether the inherent power of a court of equity to
authorize such sales in proper instances may be exercised in proceedings
under the Declaratory Judgment Act, guere? '

Apprar by defendants from Moore, .J., in Chambers, 15 August, 1949,
in action pending in the Superior Court of Haywoob.

Marcus Jackson Mears died testate in Haywood County, North Caro-
lina, 8 December, 1919, survived by his son, Lawrence XK. Mears, and his
daughter, Zennie Lide, who are parties to this action.

The two children of Zennie Lide, to wit, Lucile Wells and Cornelia
Wells, and the six children of Lawrence K. Mears, to wit, Thelma Mears
Henderson, Mark Mears, Geraldine Mears Fields, Mamie Ruth Mears
Halley, Linton Norman Mears, and Alton Horace Mears, were living at
the death of their grandfather, Marcus Jackson Mears. Lucile Wells and
Cornelia Wells afterwards married. The former and her husband, R. W.
Marr, are still living, but the latter died at an undisclosed date, survived
by an only son, Walter Marlette. Alton Horace Mears also passed from
life sometime after 8 December, 1939, leaving a widow, Florence Sadler,
who has since remarried, and three children, Bernard Lawrence Mears,
Lynn Laree Mears, and Mary Victoria Mears.

The will of Marcus Jackson Mears consists of these two testamentary
documents: (1) An original will dated 25 May, 1917, and hereinafter
called the will; and (2) a codieil dated 25 September, 1919, and herein-
after designated as the codicil. These documents were before this Court
in Lide v. Wells, 190 N.C. 387, 128 S.E. 477, a case which did not involve
the questions arising on the present appeal.

By the first and second items of the will, the testator put his real prop-
erty in trust for a term of years from the date of his death for the benefit
of his son, Lawrence K. Mears, and his daughter, Zennie Lide. The



114 IN THE SUPREME COURT. {231

LipE v. MEARS.

original will committed the control of the trust estate to a single trustee,
to wit, R. M. Wells, who was also made executor ; but the codicil appointed
Lawrence K. Mears a co-trustee to act with the “other trustee named in
the will in the management of the property.” Various items of the will
and codicil conferred upon the trustees power to sell particular pieces of
the testator’s land at specified times during the existence of the trust.
The eighth item of the will required the trustees to invest any moneys
arising from such sales in Federal and State bonds, and provided that the
interest aceruing on such bonds would “be disposed of and distributed in
the manner set out” in the third item of the will, which is hereinafter
quoted. The testator made express stipulations as to the duration and
termination of the testamentary trust in the eleventh item of the will and
the third item of the codicil. The eleventh item of the will is as follows:
“That this trust shall remain in full force and effect for sixty years from
the date of my death, at which time my said estate shall be equally divided
between the heirs of my children, and they shall receive all of my prop-
erty, both real, personal and mixed, per stirpes.” The third item of the
codicil amends the eleventh item of the will by substituting the words
“twenty years” for the words “sixty years.”

Both R. M. Wells and Lawrence K. Mears accepted the trust and ad-
ministered it “in accordance with the provisions of said will and codieil.”
Wells died 17 October, 1941.

The testator was the owner in fee simple of two specific bodies of land
in Canton, North Carolina, which were not sold by the trustees. One
plece of this realty, which is hereafter called the store property, consists
of approximately 5,525 square feet of land containing two brick store
buildings, and the other, which is hereafter designated as the hotel
property, embraces a hotel building and adjacent vacant land ordinarily
used in connection therewith.

The testamentary provisions dealing in express terms with the store
property are the third item of the will and the first item of the codieil.
By the third item of the will, the testator directed his trustee to take
charge of the two brick store buildings in Canton, to lease them, and to
pay the net rent accruing on them “to my said son and daughter in the
following manner, to wit: One-half to Lawrence K. Mears so long as he
uses said funds for the use of his children, their maintenance and educa-
tion; but in event my son shall fail to apply said funds to the proper
support of his said children, then my said Trustee, in his diseretion, from
time to time, is ordered and directed to pay any funds which may come
into his hands, as aforesaid, from my estate, to his said children for their
support and maintenance or their heirs in case of the death of his said
children, and such an amount as in his discretion seems right, to the said
Lawrence K. Mears himself from time to time. My said Trustee, after
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paying said necessary expenses of said buildings as hereinbefore set out,
shall pay the remaining one-half of said net income from said buildings,
as follows: To my daughter, Mrs Zennie Lide, one-third and the remain-
ing two-thirds to my granddaughters, Lucile Wells and Cornelia Wells,
and in the event of the death of my daughter, Mrs. Zennie Lide, then each
of my said two above named grandchildren are to receive one-third given
to my daughter. And in the event of the death of my said grandchildren,
Lucile antl Cornelia Wells; and the death of my said daughter, then the
surviving one is to receive the remaining portion.”

The first item of the codicil is as follows: “That the store buildings
mentioned in paragraph three of my said Will may be sold on or before
ten years after my death by my trustee and Executor; and the one-half
interest in said paragraph three given to Lawrence K. Mears, be and
the same is hereby changed in this respeet, that is, the said Lawrance K.
Mears shall have the said one-half interest for and during his natural
life, and at his death in fee to his bodily heirs, thereby revoking that
portion of said paragraph three which makes it obligatory upon my son,
Lawrence K. Mears, to use the income from said property for the main-
tenance and education of his children. In the portion of said paragraph
three which devises and bequeaths to my daughter, Mrs. Zennie Lide,
one-third to her and remaining two-thirds to my two grand-daughters,
Lucile Wells and Cornelia Wells, be changed in this respeet, that is to
say, that I will and bequeath to my said daughter, Mrs. Zennie Lide, for
life the property therein deseribed and in remainder to my two grand-
daughters, Lucile Wells and Cornelia Wells, in fee; but in the event of
the death of my said grand-children, Lucile Wells and Cornelia Wells, or
the death of either of them, without bodily heirs, then in that event the
one surviving is to receive the other’s portion of said property.”

The sixth and seventh items of the will and the fourth item of the
codicil make specific reference to the hotel property. The sixth item
of the will is as follows: “My said Trustee is hereby authorized and
empowered and directed to dispose of my hotel property situate in the
Town of Canton, North Carolina, by deed to any purchaser or pur-
chagers . . . at such time as in the discretion of my said Trustee may
seem right and proper, and receive the proceeds from said sale and invest
the same, after paying all expenses, in the manner hereinafter set out in
eighth item of this Will.” The seventh item of the original will contains
these provisions: “I hereby authorize and direct my said Trustee to lease
to my said daughter, Mrs. Zennie Lide, the hotel in which I now live,
together with the grounds or lands adjacent thereto, so long as the same
remains unsold by my Trustee, for which no charges shall be made to my
said danghter, except that she shall from time to time keep the said build-
ing and grounds on which said hotel is situate in good repair, pay the
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taxes and assessments on the same, and pay the fire insurance premiums
and all other necessary expenses to keep said building and lot in as good
repair as 1t is at present, and my said daughter shall pay all repairs, ete.,
above mentioned until my said Trustee may in his discretion see fit and
proper to sell the same as hereinbefore set out, at which time said lease
and occupancy shall immediately terminate. And in event my said
daughter shall fail to make said repairs, ete., above set out, then my said
Trustee is ordered and directed, in his discretion to terminate said lease,
and rent said hotel and grounds at the best remtal, and the proceeds
derived therefrom to be divided as hereinafter set out in item 8 of this
Will.”

The fourth item of the codieil is in these words: “That the hotel men-
tioned in paragraph seven of my said Will may be occupied by my daugh-
ter, Mrs. Zennie Lide, upon the payment of the taxes and insurance by
her; but in the event she does not wish to occupy the same, then my
Executor and Trustees are authorized to lease the said building to respon-
sible persons, who have no children, or to persons who will not destroy,
deface or impair the value of the property. But in no event shall those
occupying said hotel deface or impair the buildings or the grounds; and
my Executor may sell the same within two years after my death, and the
proceeds arising from the sale thereof, and from the sale of all of my
property referred to in this codicil, shall be invested in the manner set
out in this my said Will.”

The plaintiffs brought this action against the widow and children of the
late Alton Horace Mears for the avowed purpose of obtaining a declara-
tory judgement construing certain provisions of the will and codicil and
adjudicating the respective rights of the parties thereunder in the store
property and the hotel property. The complaint details the matters and
things set forth above. In addition thereto, the plaintiffs allege that they
have received an offer for the purchase of the store property; that they
are willing to accept such offer, “but some question has been raised as to
whether or not a good merchantable title to said property can be conveyed
to the proposed purchaser; that by reason thereof they “desire the direc-
tion of the Court as to the saleability of said premises and the distribution
of the proceeds to be derived from the sale”; that they also desire to sell a
specifically described portion of the hotel property, which is vacant and
“not necessary to the hotel”; that they desire to be advised by the judg-
ment of the Court as to who are the proper parties to execute title to the
store property and the specifically described portion of the hotel property
“if they can be sold ; whether Lawrence K. Mears, Mrs. Zennie Lide, Mrs.
Lucile Marr, and Walter Marlette, or should a Commissioner be ap-
pointed to convey said property.”
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The complaint does not disclose the amount or terms of the offer for the
store property, or the name of the person making such offer, or the iden-
tity of the person who questions the marketability of the title of the
parties to the property. It does not state any proposed conditions for
the desired sale of the specifically described portion of the hotel property.
Furthermore, neither the complaint nor the answer suggest in any way
that any benefit would acerue to the children of the late Alton Horace
Mears from the sale of any interests which they may have in the property
mentioned in the pleadings.

All of the parties to the action are adults, except the three children of
the late Alton Horace Mears. These minors have no general or testa-
mentary guardian, and they defend in this cause through W. R. Franeis,
their guardian ad litem. No issues of fact were raised by the pleadings,
and the action was heard before his Honor, Dan K. Moore, the resident
judge of the judicial distriet comprehending Haywood County, in cham-
bers at Sylva, North Carolina. Judge Moore entered judgment, and the
defendants excepted thereto and appealed, assigning errors. To avoid
tedious repetition, the pertinent provisions of the judgment and the
assignments of error are set forth in the opinion which follows this state-
ment of facts.

Smathers & Meekins for plaintiffs, appellees.
W. R. Francis for defendants, appellants.

Ervin, J. The Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, as approved by
the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in
1922 and as adopted in North Carolina in 1931, provides that “courts of
record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare
rights, status, and other legal relations, whether or not further relief is or
could be claimed.” G.S. 1-253.

There is much misunderstanding as to the object and scope of this
legislation., Despite some notions to the contrary, it does not undertake to
convert judieial tribunals into counsellors and impose upon them the
duty of giving advisory opinions to any parties who may come into court
and ask for either academic enlightenment or practical guidance concern-
‘ing their legal affairs. Tryon v. Power Clo., 222 N.C. 200, 22 S.E. 2d 450;
Allison v. Sharp, 209 N.C. 477, 184 S.E. 27; Poore v. Poore, 201 N.C.
791,161 S.E. 532; Anderson on Declaratory Judgments, section 13. This
observation may be stated in the vernacular in this wise: The Uniform
Declaratory Judgment Act does not license litigants to fish in judicial
ponds for legal advice.

The Act recognizes the need of society “for officially stabilizing legal
relations by adjudicating disputes before they have ripened into violence
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and destruction of the status quo.” Borchard on Declaratory Judgments
(2nd Ed.), 4. It satisfies this social want by conferring on courts of
record authority to enter judgments declaring and establishing the re-
spective rights and obligations of adversary parties in cases of actual
controversies without either of the litigants being first compelled to
assume the hazard of acting upon his own view of the matter by violating
what may afterwards be held to be the other party’s rights or by repudiat-
ing what may be subsequently adjudged to be his own obligations. Tryon
v. Power Co., supra; Green v. Casualty Co., 203 N.C. 767, 167 S.E. 38;
16 Am. Jur., Declaratory Judgments, section 7; 1 C.J.S., Actions, section
18; Anderson on Declaratory Judgments, section 71.

While the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act thus enables courts to
take cognizance of disputes at an earlier stage than that ordinarily per-
mitted by the legal procedure which existed before its enactment, it pre-
serves inviolate the ancient and sound juridic concept that the inherent
function of judieial tribunals is to adjudicate genuine controversies be-
tween antagonistic litigants with respect to their rights, status, or other
legal relations. This being so, an action for a declaratory judgment will
lie only in a case in which there is an actual or real existing controversy
between parties having adverse interests in the matter in dispute. Hther-
1dge v. Leary, 227 N.C. 636, 43 S.E. 2d 847; T'ryon v. Power Co., supro;
Wright v. McGee, 206 N.C. 52, 173 8.E. 31; Light Co. v. Iseley, 203 N.C.
811, 167 S.E. 56; In re Eubanks, 202 N.C. 357, 162 S.E. 769; 16 Am.
Jur., Declaratory Judgments, section 9; 1 C.J.S., Actions, section 18;
Anderson on Declaratory Judgments, section 22; Borchard on Declara-
tory Judgments (2d Ed.), 40-48." It necessarily follows that when a liti-
gant seeks relief under the declaratory judgment statute, he must set
forth in his pleading all facts necessary to disclose the existence of an
actual controversy between the parties to the action with regard to their
respective rights and duties in the premises. Tryon v. Power Co., supra;
Light Co. v. Iseley, supra; 16 Am. Jur., Declaratory Judgments, section
64; 1 C.J.S., Actions, section 18; Anderson on Declaratory Judgments,
gséction 80, If he fails to do this, the other party cannot confer jurisdic-
tion on the court to enter a declaratory judgment by failing to demur to
the insufficient pleading. Wright v. McGee, supra.

Candor compels the observation that the pleadings in the case at bar
do not show the existence of a controversy between the parties as to the
meaning of the will or as to their rights thereunder with the explicitness
of allegation desirable in declaratory judgment actions. But when these
pleadings are interpreted with extreme liberality, they do reveal by im-
plication rather than by express averment that the plaintiffs and the
defendants are in dispute as to whether the duties of Lawrence K. Mears
as surviving trustee of the testamentary trust have ceased and as to the
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respective interests given to them by the will and eodicil in the store
property and the hotel property of the testator in Canton. In conse-
quence, the court below was empowered to render a declaratory judgment
covering these matters.

By virtue of the specific direction of its creator as set forth in the
eleventh item of the will and the third item of the codicil, the testa-
mentary trust continued for twenty years after the death of the testator,
and terminated upon the expiration of that period. At that time the
corpus of the trust passed to the beneficiaries entitled to it under the will,
and the offices and duties of the trustees ended. 54 Am. Jur., Trusts,
section 78; 65 C.J., Trusts, section 15. It appears, therefore, that the
trial court properly adjudged that “all duties of Lawrence K. Mears as
trustee ceased upon the termination of the trust estate on December 8,
1939.”

The judgment declared that Lawrence K. Mears, Zennie Lide, Lucile
Wells Marr, and Walter Marlette own the store property in the manner
hereinafter set out, and that the remainder of the plaintiffs and the
defendants have no interest therein. The defendants excepted to this
adjudication.

It is elementary that a will must be construed as it is written. Horna-
day v. Hornaday, 229 N.C. 164, 47 S.E. 2d 857. The controlling testa-
mentary provigions on this aspect of the case are the third item of the will
and the first item of the codicil. When the words of the testator are
aceorded their plain meaning, it is evident that the codicil effects drastie
changes in the provisions of the will relating to the store property. The
third item of the will is concerned with the income arising from this
property whereas the first item of the codicil deals with the property
itself. This eodicillary provision makes specific disposition of the store
property in fee and in that way precludes its division among “the heirs”
of the testator’s children under the eleventh item of the original will.

The trial court adjudged that Lawrence K. Mears took a fee simple
title to an undivided one-half interest in the store property under the
portion of the first item of the codicil providing that “the said Lawrence
K. Mears shall have the said one-half interest for and during his natural
life, and at his death in fee to his bodily heirs.” This ruling is sound for
the rule in Shelley’s case applies to this devise. Willtams v». E. R., 200
N.C. 771, 158 S.E. 473; Helms v. Collins, 200 N.C. 89, 156 S.E. 152;
Bradley v. Church, 195 N.C. 662, 143 S.E. 211; Hartman v. Flynn, 189
N.C. 452, 127 S.E. 517; Bank v. Dortch, 186 N.C. 510, 120 S.E. 60;
Jarman v. Day, 179 N.C. 318, 102 S.E. 402.

The trial court further declared that Zennie Lide holds a life estate in
the other undivided half interest in the store property, and that the
remainder in such other undivided half interest therein is vested in Lucile
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Wells Marr and Walter Marlette in equal shares and in fee simple abso-
lute. This conclusion is valid.

The first item of the codicil conferred upon Lueile Wells Marr and
Cornelia Wells Marlette, respectively, a remainder in fee in one undivided
half of the store property, defeasible as to each upon her dying without
issue living at the time of her death, and in case either died without issue
living at the time of her death, her share was to be owned in fee by the
survivor. G.S. 41-4; Henderson v. Power Co., 200 N.C. 443, 157 S.E.
425, 80 A.L.R. 497; James v. Griffin, 192 N.C. 285, 134 S.E. 849 ; Ziegler
v. Love, 185 N.C. 40, 115 S.E. 887." The estate of Cornelia Wells Mar-
lette in the remainder was converted from a defeasible fee into a fee
simple absolute on her death leaving a living son, and her son thereupon
acquired her share in the remainder entirely freed from the contingent
limitation over. Vinson v. Gardner, 185 N.C, 193, 116 S.E. 412. More-
over, the death of Cornelia Wells Marlette made the estate of Luecile
Wells Marr in the remainder absolute under the rule that “where an
estate has been devised in fee, subject to be defeated by the happening
of some future event or contingency, if the happening of such event or
contingency becomes impossible of occurrence, the defeasible fee becomes
a fee simple absolute.” 69 C.J., Wills, section 1559. The gift over of the
share in the remainder devised to Lucile Wells Marr was to take effect
upon the happening of two events: (1) The death of Lucile Wells Marr
without issue living at her death; and (2) the survivorship at her death
of her sister, Cornelia Wells Marlette. The prior death of the latter
made the happening of the second of these events impossible, thereby
destroying the gift over with the result that the fee of Lucile Wells Marr
in her share in the remainder became absolute and indefeasible. Gorham
v. Betts, 86 Ky. 164, 5 S.W. 465; Anderson v. Brown, 84 Md. 261, 35 A.
937; Armstrong v. Thomas, 112 Miss. 272, 72 So. 1006; Groves v. Cox,
40 N. J. Law 40; Gordon v. Gordon, 32 S.C. 563, 11 S.E. 334; Lowry v.
O’Brian, 25 8. C. Eq. 262, 57 Am. Dec. 727; Smith v. Smith, 112 Va.
617, 72 S.E. 119; 57 Am. Jur., Wills, section 1247.

This brings us to the adjudication of the court as to the respective
rights of the parties in the hotel property. The judgment declared “that
Mrs. Zennie Lide is entitled to the free occupancy of the hotel building
and the lot on which it is situated for the term of her natural life, either
personally or through tenants, or so long as she shall pay the taxes and
upkeep and repair of said building and keep the same insured against
loss by fire” and that the “heirs” of the testator’s children and their
representatives, who are properly identified by the court, own the remain-
der in the hotel property in certain specified proportions. The defend-
ants excepted to this ruling in so far as it adjudged that Mrs. Zennie Lide
has anv present interest in the hotel property.
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The testator placed his real estate, including the hotel property, in
trust for the twenty years next succeeding his death. By the eleventh item
of his will as modified by the third item of his codicil, he directed that
at the expiration of that period his trust estate should be equally divided
between ‘“‘the heirs” of his children, who should take per stirpes, .., by
right of representation through their respective parents and not as indi-
viduals. Haywood v. Rigsbee, 207 N.C. 684, 178 S.E. 102; Lee v. Baird,
132 N.C. 755, 44 S.E. 605; Ward v. Stow, 17 N.C. 509, 27 Am. D. 238;
69 C.J., Wills, section 1312. No other testamentary provision renders
the eleventh item of the will inapplicable to the hotel property. The
seventh item of the will and the fourth item of the codicil do not do so.
In truth, they merely conferred upon Zennie Lide a conditional right to
occupy this property pending its sale by the trustees or the termination
of the trust. Hence, the right of occupancy of Mrs. Lide under the will
and codicil did not survive 8 December, 1989, and the court erred in
adjudging that she has any present interest in the hotel property. This
error was evidently occasioned by a too literal reliance upon certain
language in the opinion in lide v. Wells, supra, where the Court was
merely considering the respective rights of the trustees and Mrs. Lide in
the hotel property during the existence of the trust.

G.8. 41-6 provides that “a limitation by deed, will, or other writing, to
the heirs of a living person, shall be construed to be to the children of such
person, unless a contrary intention appear by the deed or will.” By
virtue of this statute, the word “heirs,” as used in the eleventh item of
the will, must be construed to mean the “children” of the son and daugh-
ter of the testator. Moseley v». Knolt, 212 N.C. 651, 194 S.E. 100;
Massengill v. Abell, 192 N.C. 240, 134 S.E. 641; Lide v. Wells, supra.
All of the children of Lawrence K. Mears and Zennie Lide were living
when the testator died. Consequently, they took estates in the hotel prop-
erty which vested in right at that time with only the possession or enjoy-
ment postponed until the expiration of the twenty years. Bell v. Gillam,
200 N.C. 411, 157 S.E. 60; Lide v. Wells, supra: Cooley v. Lee, 170 N.C.
18, 86 S.E. 720; Jones v. Oliver, 38 N.C. 369. Alton Horace Mears died
subsequent to the termination of the trust, and his estate in the hotel
property thereupon descended to his children, subject to the right of his
widow to dower therein. The record does not disclose the date of the
death of Cornelia Wells Marlette. Since her interest vested in right at
the death of the testator, it passed by inheritance to her son, regardless
of whether she died before or after the expiration of the twenty year
period specified in the will. Knight v. Knight, 56 N.C. 168; Mason v.
White, 33 N.C. 421; Knight v. Wall, 19 N.C. 125. It appears, therefore,
that the following parties own the hotel property as tenants in common
in the following proportions: (1) Lucile Wells Marr and Walter Mar-
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lette, one-fourth each; (2) Thelma Mears Henderson, Mark Mears,
Geraldine Mears Fields, Mamie Ruth Mears Halley, and Linton Norman
Mears, one-twelfth each; and (3) Bernard Lawrence Mears, Lynn Laree
Mears, and Mary Victoria Mears, one-thirty-sixth each. The shares of
the last three are subject to the dower right of their mother, Florence
Sadler.

The court rightly refrained from making any specific declaration as o
the salableness of the title to the property in suit. This is true because
declaratory judgment acts do not empower courts to give advisory opin-
ions as to the marketability of land merely to enable owners to allay the
fears of prospective purchasers. Anderson on Declaratory Judgments,
section 8.

The court did not stop, however, with mere declarations as to the
meaning of the will and codicil, and as to the rights of the parties there-
under in the store property and the hotel property. It incorporated in
the judgment provisions ordering the sale of the store property and of the
specifically deseribed portion of the hotel property for named amounts,
and appointing a commissioner to make such sales and to execute convey-
ances to the purchasers, and providing for the division of the proceeds
arising from such sales among the parties to the action according to their
respective rights in the land to be sold as declared by the judgment.

These provisions are not declaratory in nature, and the plaintiffs, who
are sut juris, have not appealed. For these reasons, we are not concerned
on this appeal with the validity of these provisions of the judgment in so
far as they relate to the sale of the stove property and the interests of
the various plaintiffs in the hotel property. But an appropriate excep-
tion interposed by the defendants requires us to pass upon their effective-
ness in so far as they purport to authorize or direct a sale of the interests
of the infant defendants in the hotel property or any part thereof.

There is some diversity of opinion in the various jurisdictions as to
how far courts may properly go in awarding aflirmative relief in declara-
tory judgment actions. The present record presents no occasion for
expressing an opinion on this question. It is plain that the declaratory
judgment acts do not abrogate the ordinary rules of pleading and evi-
dence. Even the most liberal courts will not grant affirmative relief in a
declaratory judgment action in the absence of pleading and proof war-
ranting such relief. 16 Am. Jur., Declaratory Judgments, section 73.

Since there is no suggestion by pleading or evidence that the proposed
sale of the interests of the infant defendants in the hotel property will
benefit them, the order for the sale of such interests is without warrant
in the record and must be stricken from the judgment, even if it be con-
ceded that the court may exercise in a declaratory judgment action its
inherent power as a court of equity to authorize sales of the real estate



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 123

CAMERON ©. CAMERON.

of infants in proper instances. Marsh v. Dellinger, 127 N.C. 360, 37
S.E. 494; Rowland v. Thompson, 78 N.C. 504; Williams v. Harrington,
33 N.C. 616, 53 Am. Deec. 421.

The judgment in the trial court is modified to conform to this opinion.
As thus modified, it is affirmed.

Modified and affirmed.

MARY VAIL CAMERON v. BRUCE B. CAMERON.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Judgments § 19: Divorce and Alimony § 12—

An order relating to alimony pendente lite and the custody of the chil-
dren of the marriage, which is void because rendered out of term and out-
side the county, cannot be validated by a subsequent similar order signed
in the county but without notice.

2. Divorce and Alimony § 17: Appeal and Error § 14—

‘Where, pending the hearing of an action for divorce, an order awarding
the custody of the children is entered and an appeal taken therefrom, the
judge of the Superior Court is functus officio and he has no authority to
modify the order prior to the hearing of the cause on its merits.

8. Evidence § 7e—

Prima facie proof is any substantial evidence which, if not rebutted, is
sufficient to support the cause of action or defense.

4. Divorce and Alimony § 12—

In order to award alimony pendente lite, the court is required to examine
the evidence adduced by both parties and find the predicative facts in the
exercise of his own sound judgment, and where defendant has offered
evidence in rebuttal, a finding that the plaintiff had established such facts
prima facie is insufficient to sustain the award. G.8. 50-15.

5. Divorce and Alimony § 19—

An order awarding the custody of the children pending the hearing of
the divorce action on its merits, upon findings that plaintiff had estab-
lished her cause of action for divorce prima facie, and without findings as
to the fitness of plaintiff to have the custody of the children, will be
remanded.

Dzerenpant’s appeal from Frizzelle, J., Spring Term, 1949, SampsoN
Superior Court.

The plaintiff, then living in the County of Guilford, sued her husband,
a resident of New Hanover County, in an action for divorce ¢ mensa et
thoro; and asked for the rescission of a prior deed of separation which
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she alleges was obtained by the defendant through fraudulent or inequita-
ble practices. The action was transferred to Sampson County for trial,
“for the convenience of witnesses and to promote the ends of justice,”
and defendant answered in that county.

The complaint alleges numerous acts of defendant inflicting on the
plaintiff personal indignities, assaults, humiliation, neglect, all of which
she alleges was without fault on her part. She alleges that they were
of such nature as to render her condition intolerable and her life burden-
some, and that she was finally forced to seek refuge elsewhere. She,
therefore, alleges abandonment as one of the grounds of divorce.

In her complaint the plaintiff asked for alimony pendente lite, suut
money, attorneys’ fees, expense incurred,; and asked the custody of two
small children of the marriage.

The appeal is concerned with these demands, pursued through motions
and hearings before the judge holding the courts of the district.

The defendant’s answer denies the material allegations of the com-
plaint and pleads by way of recrimination the conduct of plaintiff as
provocative and independently violative of marital duties and rights;
and by way of further defense asserts a cross-action against the plaintiff
for absolute divorce on the ground of adultery. On application of the
plaintiff for a bill of particulars the defendant specified a number of
incidents, alleging time, place and corespondents, with an averment of
-other-acts-with persons unknown to him.

Pursuing the prayer in her complaint, the plaintiff gave notice of her
intended application for alimony, attorneys’ fees and expenses, and
custody of the children, pendente lite. The matter came on for a hearing
before Judge Frizzelle, holding the courts of the District, on June 2,
1949, at which time the judge heard the plaintiff’s pleadings, the evidence
and arguments of counsel, and took the matter under advisement, parties
consenting that the judgment should be signed outside the county. Judg-
ment was finally signed in Onslow County. Pertinent to the decision are
the following excerpts:

“The action is brought by the plaintiff under G.S. 50-15 for
livorce from bed and board, for alimony, and for the custody of the
swo minor children of the parties, who have been and are now in the
custody of the defendant father. The plaintiff in her complaint
bases her cause of action on two grounds: first, that the defendant
offered such indignities to the person of the plaintiff as to render her
condition intolerable and life burdensome; and second, that the
defendant wrongfully abandoned her. The plaintiff, in much detail
and elaboration, alleges a long continued scheme and course of in-
sults, humiliation, neglect and barbarous treatment and alleges a good
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and meritorious cause of action on both grounds. In his answer, the
defendant denies all material allegations in the complaint, and alleges
acts of provocation, indiscretion, and gross misconduct on the part
of the plaintiff in bar of her right to the relief sought; and by cross-
action seeks a decree of absolute divoree on the ground of adultery.”

“That plaintiff and defendant are husband and wife and have two
infant daughters of their marriage, ages 414 and 3 years; prima facie
the defendant abandoned the plaintiff on or about September 1, 1948,
and has not provided any subsistence and support for her since said
date; that prior to said alleged and prima facie abandonment the
plaintiff owned valuable real and personal property which produced
in 1947 a separate income in her own right of $15,498.84; that prior
to said alleged abandonment the defendant prima fuacie procured
from the plaintiff a transfer and conveyance of all said real and
personal property, and plaintiff has now no property or separate
estate and is wholly without income from any kind of property, and
has not sufficient means whereon to subsist during the pendency of
this action, nor any income to defray the necessary and proper
expenses thereof ; that said plaintiff is now ill and in need of hospital
treatment and is dependent upon the defendant for her support and
maintenance; that the plaintiff has prima facie incurred bills for
necessities for her support sinee the date of the alleged abandonment
in the sum of $2,038.26, which are unpaid, and has borrowed an
additional sum of $1,270.65 for her necessary maintenance prior to
the institution of this aetion in addition to financial aid she has
received from her mother.”

“That plaintiff’s complaint alleges a good and meritorious cause
of action; and although the defendant has filed answer denying each
and every material allegation in the complaint, and alleging the
adultery of the plaintiff as grounds for an absolute divoree, the plain-
tiff has filed a reply and has denied, under oath, the adultery alleged
against her in the answer; and the Court finds that such denial is
made in good faith and that upon the record and the evidence the
Court cannot and does not find that the plaintiff has committed
adultery as alleged by the defendant.”

“It appearing satisfactorily to the court and it appearing prema
facte that the allegations of the complaint are true, it is thereupon
ConsipErED, ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, in the discretion of
the Court, having due regard to the circumstances of the parties, that
the defendant Bruce B. Cameron, Jr. pay the plaintiff Mary Vail
Cameron, as alimony pendenie lite, the sum of $800.00 per month
commencing on December 23, 1948, the date of plaintiff’s motion
therefor, and a like suun of $800.00 per month on the 23rd day of each
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and every month thereafter, pending the final determination of this
cause, the six monthly payments accrued from December 23, 1948,
to May 23, 1949, in the aggregate sum of $4,800.00 to be paid within
ten days from this date, and the subsequent payments of $800.00 per
month to be paid on the 23rd day of each month hereafter com-
mencing on June 28, 1949, pending the final determination of this
cause.”

Regarding the custody of the children in general, the order allowed
them to remain with the defendant, with permission of visiting by the
mother at stated intervals under prescribed conditions. To this order
defendant excepted and appealed.

Thereafter, while the appeal was still pending, defendant was notified
of a further motion for hearing at Kinston, in Lenoir County, on June
24, 1949, respecting the custody of the children. At the time and place
set for the hearing, attorneys for the defendant entered a special appear-
ance and moved to quash, or dismiss the motion. This was overruled and
judgment was entered; and an order was made substantially enlarging
the time plaintiff should have custody of the children; to this defendant
excepted and appealed. Subsequently, without further notice, Judge
Frizzelle entered an order of June 30 in continuation of the proceeding
set for a hearing and heard in the County of Lenoir in which the former
order made outside the County of Sampson was affirmed or a similar
order made, the court taking this course for the expressed reason “that
the defendant proposed to challenge the jurisdiction of the court to enter
such order in Kinston outside of the County of Sampson where the cause
is pending.” This order was signed in Sampson County Courthouse
out of term and without further notice.

The defendant then applied to the Honorable Walter P. Stacy, Chief
Justice of the Supreme Court, for a writ of supersedeas. After a hear-
ing in which counsel on both sides argued the matter and submitted briefs,
the supersedeas was issued, commanding those concerned to desist from
enforcement of the orders aforesaid until determination of the matter
on appeal.

Meantime, in view of the taking of certain depositions by the defend-
ant in other states, an order had been made that the defendant pay $800
as expense money to enable the plaintiff to be represented at the taking
of these depositions. This order the defendant voluntarily performed,
and discharged that matter from further consideration.

The stipulation of opposing counsel confined the present controversy
to the two orders of Judge Frizzelle dated, respectively, June 2 and
June 30.
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Having excepted and appealed from the orders as stated, the defendant
filed his assignments of error which, as far as necessary to the decision,
are herewith considered.

Welch Jordan and Butler & Butler for plaintiff, appellee.
Stevens, Burgwin & Mintz, Howard H. Hubbard, and Jeff D. Johnson,
Jr., for defendant, appellant.

SeaweLrr, J. The order of June 30. From the record we find that
subsequent to the rendition of judgment upon the order of June 2, con-
sidered infra, and while appeal therefrom was still pending, notice was
given to the defendant of a hearing at Kinston, in Lenoir County, upon
the motion by the plaintiff for the custody of the two children dealt with
in the order of June 2. At the time and place set for the hearing defend-
ant’s counsel entered a special appearance and moved to quash or dismiss
the motion, which was overruled, and defendant excepted and appealed.
Judge Frizzelle proceeded with the hearing and by order signed in
Kinston, Lenoir County, on the 27th of June, made an order greatly
enlarging plaintiff’s custody of the children pending the appeal. Having
become uncertain as to his jurisdiction under the circumstances, the
Judge subsequently withdrew this order and signed an order in the
courthouse in Sampson County of precisely similar import, except for
the statement therein that it was made in Sampson County. The defend-
ant appealed from this order and, having given the requisite bonds on
appeal, applied to Hon. Walter P. Stacy, Chief Justice of the Supreme
Court, for supersedeas to stay execution, which was granted on the ground
that both the orders of June 27 and June 30 were void.

The Court is of the opinion that the validity of these orders, which
is still insisted upon here with respect to the order of June 30, resolves
itself into the simple question whether the court had jurisdiction either
to hear the matter or render judgment outside the county where the case
is pending, and this must be answered, No. No validity was given to
the order of June 30 in the attempted recapture of jurisdiction by sign-
ing it in the courthouse in Sampson County, not merely because the notice
was given and the hearing had in Lenoir County, but because no notice
of the intended rendition of the judgment in Sampson County had been
given. Patterson v. Patterson, 230 N.C. 481; Cahoon v. Brinkley, 176
N.C. 5, 96 S.E. 650; Gaster v. Thomas, 188 N.C. 346, 124 S.E. 609;
Brown v. Mitchell, 207 N.C. 182, 176 S.E. 258.

There is another reason especially arising out of the status of the case
during appeal ; under the eircumstances of this case the judge was functus
officio, his authority over the matters involved having ended with the
appeal from the order of June 2, which took the case out of his juris-
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diction. Lawrence v. Lawrence, 226 N.C. 221, 222, 37 S.E. 2d 496;
Page v. Page, 167 N.C. 346, 83 S.E. 625.

The order of June 27 is eliminated by the stipulation of counsel. The
order of June 80, for the reasons stated, is void and must be vacated.

The order of June 2. The appeal under consideration is not from a
final judgment but from orders made on preliminary motions in the
cause, peculiar to actions of this kind, and a detailed statement of the
voluminous evidence presented on the hearing is not neecessary at this
stage of the proceeding. We are, of course, dealing with the evidence
on which the order of June 2 was made, but only as far as may be neces-
sary to determine whether the court below applied to it the consideration
required by the relevant statute in the process of finding facts necessary
to support the order, or judgment, involved in the appeal. It is suffi-
cient to say that the evidence adduced by each of the parties, respectively,
posed inferences of fact on either side of the controversy, addressed to the
determinative questions, upon the resolution of which the order or awards
must rest. Of what comparative strength these inferences may be is not
for us to say; the thing of importance here is whether they were given
due regard by the hearing judge.

His Honor’s conception of the duty resting upon him in passing on the
evidence and finding these essential facts is revealed in the general sum-
mary statement made just before proceeding to the awards: “It appear-
ing satisfactorily to the Court and it appearing prima facie that the
allegations of the complaint are true . . .” ete. This, taken in connec-
tion with the repeated use of the technical and well understood term
prima facie in more specific relation to individual findings of fact neces-
sary to support the judgment leads inescapably to the conclusion that
the hearing judge deemed it to be his duty to go into the matter and
examine the evidence only as far as might be necessary to find whether
plaintiff had made a prima facie case, and made his orders accordingly,
without addressing himself to the truth or falsity, or, to put it otherwise,
the probative force, of the evidence before him, or even necessarily includ-
ing that of the defendant.

The Judge, of course, knew the legal significance of the term and the
necessity of applying it aptly. Prima facie has been defined as “a cause
of action or defense sufficiently established by a party’s evidence to
justify a verdiet in his favor, provided the other party does not rebut
such evidence,” in Ballentine’s Law Dictionary, p. 1009. The term
prima facie is said to mean “as it first appears; at first sight; at first
view; on its face; on the face of it; on first appearance; presumably; so
far as can be judged by the first disclosure,” 49 C.J. 1346. In our juris-
diction any substantial evidence, unrebutted, is sufficient, prima facie,
to support the allegation.
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This is as far as the judge was required to go under the common law,
or the relevant statute prior to the amendment of 1883, discussed below.
Sparks v, Sparks, 69 N.C. 319; Earp v. Earp, 54 N.C. 118; Ewverton
v. Everton, 50 N.C. 202; Gaylord v. Gaylord, 57 N.C. 74. The signifi-
cance of the relevant statute, G.S. 50-15, as it now stands is made clear
by comparing the former law with amendments made to it.

The former statute, Sec. 38 of Chapter 193, of the Laws of 1871-72,
provided : “If any married woman shall apply to the court for a divorce
from the bonds of matrimony or from bed and board, with her husband,
and shall set forth in her complaint such facts as if true will entitle her
to the relief demanded . . .” ete. Chapter 67, Public Laws of 1883,
struck out of that statute the words “as if true will entitle her to the
relief demanded,” and inserted in lieu thereof the words, “which upon
application for alimony shall be found by the judge to be true and to
entitle her to the relief demanded in the complaint;” and amended the
same section of the 1871-72 law by adding to the provision of notice the
following: “In all cases of application for alimony pendente ltte under
this or the following section, whether in or out of term, it shall be proper
and admissible for the husband to be heard by affidavit tn reply . . .7 ete.
This definitely disposed of the prima facie rule theretofore obtaining and
constitutes the law as it stands today.

Space will not permit us to trace the history of this statute,~of nearly
100 years standing,—to note the various amendments and collate the
decisions in correlated order. It is sufficient to say that under a proper
interpretation of this statute it is no longer sufficient that the judge
merely examine the evidence or testimony to see whether there is any
evidence to support the charges or allegations which would operate as a
prima facie showing. He must, by application of his sound judgment,
pass upon its truth or falsity and find according to his conviction. The
effect of the statute is to retire the prima facie rule in actions brought by
the wife against the hushand where alimony pendente lite is sought and
to substitute for it a finding of verity., The statute requires not only
notice and hearing, but a finding as to the truth of the essential eondi-
tions on which the allowance is predicated.

Whether the purpose of the statute is to screen the courts against
pretextual grievances or to protect the respondent from sequestration of
his property or jeopardy of his liberty upon false premises, we need not
inquire. Perhaps its purpose simply was to give respondent a measure-
of justice by permitting him to be heard before a matter-of-course inva-
sion of his estate should be made. At any rate the kind of hearing this
statute provides, has, by its enactment, become a policy of the State and
must be obeved by its substantial observance. Massey v. Massey, 208
N.C. 818, 182 S.E. 446; Caudle v, Caudle, 206 N.C. 484, 174 S.E. 304;

6—231
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Horton v. Horton, 186 N.C. 332, 119 S.E. 490; Garsed v. Garsed, 170
N.C. 672, 87 S.E. 45; Moore v. Moore, 130 N.C. 333, 41 S.E. 943.

In Medlen v. Medlen, 175 N.C. 529, 531, 95 S.E. 381, (cited by ap-
pellee), in which alimony and defense money was asked by the wife sued
for divorce on grounds of her adultery, the contention was made that no
award could be made to the wife in a case of that sort because it was not
covered by the statute; and the Court held that in case the statute did not
apply, alimony could still be awarded under the common law; and that
the statute did not abrogate the remedy given at common law. The case
dealt solely with the remedy, and not with the rule relating to the con-
sideration of the evidence through which it is sought, or the prima facie
rule formerly applied.

We can logically follow Medlin v. Medlin in its holding that the stat-
ute does not abrogate the prineciple on which alimony was allowed at the
common law. But the statute is not a mere aflirmance of the common
law—this would be supererogatory. The procedure instituted by the
statute is so opposed to the prema facie rule of the common law as to sub-
stantially modify it, and does not leave the effect of the 1883 amendment
open to question.

However, the following occurs in Medlin v. Medlin, loc. cit., p. 532:
“In Webber v. Webber, supra, very clear intimation is given that the
statute itself, by correct interpretation, should be extended to cover all
cases where the wife was a parfy to a divoree proceedings, whether as
plaintiff or defendant . . .” Webber v. Webber clearly states that the
statute (then unamended), should be so construed; and if so construed,
the amendments of 1883 should fully apply, and result, as foreshadowed,
in harmonizing the law.

But this has little bearing on the proposition we are discussing. As
we have intimated above, alimony was not asked exeept In conneection
with the suit of the wife; and the record shows that the challenged order
was predicated both ostensibly and actually on the prima facte findings
relating to the wife’s action. If the suit of the husband entered into the
consideration at all, the suit of the wife was at least the major considera-
tion and cannot be dissected out of the findings. This inseparability alone
would affect the whole proceeding with error.

It is pointed out by the appellant that the judge made no findings of
fitness as to the plaintiff for the custody of the children under the chal-
lenging evidence of the defendant. Apart from that we think the ques-
tion of custody is so intimately connected with the other matters involved
in the appeal that it should be left to a rehearing.

In view of the errors we have pointed out, we have been unable to
sustain the orders and awards made in the judgments of June 30, 1949,
and June 2, 1949; and these orders are vacated, except as to the order
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allowing $800 expense money for representation and appearance at the
taking of depositions outside the State, which, as we have said, was
voluntarily performed by the defendant and must be regarded as an
accomplished fact.

The cause will be remanded to Sampson County to the end that a
hearing de novo may be had with respect to the matters involved in the
vacated orders.

Error and remanded.

In tHE MATTER OF ATKINSON-CLARK CANAL COMPANY, SPECIAL
Proceeping No. 471.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Drainage Districts and Corporations § 10—

‘When the validity of a drainage assessment is challenged the burden is
upon the drainage district or corporation to show that it was created in
substantial compliance with the applicable statutes and that the assess-
ments were levied pursnant to and in compliance with the statutory pro-
visions. G.S. 156-37 through G.S. 156-43.

2. Drainage Districts and Corporations § 1—

In order to establish a drainage corporation it is necessary that a peti-
tion in conformity with G.8. 156-37 be filed and that commissioners be
appointed and that they file a report in conformity with G.8. 156-38, and
that there be an adjudication and confirmation of the report, G.8. 156-41,
It is only after such confirmation that the corporation may be declared to
exist and may proceed to organize and levy assessments, G.8. 156-42.

3. Same—

Where petitioners show only the granting of an easement in response
to a petition by an individual to be allowed to drain into an existing canal
on the lands of another under the provisions of G.8. 156-2, G.S. 156-3 and
G.8. 156-10, such evidence is insufficient to show the establishment of a
drainage corporation under the provisions of G.S. 156-37, ef seq.

4. Drainage Districts and Corporations § 10—

The fact that most of the proprietors have paid the drainage assessments
levied against their lands does not preclude another proprietor from
attacking the validity of the assessments levied against her.

ArpraL by exceptor Estelle Harris Bunting, from Frizzelle, J., at
Chambers in Greenville, N, C., 10 February, 1949. From PrrT.

The facts pertinent to this appeal are as follows:

1. On 22 September, 1948, a paper writing, purporting to be a certifi-
cate of assessment of the Board of Directors of Atkinson-Clark Canal
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Company, was presented to the Clerk of the Superior Court of Pitt
County, to be passed upon and approved by him, in accordance with the
provisions of G.S. 156-42. The Clerk signed an order refusing to approve
the certificate which showed a number of unpaid assessments, among
them being three aggregating $1,628.00 against Estelle Harris Bunting.
The petitioner appealed from the order of the Clerk to the Judge of the
Superior Court.

2. The appellant moved, on 28 October, 1948, to be made a party and
for permission to be heard in the matter, which motion was granted.

3. The cause came on for hearing before his Honor at Chambers in
Greenville, N. C., upon the record and various documents offered by
petitioner’s counsel, as follows:

(a) The purported certificate of assessment.

(b) Certain paper writings, purporting to be copies of minutes of
stockholders’ and directors’ meetings of the Atkinson-Clark Canal Com-
pany, purporting to authorize certain improvements to parts of the canal
and to levy three separate assessments to defray the cost thereof, none
of which was signed. Exception. Later the purported original minutes
were delivered to his Honor, but no evidence was offered as to their
authenticity.

(e) A petition signed by ten landowners reading as follows: “We the
undersigned owners of land included in the boundaries of the Atkinson-
Clark Canal Company do hereby petition the Directors of the company
to have the existing canals cleaned aud reworked to provide a sufficient
drainage for our lands. We further request that the Directors levy an
assessment on the land in the boundaries of Atkinson-Clark Canal Com-
pany for the purpose of paying the cost of such improvements.”

(d) The original papers of record in the office of the Clerk of the
Superior Court of Pitt County, being known as “Special Proceeding
No. 4717

4. It was admitted in open court that if the Atkinson-Clark Canal
Company is a corporation, it was “organized and derived its vitality and
exigtence from Special Proceeding No. 471 in the office of the Clerk of
the Superior Court of Pitt County,” which proceeding is copied in full
in the record.

5. The appellant requested the court to find as a fact that the peti-
tioner had offered no evidence before the Clerk of the Superior Court or
before his Honor, tending to show that the proposed certificate of assess-
ment was “in conformity with and in compliance with the report of the
Commissioners,” as required by G.S. 156-42; that the proposed certificate
of assessment is not in compliance with the provisions of G.S. 156-42; and
moved that the order of the Clerk of the Superior Court be affirmed
and the appeal dismissed; and tendered judgment accordingly. The
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court declined to find the requested facts; denied the motion and also
declined to sign the tendered judgment. To all of which the appellant
excepted.

6. By consent of the parties it was stipulated and agreed that his
Hounor might render judgment out of term and out of the county.

‘Whereupon the court found as a fact that the Directors of the Atkinson-
Clark Canal Company have made three assessments upon the lands which
compose the said company, the assessments having been made in the years
1947 and 1948; that the assessments were made for a purpose provided
for in Section 156-42 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, to wit,
for the maintenance and upkeep of the canal of the corporation; that the
assessments were properly made by the Directors of said Canal Company;
that the proposed certificate of assessment should be filed for record
amongst the papers on file in the office of the Clerk of the Superior Court
of Pitt County relating to the organization of the Canal Company and
known as Special Proceeding No. 471; and that the amounts of money
due by the proprietors of the land, who are listed in said certificate, should
be entered as judgments in rem against such proprietors, in the amounts
shown in the certificate.

Judgment was entered accordingly. To the facts found by the eourt
and to the signing of the judgment, the appellant excepted and appeals,
assigning error. "

H. 8. Ward and F. M. Wooten, Jr., for appellee.
Sam B. Underwood, Jr., for appellant.

Dexxy, J. The appellant challenges the validity of the assessments
which the petitioner undertook to levy. She excepted to the finding of
fact that the assessments were properly made by the Directors of the
Canal Company, on the ground that the petitioner offered no evidence
to show that the assessments were made in compliance with the report of
Commissioners on which the corporation is based, as required by G.S.
156-42. ‘

The burden was upon the petitioner to show that it was created and
organized pursuant to the provisions of what is now Subchapter IT,
G.S. 156-37 through 136-43, and that the assessments made were levied
pursuant to and in complianee with the provisions of such subchapter.
Whenever any drainage corporation, drainage district or municipality
seeks to levy a special assessment on lands within the boundaries of such
distriet or municipality, and the validity of the assessment is challenged,
it has the burden of showing a substantial compliance with such statu-
tory provisions as are essential to the validity of the assessment. In re
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Westover Canal, 230 N.C. 91, 52 S.E. 2d 225; Holton v. Mocksville,
189 N.C. 144, 126 S.E. 326.

In order to create a drainage corporation, such as the petitioner pur-
ports to be, before such corporation can be created, it is necessary for a
petition to be filed in the Superior Court by a proprietor in fee of swamp
lands, which cannot be drained except by cutting a canal through the
lands of another or other proprietors in fee, situated at a lower level
and which would also be materially benefited by the cutting of such canal.
G.S. 156-37. It is then provided in G.S. 156-38:

“On the establishment by the petitioner of his allegations, the court
shall appoint three persons as commissioners who, having been duly
sworn, shall examine the premises and inquire and report—

“l. Whether the lands of the petitioner can be conveniently drained
otherwise than through those of some other person.

“2. Through the lands of what other persons a canal to drain the lands
of the petitioner should properly pass, considering the interests of all
concerned.

“3. A description of the several pieces of lands through which the
canal would pass, and the present values of such portions of the pieces of
lands as would be benefited by it, and the reasons for arriving at the
conclusion as to the benefit.

“4. The route and plan of the canal, including its breadth, depth, and
slope, as nearly as they can be caleulated, with all other particulars
necessary for calculating its cost.

“5. The probable cost of the canal and of a road on its bank, and of
such other work, if any, as may be necessary for its profitable use.

“6. The proportion of the benefit (after a deduction of all damages)
which each proprietor would receive by the proposed canal and a road
on its bank if deemed necessary, and in which each ought, in equity and
justice, to pay toward their construction and permanent support.

“7. With their report they shall return a map explaining, as accurately
as may be, the various matters required to be stated in their report.”

‘When such commissioners file their report, “If it appear that the lands
on the lower level will be increased in value twenty-five per cent or up-
wards by the proposed improvement, within one year after the comple-
tion thereof, and that the cost of making such improvement will not
exceed three-fourths of the present estimated value of the land to be
benefited, and that the proprietors of at least one-half in value of the
land to be affected consent to the improvement, the court may confirm
such report, either in full or with such modifications therein as shall be
just and equitable.” G.S. 156-40.

And it is only after a final adjudication and confirmation of the report
of the Commissioners, that the proprietors of the several pieces of land
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adjudged to be benefited by the improvement shall be declared a corpo-
ration, G.S. 156-41, and may proceed to organize and levy assessments
in conformity with the provisions of G.S. 156-42,

The petitioner admits that it is not a corporation unless these essential
statutory requirements were complied with in the Special Proceeding,
known as No. 471, which was instituted in Pitt County, 18 January,
1886.

Therefore, it is necessary to determine whether or not that Special
Proceeding shows a substantial compliance with the above statutes, and
that the petitioner was created as a drainage corporation, pursuant to
the petition, answer, Commissioners’ report and order of confirmation
entered therein.

It is disclosed by Special Proceeding No. 471, that J. J. Hathaway
and wife, Rebecca Hathaway, filed a petition in the office of the Clerk
of the Superior Court of Pitt County, in conformity with the provisions
of Code 1297, Rev. 3983, now G.S. 156-2, to obtain permission to con-
struet a canal from their swamp land, as authorized by Code 1305, Rev.
3990, now G.S. 156-10, across the lands of the defendants to a ditch or
canal constructed by the defendants, and which drained their lands and
emptied into Tar River. Each of the defendants was summoned to
appear before the Clerk of the Superior Court of Pitt County. A hearing
was held and Commissioners appointed, as authorized by Code 1297,
Rev. 39883, now G.S. 156-2. The Commissioners went on the premises,
as required by Code 1298, Rev. 3984, now G.S. 156-3, and reported that
the petitioners were entitled to the relief sought; designated where the
eanal was to be cut, prescribed its width and depth; reported that the
utility or safety of the defendants’ canal or ditch would not be impaired
or endangered by the petitioners draining their land in the manner set
forth, nor would the defendants be damaged thereby. The only assess-
ment authorized by the report was in the following language: “That
whenever the defendants, or those who are owners of the canal upon the
defendante’ lands, shall clean out their entire canal the petitioners shall
pay to them the sum of Fifteen dollars which we assess to be their pro-
portionate part of said work.”

The cause then came on for hearing before the Clerk of the Superior
Court, upon the report of the Commissioners. The report was con-
firmed, and an order entered granting the petitioners an easement over
the lands of the defendants and authorizing them to construct the canal
“in the manner determined on and reported by the Commissioners,” as
provided in Code 1299, Rev. 3985, now G.S. 156-4.

There is nothing in this Special Proceeding from which it can be in-
ferred that the parties either proceeded under the statutes relied on by
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the petitioner or from which it might reasonably be inferred that a
drainage corporation was created or intended to be created.

It would seem the petitioner and the petitioning proprietors assumed
the corporate existence of the Canal Company when the improvements
were undertaken in 1947. Such a corporation might have been organ-
ized and the assessments duly levied if the proprietors of the existing
canal had proceeded in conformity with the provisions of G.S. 156-43.

It is argued that the judgment below should not be disturbed, since
most of the assessments levied in 1947 and 1948 have been paid. How-
ever, that fact does not foreclose the right of the appellant to challenge
the validity of the assessments. And we do not think it amiss to point
out that counsel for the appellant, stated in the course of his argument
before this Court, that the appellant is not resisting the payment of
her rightful share of the cost of the improvements heretofore made, but
is only insisting upon the determination of her proper share of the cost
of these improvements in the manner provided by law.

In view of what we have said, and in the light of the statutes cited,
it is our opinion that the petitioner has not only failed to show its
existence as a drainage corporation, but has also failed to show substan-
tial compliance with the statutes which authorize such assessments if it
were a corporation. Therefore, the Court below should have found the
facts as requested by the appellant and allowed her motion to afirm the
order of the Clerk of the Superior Court and to dismiss the appeal.

This cause is remanded for judgment in accord with this opinion.

Error and remanded.

STATE v. FLOYD BAKER.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)
1. Trespass § 9—

The three types of criminal trespass are (1) those designed to punish
offenses against the freehold rather than the possession, (2) those de-
signed to protect actual possession only, and (3) those designed to protect
possession regardless whether it be actual or constructive. Actual posses-
sion consists in exercising acts of dominion over the land; constructive
possession is theoretical possession arising from the existence of title
which gives the right to assume immediate actual possession.

2. Same—

G.S. 14-134 is designed to protect possession regardless whether it be
actual or constructive.
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8. Same—

In a prosecution under G.S. 14-134 the State must show (1) that the
land was in the actual or constructive possession of prosecutor, (2) that
defendant entered upon the land intentionally, and (3) that accused did
so after being forbidden by the prosecutor.

4. Same—

In a prosecution under G.S. 14-134, even though the State establish that
defendant intentionally entered upon land in the actual or constructive
possession of prosecutor after being forbidden to do so by the prosecutor,
and thus established as an ultimate fact that defendant entered the locus
in quo without legal right, defendant may still escape conviction by show-
ing as an afirmative defense that he entered under a bona fide claim of
right, i.e., that he believed he had a right to enter, and that he had reason-
able grounds for such belief.

5. Trespass § 10—

Where, in a prosecution under G.S. 14-134 the only evidence oftfered by
the State as to title of prosecutor is oral testimony that prosecutor had
purchased the property, and the only evidence of possession was that
prosecutor had warned defendant to stay off the land and had entered
upon the land temporarily on a single occasion to erect a barbed wire
fence thereon, held, defendant’s motion to nonsuit should have been
granted, since the evidence is insufficient to establish prosecutor’s posses-
sion of the land within the meaning of the statute.

6. Property § 3—

Proof of the destruction of a fence erected upon land is insufficient to
sustain a conviction upon an indiectment charging wanton and willful
injury to personal property, since a fence is a part of the realty and there
is a fatal variance between allegation and proof. G.S8. 14-160.

7. Criminal Law § 81f—

Decision of the Supreme Court sustaining defendant’s exceptiens to
the refusal of his motions for nonsuit has the force and effect of a verdict
of not guilty. G.S.15-173.

Arprar by defendant from Grady, Emergency Judge, and a jury, at
the June Term, 1949, of Waxks.

This appeal involves three criminal actions which originated in the
Recorder’s Court of Wake Forest, and were carried thence to the Superior
Court by appeals of the defendant. The cases were consolidated by
consent in the Superior Court, where trial was had de novo on the original
warrants. The first two warrants were based on criminal complaints
drawn under G.S. 14-134, which charged the defendant with trespassing
on two separate occasions upon the lands of the New Bethel Church, a
religions congregation, after being forbidden to do so by its duly consti-
tuted officers. The third warrant was supported by a criminal complaint
drawn under G.S. 14-160, which charged the defendant with wantonly
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and willfully injuring “personal property belonging to New Bethel
Church.”

The State presented no documentary evidence to show any title in the
New Bethel Church. It did introduce oral testimony, however, indicat-
ing that the New Bethel Church laid elaim to two tracts of land adjoining
a public highway known as the Raleigh Road in Barton Creek Township
in Wake County; that the first of these tracts contained a church building
and had been in the actual occupation of the congregation for upwards
of fifty years; that the second of these tracts, which embraced about two
acres, had been purchased from Zelma Rudd in May or June, 1947, and
lay between the farm of the defendant and the Raleigh Road; that the
officers of the New Bethel Church forbade the defendant to enter upon
the two-acre tract, and thereafter, to wit, on 17 August, 1948 and
October 1, 1948, the defendant traveled to and fro thereon between his
farm and the Raleigh Road; that thereafter, to wit, on 4 January, 1949,
officers and members of the New Bethel Church erected a barbed wire
fence along an edge of the two acre tract to preclude its use as a way by
the defendant, and two hours later the defendant tore down the fence;
and that the two-acre tract was not in the actual possession of anybody
during the times in controversy, except for two or three hours on 4 Jan-
uary, 1949, while officers and members of the Church were engaged in the
erection of the barbed wire fence mentioned above.

The defendant introduced a duly registered deed dated 9 December,
1939, whereby J. K. Ray and his wife, Tola Ray, purported to convey to
the defendant in fee simple eighty acres of land adjoining the Raleigh
Road and the first tract claimed by the New Bethel Church in Barton
Creek Township in Wake County. The defendant presented oral testi-
mony tending to show that the eighty acre tract embraced the locus in
quo; that he had been in the actual possession of the locus in quo and all
other portions of the eighty acre tract at all times since 9 December,
1939, under a claim of fee simple ownership based upon his deed; and
that he had torn down the barbed wire fence because it had been erected
by the prosecutor against his will upon the land occupied and claimed
by him under his deed, and interfered with his use of such land.

The jury found the defendant guilty in all three cases, and the court
pronounced judgments of imprisonment upon the verdiets. The defend-
ant excepted and appealed, assigning as errors the refusals of the court
to nonsuit the actions under G.S. 15-173,

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton
for the State.

M. Hugh Thompson and J. J. Sansom, Jr., for defendant, appellant.



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 139

STATE . BAKER.

Exrvin, J.  The criminal complaints underlying the first two warrants
charge the defendant with trespass on the land of another after notice
or warning contrary to a statute, which was enacted in 1866 and which is
now codified as G.S. 14-134. The portion of the statute germane to this
appeal is in these words: “If any persen after being forbidden to do so,
shall go or enter upon the lands of another, without a license therefor, he
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and on conviction, shall be fined not
exceeding fifty dollars, or imprisoned not more than thirty days.” G.S.
14-134.

Various eriminal trespasses to land and fixtures are known to the law.
Some are common law crimes, and others are legislative creations. 8. .
Phipps, 32 N.C. 17; S. v. Love, 19 N.C. 267; 8. v. Flowers, 6 N.C. 225,
8. v, Trexler, 4 N.C. 188; G.8., Ch. 14, Art. 22. They fall into three
classifications when tested by their social objectives.

Some, e.g., the crime of unlawfully cutting, injuring or removing
another’s timber as defined by G.8. 14-135, are offenses against the free-
hold rather than the possession, and in them ownership of the property
by the prosecutor is a sine qua non to convietion. S. v. Boyce, 109 N.C.
739, 14 S.E. 98.

Others, e.g., the misdemeanor of forcible trespass under G.S. 14-128,
are designed to protect actual possession only, and in them it is no defense
that the accused has title to the locus in quo if the prosecutor be in actual
possession of it. S. v. Davenport, 156 N.C. 596, 72 S.E. 7; S. v. Camp-
bell, 133 N.C. 640, 45 S.E. 344; S. v. Fender, 125 N.C. 649, 34 S.E. 448 ;
S. v. Webster, 121 N.C. 586, 28 S.E. 254; S. v. Howell, 107 N.C. 835,
12 S.E. 569; S. v. Marsh, 91 N.C. 632; S. v. Laney, 87 N.C. 536. It is
said in cases involving this class of criminal trespasses that “if the
defendant has a better title than the prosecutor to the premises or to the
possession thereof, he can assert it by due course of law, but he cannot do
so by violating the criminal law of the State.” S.v. Howvis, 76 N.C. 117.

There iz yet another category of criminal trespasses to realty. It
embraces offenses intended to protect possession, regardless of whether
it be actual or constructive in its nature. S. v. Reynolds, 95 N.C. 616.
Actual possession is a tangible fact, and constructive possession is a legal
fiction. Aectual possession of land consists in exercising acts of dominion
over it, and in making the ordinary use of it to which it is adapted, and
in taking the profits of which it is susceptible. Locklear v. Savage, 159
N.C. 236, 74 S.E. 847. Constructive possession is that theoretical posses-
sion which exists in contemplation of law in instances where there is no
possession in fact. When land is not in the actual enjoyment or occupa-
tion of anybody, the law declares it to be in the constructive possession
of the person whose title gives him the right to assume its immediate
actual possession. Ownbey v. Parkway Properties, Inc., 222 N.C. 54,
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21 S.E. 2d 900 ; Mitchell v, Bridgers, 113 N.C. 63, 18 S.E. 91; Graham
v. Houston, 15 N.C. 232,

In prosecutions for criminal trespasses of the second class, ¢.e., those
which are offenses against actual possession only, the title is not in issue,
but the State must prove actual possession of the premises by the prose-
cutor as an indispensable element of the charge. It inevitably ensues
that the prosecution fails in such cases for defect of proof if the evidence
discloses that the accused and not the prosecutor actually occupied the
locus in quo at the time in controversy.

These observations apply with equal foree to prosecutions for criminal
trespasses of the third category, t.c., offenses against either actual or
constructive possession, unless such prosecutions be founded on entries
upon vacant land. In the last mentioned eventuality, the title is in issue
for the State cannot prevail, in such case, without showing the construe-
tive possession of the prosecutor as an essential ingredient of the accusa-
tion, and to do that, the State must establish title in the prosecutor at
the time of the alleged offense. §. v. Reynolds, supra. In consequence,
the prosecution fails in this instance for defect of proof if the testimony
reveals that at suech time the accused and not the prosecutor had title to
the locus in quo.

The crime created by the enactment now codified as G.S. 14-134 falls
within the third category of criminal trespasses, t.e., those designed to
protect possession without regard to whether it be actual or constructive.
8. ». Yellowday, 152 N.C. 793, 67 S.E. 480. To constitute trespass on
the land of another after notice or warning under this statute, three
essential ingredients must coexist: (1) The land must be the land of the
prosecutor in the sense that it is in either his actual or constructive
possession; (2) the accused must enter upon the land intentionally; and
(8) the accused must do this after being forbidden to do so by the prose-
cutor. Although the State may prove beyond a reasonable doubt in a
prosecution under this statute that the accused intentionally entered
upon land in the actual or constructive possession of the prosecutor after
being forbidden to do so by the prosecutor and thus establish as an ulti-
mate fact that the accused entered the locus in guo without legal right,
the accused may still escape conviction by showing as an affirmative de-
fense that he entered under a bona fide claim of right. 8. v. Faggart,
170 N.C. 787, 87 S.E. 81; 8. v. Wells, 142 N.C. 590, 55 S.E. 210; 8. v.
Glenn, 118 N.C. 1194, 23 S.E. 1004. When an accused seeks to excuse
an entry without legal right as one taking place under a bona fide claim
of right, he must prove two things: (1) That he helieved he had a right
to enter; and (2) that he had reasonable grounds for such belief. S. v.
Faggart, supra; S. v. Wells, supra; S. v. Durham, 121 N.C. 546, 28 S.E.
22 8. v, Calloway, 119 N.C. 864, 26 S.E. 46; S. v. Glenn, supra; S. ».
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Fisher, 109 N.C. 817, 13 S.E. 817; 8. v. Crawley, 103 N.C. 353, 9 S.E.
409; S, v. Lawson, 101 N.C. 717, 7 S.E. 905, 9 Am. St. Rep. 42; S. »,
Wainslow, 95 N.C. 649; S. ». Bryson, 81 N.C. 595; §. v. Crossett, 81 N.C.
579: 8. v. Hause, 71 N.C\. 518; 8. o. Whitehurst, 70 N.C. 85; S. v, Ellen,
68 N.C. 281; S. v. Hanks, 66 N.C. 612,

The assignments of error of the defendant based upon the refusal of
the trial court to dismiss the prosecutions for trespass upon compulsory
nonsuits under G.S. 15-173 present this query: Was the testimony of
the State at the trial sufficlent to sustain the allegations of the eriminal
complaints that the locus in guo was the land of the prosecutor within
the meaning of G.S. 14-134? This question must be answered in the
negative for the reason that the State failed to offer evidence indicating
that the prosecutor had either actual or constructive possession of the
property in controversy.

The testimony of the prosecution itself discloses that the only acts
done by the prosecutor in asserting its claim to the locus in quo consisted
in warning the defendant to stay off the land, and in entering upon the
land temporarily on a single oceasion to erect a barbed wire fence thereon,
which was designed solely to exclude the defendant from the land and
which was forthwith removed by the defendant. Merely warning others
not to go upon specific land does not constitute actual possession of such
land. Ruffin v. Overby, 88 N.C. 369. The same observation applies to
an isolated entry upon realty. Currie v; Gilchrist, 147 N.C. 648, 61 S.E,
581 ; Williams v. Wallace, 18 N.C. 354.

The only evidence presented by the State to show ownership of the
locus in quo by the prosecutor consisted of the oral assertions of witnesses
that the prosecutor bought the property from Zelma Rudd in May or
June, 1947. This testimony fell far short of meeting the legal require-
ments for proving title to realty. Mobley v. Griffin, 104 N.C. 112, 10
S.E. 142. This being so, there was no evidence tending to show con-
structive possession by the prosecutor.

The eriminal ecomplaint supporting the third warrant was drawn nnder
G.S. 14-160 and charges the defendant with wantonly and willfully
injuring “personal property belonging to New Bethel Church.” The
evidence offered by the State under this accusation tends to show an
injury to a fence, which 1s, in law, a part of the realty. 8. v. Graves, 74
N.C. 396. This discrepancy between the averments of the criminal com-
plaint and the proof constitutes a fatal variance, and by reason thereof
the motion of the defendant for judgment of nonsuit in the prosecution
for injury to personal property ought to have been sustained in the trial
court. 8. v. Law, 227 N.C. 103, 40 S.E. 2d 699; S. ». Forte, 222 N.C,
537, 28 S.E. 2d 842; 8. ». Jackson, 218 N.C. 373, 11 S.E. 24 149, 131
ALR. 143; S, . Stinneft, 203 N.C. 8§29, 167 S.E. 63,
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For the reasons given, the motions of the defendant for judgments of
nonsuit in the several prosecutions are sustained on this appeal. These
rulings have the force and effect of verdiets of not guilty in all three
actions. G.S. 15-173.

Reversed.

BRIGHT BELT WAREHOUSE ASSOCIATION, INC,, v. TOBACCO PLANT-
ERS WAREHOUSE, INC.,, FARMERS WAREHOUSE, INC.,, FENNER’S
WAREHOUSE, INC., EASLEY'S WAREHOUSE, INC, W. E. COBB,
H. P. FOXALL, ROY M. PHIPPS, JIMMIE D. SMITH, R. J. WORKS,
axD R. J. WORKS, JR.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)
1. Associations § 1—

An association of tobacco warehousemen organized to encourage fair
trade practices in the business, which has no definite procedure to deter-
mine membership, is a voluntary organization notwithstanding it is incor-
porated without capital stock, and given the right to sue and be sued.

2., Associations § 2—

Warehousemen who affiliate with the warehousemen’s association, con-
tribute to its support, attend its meetings and receive whatever benefits
are derived, are members thereof notwithstanding that the association
has promulgated no definite procedure to determine membership.

8. Associations § 8—

The charter and by-laws of an association constitute a contract between
it and its members, and each member is deemed to have consented to all
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated in accordance with its
by-laws, which may be enforced by the association by injunction unless
unreasonable, unlawful or contrary to public policy.

4. Same—

The delegation by an association of power to its board of governors to
promulgate rules and regulations for the orderly marketing and handling
of tobacco on the auction warehouse floors of its members is insufficient to
give its board of governors power to prohibit auction sales altogether.
Thus where its board of governors is delegated authority to regulate sales,
a rule prohibiting sales unless attended by a buyer from each of three
specified tobacco companies, is in excess of the delegated authority, and
void.

BARNHILL, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

ArpeAL by defendants from Frizzelle, J., at September Term, 1949, of
Waxke.

This suit was instituted to enjoin the defendants from conducting
auction sales of leaf tobacco in their warehouses other than in accordance
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with the rules and regulations promulgated by plaintiff’s Board of
Governors, and specifically to prevent defendants from selling tobacco
during the season of 1949 without the presence of an adequate number of
buyers as defined by the resolution of said Board. It was alleged that
the defendants were members of plaintiff Association and under obliga-
tion to observe the rules properly determined and declared which pertain
to the business of conducting auction sales of tobacco on warehouse floors.
Upon the verified complaint a temporary restraining order and notice to
show cause were issued. The defendants answered setting forth several
defenses to plaintifi’s suit, and on the hearing before Judge Frizzelle
demurred ore tenus to the complaint and moved for judgment that on the
facts alleged plaintiff was not entitled to continuance of the restraining
order. The demurrer was overruled, the motion denied, and the restrain-
ing order continued until final judgment. Defendants excepted and
appealed.

William T. Joyner and William T. Joyner, Jr., for plaintiff, appellee.
Battle, Winslow & Merrell and Spruill & Spruill for defendants, ap-
pellants.

Dzvin, J.  The plaintiff bases its right to enjoin the defendants from
violating rules promulgated by plaintiff’s Board of Governors upon alle-
gations that defendants are tobacco warehousemen engaged in the busi-
ness of conducting sales of leaf tobacco by auction, and that this business
has grown to such an extent that it became necessary that rules and regu-
lations be established to prevent disorder and injury to growers and
warehousemen alike; that to effectuate this purpose and to encourage fair
trade practices plaintiff Corporation was organized. It was alleged that
the defendants who operate fourteen warehouses in Rocky Mount, North
Carolina, are members of or affiliated with plaintiff Association, and
are under obligation to comply with all its reasonable rules and regula-
tions.

It was stated in the complaint that in 1948 growers in North Carolina
produced 750,000,000 pounds of flue cured bright-leaf tobacco which was
sold under the auction system on warehouse floors for approximately
$375,000,000, and it is alleged that in view of the expanded proportions
of the industry and the keen competition between warehousemen and
markets for the patronage of growers, and in order to carry out plain-
tiff’s declared purpose of promoting the orderly marketing of tobaceo
and encouraging fair practices in the conduct of auction sales in the
interest of growers, warehousemen and buyers, the plaintiff Association
at its anmial meeting June 6-8, 1949, adopted a resolution authorizing
its Board of Governors to determine not later than July 1st market open-
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ing dates, and “to announce and publish such rules and regulations as
may in the opinion of the Board best provide for the proper and orderly
marketing and handling of tobacco on auction warehouse floors.” Pur-
suant to this delegation of authority the Board of Governors met June
30, 1949, and announced and published the opening dates of markets, and
rules and regulations for “orderly marketing and handling tobaceo on
warehouse floors,” which related to the speed of sales, the size of piles,
and selling hours. On July 20 the Board of Governors again met and
adopted the following resolution:

“1. That an essential element of a bona fide sale of tobacco at auction
is that there shall be assigned to such sale an adequate set of buyers
prepared to bid at the competitive sale. The minimum requirement of an
adequate set of buyers is the following:

“(a) Buyers for each of the three major domestic tobacco companies
(Reynolds Tobacco Company, American Tobacco Company, and Liggett
& Myers Tobacco Company), and

“(b) Buyers of at least three other recognized companies purchasing
tobacco for export or for export and domestic consumption.

“9. No warehouse should offer tobacco for sale at auction unless and
until an adequate set of buyers as defined above has been assigned to and
secured for such sale.”

It was alleged that defendants have complied with all rules and regu-
lations promulgated by plaintiff’s Board of Governors except those refer-
ring to sales made in absence of an adequate set of buyers as defined by
the plaintifP’s Board of Governors; that four sets of buyers are assigned
by the three major domestic companies to the Rocky Mount market, per-
mitting four simultaneous sales on that market, but the defendants in
addition thereto have conducted and continue to conduet an additional
or fifth sale of tobacco on the floors of defendants’ warehouses when the
buyers present do not include representatives from each of the three
major domestic companies; that notwithstanding requests from plaintiff
and farm organizations to discontinue this practice the defendants have
refused and have announced their purpose to continue such sales.

Plaintiff further alleges that defendants’ failure to discontinue these
additional sales will result in injury to the growers of tobacco in deficiency
of price, and to the plaintiff and other members of plaintiff Association
who are abiding by plaintiff’s reasonable marketing regulations, and will
cause dissatisfaction with the auction system of marketing tobacco; that
such injury cannot be readily calculated in money, and is irreparable.

The defendants, -answering, admit that they are proprietors of ware-
houses in Rocky Mount wherein auction sales of leaf tobacco are con-
ducted, and that plaintiff Association has been incorporated for the pur-
poses therein declared, but defendants say the plaintiff has no capital
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stock and it has set up no definite procedure to determine membership;
that it is merely a loose organization of warehousemen on a voluntary
basis co-operating for a common end ; that the defendants have not joined
the plaintiff in any formal way, but they admit they are members of
Eastern North Carolina Warehouse Association, and that with their
knowledge a portion of the dues paid by defendants is allocated to
plaintiff,

Defendants set out in their answer that on the Rocky Mount market,
on defendants’ floors, each season, for past five years, have been sold
approximately 60,000,000 pounds of leaf tobacco; that this market has
grown until on the basis of number of pounds sold it is second in size in
Eastern North Carolina; that only four sets of buyers embracing repre-
sentatives of each of the leading manufacturers have been assigned to this
market, which under plaintiff’s rule would have permitted only four
simultaneous sales; that for the convenience and accommodation of the
growers, and to handle the increasing volume of tobacco brought there
for sale by growers, it was deemed necessary by defendants that an addi-
tional or fifth sale be conducted ; that on this fifth sale representatives of
American Tobacco Company and Liggett & Myers Tobacco Company
have not been bidders, but it is denied the sales are conducted without
substantial and competitive bidding, and it is denied that any injury has
been caused or threatened to the tobacco farmers; that under the rule any
grower may, if the price bid is not satisfactory, “turn his tag,” decline to
sell, and remove his tobacco elsewhere for sale; that on these additional
sales the small proportion of tags turned is no greater than on other sales.

Defendants further allege that the action of plaintiff’s Board of Gov-
ernors in declaring that “no warehouse should offer tobacco for sale at
auction until ‘an adequate set of buyers’ as defined above has been as-
signed to and secured for such sale,” if intended to prohibit sales without
the presence of such buyers, is beyond the power and authority of such
Board, and in exeess of the authority conferred on said Board by plaintiff
corporation, and that the action of the Board in so declaring was wultra
vires, and insufficient to authorize the court to restrain the defendants
from conducting auction sales of tobacco voluntarily brought to them by
growers for such sale, or to prevent sales which are participated in by
growers, warehousemen and buyers in the exercise of their personal rights
50 to do without complaint; that the authority given the Board of Gov-
ernors was to regulate, not to prohibit; that the resolution set out, if it
constitutes authority to plaintiff’s Board to prohibit sales, is in restraint
of trade and violates statutory and constitutional rights, and is against
public policy; that the requirements of the resolution of the Board of
Governors that no sale be held without the presence of a representative
of each of the three leading manufacturers is unreasonable, for that the
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absence of a single buyer representing either of these manufacturers
would prevent the sale from being held, thus delegating to these three
manufacturers, or to any one of them, the power to veto auction sales
altogether, and by failing to assign buyers to cripple or destroy the
market. Defendants pray that the restraining order heretofore issued in
this cause be dissolved.

From the pleadings herein summarized, it appears that the plaintiff is
an association of tobacco warehousemen. Although incorporated without
capital stock, and given legal entity with power to sue and be sued, it is
nevertheless a voluntary association organized primarily for the benefit
of those engaged in this business. While apparently there is no definite
criterion or procedure for determining membership therein, it would
seem that those engaged in the business who affiliate with the plaintiff,
contribute to its support, attend its meetings and receive whatever benefits
are derived, may properly be regarded as members thereof.

It follows that the articles of association for the purposes expressed in
" the charter and the by-laws of the plaintiff constitute a contraect between
plaintiff and its members which imposes certain obligation on the mem-
bers among themselves and with respect to the association or corporation.
Hence, as a consequence of membership in an incorporated association for
mutual benefit, each member is deemed to have consented to all reason-
able rules and regulations pertaining to the conduct of the business which
have been properly determined and promulgated, and it is well settled
that the enforcement of rules and regulations which are not unreasonable,
immoral, unlawful, or contrary to public policy, affords ground for
judicial action and relief by injunetion. 4 A.J. 459, 460; 7 C.J.S. 34;
Booker & Kinnatrd v. Louisville Board of Fire Underwriters, 188 Ky.
771, 21 A.LR. 5831. In Gray v. Warehouse Co., 181 N.C. 166, 106 S.E.
657, this Court upheld the principle that the business of operating ware-
houses for the public marketing of tobacco was one affected with a public
interest and subject to reasonable public regulations, and in a concurring
opinion by Justice Hoke it was said that “subject to such reasonable rules
and regulations as may be established by the public agencies, and when
not interfering with same, the authorities in control and management of
these warehouses have the power to establish for themselves such reason-
able rules and regulations as may be required to promote business effi-
ciency and insure fair and honest dealing in the transactions occurring
there.”

Applying these principles to the facts here pleaded, we think the
defendants were members of plaintiff Association and under obligation to
comply with reasonable rules pertaining to the conduct of sales under
the auction system in the warehouses operated by them, and that the
resolution of June 6-8, 1949, duly adopted in a meeting of the members
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of plaintiff Association, and in which some of these defendants partici-
pated, was a valid exercise of a power resting in the plaintiff by the con-
sent of its members and was and is binding upon the defendants. By this
resolution the plaintiff Association authorized and directed its Board of
Governors, after investigation and consultation as to what would best
serve the growers and achieve orderly marketing, to determine not later
than July 1st the opening dates of the several markets in the Bright Belt,
and “to announce and publish such rules and regulations as may in the
opinion of the Board best provide for properly and orderly marketing and
handling of tobacco on the auction warehouse floors.” Under this author-
ity the Board of Governors met prior to July 1st, fixed the dates for the
opening of various tobacco marketing belts and announced the rules for
handling and marketing tobacco on warehouse floors about which there
is no controversy. But subsequently the Board of Governors again met
July 20, and adopted the resolution hereinbefore set out that “no ware-
house should offer tobacco for sale at auction unless and until an adequate
set of buyers as defined above has been assigned to and secured for such
sale.”

The plaintiff’s right to enjoin additional sales of tobacco in Rocky
Mount is based upon this resolution of the Board of Governors, Whether
the Board of Governors should be held to have exhausted its delegated
authority to act after July 1st, or whether the word “should” ought to be
regarded as recommendatory rather than mandatory and prohibitive, we
need not determine on this record as we are of the opinion that the resolu-
tion of June 6-8, 1949, wherein authority was delegated to the Board of
Governors to promulgate regulations as to marketing and handling
tobaceco, was insufficient to give this Board power altogether to prohibit an
auction sale of tobacco, otherwise regular and fair and in accord with
announced marketing regulations, because of the absence of buyers of
either of three named manufacturers.

Since we hold that the regulation contained in the resolution of the
Board of Governors July 20, 1949, was beyond its delegated powers, in so
far as it attempted to prohibit auction sales of tobacco in defendants’
warehouses in excess of the four now permitted, we do not reach the
question whether it was an unreasonable regulation, and an infringement
upon defendants’ rights. Nor, under this view, it being admitted defend-
ants are complying with the other regulatious properly determined and
announced by plaintiff’s Board as to the marketing and handling of
tobaceo in defendants’ warehouse, are the questions as to unreasonable
restraint of trade or interference with interstate commerce presented.

No question is raised in this case as to the bona fides of the plaintiff
Assoeiation or that of its Board of Governors.
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The plaintiff’s suit was to enjoin the defendants from conducting
additional sales, as herein defined, for the season of 1949. Since the
tobacco selling season for this year has ended, the relief sought by plain-
tiff in any event would now be nugatory, which would ordinarily leave
only a moot question for decision. However, in view of the importance
of the questions presented, we have deemed proper to express the Court’s
opinion on the matters herein discussed.

We conclude upon consideration of the facts pleaded that the restrain-
ing order should have been dissolved, and that the order continuing the
restraining order to final judgment must be

Reversed.

BarwuIzL, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY v. MECKLENBURG COUNTY AXND
JESSIE C. SMITH, TreasUrReR oF MECKLENBURG COUNTY.

{Filed 23 November, 1949.)
1. Counties § 1—

A county is a governmental unit of the State stemming from the common
law and existing for the purpose of maintenance of law and order and to
assure a large measure of local self-government. N. C. Constitution, Art.
VII, sec. 1.

2. Counties § 2—

‘What is necessary in the discharge by a county of its governmental
functions is largely within the discretion of the governing board of the
county, subject to legislative limitations, and a county may levy taxes
within constitutional limitations to provide funds necessary to the dis-
charge of its governmental functions without legislative intervention.

3. Same—

An indispensable governmental function of a county is to secure the
public safety by enforcing law, maintaining order, preventing crime, appre-
hending criminals, and protecting its citizens in their person and property,
which function the county officials have no right to disregard and no
authority to abandon.

4. Same—

While the Legislature has authority to place any group of law enforce-
ment officers in a county under the supervision of an agency other than
the sheriff, its action in doing so does not alter the essential natnre of
their work nor the purpese of expenditures for their maintenance.
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5. Taxation § 2—

A purpose which involves a regularly recurring expenditure in the
performance of a duty or the exercise of a power which is essential to
government and which has been delegated to the county unit of govern-
ment, is a general rather than a special purpose within the meaning of
Art. V, sec. 6, of the Constitution of N. C.

6. Same—

Expenditures by a county for maintenance of a rural police force is for
a continuing expense in furtherance of an indispensable function of
county government, and therefore is for a general county purpose within
the meaning of the constitutional limitation on the tax rate for such
purposes. Constitution of N. C., Art. V, sec. 6.

Arrrar by defendants from Bobbitt, J., in Chambers, 8 October 1949,
MecrrLExBURG., Affirmed.

Civil action to recover ad valorem taxes alleged to have been wrong-
fully levied and ecollected.

In 1917 the Board of Commissioners of Mecklenburg County, acting
under legislative authority, created and organized a rural police force
under the general control and direction of the sheriff of the county “to
patrol and police the County; to deteet and prevent the violation of

the criminal laws . . . to make arrests . . . to report his acts in all
known or suspected violations of the eriminal laws to the Sheriff of the
County . . .”

The Legislature, by Chap. 612, P.L.L. 1925, transferred the supervision
of this police force from the sheriff to the Board of County Commis-
sioners. Later, supervisory power was vested in a Civil Service Board,
the members of which are appointed by the resident judge. Chap. 20,
P.L.L. 1933; Chap. 75, P.L.L. 1935, N

Until 1947 the rural police force was maintained out of the general
fund of the county. In that year, by Chap. 638, Session Laws 1947, the
Legislature declared the maintenance of the rural police force “a special
purpose” and authorized the Board of Countyv Commissioners “to an-
nually levy, impose and collect special taxes upon all taxable property in
said county not to exceed ten cents (10¢) upon each one hundred dollars
($100.00) of valuation of such property and over and above any taxes
allowed by the constitution, for the special purpose of paying the costs
and expenses of the maintenance and operation of a rural police force in
said county.”

Pursuant to this authority the County Board of Commissioners levied
for the year 1947 $.0757 for said “special purpose,” the assessment against
plaintiff being in the sum of $3,276.86. Plaintiff paid the assessment
made against it under protest and now sues to recover.
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In the court below the plaintiff moved for judgment on the pleadings.
Upon hearing the motion, the court found and concluded “that the expense
of maintaining the rural police force in Mecklenburg County is an
annually recurring expense for the general purpose of law enforcement
within the said County, and that it is not a special purpose within the
meaning of Article V, Section 6 of the Constitution.” It further found
that $.0202 of said levy comes within the total permissible levy for gen-
eral purposes. Thereupon, judgment was entered for the excess in the
sum of $2,402.45, with interest, and defendant excepted and appealed.

W. T. Joyner, Robinson & Jones, and John M. Robinson, Jr., for plain-
tiff appellee.

Taltaferro, Clarkson & Grier for defendant appellants.

Barvurrn, J. That the cost of maintaining a rural police force in
Mecklenburg County for the better enforcement of the law and the
security of the public safety is a necessary expense of county government
is conceded. Is it a “general purpose” or a “special purpose” expense
within the meaning of Art. V, sec. 6 of the Constitution? This is the one
question posed for decision. The court below answered in favor of plain-
tiff. In this conclusion we concur.

The creation of counties as subdivisions of the state originated in
England even before the organization of the kingdom itself. Bignell v.
Cummins, 36 A.L.R. 634; 14 A.J. 185. Their existence and their fune-
tions in the administration of the law were so well recognized that those
who drafted our original Constitution did not deem it necessary to provide
for their creation or to define their powers. Instead, they assumed their
existence as a constituent part of the state government. N. C. Const. of
1776, sec. 88; N. C. Const., Art. VII, sec. 1.,

They are subdivisions of the State, established for the more convenient
administration of government and to assure a large measure of local
self-government. Their powers which are intrinsically governmental
stem from the common law. Legislative acts supplement, modify, or
curtail those powers to meet the needs of a changing civilization. Gen-
erally speaking they possess such governmental powers as are necessary
to be exercised in the enforcement of the law, the maintenance of the
peace, and the protection of the people within their boundaries, subject to
such limitations as the Legislature may deem it wise to impose, 14 A.J.
185, and are vested by the Constitution with the power to tax for these
purposes. N. C. Const., Art. V, sec. 6.

In the absence of legislative direction or limitation, what is needful
in the discharge of these intrinsically governmental functions is largely
within the discretion of the governing board of the county, and it may
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levy taxes, within constitutional limitations, to provide the necessary
funds, without legislative intervention.

One of the primary duties of the county, acting through its public
officers, is to secure the public safety by enforeing the law, maintaining
order, preventing crime, apprehending ecriminals, and protecting its
citizens in their person and property. This is an indispensable function
of county government which the county officials have no right to disre-
gard and no authority to abandon.

The sheriff is the chief law enforcement officer of the county. 47 A.J.
839; 57 C.J. 779. Yet it may not be gainsaid that the Legislature has
authority to place any group of law enforcement officers in a county under
the supervision of some other agency. Commissioners v. Stedman, 141
N.C. 448. Even so, the essential nature of their work and the purpose
of the expenditures for their maintenance remain the same, whether they
are directed by the sheriff, the board of commissioners, or some other
agency. Neither the county nor the Legislature can enlarge the taxing
power of the county under the provisions of Art. V, sec. 6 of the Con-
stitution by merely making the law enforcement agency of the county
independent, in whole or in part, of the sheriff’s office.

We come then to this question: Are taxes levied to provide funds for
the maintenance of law enforcement officers levied for a general or a
special purpose? The answer would seem self-evident.

“Definitions build fences around words.” Therefore, prudence dictates
caution in attempting to give an all-inclusive definition of “general pur-
pose.” Suffice it to say that a purpose which involves a regularly recur-
ring expenditure, in the performance of a duty or the exercise of a power
which is essential to government and which has been delegated to the
county unit of government—such as the enforcement of the law and the
administration of justice—is a general rather than a special purpose as
that term is used in the Constitution. Power Co. v. Clay County, 213
N.C. 698, 197 S.E. 603; Henderson v. Wilmington, 191 N.C. 269, 132
S.E. 25.

The rural police force of Mecklenburg County was organized and is
being maintained to secure the public safety. This is emphasized by
allegations in the answer. Members of the force in 1947 made 4,984
arrests for traffic violations and 2,955 arrests for other causes. They
made 1,226 major investigations, recovered stolen property of the value
of $59,684.70, and procured convictions which netted $105,860.89 in fines
and forfeitures and $18,011.70 in court costs. The funds for its mainte-
nance must be raised by a tax levied from year to year and expended from
month to month. The expense is continuing and is in furtherance of an
indispensable function of county government. Necessarily then, the tax
is levied for a general rather than a special purpose.
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The defendants have made a laudable and seemingly successful effort
to create and maintain a law enforecement agency entirely removed from
the realm of politics. In so doing, however, they did not convert a
“general purpose” service into a “special purpose” activity and thereby
increase the taxing power of the county.

The judgment of the court below is

Affirmed.

STATE v. AUDIE LEE BROWN.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Criminal Law § 33—

Where defendant offers no testimony on the preliminary inquiry and
the State’s evidence does not show that defendant’s confession was invol-
untary, defendant’s exception to the admission of the confession in evi-
dence cannot be sustained.

2. Homicide § 27h: Criminal Law § 53g—

Where all the evidence tends to show murder committed in the perpe-
tration of a robbery, the court is not required to submit the question of
defendants guilt of the lesser offense of murder in the second degree
G.S. 14-17.

Arrear by defendant from Coggin, Special Judge, March Specia:
Term, 1949, of RaxnoLpH.

Criminal prosecution on indictment charging the defendant with the
murder of one Melvin Cain.

On Sunday morning, 2 January, 1949, the body of Melvin Cain was
found lying, face down, in an old woods road in Randolph County. He
had been shot in the back of the neck with a shotgun.

Audie Lee Brown confessed to the sheriff that he had told the deceased
on Friday before where he could buy a calf. He was in the business of
cattle buying. The defendant then appeared at the home of the deceased
on Saturday morning with his dog and gun, telling the deceased he
wanted to do some hunting. They went down the old road in question,
the deceased thinking he was going to buy a calf, and the defendant
pretending to be off on a hunt. They soon came to a washed-out place in
the road. The defendant stepped behind the deceased, as it was too
narrow to walk side by side, and “I shot him as I stepped behind him, at
close range.” The defendant further stated to the sheriff that “he killed
him for his money.” Bills taken from the deceased were found in the
possession of the defendant.
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The defendant objected to the introduction in evidence of his confes-
sion to the sheriff, The court found that it was voluntarily made. Ex-
ception. The defendant offered no testimony on the preliminary inquiry.

Verdict: Guilty of murder in the first degree.

Judgment: Death by asphyxiation.

The defendant appeals, assigning errors.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Moody
for the State.
J. G. Prevette for defendant.

Stacy, C. J. The defendant has been convicted of murder in the first
degree, with no recommendation from the jury, and sentenced to die as
the law commands in such cases. He appeals principally upon his chal-
lenge to the admission in evidence of his confession to the sheriff. The
court’s ruling is amply supported by the record. S. v. Hammond, 229
N.C. 108, 47 S.E. 2d 704; S. v. Thompson, 227 N.C. 19, 40 S.E. 2d 620.

There was nothing in the State’s evidence to show involuntariness, and
the defendant offered no testimony on the preliminary inquiry. 8. .
Alston, 215 N.C. 713, 3 S.E. 2d 11; S. v. Richardson, 216 N.C. 304,
4 S.E. 2d 852; 8. v. Smith, 213 N.C. 299, 195 S.E. 819; S. v. Thompson,
224 N.C. 661, 32 S.E. 2d 24. Moreover, the eonfession is supported by
the sheriff’s discoveries in consequence of what the defendant told him.
8. v. Hammond, supra; S. v. Brooks, 225 N.C. 662, 36 S.E. 2d 238; 8. v.
Wase, 225 N.C. 746, 36 S.E. 2d 230; S. v. Grass, 223 N.C. 31, 25 S.E. 2d
193; 8. v. Smath, supra; S. v. McRae, 200 N.C. 149, 156 S.E. 800. But,
then, the truth or correctness of the confession is not challenged. Only
its voluntariness is questioned, and this exclusively on the State’s showing.
S. v. Moore, 210 N.C. 686, 188 S.E. 421, and cases there cited.

The defendant also complains beeause the court did not submit the
lesser degree of murder in the second degree. However, as the defendant,
according to his own confession, slew the deceased in the perpetration of
a robbery, the law pronounces his crime murder in the first degree. G.S.
14-17; 8. ». Biggs, 224 N.C. 722, 32 S.E. 2d 852; S. v. Smath, 223 N.C.
457, 27 S.E. 2d 114; 8. v. Williams, 216 N.C. 446, 5 S.E. 2d 314; §. ».
Alston, 215 N.C. 713, 3 S.E. 2d 11; S. v. Fzum, 213 N.C. 16, 195 S.E. 7;
8. v. Donnell, 202 N.C. 782, 164 S.E. 352; S. v. Covington, 117 N.C. 834,
23 S.E. 337.

On the record as presented, no reversible error has been made to appear.
Hence, the verdict and judgment will be upheld.

No error.
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R. L. PENNY v. VIRGINIA N. NOWELL, ET AL.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Vendor and Purchaser § 7—

Where the vendor disavows the contract, the purchaser is not required
to tender the purchase price within the period of the option, since the law
does not require the doing of a vain thing.

2. Vendor and Purchaser § 25a—

In plaintiff’s action to cancel contract of record, defendant set up a
counterclaim for breach of a provision therein giving defendant the right to
purchase or sell specified property for a stipulated price within a period
of thirty days after termination of the contract. The defendant testified
that within the period of the option she obtained a purchaser able and
willing to buy the property at a price in excess of that stipulated in the
option, and that plaintiff refused to consider the offer or make deed on
the ground that the contract was void. Held: The granting of nonsuit on
the counterclaim was error.

ArreaL by defendant from Stevens, J., May Term, 1949, of Waxkaz.

Civil action to cancel contract of record or to remove it as a cloud on
plaintiff’s title.

The contract provided that if after 15 May, 1947, the plaintiff desired
to terminate the agreement between them, the defendant would have the
privilege of purchasing or selling the property in question at a price of
$15,000.00 within a period of thirty days thereafter.

Plaintiff notified the defendant on 14 May, 1947, that he considered
_the contract void. Defendant testified that within the period of the option
‘she secured a purchaser ready, able and willing to buy a part of the prop-
erty at a price of $20,000, so informed the plaintiff and demanded that
deed accordingly be executed and delivered.

The plaintiff declined to consider the offer or to make deed to the prop-
erty, contending that the contract was null and void, and told the defend-
ant that if she expected to deal with him concerning the property, another
contract would have to be made.

The defendant set up a counterclaim for breach of the contract, and
demanded damages in the sum of $20,000. .

As no tender of the purchase price was made by the defendant within
the stipulated period, the court entered judgment of nonsuit on defend-
ant’s counterclaim and directed a verdict for the plaintiff and rendered
judgment that the paper-writing be canceled of record.

The defendant appeals, assigning errors.

Simms & Simms for plaintiff, appellee.
John W. Hinsdale and J. C. Little, Jr., for defendants, appellants.
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Stacy, C. J. The plaintifi’s disavowal of the contract relieved the
defendant of the necessity of tendering the purchase price within the
period of the option. Such a tender would have availed nothing accord-
ing to the testimony of record. The law does not require the doing of a
vain thing. The disavowal was a waiver of the requirement. Phelps v.
Davenport, 151 N.C. 22, 65 S.E. 459; Gaylord v. McCoy, 161 N.C. 685,
77 S.E. 959.

In this view of the matter, the evidence was quite sufficient to carry
the case tothe jury on the defendant’s counterclaim. Crotts v. Thomas,
226 N.C. 385,.38 S.E: 2d 158; Trust Co. v. Frazelle, 226 N.C. 724, 40
S.E. 2d 367; Cunningham v. Long, 186 N.C. 526, 120 S.E. 81. Hence,
the dismissal of the counterclaim will be reversed, and the directed ver-
dict and judgment for plaintiff set aside and a general new trial ordered.

Reversed and new trial.

MRS. VIOLA F. PARLIER v. G. D. DRUM.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

Appeal and Error § 40f—

‘While ordinarily the Supreme Court will not attempt to chart the course
of the trial upon appeal from denial of motion to strike allegations from
the pleadings, in this action ex contractu, denial of motion, made in apt
time, to strike allegations from the complaint alleging improper and
annoying conduct on the part of defendant causing plaintiff nervous pros-
tration and necessitating medical treatment, is reversed, since the reading
of the pleadings would tend to prejudice defendant.

Arpear by defendant from Coggin, Special Judge, March Term, 1949,
of MEckLENBURG. Modified and affirmed.

Orr & Howis for plaintiff, appellee.
MecDougle, Ervin & Horack for defendant, appellant.

Dzviv, J. The defendant appealed from the denial by the court below
of his motion to strike certain portions from the plaintiff’s complaint.

In her complaint plaintiff alleged that she was induced by the defend-
ant to pay $2,500 as part payment on the purchase price of certain real
property in Charlotte, the defendant paying $5,000 and taking title
thereto in his own name, and that defendant had agreed at the time that
title would be made to her upon repayment of the amount defendant had
contributed. She alleged that defendant has now repudiated their agree-
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ment, and she prays that she recover of defendant $2,500, and that he
be declared to hold the property in trust for her to the extent of her
payments.

The defendant in apt time moved to strike certain portions from the
plaintiff’s complaint on the ground that they were irrelevant and not
necessary to the plaintiff’s statement of her cause of action. He contends
that these were inserted for the purpose of prejudicing him and if allowed
to remain would have a harmful effect when read in the hearing of the
jury at the trial. The court allowed defendant’s motion in part and
declined to strike certain other portions of the ecomplaint, including
paragraph 19. From an examination of this paragraph we observe that
it consists of allegations of improper and annoying conduct on the part
of the defendant toward the plaintiff personally, causing nervous prostra-
tion, necessitating treatment by a physician, and forcing her to seek pro-
tection from the police against the defendant. This seems foreign to the
cause of action alleged and likely to prove prejudicial to the defendant.

‘While, under the rule, an appeal will lie from the denial of a motion
to strike if made before time for answering has expired (G.S. 1-153), it
has been repeatedly declared that this Court will not on such appeal
undertake to chart the eourse of the trial in advance, and that the com-
petency and relevancy of matters set out in the pleadings can be more
properly determined when the evidence is offered. Parker v. Duke Uni-
versity, 230 N.C. 656, 55 S.E. 2d 189; Hall v. Stansbury, 221 N.C. 339,
20 S.E. 2d 308; Hildebrand v. Tel. Co., 216 N.C. 235, 4 S.E. 2d 439;
Scott v. Bryan, 210 N.C. 478 (482), 187 S.E. 756; Hardy v. Dahl, 209
N.C. 746, 184 S.E. 480; Pemberton v. Greensboro, 205 N.C. 599, 172
S.E. 196. In the recent case of Terry v. Ice & Coal Co., ante, 103, in the
opinion by Chief Justice Stacy it was said: “While extraneous matters in
a pleading may invite or attract a motion to strike, this does not put the
pleader in a strait-jacket in respect of pertinent allegations. Nor is it
the province of an appeal in such cases to have the Court chart the course
of the trial in advance.” However, we think the allegation complained
of in the case at bar falls within the rule against including irrelevant
charges against an adversary in the pleadings which when read before
the jury at the trial may result in substantial prejudice. Herndon v.
Massey, 217 N.C. 810, 8 S.E. 2d 914; Brown v. Hall, 226 N.C. 732, 40
S.E. 2d 4192; Ellis v. Ellis, 198 N.C. 767, 153 S.E. 449.

The court below ruled properly on defendant’s motion except that we
think paragraph 19 of the complaint should have been stricken.

Except as herein modified the judgment is affirmed.

Modified and affirmed.
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MAMIE STOWE v. THE CITY OF GASTONIA, a Muxiciear, CORPORATION,
AND GASTONIA COMBED YARN CORPORATION.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

Municipal Corporations § 13b: Waters and Watercourses § 3: Nuisances
8§ 3d—

The complaint alleged that defendant corporation diScharged industrial
wastes into a stream above plaintiff’s property and that defendant munici-
pality discharged sewage therein, and that the several, joint and concur-
rent acts of both defendants rendered the waters of the creek polluted
and constituted a continuing trespass and nuisance to the damage of plain-
tiff’s property. Held: Demurrer on the ground of misjoinder of parties
and causes was properly overruled.

ArpeAL by defendants from Bobbilt, J., at August Civil Term, 1949,
of (asTon.

Civil action to recover damages allegedly resulting from a nuisance,
created by the several, joint and concurrent acts of defendants as set forth
in the complaint, and for injunction against continuance of such acts.

Plaintiff alleges in her complaint: That she is the owner of a certain
tract of land situated on Catawba Creek, in Gaston County, North Caro-
lina; that, prior to the acts hereinafter described, the water of said creek,
as it flowed through, and adjacent to the lands of the plaintiff, was free
of industrial wastes, noxious odors, sewage and poisonous substances, ete.;
that defendant, Gastonia Combed Yarn Corporation, has constructed,
maintains and uses a pipe line from one or more of its factories to
Catawba Creek, and through said line discharges into said ereck above the
land of plaintiff wastes from its manufacturing processes,—sodium
hydroxide, caustie sodas, dyes, chemicals and industrial wastes; that
defendant, City of Gastonia, owns, maintains and operates a sewer system
which carries sewage and other wastes to, and empties same into the
sewage disposal plant, owned, maintained and operated by it, and located
on Catawba Creek above the land of plaintiff; that the said disposal plant
discharges its wastes into Catawba Creek; “that the defendant City,
through its sewer system and sewage disposal plant, and the defendant,
Gastonia Combed Yarn Corporation, through its pipe line, are now and
have been for several years past discharging into Catawba Creek sub-
stances as hereinbefore set out so that the two defendants have joined
together and contaminated the waters of Catawba Creek so that by the
several, joint and concurrent acts of both defendants the waters of said
ereek have become polluted and filled with a filthy sediment, impregnated
with foul, nauseating angd abhorrent stenches and odors, ete.,” such as to
constitute a continuing trespass and a nuisance, to the damage of plaintiff
in substantial amount.
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Defendants demurred to the complaint upon the ground that there is a
misjoinder (1) of parties, and (2) of causes of action. The demurrers
were overruled, and defendants appeal to the Supreme Court and assign
error.

Tillett & Campbell and Wade H. Sanders for plaintiff, appellee.

Ernest B. Warwen for City of Gastonia.

George B. Mason and Cherry & Hollowell for Gastonia Combed Yarn
Corporation, defendants, appellants.

Winsorng, J. There is striking similarity in the allegations con-
tained in the complaint in the present action and those set forth in the
complaints in the case of Moses v. Town of Morganton, and others, ve-
ported in 192 N.C. 102, 1383 S.E. 421, and in the case of Lineberger .
City of Qastonia, and others, reported in 196 N.C. 445, 146 S.E. 79. It
is there held, under similar circumstances and conditions, that there was
no misjoinder of parties or of causes of action.

The cases of Hampton v. Spindale, 210 N.C. 546, 187 S.E. 775, and
Clinard v. Town of Kernersville, 215 N.C. 745, 3 S.E. 2d 267, upon which
appellants rely, are distinguishable in factual situation.

Hence, upon the authority of Moses v. Morganton, supra, and Line-
berger v. Gastonia, supra, in pertinent aspect, the demurrers were prop-
erly overruled.

Affirmed.

IRA S. NICHOLS v. WACHOVIA BANK & TRUST COMPANY.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

1. Appeal and Error § 38—
The burden is upon appellant not only to show error, but also that the
alleged error was prejudicial.

2. Appeal and Error § 39b—

Where, in an action against a safe deposit company for alleged negli-
gence resulting in the loss of specified personalty from the safe deposit box,
the jury finds under instructions not excepted to that plaintiff did not
have the property in the safe deposit box at the time in question, any errors
in instructions in regard to the duty of a safe deposit company to a cus-
tomer, are harmless.

DEvVIN, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

Arpesr by plaintiff from Harris, J., and a jury, at the May Term,
1949, of Waxks.
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The parties agree that during 1948 the plaintifl rented a safe-deposit
box from the defendant, which operates a bank at Raleigh, North
Carolina.

The plaintiff sued the defendant upon a complaint alleging that on or
about 5 January, 1948, the contents of such safe-deposit box, to wit,
$3,500.00 in money, were lost as the result of the negligence or wrongful
acts of the employees in charge of defendant’s safe-deposit department.
The answer denied that the plaintiff had left any money in the safe-
deposit box, and pleaded other defenses.

Both parties presented evidence at the trial in support of their respec-
tive pleadings, and the court submitted the controversy between them to
the jury upon issues tendered by the plaintiff. The jury found on one
of the issues that the plaintiff did not have the money in the safe-deposit
box at the time named in the pleadings, and refrained from answering
the other controversial issues. The court entered judgment on this ver-
dict exonerating the defendant from liability to the plaintiff, and the
plaintiff appealed.

J. L. Emanuel for plaintiff, appellant.
Smith, Leach & Anderson, James K. Dorsett, Jr., A. J. Fletcher, and
F.T. Dupree, Jr., for defendant, appellee.

Ervin, J. If an appellant would be successful in this Court in his
quest for relief against a judgment of the Superior Court, he must show
either by the record proper or by the case on appeal these two things:
(1) That the trial court committed an error; and (2) that such error was
harmful to him. S. v. Gibson, 229 N.C. 497, 50 S.E. 2d 520. This is
true because this Court disregards errors which do not prejudice substan-
tial rights of litigants.

The plaintiff asserts that the trial court erred in its charge by failing
to instruct the jury with the accuracy and completeness required by G.S.
1-180 as to the duty which a safe-deposit company owes to a customer with
respect to property left in a safe-deposit box, and as to the liability of a
safe-deposit company to a customer for acts of agents resulting in the
loss of the contents of a safe-deposit box. For the purpose of this par-
ticular decision, it is assumed that the charge is justly subjeet to this
eriticism.

The plaintiff does not complain, however, in respect to the instructions
of the court on the issue as to whether the plaintiff actually had money
in the safe-deposit box at the time named in the pleadings. In conse-
quence, the finding of the jury on this issue is binding on this appeal, and
establiskés these two ultimate facts: (1) That the money mentioned in
the complaint was not left in the safe-deposit bex by plaintiff; and (2)
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that the plaintiff did not suffer the loss of the contents of the safe-deposit
box as a result of the acts of the employees in charge of the defendant’s
safe-deposit department.

This being true, the plaintiff sustained no injury on account of the
failure of the trial court to give the jury proper instructions as to what
the duty and liability of the defendant would have been if these non-
existent matters had been actualities. Hence, the appeal is unavailing for
the reason that a failure to give proper instruections to the jury is neces-
sarily harmless, when the verdict shows that there is no resulting injury.
Supply Co. v. Board of Education, 199 N.C. 575, 155 S.E, 252; Bryant
v. Stone, 178 N.C. 291, 100 S.E. 578; Bond v. E. R., 175 N.C. 606, 96
S.E. 22; Lloyd ». R. R., 166 N.C. 24, 81 S.E. 1003; Dale », R. R., 132
N.C. 705, 44 S.E. 399,

For these reasons, there is in a legal sense

NO error,

Devin, J., tock no part in the consideration or decision of this ecase,

F. B. CARPENTER axp Wirg, MARY CARPENTER, axp R. L. CARPENTER
v. HORACE YANCEY anp DAISY YANCEY a~xp H. 8. JOYNER.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

Frauds, Statute of, § 15— .
Nonsuit is properly entered in an action on a contract relating to the
sale of realty when plaintiff introduces only oral evidence of the alleged
written agreement.

Appear by plaintiffs from Bobbitt, J.. September Term, 1949, of
Gasron.  Affirmed.

J. L. Hamme for appellants.
Ernest R. Warren for defendants, appellees.

Per Curiaa. This was an action to recover of the defendants dam-
ages for breach of contract relative to the purchase of a house and lot in
Gastonia. The case on appeal recites “writings purporting to set forth
the terms of the contract were signed and exchanged.” On the trial the
plaintiffs offered the oral testimony of one of the plaintiffs but declined
to offer the written contract. The court held plaintiff had failed to make
out a case, and entered judgment of nonsuit. We affirm.
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JOAN ANNETTE FOY, By HEr Next Friexp, THOMAS G. LLANE, JR, v,
FOY ELECTRIC COMPANY.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

Parent and Child § 3b—

In an action in tort by an infant against a corporation, allegations of
the answer setting up the defense that the infant’s parents were majority
stockholders in the corporation and that to the extent of such stock owner-
ship the action was in tort by an infant against its parents, held properiy
stricken on motion aptly made under authority of Wright v. Wright, 229
N.C. 503.

Appear by defendant from Armstrong, J., at 2 May, 1949, Regular
Term of MECKLENBURG.

Civil action to recover for damages for alleged actionable negligence
of defendant in the operation of its truck by its servant and agent,
Howard J. Foy.

The case was heard upon motion of plaintiff to strike from defendant’s
further answer these averments: (1) That at the time referred to in the
complaint the infant plaintiff was daughter of said Howard J. Foy,—
living in his household as a member of his family; (2) that Howard J.
Foy and his wife, the mother of infant plaintiff, own one-half of the out-
standing stock of defendant corporation; and (3) that, to the extent of
his stock ownership in the corporation, the action is in effect against
Howard J. Foy by his infant daughter, the maintenance of which is
against public policy. The presiding judge allowed the motion to strike
paragraph two and three, but disallowed it as to the remaining paragraph.

Defendant appeals to Supreme Court and assigns error.

McDougle, Ervin & Horack and Frank W. Snepp, Jr., for plaintiff,
appellee.
Robinson & Jones and John M. Robinson, Jr., for defendant, appellant.

Per Curtam. The action of the court in striking paragraphs two and
three is accordant with the principle enunciated and applied in Wright
v, Wright, 229 N.C. 508, 50 S.E. 2d 540. Hence, the ruling from which
dppeal is taken is

Affirmed.

7—231
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STATE v. MONROE MEDLIN.
(Filed 23 November, 1949.)

Criminal Law § 80b (4)~—

‘Where defendant fails to serve case on appeal within the time allowed
and takes no steps to perfect his appeal, the motion of the Attorney-
General to docket and dismiss will be allowed, but where defendant has
been convicted of a capital felony this will be done only after an inspection
of the record proper fails to disclose error.

Arprar by defendant from Bobbetf, J., at August Term, 1949, of
MECRLENBURG. ‘

Attorney-General MeMullan and Assistant Attorney-Gemeral Moody
for the State.

No counsel contra.

Per Curiam. The defendant was convicted of murder in the first
degree. Sentence of death by asphyxiation was imposed. Defendant gave
notice of appeal. No case on appeal was served within the time allowed
by the court below, and counsel for defendant in the trial below have
notified the Clerk of the Superior Court of Mecklenburg County that
they do not “plan to take any further action with reference to the appeal.”

The Attorney-General moves to docket and dismiss the appeal. The
motion must be allowed, but, according to the usual rule of the Court in
capital cases, we have examined the record to see if any error appears.
We find no error therein. S.v. Watson, 208 N.C. 70, 179 S.E. 455.

Judgment aflirmed.

Appeal dismissed.

RALPH C. CLONTZ, JR., v. JAMES R. PURSER, TrabiNé as PURSER’S
ESSO SERVICE.

(Filed 23 November, 1949.)
Negligence § 4f (2)—
Nonsuit held properly entered in an action by a customer to recover for

the burning of his coat which caught fire as he passed a red hot stove in
defendant’s place of business.

Appear by plaintiff from Armstrong, J., at June Term, 1949, of
MECKLENBURG.

Civil aetion to recover damages allegedly resulting from the negligence
of the defendant.
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While he was an invitee in defendant’s place of business, plaintiff’s
overcoat canght fire and was rendered useless. The stove in the building
was red hot. Apparently the overcoat caught fire as plaintiff passed by
the stove on his way from the men’s room. The condition of the stove was
apparent to anyone who chose to look.

The court, at the conclusion of the plaintiff’s evidence in chief, entered
judgment as in case of nonsuit and plaintiff appealed.

Plainteff appellant in propria persona.
Robinson & Jones and John M. Robinson, Jr., for defendant appellee,

Prr Curiam. We concur in the conelusion of the court below that
the testimony offered fails to show actionable negligence on the part of
the defendant such as would require submission of issues to a jury.
Therefore, the judgment entered is

Affirmed.

STATE v. JOHN ROBERT BRIDGES, Arias JACK BRIDGES.
(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

Homicide § 27b: Criminal Law §§ 53b, 81c¢ (2)—Charge construed con-
textually held not prejudicial as withdrawing question of innocence
from jury.

Defendant entered a plea of not guilty. Defendant’s confession, ad-
mitted in evidence without objection, disclosed a clear case of premeditated
and deliberate murder. The State contended for a verdict of murder in
the first degree and defendant contended that a verdict of murder in the
second degree would meet the ends of justice. The court correctly charged
on the presumption of innocence and in several portions of the charge
instructed the jury that it was to pass upon the guilt or innocence of
defendant, but in the final instructions charged the jury to take the case
and say whether defendant was guilty of murder in the first degree or
murder in the second degree. Held: The failure of the court to charge in
each instance that the jury might find the defendant not guilty does not
constitute prejudicial error in the light of the record, construing the charge
in its entirety.

Ervin, J., dissenting.
SEAWELL, J., conenrs in dissent.

BARNHILL, J., concurring.

ArpEAL by defendant from Burgwyn, Special Judge, April Term, 1949,
of Wakz.
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Criminal prosecution on indictment charging the defendant with the
murder of one Keston Norris Privette.

The record discloses that on 7 February, 1949, the defendant lured the
deceased from his home, bludgeoned him over the head with the stock of
a rifle, and buried him, while still alive, in a shallow hole or grave which
the defendant previously had prepared for the purpose. He died from
suffocation. The defendant and the wife of the deceased then fled to the
State of Georgia. While under arrest in that State, the defendant made
a confession to the officers in which he freely admitted the atrociousness
of the crime and the sordid details of his illicit relations with the youthful
wife of the deceased. Under this confession, which is not now challenged,
a clear case of premeditated and deliberate murder is fully made out.

While the defendant entered a plea. of not guilty, the case was argued
to the jury on the opposing contentions, first by the State that a verdict
of murder in the first degree should be returned against the defendant,
and, secondly, by the defendant that a verdiet of murder in the second
degree would meet the ends of justice.

In opening his charge to the jury, the trial court instructed them that
they were to pass upon the “guilt or innocence of the prisoner” and to say
by their verdict the degree of guilt the prisoner has incurred by reason
of the homicide in question, “or to say by your verdict that he is not
guilty of any crime,” as you may find the facts to be from the evidence in
the case and under the rule of law which the court will undertake to give
you for your guidance.

Then when the court came to consider the different degrees of an
unlawful homicide, he addressed the following inquiry to the defendant
and his counsel :

“I do not understand—and if T misunderstand I wish now to be cor-
rected—that the defendant contends, either in his own proper person or
through counsel, that this jury should render any less verdiet than that
of murder in the second degree: Is that correct, gentlemen?

“Mr. Holding: That is correct.

“Mr. Ehringhaus: That is correet, sir.

“The defendant bowed his head in affirmation.

“Let the record so show.”

Later in the charge, the jury was again admonished that the defendant
“comes into court surrounded and clothed with a presumption of inno-
cence which remaing around and about him throughout the entire case
unless and until the State has satisfied you, the jury, of his guilt beyond
a reasonable doubt.”

Finally, the court concluded his charge to the jury as follows:

“Take the case and say whether or not you find the defendant guilty
of murder in the first degree and, if so, whether or not you desire to recom-
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mend life imprisonment, or if you find him guilty of murder in the second
degree.” Exception.

Verdict: Guilty of murder in the first degree.

Judgment: Death by asphyxiation.

The defendant appeals, assigning errors.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorneys-General Bruton
and Moody for the State.

J. C. B. Ehringhaus, Jr., and Clem B. Holding for defendant.

Stacy, C. J. The defendant has been convicted of murder in the first
degree, without any recommendation from the jury, and sentenced to die
as the law commands in such case. He appeals, giving as his prineipal
reason the failure of the court, in his final instruction to the jury, to
permit an acquittal in case of a finding that the defendant had committed
no crime. For this position, the defendant relies upon the following cases :
S. v. Howell, 218 N.C. 280, 10 S.E. 2d 815; S. v. Redman, 217 N.C. 483,
8 S.E. 2d 623; 8. v. Mazwell, 215 N.C. 32, 1 S.E. 2d 125; S. v. Hill, 141
N.C. 769, 53 S.E. 311; 8. v Dizon, 75 N.C. 275. He stresses the Howell
and Mazwell cases as being quite pertinent and directly in point.

Viewing the charge contextually, as required by many decisions, we are
constrained to hold that it sufficiently meets the objection which the
defendant now makes. S. v. Truelove, 224 N.C. 147, 29 S.E. 2d 460;
8. v. Grass, 223 N.C. 31, 25 S.E. 2d 193; S. v. Harris, 223 N.C. 697,
28 S.E. 2d 232; 8. v. Ellis, 203 N.C. 836, 167 S.E. 67.

It is true, a more formal statement of the position would have been in
order, but throughout the charge, the jury was admonished that a pre-
sumption of innocence surrounded the defendant which remained with
him up to the rendition of an adverse verdict against him. Considering
the charge as a whole or in its entirety, we think it will do. While it
might have been more specific and direct on the point at issue, we are
disposed to uphold the trial in the light of the record.

The meaning properly to be ascribed to the responses made by the
defendant and his counsel to the court’s inquiry during the charge is that
there was no element of manslaughter in the case. In this, they were
quite correct. There was no intention, however, to change the defendant’s
plea or to relieve the court of any duty which the law imposed upon him.
8. v. Grier, 209 N.C. 298, 183 S.E. 272; 8. v. Merrick, 171 N.C. 788,
88 S.E. 501; 8. v. Foster, 130 N.C. 666, 41 S.E. 284. The immediate
purpose was to eliminate any question of manslaughter. This part of the
record may be put to one side as without material significance or hearing
on the question here involved.
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The question presented perhaps lends itself to much writing, but in
the end 1t all comes to the interpretation to be placed on the entire charge.
Construing it as without reversible error, we are disposed to overrule
the exceptions and sustain the validity of the trial in the light of the
whole record.

" No error.

Ervir, J., dissenting: The prisoner claims the right to a new trial
on the ground that essential rules of eriminal procedure were set at naught
on his trial in the court below.

Candor compels the confession that it is not altogether easy to hearken
to the prisoner’s plea. The State’s testimony tends to show that the
prisoner coveted his neighbor’s wife, and slew his neighbor with rare
atrocity that his physical enjoyment of the wife’s person might be exclu-
sive. The very sordidness of the evidence strongly tempts us to say that
justice and law are not always synonymous, and to vote for an affirmance
of the judgment of death on the theory that justice has triumphed, how-
ever much law may have suffered. But the certainty that justice cannot
long outlive law gives us pause; and the pause brings again to mind the
ancient admonition of our organic law that “a frequent recurrence to
fundamental principles is absolutely necessary to preserve the blessings
of liberty.” N. C. Const., Article I, See. 29.

The system of criminal justice which prevails in North Carolina is a
precious heritance from wise lawmakers of past generations, who observed
that tyranny uses the forms of criminal law to destroy those that oppose
her will, and who established certain basic rules of criminal procedure
to protect the people against such oppression. They bottomed these rules
upon the bedrock proposition that the right to trial by jury is the best
security of the liberty of men, and they guaranteed such right to all
defendants in criminal actions in the Superior Court by the constitutional
declaration that “no person shall be convicted of any crime but by the
unanimous verdiet of a jury of good and lawful persons in open court.”
N. C. Const., Art. I, Sec. 13. It has been held by this Court without
variableness or shadow of turning that when a defendant on trial in a
criminal case in the Superior Court pleads not guilty to the charge against
him, he may not thereafter, without changing his plea, waive his consti-
tutional right to have the jury pass upon his guilt or innocence. 8. v.
Muse, 219 N.C. 226, 13 S.E. 2d 229; 8. ». Fllis, 210 N C. 170, 185 S.E.
662; S. v. Hell, 209 N.C. 53, 182 S.E. 716; 8. v. Crump, 209 N.C. 52,
182 S.E. 716; 8. v. Camby, 209 N.C. 50, 182 S.E. 715; 8. v. Walters, 208
N.C. 3891, 180 S.E. 664; S. v. Straughn, 197 N.C. 691, 150 S.E. 330;
8. v. Crawford, 197 N.C. 518, 149 S.E. 729; S. v. Pulliam, 184 N.C. 681,
114 S.E. 894; S. v. Rogers, 162 N.C. 656, 78 S.E. 293, 46 L.R.A. (N.8.)
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38, Ann. Cas. 1914 A, 867; S. v. Holt, 90 N.C. 749, 47 Am. Rep., 544;
S. v. Stewart, 89 N.C. 563.

The founders of our legal system intended that the constitutional right
of trial by jury should be a vital force rather than an empty form in the
administration of eriminal justice. They realized that this could not be
if the petit jury should become a mere unthinking echo of the judge’s
will. To forestall such eventuality, they clearly demarcated the respective
functions of the judge and the jury in both civil and eriminal trials in
a familiar statute, which was enacted in 1796 and which originally bore
this caption: “An act to secure the impartiality of trial by jury, and to
direct the conduct of judges in charges to the petit jury.” Potter’s
Revisal, Vol. 1, c¢h. 452. This statute, which now appears as G.S. 1-180,
establishes these fundamental propositions: (1) That it is the duty of the
judge alone to decide legal questions presented at the trial, and to instruct
the jury as to the law arising on the evidence given in the case; (2) that
it is the task of the jury alone to determine the facts of the case from the
evidence adduced ; and (3) that “no judge, in giving a charge to the petit
jury, either in a civil or eriminal action, shall give an opinion whether
a fact is fully or sufficiently proven, that being the true office and province
of the jury”” This statute is designed to make effectual the right of
every litigant “to have his cause considered with the ‘cold neutrality of
the impartial judge’ and the equally unbiased mind of a properly in-
structed jury.” Withers v. Lane, 144 N.C. 184, 56 S.E. 855. Any state-
ment by the judge from which the jury may infer what his opinion is as
to the guilt of the accused violates both the letter and the spirit of this
statute, and constitutes reversible error. 8. v. Mazwell, 215 N.C. 32,
1 8.E. 2d 125; 8. v. Sparks, 184 N.C. 745, 114 S.E. 755.

Those who fashioned the basic concepts of our law entertained an
abiding belief that any fair system of eriminal justice must insure the
acquittal of innocent persons so far as that can be done by human agency.
To accomplish this object, they created an unvarying rule that every
defendant brought to trial on any eriminal charge in any criminal case
is to be presumed to be innocent of the erime charged against him. This
presumption of innocence attends the accused at every stage of his trial,
and shields him from convietion unless it is overcome by evidence satisfy-
ing the jury beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime
alleged. 8. v. Mazwell, supra; S. v. Carver, 213 N.C. 150, 195 S.E. 349;
S. v. Bllis, 210 N C. 166, 185 S.E. 663; 8. v. Shipman, 202 N.C. 518,
163 S.E. 657; 8. v. Spivey, 198 N C. 655, 153 S.E. 255; §. v. McLeod,
198 N.C. 649, 152 S.E. 895; 8. v. Allen, 197 N.C. 684, 150 S.E. 337;
8. v. Boswell, 194 N.C. 260, 139 S.E. 374; S. v. Tucker, 190 N.C. 708,
130 S.E. 720; 8. v. Arrowood, 187 N.C. 715, 122 S.E. 759; §. v. Single-
ton, 183 N.C. 788, 110 S.E. 846; S. v. Windley, 178 N.C. 670, 100 S.E.
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116. A judge commits prejudicial error if he gives the jury an instruc-
tion which deprives an accused of his presumption of innocence. Gomala
v. U. S., 146 F. 2d 872; People v. Gerold, 265 Ill. 448, 107 N.E. 165,
Ann. Cas. 1916 A, 636.

Another basic rule of eriminal procedure is embodied in the constitu-
tional assurance that a defendant in a criminal prosecution shall “not
be compelled to give evidence against himself.” N. (. Const., Art. I,
Sec. 11. This clause is the linguistic offspring of the Latin maxim
nemo tenetur seipsum accusare, meaning that no man can be compelled
to criminate himself. 14 Am. Jur., Criminal Law, section 144; 22 C.J.S,
Criminal Law, section 649. The events giving rise to this clause and
similar constitutional guaranties in other jurisdietions is epitomized in
Brown v. Walker, 161 U.S. 591, 40 L. Ed. 819, 16 S. Ct. 644. The object
of this provision is to secure a person who is or may be charged with
crime from making compulsory revelations which could be used against
him on his trial for the offense. 8. v. Hollingsworth, 191 N.C. 595, 132
S.E. 667; LaFontaine v. Southern Underwriters, 83 N.C. 133,

The benefit of these procedural principles must be extended to all men
with impartiality and inflexibility if the innocent are to be secured against
the hazard of unjust conviction, and the State is to have a government
of laws rather than one of men. Even the rain falls upon the just and
the unjust alike. To be sure, these rules may on occasion delay the
convietion of the guilty, or even permit them to go unwhipped of justice
altogether. But that is, indeed, not too great a price to pay for so
effective an insurance of the acquittal of the innocent.

This brings us to this question: Were these basic principles observed
on the trial of the prisoner in the court below? My interpretation of the
transeript of the record on appeal compels me to answer this inquiry
in the negative.

The record proper discloses that the prisoner was arraigned in the
court below with the ancient and awesome formality which obtains in
trials for capital felonies in the Superior Court, and that he thereupon
entered a plea of not guilty, which was not withdrawn at any subsequent
stage of the trial. Furthermore, the case on appeal shows that he did not
take the stand as a witness in his own behalf.

At the beginning of the charge, the court told the jury, in substance,
that it was authorized to return one of three different verdicts, ¢.e., guilty
of murder in the first degree, guilty of murder in the second degree, or
not guilty, depending entirely upon what it found the facts of the case
to be from the testimony adduced. This instruction was clearly correct,
for there was no evidence in the case justifying a conviction for man-
slaughter. But it was nullified in three subsequent parts of the charge,
which form the bases.for Exceptions Nos. 15, 32, and 33.
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Exception No. 15 is addressed to this instruction: “I instruct you,
however, that you have the right to render under the evidence in this
case one of two verdicts. You may find the defendant guilty of murder
in the first degree, or you may find him guilty of murder in the second
degree.” Exception No. 32 challenges a portion of the charge in which
the court advised the jury that it would be its duty “to render a verdiet
of guilty of murder in the second degree” in case it did not find accused
guilty of first degree murder. Exception No. 83 covers the last para-
graph of the charge, which was in these words: “Take the case and say
whether or not you find the defendant guilty of murder in the first
degree, and if so, whether or not you desire to recommend life imprison-
ment, or if you find him guilty of murder in the second degree. Take
the case, gentlemen.”

Soon after giving the jury the instruction covered by Exception No. 15,
the court paused in its charge and propounded this question to the pris-
oner and his counsel in the presence of the jury: “I do not understand—
and if I misunderstand I wish now to be corrected—that the defendant
contends, either in his own proper person or through counsel, that this
jury should render any less verdict than that of murder in the second
degree. Is that correct, gentlemen?’ The case on appeal recites that
counsel for the prisoner thereupon replied: “That is correct”; and that
the prisoner “bowed his head in affirmation.”

If the jury had been permitted to rely on its own judgment, it might
well have had serious doubt as to the probative value of the affirmation
of the somewhat unlettered prisoner that it should “not render any less
verdict than that of murder in the second degree” in the absence of any
indication that he had any notion as to the constituent elements of the
several grades of felonious homicide. But the jury was substantially
instructed by the court in later portions of the charge, to which the
prisoner has reserved exceptions, that the prisoner admitted “he would
be guilty of murder in the second degree upon the evidence which has
been adduced by the State,” and that the prisoner did not deny ‘“that
upon this testimony as introduced by the State the jury would be justi-
fied in convicting him of at least murder in the second degree.”

It is manifest that substantial procedural rights of the prisoner were
nullified at his trial.

The court ought not to have made its inquiry of the accused and his
counsel in the presence of the jury. The question itself necessarily
implied an assumption on the part of the court that the prisoner was
not innocent, but, on the contrary, was guilty of no less a crime than that
of murder in the second degree. When the court thus questioned the
accused in the presence of the jury, it virtually forced an ineriminatory
admission from him notwithstanding he had refrained from taking the
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stand as a witness and had a constitutional right not to be compelled to
give evidence against himself.

The court gave its opinions as to what the testimony proved contrary
to .8, 1-180 in the portions of the charge which the prisoner assigns as
error. This is true because the jury unavoidably inferred from these
instructions that the court knew that the accused was guilty of no less
a crime than second degree murder, and strongly suspected that he was
actually guilty of first degree murder. Furthermore, the court charged
the jury, in substance, in these same instructions that it had no legal
power to acquit the prisoner, but was required by the law itself to conviet
him of either murder in the first degree or murder in the second degree.
In so doing, the court deprived the accused of his presumption of inno-
cence, and denied to him his constitutional right to have the issue of his
guilt or innocence determined by the jury.

Neither the compulsory affirmation of the aceused nor the statement
of his counsel can be construed to be judicial admissions excusing such
action on the part of the court. These matters did not withdraw this
case from the operation of the fundamental principle that so long as
a plea of not guilty stands in a eriminal action on trial in the Superior
Court, the jury alone is empowered to determine whether the testimony
be true or false, and what it proves if it be true. S. v. Hill, 141 N.C. 769,
53 S.E. 311; 8. v. Riley, 118 N.C. 648, 18 S.E. 168; 8. v. Dizon, 75
N.C. 275. The prisoner could not admit or confess away the presumption
that he was innocent, or waive the constitutional necessity for having
the issue of his guilt or innocence decided by a jury by anything short
of a plea of guilty, and no act, omission, or word of his or his counsel
could constitute a plea of guilty to any offense embraced within the
indictment unless it was accepted as such by the prosecution. There is
no such thing in law as an unaccepted plea of guilty. In consequence,
the contention of the State that the prisoner made an unaccepted plea of
guilty of murder in the second degree, and that such unaccepted plea of
guilty destroyed the presumption that he was innocent and disabled the
jury to acquit him is untenable both in law and logie.

The State cites S. v. Miller, 197 N.C. 445, 149 S.E. 590, where this
language is used in the opinion: “The prisoner, who testified that he
was not drinking on the day in question, tendered a plea of murder in the
second degree, but this was not accepted by the State. The appeal, there-
fore, presents the single question as to whether the evidence tending to
show premeditation and deliberation is sufficient to warrant a verdict
of murder in the first degree. We think it is.”

The Miller case has no application whatever to the present appeal.
An examination of the original record in that action discloses that the
trial judge submitted the issue of the guilt or innocence of the accused
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to the jury under a charge to which no exception was taken, and that the
jury convicted the accused of first degree murder after a trial in which
all basic procedural rules were observed. The only question raised by the
_ assignments of error in the Miller case was the sufficiency of the State’s
evidence to support the first degree verdict, and the only decision made
therein by this Court was that it was ample for that purpose. Both the
original transcript and the opinion disclose the absolute accuracy of this
ruling. It is true that counsel for the accused in the Miller case an-
nounced his willingness to submit his elient for second degree murder
during a colloquy with the court and the Solicitor occurring in the absence
of the jury. This offer was rejected by the Solicitor, and was not com-
municated to the jury. In truth, it did not figure in the trial in any
way whatsoever. The reference to the matter in the quoted portion of
the opinion was evidently designed to emphasize that the only question
under consideration was the sufficiency of the State’s evidence to sustain
the first degree verdict.

This cause ought to be tried anew in accordance with sound and time-
honored procedural practices. It might well be that such a retrial would
result in the same verdict and judgment. That possibility should not
shape our action. What may be the ultimate fate of the prisoner in
this case is of relatively minor importance in the sum total of things.
In any event, his role on life’s stage, like ours, soon ends. But what
happens to the law in this case is of gravest moment. It must be realized
that the consequences of the decision of this Court on this appeal will not
be confined to the single prosecution which is denominated on the docket
as “State versus John Robert Bridges, alias Jack Bridges.” Such deci-
sion will be invoked in other criminal trials as a guiding and binding
precedent. The preservation unimpaired of our basic rules of criminal
procedure is an end far more desirable than that of hurrying a single
sinner to what may be his merited doom. For this reason, I vote for a
new trial, and dissent to the ruling which makes my vote ineffectual.

Mr. Justice Seawell has authorized me to state that he concurs in
this dissent.

BarwuILy, J., concurring: The dissent filed herein discusses a feature
of the case to which no exception was entered and upon which the defend-
ant does not rely in his brief. His counsel excepted for that (1) the
court instructed the jury they could return in this case only one of two
verdiets: guilty of murder in the first degree or guilty of murder in the
second degree; and (2) the court failed to instruet the jury that they
could return a verdiet of not guilty. These two exceptions are directed
to the one assignment of error debated here, to wit, the court erred in that
it did not sufficiently charge the jury that it might, and the conditions
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under which it should, return a verdict of not guilty. This assignment
is fully discussed in the majority opinion. In the conclusion there
reached I concur.

But what about the rabbit flushed by the dissent? Did the court unduly
prejudice defendant in its instruetions and by the colloquy with eounsel
during the charge? Since the defendant’s life is at stake, this attack
upon the validity of the trial should not go unanswered.

There was uncontradicted and compelling evidence that defendant slew
the deceased. It contains no element of mitigating circumstances, and
its credibility was not substantially assailed. Wisdom dictated that
counsel, to save the life of their client, undertake to persuade the jury
that the circumstances of the killing were not such as to establish pre-
meditation and deliberation beyond a reasonable doubt. The record
indicated that they, in conducting the defense and in their arguments to
the jury, wisely pursued this course. That this was the theory of the
defense was admitted here. So I understood.

The court, to be quite sure that it correctly interpreted the theory of
the defense, gave counsel for the defendant full opportunity to challenge
its instructions based thereon, to the end that it might correct them if
it was in error. Practically at the threshold of the charge the colloquy
between court and counsel, quoted in the majority opinion, took place.
No exception was entered then and no assignment of error based thereon
is presented here.

Thus eounsel, in effect, formally admitted, in open court as well as in
their arguments, that the homicide was committed by defendant and that
the circumstances of the killing were such as to make it murder in the
second degree. To this defendant indicated his assent. In my opinion
this is the one reasonable interpretation to be placed on the colloquy
between court and counsel.

Had counsel so stated at the beginning of the trial, it would have been
binding on defendant. That it was made during the progress of the trial
does not alter its force and effect. S. v. Grier, 209 N.C. 298, 183 S.E. 272.
It was a judicial admission made in open court and in the presence of
the defendant. It was made at a time and under circumstances which
afforded him an opportunity to protest. 8. v. Redman, 217 N.C. 483,
8 S.E. 2d 628. They were authorized to speak for him. The court acted
on the admission. That it did so cannot be held for error. 8. v. Grier,
supra.

It is true the defendant did not go on the witness stand, and the colloquy
took place in the presence of the jury. But the court made no direct
inquiry of the defendant which put him “on the spot” and compelled, or
even invited, an ineriminating reply. The court did, however, by its
inquiry, afford the defendant full opportunity to affirm or deny the
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formal statement of counsel, otherwise binding on him. This was a
thoughtful and praiseworthy effort on the part of the trial judge to
protect the defendant in all of his rights.

The formal admission had already been made. It did not require
defendant’s affirmative ratification. His silence would have given assent,
but he elected to afirm. How the action of the court in affording him an
opportunity to repudiate it could be prejudicial to him I cannot perceive.

In any event, whether counsel referred to the only possible verdicts to
be rendered or to the question of manslaughter, the court, notwithstanding
the admission, admonished the jury that it should not conviet the defend-
ant of any offense unless it was fully satisfied by the evidence that he
committed the homicide charged. This feature of the charge is fully
discussed in the majority opinion.

I vote to affirm,

WILLIAM HAROLD HENSON axp DOLORES ELAINE HENSON, MINORS,
BY THEIR NEXT FRIEND, WILLIAM M. HENSON, v. CECIL THOMAS.
(Riled 30 November, 1949.)

1. Common Law—

So much of the common law as has not been abrogated or repealed by
statute is in full force and effect within this State, G.S. 4-1. There is no
common law right of action by children against a third party for disrupting
the family circle and thereby depriving them of the affection and care of
their parents.

2. Courts § 1—

It is the province of the courts to declare the law as it exists and not
to create causes of action by engaging in judicial empiricism.

8. Parent and Child § 3c—

Children may not maintain an action against a third person for crim-
inal conversation and alienation of the affections of their mother. There
is neither common law nor statutory basis for such action, and the problem
is socjological rather than legal.

SeawgLL, J., dissenting.

ErviN, J., concurs in dissent.

Arprar by defendant from Sharp, Special Judge, September Term,
1949, RanporpH. Reversed.

Civil action to reecover damages for eriminal conversation with and
alienation of the affections of plaintiffs’ mother, heard on demurrer,
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Plaintiffs are the infant children of their next friend and his wife,
Estelle Henson. They allege in substance that they and their parents
lived happily together in a new home; that defendant, for the purpose
of seducing their mother and alienating her affections, paid constant
court to her; that as a result of his improper attentions she was induced
to leave home on various occasions and go to other cities where she
engaged in illicit relations with him; that he thereby alienated the affec-
tions of their mother, goaded their father into leaving home, and caused
them to lose the companionship, guidance, and care of both their father
and mother and brought disgrace upon them to their great hurt and
damage. They allege their mother, through the inducement and allure-
ment of defendant, was absent from home from time to time, but they do
not allege that she has abandoned them or her home or that she does not
still live with them.

The defendant demurred for that the complaint fails to state a cause
of action. The demurrer was overruled and defendant appealed.

Ottway Burton for plaintiff appellees.
Miller & Moser for defendant appellant.

BarwmiLL, J. May children, acting through their father as next
friend, maintain an action against a third party for damages for wrong-
fully disrupting the family circle and thereby depriving them of the
affection, companionship, guidance, and care of their parents? This is
the question posed for decision. We are constrained to answer in the
negative.

There is no statute in this State creating a cause of action such as the
plaintiffs here seek to assert. If it exists, the basis therefor must be found
in the common law.

So much of the common law as has not been abrogated or repealed by
statute is in full force and effect within this State. G.S. 4-1. But an
~action such as this was not known to the common law. The mutual
advantages, privileges, and responsibilities of members of the family
circle were deemed to be social rather than legal. With few exceptions,
loss of these benefits, either through an act of a member of the family
group or of a third party, could not be recompensed through an action
at law.

One spouse could not sue the other, Scholtens v. Scholtens, 230 N.C.
149, and a child could not maintain an action in tort against his parent.
Small v. Morrison, 185 N.C. 577, 118 S.E. 12. The husband could sue
a third party for criminal conversation with, and the alienation of the
affections of, his wife; but the action was grounded on the common law
conception of the husband’s property right in the person of his wife.
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“The peace of society, and of the families composing society, and a
sound public policy, designed to subserve the repose of families and the
best interests of society, forbid to the minor child a right to appear in
court in the assertion of a claim to civil redress for personal injuries
suffered at the hands of the parent.” Small v. Morrison, supra.

The mutual rights and privileges of home life grow out of the marital
status. Affection, guidance, companionship, loving care, and domestic
service constitute, in part, the mother’s contribution to the happiness and
well-being of the family circle. Such obligations on her part are not legal
In nature and may not be made the subjeet of commerce and bartered
at the counter. Ritchie v. White, 225 N.C. 450, 35 S.E. 2d 414.

Here there is no allegation of abandonment. If the mother is guilty
of nonsupport, the statute provides a remedy, Chap. 810, Session Laws
1949, and this remedy is exclusive. Allen v. Hunnacutt, 230 N.C. 49.

If the defendant seduced the mother and thereby caused the father
to leave home, the cause of action for the resulting damages rests in the
father and not the children. If the father abandoned his children, what-
ever the cause, he is the one who must answer therefor.

The demurrer admits that plaintiffs have been deprived of the com-
panionship, guidance, love, and affection of their mother. This was
brought about by the act of the mother in withdrawing these incidents
of family life from them. In so doing she has committed no legal wrong
for which redress may be had in a court of law.

A child may expect its mother to make these contributions to the home
and eonfidently anticipate that she will ever maintain and preserve her
chastity. Yet it may not be said that when she gave it birth, she thereby
assumed a legal obligation not only to give it love and affection but also
to guard with jealous care the purity and uprightness of character the
child so trustfully expects of its mother. These are matters within her
keeping. The measure of their contribution is controlled by her willing-
ness and capacity.

Since the mother, who is a free agent, committed no legal wrong for
which redress may be had in a court of law, it cannot be said that the
defendant, who allegedly induced her to be remiss in her domestic duties,
incurred any greater liability than the law attaches to her act.

To hold otherwise would mean that every time a person persuades
or induces a mother to engage in other activities to such an extent as to
canse her to neglect her children, he commits a tort for which he may
be compelled to respond in damages. The only difference lies in the
gravity of the wrong and the extent of the damage.

The problem here, in its last analysis, is sociological rather than legal.
No one would question the fact that a child has an interest in all the
benefits .of the family circle. Nor may it be denied that the legislative
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branch of the government may give this interest such legal sanction as
would make the invasion or destruction thereof a legal wrong. So far,
it has not deemed it wise to do so.

It is contended, however, that there is no statutory prohibition against
this type of action; that the integrity of the relations and social consid-
erations demand judicial recognition of defendant’s lability for enticing
plaintiffs’ mother from the family home. DBut the social considerations
and the alleged necessity or advisability of protecting the family relation
by upholding the action here contended for are arguments more properly
addressed to the legislative branch of the government.

“The ‘excelsior cry for a better system’ in order to keep step with the
new conditions and spirit of a more progressive age must be made to the
Legislature, rather than to the courts.” Gowin v. Gowin, 264 SW. 529;
Garza v. Garza, 209 S.W. 2d 1012. Our province is to enforce the law
as we find it and to determine the existence or nonexistence of such a
cause of action by the state of the law as it now exists. In doing so, we
are not permitted to find a way out for plaintiffs by engaging in judicial
empiricism.

The asserted cause of action was not known to the common law. It
has no statutory sanction. It is not for the courts to convert the home
into a commercial enterprise in which each member of the group has a
right to seek legal redress for the loss of its benefits. It follows, therefore,
that the court below erred in overruling the demurrer.

This conclusion is in accord with the decisions in other jurisdictions.
Morrow v. Yannantuono, 273 N.Y.S. 912; Rudley v. Tobias, 190 P. 2d
984 ; McMillan v. Taylor, 160 ¥. 2d 221; Taylor v. Keefe, 56 A. 2d T68;
Pound, Individual Interests in the Domestic Relations, 14 Mich. L. R.
177, at p. 185; 2 Cooley, Torts, 4th Ed., 41, sec. 174; Prosser on Torts
936; Vernier, American Family Laws, Vol. IV, p. 480, sec. 267.

There are two cases contra which sustain the contention of plaintiffs:
Daily v. Parker, 152 F. 2d 174, 162 A.L.R. 819, and Johnson v. Luhman,
71 N.E. 2d 810. In each of these cases, however, the court concedes that
it is creating a cause of action not theretofore known to the law. This
is a procedure we are not privileged to follow.

The judgment below is

Reversed.

SeaweLr, J., dissenting: I do not believe any reasonable person will
deny that the infant plaintiffs have complained of a definite violation
of duty on the part of defendant caleulated to inflict upon them injuries
of a serious nature. The injury complained of is a natural and probable
consequence of the conduct denounced, calculated to subject complainants
to shame and disgrace, to make them socially undesirable, and to deprive
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them of maternal association, care and instruction; and, following the
allegations, causing virtual, or periodical, abandonment on the part of
the mother. Few would dispute the fact that plaintiffs’ stated cause of
action does not satisfy every definition of actionable tort the books afford,
and is twin-kin to causes our courts have long entertained without ques-
tion. Therefore, it seems that in maintaining the position that their
grievance is not justiciable, the Court finds itself in a defensive position,
—must state satisfactory reasons why nof,—unless it resorts to legal
dogma or fiat, the “ex cathedra” finality. The Court has not done the
latter. It has given its reasons: Mainly that the cause of action was
unknown to the common law, and is not created by any statute. The
corollary is that the Court, therefore, cannot act; to do so would “create”
a cause of action. There is the further reason advanced that recognition
of the injury done the plaintiffs as an actionable tort is inhibited by a
policy that forbids the law to intrude upon the peace and harmony of
the family.

Addressing my dissent to the first reason assigned for the judicial
non possumus,—that is, the absence of common law and statutory author-
ity for entertaining the plaintiffs’ cause, I may first observe that if there
is “no vacuum in the law” there should be none coram nobis. If there is
no wrong without a remedy, it is a judicial function and duty to find
the remedy, not so badly hidden at that, in our courts of general jurisdic-
tion. TUntil that search proves fruitless- we cannot relax on the apologia
that it is “damnum absque injuria,” or a “casus omissus” or whatever
other Latin phrase or maxim may be invoked to express, but ndt explain,
the bankruptcy of the law, or the exhaustion of the judiciary. I challenge
both assumptions.

We cannot, with any propriety, refer these matters to the Legislature
as being the appropriate department to deal with them. This has been
done so often that the formula has become a cliché. The Legislature may
have sins of its own for which it must do penance, but it is not a scape-
goat for the judiciary. The Legislature, with its necessarily easual or oc-
casional dealing with the vast and intricate structure of our legal system,
has never attempted to write comprehensively and completely all the rules
respecting the rights and remedies to be recognized and observed in the
courts. It has not the trained skill, the fitting tools for such a delicate
task, the organon necessary to philosophic or scientific approach. For
the same reason it has never undertaken to destroy, although it has at
times corrected or directed the functional power and duty inherent in the
judiciary, on proper occasion, and within its traditional area of free
choice to take cognizance of the invasion of natural right; and especially
50 in those instances where the common law has already built up general
rules and categories, from whatever source obtained, in which the inei-
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dent situation, however novel, may be classed and included. Our Legis-
lature, fully understanding its limitations, well knowing that it would
be impossible for it to create such a system with its multiplicity of rela-
tionships and fineness of detail, and fearing that the common. law of
England in which these things could be found might be lost to us by
means of a break in the continuity of government, made the common law
our own by the enactment of the statute which is now G.S. 4-1. But
whether we inherited the common law by continuity of legal observance
and practice, or recaptured it by adoption, we did not thereby acquire a
morgue, or a mere dead thing to be administered cum testamento annexo,
nor did we acquire a mere catalogue of recognized rights and wrongs
ending in a ne plus ultra. We inherited, or acquired by adoption, the
rule by which the common law expanded, and must continue to expand if
the result is to be a living law, a fit instrument to govern, to protect rights
and prevent injuries analogous to those here inflicted.

While the common law is universally recognized as containing within
it a living spirit by which it may be thus expanded, and has been expanded
through judicial appropriation or recognition of rules and prineiples far
more than through the imperative lex scripta, in the field we are discuss-
ing it has long passed the initial stage. Already it has evolved those rules,
created the categories, declared the principles within which the case
before us may be fittingly framed.

The grievance is one of a social character, of course; so is every other
infraction of the duty owed by one member of society to another. The
incidence is too deep, however, to be ignored ag a thing to be noticed only
by “excelsior” minded do-gooders who so constantly and inconveniently
disturb the tranquil waters of sociology, or left to the non-curial efforts of
society itself to correct the antisocial tendencies and activities of its
members; the slow-curing and festering wounds which leave cicatricial
marks in the wake of the marauder.

I am not aware of any respectable legal system which divides grievances
into two parts: the one sociological, and the other justiciable. Cardozo:
The Nature of the Judicial Process, p. 51, ef seq.

There is no stronger influence felt today in the upbuilding of the law

through judicial selection and decision than the social need. It is the
~ one great trend that distinguishes modern law, as influenced by judicial
decision, from that of the era immediately preceding. Its humanitarian
aspect is proverbial. The judge, standing at the cross-ways of decision
in a novel situation, is more apt to search for the social implications and
consequences of his cholce as a guide to the road he must take. But the
democracy of our institutions recognizes society as but the aggregate of
the individuals which compose it, finding that the individual right and
welfare in matters so intimately connected with' life and liberty is not
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inconsistent with soeially-minded legislation, and that there is no more
certain way to serve the best interests of society at large than to visit
on the invader of the individual right the full consequences of his viola-
tion of a legal duty.

I do not concur in the eriticism on “judicial empiricism.” Tt is simply
the method of experience by which the judge, acting within the area of his
free choice and in the numerous gaps left by legislation arrives at a rea-
sonable decision, and does not refer to the source of the power exercised.
It is the gift of the common law and any judge who cites a former decision
in support of his opinion,—and we have scattered them on the pages of
the reports “Thick as autumnal leaves that strow the brooks In Vallam-
brosa,”’—affirms its propriety and relaxes with a sigh of content. The
power of the action has rately been questioned, and its death has not
been adjudicated.

The main opinion brings to the aid of its position the policy, recog-
nized here and elsewhere, that a minor child cannot sue the parent in tort,
in a course of reasoning which, it occurs to me, is full of non-sequiturs.
The rationale of the argument is that sinece the children cannot sue the
mother, it follows that they cannot sue the stranger whose seduction of
the mother led to parental neglect, social degradation, and shame.

“Since the mother, who is a free agent, committed no legal wrong for
which redress may be had in a court of law, it cannot be said that the
defendant, who allegedly induced her to be remiss in her domestic duties,
incurred any greater liability than the law attaches to her act.”

Thus the opinion transfers the personal immunity from suit of the
mother to the defendant, discharging him from liability to the injured
infants because she has none, and is unreachable by law. Thus the social
equilibrium is balanced and the pax vobiscum of the law descends upon it.

To avoid this syllogism the Court will have to do more than refrain
from a categorical statement of an unsupportable position. The philoso-
phy remains; and the citations and quotations leave no doubt as to the
principles on which decision is based.

T think it is needless to say that the gravamen of the plaintiffs’ case
does not rest on the grave dereliction of the mother merely. It probes
the original unlawful conduet of the defendant which, through her, was
causative of the injury. But even if the mother and her seducer were,
from a legal point of view, equal partners or joint tort-feasors in the
injury inflicted on the children, (which is certainly not the gravamen of
the action), two principles apply: First, the children were not required
to sue both tort-feasors; and second, the immunity from action enjoyed
by the mother is personal, growing out of the parental relation, does not
change the character of the act and cannot avail the defendant, or any
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other stranger otherwise liable. Wright v. Wright, 229 N.C. 503, 50 S.E.
2d 540.

The public policy invoked is supposed to rest on the authority of Small
v. Morrison, 185 N.C. 577, 118 S.E. 12. “The peace of society and of
the families composing society, and a sound public policy, designed to
subserve the repose of families and the best interests of society, forbid to
the minor child a right to appear in court in the assertion of a claim to
civil redress for personal injuries suffered at the hands of the parent.”

I do not question this policy as properly applied in Small v. Morrison,
or the fact that it is in full force; but I do question its application here.
I do not believe the Court would be happy in subverting such a policy by
a rider written across its face through which the policy, supposedly pro-
tecting the home and its inmates in the peace and harmony by refraining
from domestic interference by the law, at the same time confers an
immunity on a stranger who willfully wrecks the peace and harmony of
the home and inflicts upon its inmates injuries which are never healed
between the cradle and the grave. It would be a short-sighted policy
which would allow strangers to trample with hobnailed boots on ground
too sacred for the law to enter with unshod feet.

The two cases referred to in the main opinion—Dailey v. Parker, 1562
F. 2d 174, 162 A.LR. 819, and Johnson v. Luhman, 71 N.E. 2d 810, are
from highly respected courts; and these courts are far from conceding
that they are “creating a cause of action” by extending to the cases dealt
with the elastic principles of the common law within the area of free
judicial choice when new and analogous situations are presented. Both
cases go into the marrow of the matter affecting the power and duty of
the court in a more thorough way than is permitted me in a dissenting
opinion and deserve a reading before the matters with which they deal
are treated lightly.

I doubt whether the Court can with propriety go to the extent of
regarding the instant case as an attempt to commercialize family rela-
tions. It is not, as in Ritchie v. Whate, 225 N.C. 450, 35 S.E. 2d 414,
a bargain or contract to be made between husband and wife in which the
latter agreed to support the children; and if the Court should seat its
decision on moral instead of technical grounds we shall have sustained
a moral defeat.

There is nothing revolutionary in recognizing the cause of these infant
plaintiffs as actionable, and much that is sanitary and just. In the “cold
light” of logical analysis they cannot, without arbitrary diserimination
be excluded from the category within which we give, at every sitting, relief
to others, the vietims of tortious injury, whose causes of action are cer-
tainly no more meritorious.
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The plaintiffs have, no doubt, put into their pleading some things for
which they cannot obtain legal redress. But if the complaint contains
anything whatever for which the court may grant relief it should survive
a general demurrer. The liberality which the Code Practice necessarily
extends to pleadings requires the Court to be diligent in observing their
virtues rather than astute in detecting their vices.

The judgment overruling the demurrer should be sustained. Pound:
Spirit of the Common Law, 170, 173 ; 184, 185 ; Holmes in So. Pacific Co.
v. Jenson, 244 U.S. 205, 251; Cardozo: The Nature of the Judicial
Process, pp. 69, 70; Oppenheim v. Kridel, 236 N.Y. 156; Daily v. Parker,
supra.,; Johnson v. Luhman, supra.

T am authorized to state that Mr. Justice Ervin concurs in this dissent,

MARY G. BRUCE, ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE oF WALTER B. BRUCE,
DeceEAsSED, v. O'NEAL FLYING SERVICE, INC.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

1. Aviation § 6: Principal and Agent § 13d—

Testimony disclosing that the president of defendant aviation corpora-
tion selected a pilot to fly in defendant’s air show and gave the pilot com-
plete charge of the plane which he was to use in the demonstration, is held
sufficient to raise an inference that the pilot was the agent of the corpora-
tion in flying the plane in the air show.

2., Same—

Evidence that intestate asked defendant’s pilot if he would like to have
a passenger while performing a maneuver the pilot was employed to per-
form, and that the pilot invited intestate to ‘“‘come on,” and that defend-
ant’s president was present, heard the conversation, and made no objection,
is held sufficient to raise the inference that the pilot was authorized to take
intestate up with him.

8. Aviation § 7—

The duty owed to a gratuitous passenger in a plane is to exercise ordi-
nary care for his safety.

4. Same-—Evidence held sufficient to be submitted to jury on question of
negligence of pilot resulting in injury to passenger.

The evidence tended to show that intestate was a gratuitous passenger
in a plane in the execution of a maneuver in defendant’s air show, that
the particular maneuver was a “precision spin,” that the pilot was in-
structed to begin the spin at 2,000 feet and make some three to five turns
as appeared to the individual pilot to be safe and as necessity required,
that he began the maneuver at 1,800 feet, made five and a half turns and
apparently made no effort to pull out before the plane struck the ground.
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There was expert testimony that the maneuver was safe when properly
executed, that the pilot should have pulled out of the spin when at least
500 feet from the ground, and that from a height of 1,800 feet only two
or three turns could be made with safety. There was testimony that the
plane had dual controls, but that the pilot was in charge of the plane and
was in the instructor’s seat. Held: That the pilot was in control of the
plane at the time and that he was negligent in executing the maneuver are
permissible inferences from the evidence, and the granting of defendant’s
motion to nonsuit was error.

5. Same—

A person who is a voluntary passenger in a plane in the execution of a
particular maneuver in an air demonstration cannot be held contributorily
negligent as a maftter of law in assuming the risk when there is expert
testimony that such maneuver is normal and safe in the hands of a careful
pilot, since the danger is not so obvious or eminent as to require an ordi-
narily prudent man to refrain therefrom.

6. Negligence 8§88 17, 19¢c—

Assumption of risk and contributory negligenece are affirmative defenses
upon which defendant has the burden of proof, and in order for defendant
to be entitled to nonsuit thereon they must be so plainly established by
plaintiff’s evidence that a reasonable man could draw no other inference.

7. Appeal and Error § 40i—

In passing upon an exception to the entering of a judgment of nonsuit,
the Supreme Court cannot weigh the evidence but may determine only if
it is legally sufficient in its inferences to be submitted to the jury.

BARNHILL, J., dissenting.

Praintire’s appeal from Stevens, J., June Civil Term, 1949, Waxxr
Superior Court.

Action for wrongful injury and death of plaintiff’s intestate. Nonsuit
on demurrer to the evidence.

Pertinent evidence of the plaintiff may be summarized as follows:

W. 8. O’Neal, at that time president of the defendant corporation and
manager of its local airport where the alleged injury was inflicted and
death occurred, staged in behalf of the defendant an air show to dedicate
its new airport and demonstrate airplane maneuvers, to which the publie
was invited, and around 8,000 persons attended.

O’Neal was president of the defendant corporation and manager of
its airport and in charge of the show, himself participating in the ma-
neuvers. The flying staff consisted of O’Neal, H. L. Bobbitt and Mack
Bass.

The operation being conducted was the demonstration of “precision
spins” which O’Neal testified was a normal movement performed in an
airplane and, when properly done, was safe and not dangerous. It is
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described as a controlled movement in which the pilot causes the plane
to descend in an oscillating, spiral movement from which the pilot, never
losing control, may “level off” or recover when he desired.

Before the flight began it was planned and agreed that the pilots above
mentioned were to ascend to 2,000 feet and upon reaching that height to
drop into the spiral movement, making from three to five turms, as
appeared to the individual pilot to be safe, and as necessity required.

Just before the ascent plaintiff’s intestate, who had sometimes given
instruction in flying at the airport, but who was not then in the defend-
ant’s employment, approached the pilot Bobbitt, saying, “Bobbitt, how
would you like to have a passenger ¥ And Bobbitt invited him to ‘“‘come
on.” This was in the presence of Manager O’Neal (who so testified).
He further testified that it was a matter “up to the pilot.” Bruce entered
the plane, taking the rear seat, and the planes took off as planned in a
V formation, Bobbitt leading in the front plane at the apex of the V.
‘When Bobbitt’s plane reached an altitude of 1,800 feet, instead of the
2,000 feet as planned, he started in his spin, or spiral movement, made five
and one-half turns, apparently made no effort to recover and the plane
struck the ground. Both Bruce and Bobbitt were instantly killed.

Witness O’Neal, qualifying as an expert, testified that Bobbitt should
have completely recovered to normal straight flight at least 500 feet
from the ground and that it was unsafe to continue the spiral movement
any closer. O’Neal, on seeing the airplane strike, throttled his engine
hard and, grading his turns, went down and landed. O’Neal gave his
expert opinion that the crash was due to the fact that the pilot Bobbitt, in
demonstrating the spin, “overdid it—tried to make it too good” and went
too low; that if he had finished in three spins he would still have been
1,000 or 1,200 feet above ground; starting to spin at 1,800 feet he could
not make more than three turns safely. The pilot Bobbitt could tell
by his altimeter the height of the plane. Bobbitt was 50 or 100 feet from
the ground when he went into the fourth or fifth spin. Witness further
stated that he was flying for the O’Neal Flying Service.

On the cross-examination this witness stated that he did not know what
went on in the cockpit of the plane, could not see and could only assume.
He described the plane as an Aeronca Tandem Model, 7TAC, demonstrat-
ing with a model the maneuver of spinning and declaring it to be a safe
maneuver when properly executed. He stated that Mr. Bobbitt was in
the instructor’s seat, the front seat, and Mr. Bruce was a passenger sitting
in the rear seat. The plane had dual controls—two pairs of controls—
so that either person had a means of controlling its flight. The controls,
however, were coupled together so that a movement of one device caused
a corresponding simultaneous movement in the similar member of the
other—the control sticks and pedals executing exactly the same movement.
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On re-direct examination the witness stated Mr. Bobbitt was in the
front seat and doing the piloting.

R. H. Edwards, who qualified as an expert, stated that he was chief
pilot of Serv-Air, Inc., which operates an airport near Raleigh and was
present and witnessed the fatal flight. He testified that the spiral ma-
neuver referred to was safe when properly performed and that an Aeronca
plane was suitable to use in that maneuver; that if the movement was
executed from an altitude of 1,800 feet the observed number of turns
could not be made with safety. From that altitude, he testified, only
two or three turns could have been made with safety. He testified on
cross-examination that either of the persons in the plane could have
controlled its movements—but if the pilot in front had set his stick and
was pushing on the pedals controlling the spin, the man in the rear seat
would have to overcome his force.

B. W. Stevens, a news photographer, also a pilot, testified that he saw
the three planes reach their altitude and start spinning in successive order.
The lead plane was practically on the ground when the third plane began
spinning. Tt had made five and one-half turns when it hit the ground.
Photographs taken by this witness were used in illustration. The witness
described the motion of the plane in making the spiral as a leaf falling
of its own weight.

Other evidence was introduced on the issue of damages and matters
not concerned with the subject of this decision.

At the conclusion of plaintiff’s evidence, the defendant, offering none,
demurred and moved for judgment of nonsuit. The motion was allowed,
and plaintiff excepted and appealed.

Simms & Simms and Douglass & McMillan for plammtiff, appellant.
Murray Allen for defendant, appellee.

Segawerr, J. In this action for negligent injury resulting in death
of plaintiff’s intestate, nonsuit was allowed on demurrer to the plaintiff’s
evidence, and the defendant was, therefore, not under the necessity of
offering any. Decision requires consideration only of the nonsuit, which
gave plaintiff’s case the coup de grace. The trial judge gave no intima-
tion as to the basis of his ruling, and it is, therefore, referable to any
reason which may justify it. The defendant-appellee suggests several,
any one of which, it is contended, will support the judgment: That the
evidence contains no inference of negligence on the part of the pilot in
charge; that the pilot, Bobbitt, was not at the time, and for the purpose
undertaken, an employee or agent of the defendant, so as to make the
latter liable on the principle respondeat superior; that the plaintiff is
barred from recovery by his assumption of the risk in participating in an
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obviously dangerous maneuver; that he was contributorily negligent; and
that he invited or willingly suffered the injury resulting in death,
(“volentt non fit injuria”).

We consider these questions, perhaps not in order, but as they are
touched by the evidence.

The evidence tends to show that Bobbitt was an employee of the defend-
ant and as such was given complete charge of the plane which operated
in the air show, or demonstration. (’Neal, the president of the defend-
ant company and the manager of this enterprise, testified that Bobbitt
was selected by the defendant for this purpose. This is sufficient to raise
an inference of agency. Mecham on Agency, (2d Ed.), see. 1859 ; Irwin
v. Judge, 81 Conn. 412; Hill v. Morey, 26 Vt. 178; 57 C.J.S., Master
& Servant, sec. 563,

The circumstances under which Bruce entered the plane also raise the
inference that the pilot was authorized to take him up and owed to him
the duty, imputed to the defendant, to refrain from negligent injury.
The invitation was extended to Bruce by Bobbitt within the hearing of
O’Neal and its significance was at once apparent. It did not require the
spoken word, merely his silent acquiescence to give authority. Wright .
Wright, 229 N.C. 508, 508, 50 S.E. 2d 540 ; Russell v. Cutshall, 223 N.C.
353, 26 S.E. 2d 866; Hayes v. Creamery, 195 N.C. 113, 141 S.E. 340;
Fry v. Utilities Co., 183 N.C. 281, 111 S.E. 354; Schwartz, Trial of
Automobile Cases, sec. 373.

The measure of defendant’s duty is that of ordinary care. Wright v.
Wright, supra. The above citations are concerned with automobile
law but Agency, the measure of negligence, and other principles discussed
are equally applicable to the law of aviation. Wilson v. Colonial Awr
Transport, Inc., 278 Mass. 420, 425, 23 N.C.C.A. (N.S.) 384; Bird v.
Louer, 272 111. App. 522; Rogina v. Midwest Flying Service, 325 I1. App.
588, 60 N.E. 2d 633; Interstate Airlines v. Arnold, 127 Neb. 665, 256
N.W. 513; Apartan Aircraft Co. v. Jamison, 181 Okl. 645, 85 P. 2d 1096;
2 C.J.8S.,, Aerial Navigation, see. 19, p. 907.

The legal sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury is more strongly
challenged in two respects: It is contended that the testimony of expert
witnesses concerning the crash of the plane and its cause is merely guess-
work, without probative force, and does not rise to the dignity of evidence;
and that, at any rate, there is no evidence to determine which of the
occupants of the plane—whether the pilot put in official charge, or Bruce,
who entered as a passenger—had control at the time of the spinning
maneuver which resulted in the crash and death of Bruce.

While the eross-examination elicited answers from the witnesses giving
expert opinions as to the operational failure led to answers which appellee
construes as withdrawing their statements, it may be conceded there were
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some assumptions, that part of this evidence was directed to the eircum-
stance that they could not, and did not, see what took place inside the
cockpit, and had made some assumptions as to who was in charge. We
cannot find that in any place they withdrew their statements as to the
fault in conducting the maneuver, regardless of whether Bobbitt or Bruce
was at the controls.

O’Neal, the president of the flying service and manager of the demon-
stration, after testifying to the agreement which was made between the
three pilots, himself, Bobbitt and Bass, made for reasons of safety, testi-
fied that flying in V formation he watched every movement of Bobbitt’s
plane from its top altitude down to the ground, and counted the turns;
and testified in this respect as follows: “At a height of 1,800 feet Mr.
Bobbitt, being No. 1, he started on his spin. T noticed him when he
started to spin, and he spun and spun, and it appeared to me that he
went into a tight spiral, that is a maneuver that you wouldn’t know from
a spin, hardly, in seeing it from the ground; you would think it was the
same thing. It appeared to me that he went into a tight spiral, and he
made five and a balf turns—7T counted them—then he struck the ground

. straight in, nose down . .. still curving,” ... and apparently
“made no effort whatever to recover.” For the sake of safety “he should
have completely recovered and gone into a normal, straight flight at least
500 feet above the ground.”

In stating that he had 15 years’ experience in operating airplanes and
observing their operation, he testified, “My opinion was that the pilot
demonstrating the spin just overdid it a little bit too much . . . appar-
ently he tried to make it too good. He just went too low.” He further
testified that from the elevation at which Bobbitt began the spin only
about three turns could have been made with safety and that the pilot was
not more than 50 or 100 feet from the ground when he went into the
fourth or fifth spin.

Smith v. Whatley, 223 N.C. 534, 27 S.E. 2d 442, has no application
whatever to the facts of this case. In that case neither the pilot nor the
passenger was killed, and both testified. The plaintiff Smith testified
“that the plane went into a spin and crashed and I don’t know why.”
The pilot Nelson testified, “I don’t know just why the plane crashed.
It just came down in a spin with the nose to the ground.”

It will be seen from this short per curiam opinion that the plaintiff
really based his case on the fact that the pilot was unlicensed and, of
course, failed to show this as a proximate cause of the injury.

In the instant case the spin was not accidental; it was a planned
maneuver and there is evidence to be submitted to the jury as to the
negligence of the operation which caused the crash.
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That question, that is, whether Bobbitt was at the controls and respon-
sible for the movements of the plane, is not without supporting evidence.
Permissible inference that Bobbitt was at the controls at the time may
be made from the attending circumstances although no eye saw what
took place in the cockpit. Bobbitt was put in official charge of the plane
and its operation, in the forward seat of the cockpit. Bruce entered as a
passenger. It is hardly conceivable that their relative positions as pas-
senger and pilot changed during the maneuver since Bobbitt was selected
for that purpose and the responsibility placed upon him. There is a
strong inference that he continued the operation of the plane during
maneuvers, It is in evidence that to cause the oscillating or circular
movement of the plane the pilot would have to pull the stick back to the
seat, or almost to the seat, and push with extended leg, either the right
pedal or the left pedal, according as a right turn or a left turn was
desired ; and that in this position the person in the rear seat, if minded
to take control, could not wrest control from the man in front, except with
difficulty, and one witness stated, perhaps not at all.

The rule requires us to consider the evidence and all its inferences in
the most favorable light for the plaintiff. Mere imaginative or specula-
tive possibility as to what may have occurred is not sufficient to overcome
the inferences raised by this evidence, or the permissible inference that
Bobbitt was in control.

Under the evidence the plea of assumption of risk is not tenable. We
cannot assume, against the evidence before us, that the enterprise on
which Bruce accompanied the pilot Bobbitt, even if known to him in
advanee, (and of this there is no evidence), involved such an obvious or
imminent danger to life and limb as to require an ordinarily prudent man
to refrain from participating in it. In so far as the flight itself is con-
cerned, it is recognized as a convenient mode of travel, regularly and
extensively used, and reasonably safe. The evidence, without any witness
stating contra, tends to show that the plane in which the demonstration
took place was fit and suitable for the purpose; and that the maneuver
itself was normal and safe in the hands of a careful pilot.

The contention that plaintiff is barred from recovery because his intes-
tate negligently contributed to his own death cannot be maintained here
as a matter of law on the present state of the evidence. If -addressed to
the suggestion that Bruce may have been in control of the plane at the
time of his injury, there is no evidence of that fact. If advanced on the
theory that he voluntarily participated in the maneuver, as suggested,
being executed at the time of his injury and death, as we have already
stated in dealing with the question of assumption of risk, the evidence
tends to show that the operation under way at the time was not of a
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character which would attribute negligence to a reasonably prudent man
in engaging in it.

The pleas of assumption of risk and contributory negligence are both
affirmative and require a showing on the part of the defendant to be
considered at all; and to prevail as a matter of law, as to either, it must
plainly appear from the evidence that a reasonable mind could draw
no other inference.

As we have stated, assumption of risk and contributory negligence are
affirmative pleas and ordinarily must be left to the jury. We find no evi-
dence in support of either plea that would justify the court in taking it
from the jury.

Our task as an Appellate Court is merely to judge of the probative
value of the evidence and not its weight; to say whether there is a legal
sufficiency in its inferences to be submitted to the jury. Applying these
principles of law, we conclude that there was error in withdrawing the
evidence from the jury, and the order of nonsuit is, therefore,

Reversed.

Barwuiny, J., dissenting: The majority conclude that the record dis-
closes sufficient evidence of negligence to require the submission of appro-
priate issues to a jury. The conclusion is: There is evidence the pilot
did not pull out of the spin in time to prevent a crash, and this is evidence
of negligence. To this conclusion I must register my dissent.

The essential facts are substantially stated in the majority opinion.
The only testimony offered for the purpose of establishing the alleged
negligence was the testimony of two expert pilots.

W. S. O’'Neal testified that Bobbitt could have made three spins in
safety but that in his opinion he—Bobbitt—*“just overdid it a little bit
too much . . . apparently he tried to make it too good. He just went
too low.” He later testified that it is impossible to give an explanation
of what happened. “Nobody knows what happened there . . . I couldn’t
see anything but the plane . . . I did not know what was going on in
that plane . . . I just assumed what they did.”

R. H. Edwards testified that Bobbitt could have made three spins in
safety; that in his opinion the erash was caused by the pilot doing too
many spins before he recovered. ‘“When the plane started spinning it
continued to spin right on into the ground.” He testified further on
cross-examination that all he was saying about it is a surmise or an
assumption on his part from seeing the plane start to spin and spinning
down and hitting the ground; that he was a mile away.

The substance of this testimony is this: the plane went into a spin
maneuver and the pilot failed to peel off and pull out of the spin in time
to prevent a crash. Otherwise it is ‘nothing more than conclusion testi-
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mony frankly based on surmise and not on fact, if, indeed, the witnesses
said or intended to say more than that.

Whether the pilot’s failure to peel off was due to atmospherie conditions
or to some failure of the plane or to the voluntary act of the pilot does
not appear. The spin was begun before the plane reached the agreed
altitude. Perhaps the pilot could not avoid it. In any event he did not
peel off and pull out of the spin in time to prevent a erash. It takes no
expert or seer to reach this conclusion.” The fact is self-evident. But
this is not sufficient. It is common knowledge “that airplanes do fall
without fault of the pilot,” and evidence the plane went into a spin and
crashed is not sufficient to repel a motion to nounsuit. Smith v. Whitley,
223 N.C. 534, 27 S.E. 2d 442; Anno. 99 A.LLR. 192; S. ». Vick, 213 N.C.
235, 195 S.E. 779. \

Was the failure to pull out of the spin and the resulting crash proxi-
mately caused by the negligence of the defendant? This is the determi-
native question which this record fails to answer.

True the plane did not peel off in time to prevent a crash, but why?
Was it due to error of judgment or carelessness on the part of the pilot?
Did the control stick jam, or the engine stall, or the aileron cable break,
or the rudder bar fail to respond, or did the pilot-passenger interfere with
the controls? These and like questions are unanswered except by mere
conjecture. The expert witnesses surmise but frankly admit they do not
know,

It is not suflicient for plaintiff to show that there must have been some
negligence, somehow, somewhere. This may be said of almost every
automobile collision. He is required to prove more than the possibility
or probability of negligence. He must establish want of due care in
some particular. In my opinion, therefore, the plaintiff has failed
to make out a case sufficient to repel the motion to dismiss as in case
of nonsuit.

It is difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish this case from Smith v.
Whitley, supra. There, “the plane went into a spin and crashed and I
do not know why.” “I don’t know just why the plane crashed; it just
came down in a spin with the nose to the ground.” Surely there, as here,
the pilot failed to peel off in time to prevent a erash, or else there would
have been no crash.

In that case we affirmed the judgment of nonsuit. The court below
relied on that decision in granting nonsuit here, but we reverse. If we
intend to overrule that decision we should say so, to the end that Bench
and Bar may know which case they should follow in the future.

If the fact the plane went into a spin and the pilot, for some unex-
plained reason, failed to peel off in time to prevent a crash permits an
inference of negligence, the judgment should be reversed. Otherwise not.
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It seems to me we settled the question in the Smith case, to which I think
we should adhere. I therefore vote to affirm.

Nore: The majority opinion now cites and undertakes to distinguish
the Smith case—the pilot and passenger were killed here, they survived
there. Even so, I have fully expressed my views and am content to rely
on the facts as disclosed by the two records.

WinNBorNE, J., concurs in dissent.

PETER CANESTRINO v. L. R. POWELL, JR., ANp HENRY W. ANDERSON,
REcEIVERS OF SEABOARD AIR LINE RAILWAY COMPANY; FRED W.
STAUDT, TrRADING AND DoiNg BUSINEsS As STAUDT'S BAKERY ; aAxp
SEABOARD AIR LINE RAILROAD COMPANY.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

1. Contracts § 19: Corporations § 40—

Where a corporation, in purchasing the assets of an old corporation from
the receivers, agrees to assume the liabilities of the receivers in connec-
tion with the operation of the business, such agreement constitutes a con-
tract for the benefit of creditors and claimants, and they may sue thereon
as third party beneficiaries even though strangers to the contract and to
the consideration.

2, Judgments §§ 29, 30: Torts § 6—Adjudication that plaintiff had failed
to state cause against one defendant as joint tort-feasor does not pre-
clude other defendant from asserting cross-action for contribution.

Plaintiff sued the receivers of a corporation and an individual as joint
tort-feasors. The demurrer of the receivers on the ground that the com-
plaint did not allege a cause of action against them was sustained, and
plaintiff did not amend or appeal. Thereafter, the individual defendant
filed a cross-action for contribution against the receivers, alleging facts
sufficient for their joinder under G.S. 1-240. Held: The judgment sustain-
ing the demurrer adjudicated only that the complaint was insufficient to
state a cause of action against the receivers as joint tort-feasors, and does
not estop the individual defendant from setting up the cross-action against
them as joint tort-feasors, since the individual defendant was not the
“party aggrieved” by the determination of that issue of law between the
plaintiff and the receivers, and had no right to appeal therefrom, G.S.
1-271, and no power to force plaintiff to amend or appeal.

8. Pleadings § 15—

A demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of the pleading demurred to,
admitting for the purpose the truth of all matters and things alleged
therein.
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4. Contracts § 19: Corporations § 40: Torts § 6—Cross-action held suffi-
cient to allege cause in favor of pleader as third party beneficiary.

Plaintiff instituted action against an individual defendant and receivers
of a corporation as joint tort-feasors. The receivers’ demurrer on the
ground that the complaint failed to state a cause of action against them
was sustained and plaintiff did not amend or appeal. The individual
defendant then filed a cross-action against the receivers for contribution,
G.8. 1-240. Thereafter the individual defendant had a corporation joined
as a defendant upon allegations that the corporation, in purchasing the
assets from the receivers, assumed all liabilities of the receivers in con-
nection with their operation of the business. Held: The cross-action states
a cause of action against the corporation in behalf of the individual defend-
ant as a third party beneficiary under the contract, and the corporation’s
demurrer to the cross-action was properly overruled. Whether the indi-
vidual defendant was entitled to the joinder of the corporation as a party
defendant in the action as constituted is not presented or decided.

Arrear by defendant, Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company, from
Stevens, J., at the June Term, 1949, of WaxkE.

For convenience of narration, L. R. Powell, Jr., and Henry W. Ander-
son, the Receivers of the Seaboard Air Line Railway Company, are called
the Receivers; Fred W. Staudt, trading and doing business as Staudt’s
Bakery, is designated as Staudt; and the Seaboard Air Line Railroad
Company, which is not to be confused with the Seaboard Air Line Rail-
way Company, is characterized as the Railroad Company. We shall
endeavor to promote ease and clarity of understanding by omitting all
reference to dates and the other multitudinous parts of the record not
directly germane to the precise question raised by the appeal.

Stripped of all nonessentials, the pertinent matters are set forth below.

The plaintiff sued the original defendants, to wit, the Receivers and
Staudt, who were duly served with process, upon a complaint alleging,
in substance, that the plaintiff was a passenger on a train, which was
being operated by the Receivers in a southerly direction through Wake
Forest, North Carolina; that the train was derailed at a public grade
crossing in Wake Forest as the outcome of a collision between it and a
motor truek, which belonged to Staudt and which was being driven on a
mission for Staudt by his regularly employed driver; that the plaintiff
suffered substantial personal injuries in the collision and derailment; and
that the collision, the ensuing derailment, and the consequent personal
injuries of the plaintiff proximately resulted from the combined negli-
gence of the Receivers and Staudt’s driver in certain specified particulars.

No occagion arises on the present record for itemizing the specific
allegations of negligence made by plaintiff. It will suffice to note that the
complaint reflected a purpose on the part of plaintiff to hold the Receivers
and Staudt liable to him as joint tort-feasors.
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The Receivers demurred to the complaint upon the ground that it did
not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against them.
They specifically asserted in their demurrer that upon all the facts
alleged by the plaintiff in his complaint, it appeared that the negligence
charged against Staudt’s driver was in law the sole proximate cause of
plaintiff’s injury.

The hearing upon the demurrer was had before his Honor, Henry A.
Grady, Emergency Judge, who entered an order sustaining the demurrer
on the ground that the plaintiff could not recover against the Receivers
“upon the allegations of the complaint” and allowing the plaintiff thirty
days in which to amend his complaint. Neither the plaintiff nor Staudt
appealed to the Supreme Court from the judgment upon the demurrer,
and the plaintiff did not amend his complaint. In consequence, the action
was dismissed as to the Receivers upon the expiration of the time allowed
the plaintiff for amending.

After these events, Staudt filed an answer, denying actionable negli-
gence on his part, and alleging a cross-action against the Receivers in
which he asked that the Receivers be brought in again as defendants and
that he be awarded judgment over against them for contribution on the
theory that they were joint tort-feasors with him in causing injury to
the plaintiff in the event the plaintiff should recover judgment against
him for the injury mentioned in the original complaint. Staudt ex-
pressly averred that he was entitled to have the Receivers brought in as
additional defendants by reason of the matters set out in his answer and
cross-action notwithstanding that they had theretofore been dismissed
from the action “upon a demurrer to the complaint filed herein by the
plaintiff.” No necessity exists for detailing the precise allegations of the
answer and the cross-action against the Receivers. It is sufficient for the
nonce that they state facts sufficient in law to constitute a valid claim on
the part of Staudt for contribution from the Receivers under the provi-
sions of G.S. 1-240 in case of a recovery by the plaintiff against Standt
for the injury involved in the action.

Subsequently the eourt permitted Staudt to amend his answer so as to
set up a cross-action against the Railroad Company based on a trans-
action alleged to have occurred during the pendency of the action. Such
cross-action is predicated on the matters asserted in the original answer
and the cross-action against the Receivers, and an additional averment
reading as follows:

“11. Upon information and belief that on or about August 1, 1946,
Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company entered into an agreement with
L. R. Powell, Jr. and Henry W. Anderson, Receivers of Seaboard Air
Line Railway Company, by the terms of which agreement Seaboard Air
Line Railroad Company took over the operation of the railroad thereto-
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fore operated by said Receivers and assumed the assets and liabilities of
said Receivers in connection with the operation of said railroad; that
among liabilities for which Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company as-
sumed responsibility was the liability of said Receivers to the plaintiff in
this action by reason of the matters alleged in plaintiff’s complaint and
their liability to defendant, Fred W. Staudt, by reason of the matters
alleged in this Further Answer and Defense; that if Fred W. Staudt was
guilty of any act of negligence as alleged in the complaint, which is again
hereby expressly denied, the negligence of the railroad employees as
hereinabove alleged proximately caused and contributed to any injury
which plaintiff may have sustained, said negligence operating and con-
curring in producing said injury; and if this defendant was negligent
and is also responsible to the plaintiff, which is again hereby expressly
denied, then and in that event Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company
under its aforesaid agreement with L. R. Powell, Jr. and Henry W,
Anderson, Receivers, is jointly and concurrently liable with this defend-
ant, and this defendant has a right to have said liability and responsi-
bility of Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company determined in this action
under and by virtue of the terms and provisions of G.S. 1-240.”

For want of a more descriptive term, the allegations of Staudt’s answer
asserting the cross-action against the Railroad Company are hereinafter
called a cross-complaint. The avowed purpose of such cross-complaint
is to enforce against the Railroad Company its alleged promise to the
Receivers to discharge their contingent liability for contribution to
Staudt in the event Staudt is held liable to plaintiff in this action.

Upon the basis of Staudt’s pleading, the court entered orders making
the Receivers and the Railroad Company additional defendants and
directing that they be served with process in the action. Service was
obtained upon the Railroad Company only, and it appeared and filed
this demurrer:

“The defendant, Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company, demurs to the
answer of defendant, Fred W. Staudt, in so far as the allegations thereof
relate to this defendant upon the ground that the said answer does not
state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against this defendant,
for that it appears therefrom that there was no liability on the part of
L. R. Powell, Jr. and Henry W. Anderson, Receivers of Seaboard Air
Line Railway Company, to the plaintiff in this action or to the defendant,
Fred W. Staudt, on or about August 1, 1946, the date alleged as the time
when Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company entered into the alleged
agreement with L. R. Powell, Jr.,, and Henry W. Anderson, Receivers
of Seaboard Air Line Railway Company, referred to in Section 11 of the
answer of Fred W. Staudt. Wherefore, the defendant, Seaboard Air
Line Railroad Company, moves that this action be dismissed as to it.”

8§—231
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The hearing upon this demurrer was before his Honor, Henry L.
Stevens, Jr., at the May Term, 1949, of the Superior Court of Wake
County. Judge Stevens entered a judgment overruling the demurrer and
allowing the Railroad Company to replead to the cross-complaint against
1t. The Railroad Company excepted and appealed, assigning the over-
ruling of its demurrer to the answer as error.

A. J. Fletcher, F. T. Dupree, Jr., and Douglass & McMillan for the
defendant, Fred W. Staudt, doing business and trading as Stoudt's
Bakery, appellee.

Murray Allen for the defendant, Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company,
appellant.

Ervin, J. This appeal presents this problem for solution: Does the
cross-complaint of Staudt against the Railroad Company state facts suffi-
-clent to constitute a cause of action? Since the sufficiency of the cross-
complaint in this respect is challenged by the demurrer of the Railroad
Company, it must appear, either expressly or by implication, that the
facts necessary to entitle Staudt to the relief sought by him are set forth
therein.

The Railroad Company was not an actor in the events resulting in the
injury to the plaintiff, and cannot be held liable to Staudt for contribu-
tion as a fellow joint tort-feasor under G.S. 1-240 in case Staudt is ad-
judged liable to the plaintiff for such injury in this action. Staudt’s
cross-complaint is bottomed upon another theory.

It first states sufficient facts to establish the liability of the Receivers
to him for contribution as fellow joint tort-feasors under G.S. 1-240 in
case judgment is rendered against him on the plaintiff’s complaint.
Charlotte v. Cole, 223 N.C. 108, 25 S.E. 2d 407; Lackey v. RE. R., 219
N.C. 195, 13 S.E. 2d 234; Freeman v. Thompson, 216 N.C. 484, 5 S.E.
2d 434. It then alleges, in substance, that during the pendency of this
action the Railroad Company took over the operation of the railroad
theretofore operated by the Receivers under a contract between it and the
Receivers whereby it purchased the property of the railroad and as a con-
sideration therefor agreed to discharge the liabilities incurred by the
Receivers in connection with their operation of the railroad, including
their contingent liability for contribution to Staudt arising upon the
matters set out in the cross-complaint. The avowed object of Staudt’s
cross-action is to enforce the promise which the Railroad Company made
to the Receivers in its contract with them to discharge their liability for
contribution to Staudt in the event the plaintiff recovers judgment against
Staudt for the injury deseribed in the complaint.
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Staudt is a stranger to both the contract between the Receivers and-the
Railroad Company, and the considerations supporting it. Nevertheless,
he will profit by the performance of the contractual obligation of the
Railroad Company to discharge the statutory liability of the Receivers
for contribution to him in case the plaintiff obtains judgment against
him. It appears, therefore, that the promise of the Railroad Company
to the Receivers constitutes a contract for the benefit of Staudt, even
though it may have been exacted of the Railroad Company by the Re-
ceivers to relieve themselves of their statutory liability. In truth, Staudt
occupies the status of a creditor beneficiary under the contract. Williston
on Contracts (Rev. Ed.), section 361.

The rule is well established in this jurisdiction that a third person may
sue to enforce a binding contract or promise made for his benefit even
though he is a stranger both to the contract and to the consideration.
Chipley v. Morrell, 228 N.C. 240, 45 S.E. 2d 129; Boone v. Boone, 217
N.C. 722, 9 S.E. 2d 383; James v. Dry Cleaning Co., 208 N.C. 412, 181
S.E. 841; Foundry Co. v. Construction Company, 198 N.C. 177, 151 S.E.
93; Keller v. Parrish, 196 N.C. 733, 147 S.E. 9; Glass Co. v. Fidelity Co.,
193 N.C. 769, 138 S.E. 143 ; Schofield v. Bacon, 191 N.C. 253, 131 S.E.
659 ; Parlier v. Miller, 186 N.C. 501, 119 S.E. 898; Rector v. Lyda, 180
N.C. 577, 105 S.E. 170, 21 A LR. 411; Crumpler v. Hines, 174 N.C. 283,
93 S.E. 780; Chandler v. Jones, 173 N.C. 427, 92 S.E. 145; Springs v.
Cole, 171 N.C. 418, 88 S.E. 721; Supply Co. v. Lumber Co., 160 N.C.
428, 76 S.E. 278, 42 L.R.A. (N.8.) 707; Faust v. Faust, 144 N.C. 383,
57 S.E. 22; Gorrell v. Water Supply Co., 124 N.C. 328, 32 S.E. 720,
46 L.R.A. 513, 70 Am. St. Rep. 598; Porter v. R. R., 97 N.C. 46, 2 S.E.
374. Hence, the allegations of the cross-complaint relating to the con-
tingent liability of the Receivers for contribution to Staudt and the con-
tractual assumption of such liability by the Railroad Company, standing
alone and unqualified, state facts sufficient to entitle Staudt to the relief
which he seeks against the Railroad Company.

The Railroad Company contends, however, that these particular allega-
tions do not stand alone and are not without qualification, but that, on
the contrary, whatever legal efficacy they may appear at first blush to
possess is invalidated by the other allegations of the cross-complaint
revealing that the action had been dismissed as to the Receivers by
virtue of the judgment of Judge Grady sustaining their demurrer to the
plaintiff’s complaint. To support its position in this respect, the Railroad
Company advances these interdependent arguments: (1) That Judge
Grady entered the judgment sustaining the demurrer of the Receivers to
the plaintiff’s complaint upon the ground that the negligence charged
against Staudt by such complaint was the sole proximate cause of the
plaintiff’s injury; (2) that in consequence the judgment.of Judge Grady
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sustaining the demurrer to the plaintiff’s complaint constituted an adjudi-
cation that the Receivers and Staudt were not joint tort-feasors in causing
the injury to plaintiff, and that by reason thereof the Receivers are not
subject to any liability for contribution to Staudt under G.S. 1-240 in
case the plaintiff recovers judgment against Staudt for the injury; (3)
that this adjudication became conclusive “both as to plaintiff and defend-
ant Staudt when plaintiff failed to take advantage of the provisions of
the order sustaining the demurrer which allowed plaintiff thirty days in
which to file amended complaint and both plaintiff and defendant Staudt
failed to appeal from the order sustaining the demurrer”; and (4) that
the promise of the Railroad Company to assume responsibility for the
alleged contingent liability of the Receivers for contribution to Staudt
is devoid of legal force since it has been thus judicially determined that
no such liability exists.

We are unable to accept the contention of the Railroad Company that
the judgment of Judge Grady sustaining the demurrer of the Receivers to
the plaintiff’s complaint constitutes an estoppel precluding Staudt from
prosecuting his cross-complaint against the Railroad Company. The
cases cited by appellant, to wit, Swain v. Goodman, 183 N.C. 531, 112
S.E. 36, and Marsh v. R. R., 151 N.C. 160, 65 S.E. 911, are inapposite.
They merely enunciate the established rule that an unreversed judgment
sustaining a general demurrer to a complaint on the ground that it does
not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against the defend-
ant will bar another action by the same plaintiff against the same defend-
ant based on the same allegations of fact.

A demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of the pleading demurred to,
admitting for the purpose the truth of all matters and things alleged
therein. Davis & Co. v. Blomberg, 185 N.C. 496, 117 S.E. 497. As
Staudt was not a party to the complaint of the plaintiff or the demurrer
of the Receivers, he was not concerned with the solitary issue of law
joined between them thereon, i.c.,, whether the complaint stated facts
sufficient to constitute a cause of action in favor of the plaintiff against
the Receivers. This being so, the judgment of Judge Grady settling this
issue of law adversely to plaintiff in no way injured Staudt or jeopardized
any of his rights. Consequently, he was not a “party aggrieved” by the
judgment in question and had no right to appeal therefrom. G.8, 1-271;
Freeman v. Thompson, supra; Irvin v. Harris, 182 N,C. 647, 109 S.E.
867. Besides, Staudt could not force the plaintiff to take an appeal,
Electrical Accessories Co. v. Mittenthal, 146 App. Div. 647, 131 N.Y.S.
433; or compel him to amend his complaint, Charnock v. Taylor, 223
N.C. 360, 26 S.E. 2d 911, 148 A L.R. 1126.

It is apparent that the Railroad Company has misapprehended the
nature and scope of Judge Grady’s judgment. It was not in any sense
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an adjudication that the Receivers and Staudt were not joint tort-feasors
in causing the injury to plaintiff, and that by reason thereof the Receivers
are not subject to any liability for contribution to Staudt in case the
plaintiff recovers judgment against Staudt for the injury in suit.

. A few observations will demonstrate the correctness of this view. The
plaintiff’s complaint is one pleading, and the answer of Staudt is another,
The cross-complaint is predicated upon the allegations of the answer,
and not upon those of the complaint. Tarkington v. Printing Co., 230
N.C. 854, 53 S.E. 2d 269 ; Godfrey v. Power Co., 223 N.C. 647, 27 S.E. 2d
736, 149 A.L.R. 1183; Smith v. Kappas, 218 N.C. 758, 12 S.E. 2d 693.
The demurrer of the Receivers challenged the legal sufficiency of the
complaint, and not that of the answer. In consequence, the judgment
of Judge Grady sustaining the demurrer of the Receivers to the complaint
determined nothing more than that the complaint, as presented by the
plaintiff, was insufficient in so far as it attempted to state a cause of
action in favor of the plaintiff against the Receivers. 41 Am. Jur,
Pleading, section 252. Hence, the ruling of Judge Grady had no relation
to or effect upon the cross-complaint embodied in Staudt’s answer. In-
deed, that pleading did not even exist when the Receivers interposed their
demurrer to the plaintiff’s complaint, and Judge Grady made his ruling
thereon.

‘What has been said compels the conclusion that the eross-complaint of
Staudt against the Railroad Company states facts sufficient to entitle
Staudt to the relief which he seeks.

This completes our task on the present record. Neither the plaintiff
nor the Railroad Company questions the right of Staudt to utilize the
cause of action stated in his cross-complaint as a cross-action against the
Railroad Company in this case under the rules of practice prevailing in
this jurisdiction. For this reason, we let this sleeping dog lie.

The judgment overruling the demurrer of the Railroad Company to
the answer of Staudt is

Affirmed.

HOOPER JOHNSON v. J. D. ORRELL.
(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

1. Principal and Agent § 2—
The relationship of principal and agent must be created by mutual
agreement and cannot be created by one party in invitum.
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2. Brokers § 83—

Where the owner of land has neither listed his property with a broker
nor in any way engaged him to sell the property, no presumption of agency
arises from the mere fact that the broker has contacted the owner with a
prospective purchaser and that a sale has been consummated.

8. Same—

‘Where a broker declares upon a written contract for the recovery of
commissions, his rights must stand or fall upon the contract and-he may
not establish the relationship of principal and agent through the negotia-
tions of the parties culminating in the sale of the property.

4. Brokers § 10: Alteration of Instruments § 1—

Where a broker, after the execution of the contract for the sale of
property, inserts in the vendor’s copy a provision for the payment of com-
missions, the vendor is not bound by the alteration unless he ratifies it,
which involves both knowledge of the alteration and intent to ratify, and
the mere fact that the contract as altered was left in the possession of the
vendor does not put him on constructive notice of the alteration and is
insufficient to establish ratification.

DerenpanT’s appeal from Hamilton, Special Judge, April 1949 Term,
New Haxover Superior Court.

The plaintiff operated a real estate agency in the City of Wilmington,
buying and selling real estate for others as agent, and charging and
receiving a commission on property sold for others “while acting as their
agent.”

He brings this action to recover $750 which he claims as the balance of
$1,250 due him on a written contract for the sale of defendant’s land to a
“client” under the following circumstances:

The client named by the plaintiff was R. L. Brinson. The subject
property, located on the west bank of the Cape Fear River opposite the
City, was an extensive area, occupied by a warehouse, with a wharf for
loading and unloading craft on the river. Mr. Brinson was engaged in
the sale of oil, and transportation of oil between Wilmington and High
Point, and interested in the location of a convenient site for the repair
and storage of Diesel engines. Mr. Brinson contacted the plaintiff
some weeks before and the latter, at his instance, searched the vieinity
for a suitable site, and found none which would be satisfactory to Brinson
except the location owned by Orrell, which seemed to be in an inactive
state, although still in use by Orrell. He showed the property to Brinson,
who, having examined it and finding it extensive enough for the purpose,
said he would take it.

“I obtained a contract with Mr. Brinson to buy this property from Mr.
Orrell ; took Mr. Brinson over and he looked at the land, said he would
take it; came back to Mr. Orrell’s office, and I told him we wished to

-



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 199

JOBRNSON ». ORRELL.

enter into this contract. He said he had no stenographer, and I used his
typewriter and made two copies and gave them to Mr. Brinson and Mr.
Orrell to sign. On the copy for Mr. Orrell and on the copy I held T
wrote the amount of commission. That did not appear on the purchaser’s
copy.”

“I took Mr. Orrell’s copy to the machine and inserted the regular rate
of commission in there.”

Brinson paid $500 on the purchase price as testified by plaintiff, giving
him the means with which to pay it to Orrell. Mr. Brinson said that if
he was no longer needed he would be on his way, and left for the car with
his copy.

“On that contract that is Mr. Brinson’s signature, and that is my
original signature, both are original signatures. That is the original
contract retained by me. I gave Mr. Orrell an exact copy of the con-
tract; made two copies of the original and gave Mr. Orrell one and
Mr. Brinson one.” Some question arising as to the time it would take to
complete the transaction, Mr. Brinson paid the further sum of $1,500
on the contract, $1,000 of which he says he gave to Orrell and $500 of
which he put in escrow until the transaction was completed. Ultimately
Brinson paid $12,500. On cross-examination plaintiff stated, “Mr. Brin-
son did not pay the money at his first contract with Mr. Orrell, I had
the money. I received $1,500 later to extend the contract; he said he
would have to have $1,000 to extend it; the other $500 was held in escrow
until consummation of the sale. I think I mailed it to him after a tele-
phone conversation. Mr. Bellamy gave Mr. Orrell the balance of the
purchase price, including two of my checks, that could not be prevented
. . . the purchase price was paid and included one or two of my checks.”
. . . Witness did not remember whether he delivered or mailed the
$1,000 to Mr. Orrell, didn’t know if Mr. Bellamy gave Mr. Orrell two of
his checks at the conclusion of the sale, he must have given them to Mr.
Bellamy ; did not give them to Mr. Orrell.

Various witnesses who were introduced, who professed to be acquainted
with the customs observed in the sale of real estate through the offices of
realtors, testified that the customary fee for selling property within the
City of Wilmington was five per cent, and that for selling it outside
Wilmington was 10 per cent, and that the property was outside the City
limits.

This testimony was objected to by the defendant on the ground that he
had sued on a specific written contract, stating the amount of commis-
sions, and the objection was overruled. It was admitted that the subject
property had not been listed with the plaintiff ‘or any other real estate
agency.
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J. D. Orrell testified that when he was contacted by Mr. Johnson over
the phone and asked if ke wanted to sell his property on the west bank
of the Cape Fear River, he told him he didn’t know whether he wanted
to sell and didn’t know whether Johnson had enough money to buy.
Johnson said he had a client who had money and asked defendant what
he would take for it, and was told he would take $12,000 net. Later he
had to go to his warehouse to get some machinery and found Johnson
and his client Brinson there and they asked him about the lines and
distances in feet. Johnson said they would be in defendant’s office in a
few minutes to discuss this. Defendant stated he had not been in his
office more than five minutes before they came and Brinson asked him
about the length and width of the property. He showed Brinson the deed
to the property and he said it was sufficient.

Brinson then paid him on the trade five $100 bills and they went into
negotiations about the time it would take to complete the contract and
about the fact that Orrell had some equipment in the building. Defend-
ant had in mind to see an attorney and have the contract drawn, but
Mr. Johnson said he had a regular real estate form of contract, giving to
witness one in blank. Both read it and witness said he saw nothing wrong
with it; they were just two pieces of paper. Johnson said he could draw
it up as good as an attorney, stepped to the typewriter and knocked it
right off; gave him one copy and Mr. Brinson one copy to sign. Witness
signed one copy and Brinson another, and swapped. When Mr. Brinson
said he had to be going he walked out of the office and Mr. Johnson said,
“let me see that contraet,” and he gave it back to him, and that is the
last time he had seen the paper. Witness identified copy of paper which
was given to Brinson by Johnson, stating that he had come in possession
of it by calling Mr. Brinson on the telephone, telling him what had
happened. Johnson had brought this suit. Brinson mailed him the copy
in a registered letter. Witness testified that this was the only copy of
the agreement between himself and Mr. Brinson, and Mr. Johnson that
he ever saw except the copy Johnson sent him later at his request. Then
he discovered what had been written into the contract.

The defendant stated that he first received $500 of money, then Mr.
Johnson’s check for $850, the check from the purchaser for $10,500 on
the same day, when the purchase was closed. These checks were exhibited.
Witness stated he never received $1,000 for the extension of the contract;
never received 15 per cent. He stated that when Mr. Johnson got these
first two checks deposited there was no mention of commission being taken
out in the transaction; said the property was sold on a flat basis. The
difference in the stamps on the deed would make the payment accepted by
defendant as $12,000 even money. The witness stated that Mr. Bellamy
was not his attorney.
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Witness stated that after the agreement on the contract was signed
Mr. Johnson was writing something and carried it off with him. Ile
didn’t know what he was writing on or whether he was writing on the
contract, and that he did not investigate it but heard him writing. He
was talking to Mr. Brinson and sinee Mr. Johnson wrote on it he hadn’t
seen the contract; that in fact witness went to the car with Mr. Brinson
and talked with him about the oil and the trucks. Johnson had already
handed witness a copy of the agreement but witness had handed it back
to him.

The copy of the contract witness got from Mr. Brinson did not have
the 10 per cent commission in it. If it had been, he would not have
signed it.

The reason he called Mr. Johnson for a copy of the contract was
because the time was about to elapse.. There was a dispute between them
about whether Johnson had given the contraet to witness; but the copy
mailed to him had a 10 per cent commission written in it and witness
immediately told him it was a bogus contract. He never made any
demand on him for the $750 until he instituted the suit.

Witness stated that he had never received a penny after the $500 was
paid until the transaction was closed up and in that he received the
balance of the money from Mr. Bellamy who was not his attorney. That
is to say the checks of Johnson and $10,500 direct from Brinson.

At the conclusion of the plaintiff’s evidence the defendant demurred
thereto and asked for judgment of nonsuit, which was overruled. And
again at the conclusion of all the evidence the defendant renewed his
demurrer and motion for nonsuit, which was declined, and defendant
excepted. The evidence went to the jury and the issues were answered
against the defendant.

The defendant moved to set aside the verdict for errors of law, which
motion was also overruled, and defendant excepted. To the ensuing
judgment defendant excepted, appealed, assigning as errors the admission
of the evidence of the customs of realtors as above stated, and the over-
ruling of his motions for judgment as of nonsuit.

Rodgers & Rodgers for defendant, appellant.
W. K. Rhodes, Jr., for plaintiff, appellee.

Seawerr, J. The plaintiff is relying on a specific written contract
between himself and the defendant on which to recover from the latter
the commission he claims. The evidence, dehors the document, would
hardly establish the relation of agency between the plaintiff and the
defendant at all. Agency is the produet of a mutual agreement. It is a
situation which cannot be forced on a person in ¢nvifum, and no presump-
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tion or inference of agency arises from the fact that a realtor, with a
buying client, has contacted a person willing to sell, and has consum-
mated the sale. The defendant had not listed his property with plaintiff
or initiated any relation of that sort. Whether, in the course of the
negotiations the plaintiff had succeeded in, so to speak, backing himself
into that position, might have been a question for the jury except for the
fact that the plaintiff, as stated, sued on an alleged written contract, and
his rights must spring out of that writing, or fall with it.

The circumstances surrounding the alteration in the contract of sale
between Brinson and Orrell are markedly unusual. After the contract
between these two had been read, approved and signed in duplicate, and
Brinson, considering the business finished, took his copy and retired,
plaintiff took the copy and without calling the attention of Orrell to what
he was doing, typed into the body of it an alteration to the effect that the
sale was subject to a commission of 10 per cent in favor of himself.
This, he says, he gave to Orrell. Orrell says he did not. The dispute
over this detail is not conclusive. Since the plaintiff admits that the
matter constituting the alteration was made after both Brinson’s and
Orrell’s signatures had been placed on the document (which had been
made in duplicate) it could only become effectual by way of ratification
and this must be both with the knowledge of the party to be charged as
well as with the intent to ratify.

“In order that any acts of the party may be constituted as ratifi-
cation of an alteration, the particular act must be done with the full
knowledge of the alteration.”

“The party must have knowledge in fact, and it is not sufficient
that he had means of knowledge.” 3 C.J.S., Alteration of Instru-
ments, sec. 78.

This is certainly true unless the circumstances are such as to put the
duty on the party charged to further examine the instrument, or such
as to put him on constructive notice, neither of which appears here.
Johnson assumes that Orrell read it because he gave it to him—passes
from that assumption to the statement, “I know he read it,” which must
be considered in connection with the only indication of knowledge as to
which he testified, that Orrell had the paper.

The evidence discloses that there had been serious controversy between
the plaintiff and the defendant about the matter of commissions—the
defendant declaring that plaintiff was Brinson’s agent and that he had
offered him a flat price, plaintiff contending that he owed him commis-
sions at 10 per cent. This emphasizes the duty of plaintiff under the
circumstances to have brought to the attention of defendant the alteration
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he admits having made over defendant’s name without first getting his
consent.

Looking at the evidence as a whole we do not deem 1t sufficient to go
to the jury as bringing to the knowledge of the defendant the alterations
made in the Orrell-Brinson contract in favor of himself, over the signa-
ture of the parties, a thing necessary to its validity.

The plaintiff took the very unusual method of inserting a clause for
his benefit under a misleading heading on a contract made infer alios and
we cannot see that there is any presumption that the possession of the
paper by the party charged, even if it had been admitted, was sufficient
in law or in fact to put him on constructive notice of the alteration.

Ratification is as effectual in law as original execution. But it is not
sufficiently evidenced in this case to make it a jury question.

The motion for judgment of nonsuit should have been allowed. The
judgment to the contrary is

Reversed.

D. W. FAWLEY v. EARL BOBO axp H W. BRASINGTON.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)
1. Negligence § 16—
It is not necessary that defendant plead “contributory negligence”
eo nomine, it being sufficient if he pleads as a bar to plaintiff’s cause facts
and circumstances which amount to contributory negligence.

2. Automobiles §§ 8b, 18h (3)—Driver ramming rear of vehicle he was
following on highway held contributorily negligent as matter of law.
The accident in suit occurred when plaintiff’'s tractor-trailer, following
defendants’ tractor-trailer on the highway at night, rammed the rear of
defendants’ vehicle when it suddenly stopped on the highway. Plaintiff’s
allegations and evidence were to the effect that defendants’ vehicle sud-
denly stopped without signal by hand or electrical device. Plaintiff’s
driver testified that he was familiar with the highway and knew he was
approaching an intersection where traffic was congested, that he was trav-
eling between 110 and 115 feet behind defendants’ vehicle, that he did not
see it had stopped until he was within 75 feet of it, that he immediately
put on his brakes but was too close to stop before hitting its rear. Held:
Plaintiff’s evidence discloses contributory negligence as a matter of law
barring recovery.

8. Negligence § 11—
It is not necessary that contributory negligence be the sole proximate
cause in order to bar recovery by plaintiff, it being sufficient if it is one
of the proximate causes of the injury.

ArrraL by plaintiff from Gwyn, J., at July Term, 1949, of Ricamonp.
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Civil action to recover property damage sustained in motor vehicle
collision allegedly resulting from actionable negligence of defendants.

The collision in question is alleged to have occurred at 2 o’clock a.m.,
on 19 August, 1948, on U. S. Highway No. 1 immediately south of the
town of Rockingham, Richmond County, North Carolina. At the time,
the International tractor and trailer owned by defendant Brasington, and
operated by defendant Earl Bobo, and loaded with hogsheads of tobacco,
was traveling in a northeasterly direction along said highway; and the
auto-car tractor and trailer, owned by the plaintiff and operated by one
James F. Vann, was also traveling in a northeasterly direction along said
Highway, and following the said tractor and trailer of defendant Bras-
ington.

Plaintiff alleges in pertinent part in his complaint: “6. That as the
defendant Brasington’s International tractor and trailer, loaded with
tobacco, approached the intersection of U. S. Highway 1 with the
Rockingham-Hamlet Airport hard-surfaced road, the defendant Earl
(Boho) without any warning signals of any type, immediately stopped
his tractor and trailer on said Highway and before the driver of the plain-
tiff’s tractor and trailer, because of the absence of signal, could determine
that the defendant’s tractor and trailer had immediately stopped on said
Highway, the plaintiff’s tractor and trailer was too close to the defend-
ant’s tractor and trailer to avoid hitting it, although the plaintiff’s driver
immediately applied his brakes; that thereupon the plaintiff’s tractor and
trailer hit the rear end of the defendant Brasington’s tractor and trailer,
ramming the front end of the plaintifi’s tractor and trailer up under the
rear of the defendant Brasington’s tractor and trailer, greatly damaging
the tractor and trailer of the plaintiff.”

And plaintiff alleges as acts of negligence on the part of defendant
proximately causing the damage of which he complains, briefly stated:
(1) That the defendant Earl Bobo carelessly and negligently brought his
tractor and trailer from a reasonable running speed to an immediate
stop on U. 8. Highway No. 1 in the nighttime without giving any hand
signal of any type whatsoever to warn the driver of the plaintiff’s tractor
and trailer, and without employing any electrical warning signal on the
rear of his trailer to warn the vehicles traveling behind him and in the
same direction; and (2) “that defendants Earl (Bobo) and Brasington
were careless and negligent in the operation of said International tractor
and trailer in that they did not have the proper electrical equipment on
the rear of said trailer to warn vehicles traveling behind said tractor
and trailer and if there were some warning electrical equipment on the
rear of said defendant’s tractor and trailer, the same was not in working
order and the defendants knew or should have known that the same was
not working. The defendants Earl (Bobo) and Brasington were operat-
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ing said International tractor and trailer in the night-time on U. S.
Highway No. 1 in direct violation to Section 20-154 of the General
Statutes of North Carolina, and as a result of carelessness and negligence
of the defendants Earl (Bobo) and Brasington, the driver of the plain-
tiff’s tractor and trailer could not ascertain that the defendant’s tractor
and trailer was going to stop and when he did, it was too late for the
plaintiff’s driver, Vann, to stop his tractor and trailer, although he had
good air brakes.”

Defendants, in answer thereto, deny the allegations of negligence on
their part, and also deny that “the tractor and trailer of the plaintiff was
being driven at a reasonable rate of speed and at a lawful distance behind
or to the rear of the tractor and trailer of the defendant, H. W. Bras-
ington.”

And, in further answer to the complaint, “and as a complete bar to
plaintiff’s alleged cause of action, and asking for damages against the
plaintiff,” the defendants aver: That as defendant Earl Bobo approached
the suburbs of the town of Rockingham, N. C., it became necessary to
cross a much traveled highway, running from Rockingham by the home of
J. D. Chalk, at a filling station; that as Bobo came to the intersection a
car was approaching him, and said Bobo slackened his speed to possibly
five miles per hour in order to avoid colliding with said car; that the
tractor -and trailer of Brasington earried electric lights on the rear ag
required by the Motor Vehicle Laws of the different States, and, as Bobo
slackened his speed and applied his-brakes, he gave proper warning of his
slowing down for the intersection both by the lights on the rear and
body of the cab of the tractor and trailer; that the driver of plaintiff’s
tractor and trailer negligently and carelessly drove the tractor of plaintiff
into the tractor of defendant Brasington with great force,—damaging it
to the extent alleged; and “that the driver of plaintiff’s tractor was not
driving said traector within the speed limits provided by the Motor
Vehicle Laws of the State of North Carolina, and the lights on the tractor
of the plaintiff were defective and if the lights on the plaintiff’s tractor
had been in proper shape and the driver of the plaintiff’s tractor had been
observing the road and other motor vehicles thereon, he could have and
should have slowed down the tractor of the plaintiff, or, if necessary,
have stopped the same without driving into the rear of the trailer of the
said Brasington, and, because of said negligence of the driver of the
plaintiff’s tractor, the trailer of the defendant Brasington was smashed in
the rear and damaged to the extent of $540.00.” And defendant Brasing-
ton prayed the recovery of the amount alleged for damages to his trailer.

Plaintiff, replying to the answer of defendants, admits that as defend-
ant Bobo approached the suburbs of the town of Rockingham he did come
to the intersection of a side road which crosses U. S. Highway No. 1,
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but denies that at the time a car was approaching said intersection, and
denies that defendants gave any warning of stopping on the highway.
And, plaintiff, replying to the further answer, alleges that the negligence
of the agent of Brasington is imputed to him, and thus “by his own
carelessness and negligence contributed to the damage of the defendant
Brasington’s trailer and tractor, if any,” by the acts of negligence sub-
stantially as set forth in the complaint.

Upon the trial in Superior Court, J. F. Vann as a witness: for the
plaintiff, testified in pertinent part, briefly stated : That in August 1948
at the time of the collision, he had been a truck driver for five years—
four years of it for plaintiff; that at time in question he was driving an
auto-car tractor and trailer for plaintiff,—returning unloaded from
Florida; that the tractor and trailer weighed over 22,000 pounds; that
the tractor had straight air brakes, and the trailer straight air and vacuum
brakes; that the lights on the tractor and trailer were in excellent shape,
and on level road he could see down it with the lights between 200 and
300 feet; that after leaving Summerton, South Carolina, about 8 o’clock
in the evening, and between 15 and 20 miles south of Rockingham he
came up behind a tractor and trailer loaded with hogsheads of tobacco,
and followed it from then on; that the tractor and trailer ahead was
running between 40 and 45 miles per hour, the same as he was; that he
‘was driving between 110 and 115 feet behind ; that by his lights he could
sée the tractor and trailer ahead; that it, the trailer ahead, had 3 or 4
little clearance lights on the back of #; that the weather was clear; that
the road of black asphalt, hard-surfaced for eighteen feet, was level at the
point; that as he proceeded along this road, the truck of defendant
Brasington stopped; that he did not see any hand signal given by the
driver extending his hand; that there was no electric signal of any type
on the back of the trailer indicating an intended stop; that defendant’s
driver was driving on the right-hand side of the road, as was plaintiff’s
driver when he determined that the truck ahead had stopped; that as
soon as he could see that it had stopped, he applied his brakes but he was
“t00 close on him,” and the front part of his tractor hit the rear of the
forward trailer; that he couldn’t tell that the driver of the forward truck
was slowing down and just stopped right in the road. And in answer to
this question: “And when you determined that he had stopped you put
on your brakes ?”, the witness replied, “Yes, sir.”

This witness, under cross-examination, testified in pertinent part:
That the brakes on this tractor and trailer were separate installations;
that they could easily stop the vehicle, unloaded, in a short distance,—
the brakes being built for loaded trucks; that he proceeded along behind
Mr. Bobo for approximately 15 to 20 miles when he (Bobo) stopped at
the hill; that he, the witness, is familiar with the roads around Rocking-
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ham ; that he had been running down there (meaning Miami) for about
three years; that he knew that it is a congested area around at the top of
that hill entering Rockingham at the intersection and the point of colli-
sion; that it is a much congested area, and going downhill where a road
turns out to the mills at East Rockingham ; that he was coming to the hill
when the accident happened,—between one and two (meaning o’clock);
that Earl Bobo did not slow down at all until he got to the intersection:
Quoting the witness, “When I seen that he had stopped I was about 75
feet from him . . . he was sitting still in the road when I first seen him
and I was 75 feet behind him . . . when I saw he was stopped I put on
my brakes. The brakes did not have time to take hold. I was too close
on him.” Then in answer to this question, “There was a slight interval
before the brakes—after you pressed the foot brakes—before the brakes
cateh hold 27, the witness answered: “You running 45 or 40 miles and
hit your brakes 1t takes a little time to stop with that much weight behind
you . .". my brakes hadn’t taken hold at the time that I hit it.”

Plaintiff also offered evidence tending to show that his tractor was so
damaged, as a result of the collision, that its reasonable market value of
$6,000 immediately before the accident was reduced to $400 or $500
immediately after the accident for salvage.

At the conclusion of the evidence defendant moved for judgment as of
nonsuit, and agreed to take a voluntary nonsuit on the counterclaim
against plaintiff. Thereupon, the court being of opinion that the action
of plaintiff should be nonsuited, so ordered and adjudged.

Plaintiff appeals therefrom to Supreme Court, and assigns error.

J. Elsie Webb and W. . Pittman for plaint:ff, appellant,
Bynum & Bynum for defendants, appellees.

Winsorng, J. Two questions are presented by appellant for decision
on this appeal :

First, it is contended that defendants do not plead the contributory
negligence of the driver of plaintiff’s tractor and trailer. True, the acts
of negligence averred against the said driver are not characterized as “con-
tributory negligence,” but defendants plead “as a complete bar to plain-
tiff’s alleged cause of action” facts-and circumstances which amount to
contributory negligence. Therefore, the contention so made is not well
founded.

Second, plaintiff contends that evidence offered on the trial below,
taken in the light most favorable to plaintiff, is sufficient to take the case
© to the jury.

As to this contention, if it be conceded that there is evidence tending
to show that the defendant Earl Bobo was negligent in the operation of
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the tractor and trailer of defendant Brasington, and that such negligence
was a proximate cause of the collision, the evidence as to negligence on the
part of the driver of plaintiff’s tractor leads to the inevitable conclusion
as a matter of law that he was guilty of negligence which caused or con-
tributed to the collision and consequent damage to plaintifi’s tractor and
trailer. The evidence brings the case within the line of decisions listed
by Stacy, C. J., in Tyson v. Ford, 228 N.C. 778, 47 8.E. 2d 251, in which
contributory negligence has been held as a matter of law to bar recovery.
To like effect are these later cases: Bus Co. v. Products Co., 229 N.C.
352, 49 S.E. 2d 623; Cox v. Lee, 230 N.C. 155, 52 S.E. 2d 355; Brown
v. Bus Lines, 230 N.C. 493, 53 S.E. 2d 539; Wilson v. Motor Lines, 230
N.C. 551, 54 S.E. 2d 53; Hollingsworth v. Grier, ante, 108, and cases
cited. ‘

Tt is sufficient to defeat recovery if plaintiff’s negligence is one of the
proximate causes of the injury. It need not be the sole proximate cause.
Walson v. Motor Lines, supra, and cases there cited.

After full consideration of assignments brought forward and presented,
error is not made to appear. Hence, the judgment below is

Affirmed.

EMMA JENKINS v. CITY COACH COMPANY.
{(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

1. Carriers § 21a (1)—

A motor carrier of passengers for hire is not an insurer of their safety
but may be held liable for personal injuries proximately caused by its
failure to exercise the highest degree of care for their safety compatible
with the practical operation of its business.

2. Carriers § 21b—Evidence held insufficient to show that bus driver failed
to use highest degree of care for safety of passengers.

Evidence that a bus was being operated on its right side of a highway
in a careful manner at a lawful speed and that a car approaching from the
opposite direction, traveling on its right side of the highway, suddenly
swerved to the left and crossed the highway, striking the front end of the
bus, and that the bus slowed down immediately before the accident and
was turned to its right so that its front wheels were off the hard surface
on the right side at the time of impact, is held insufficient to be submitted
to the jury in an action by a passenger for injuries received in the accident
notwithstanding evidence that immediately before the aceident the driver
was laughing and talking with passengers, since slowing the bus and turn-
ing it to the right in the short time the danger was apparent discloses that
the driver was paying due attention to the road, and the driver may not



N.Cj FALL TERM, 1949. 209

JENKINS v. CoacH Co.

be held to the duty of anticipating the sudden unlawful movement of the
automobile.

3. Automobiles § 13—

A motorist driving on his right side of the highway is not required to
anticipate that a vehicle approaching from the opposite direction on its
own side of the road will suddenly turn into his path, but has a right to
expect that the approaching vehicle will remain on its own side of the road
until the vehicles meet and pass in safety.

Arpear by plaintiff from Bobbitt, J., at the August Term, 1949, of
Gasrox.

The plaintiff, Emma Jenkins, a fare-paying passenger, sued the defend-
ant, City Coach Company, a motor vehicle carrier engaged in transport-
ing passengers for hire between various cities and towns in Gaston
County, for damages for personal injuries suffered by her in a collision
between a motor bus of the defendant and an automobile driven by some
third person, which occurred 31 August, 1948, on a public highway con-
necting Gastonia and Ranlo. The complaint alleged “that just before
the antomobile . . . met the bus, the automobile swerved sharply to the
left and crossed the highway, striking the front end of the bus, completely
wrecking the antomobile, damaging the bus, and causing this plaintiff to
be thrown from her seat and injured” and that the driver of the defend-
ant’s bus “was negligent and careless in the operation of the bus in that
he . . . was not observing the highway on which he was driving at all,
and made no effort to stop the bus or do anything else to avoid a collision,
which he should have reasonably expected under the circumstances.”

The testimony presented by the plaintiff tended to show that the high-
way was hard surfaced; that the bus was traveling towards Gastonia,
and the antomobile towards Ranlo; that the bus had stopped “to let
passengers on and off at the Ranlo Crossroads” 200 yards from the place
of the aceident and “had not gotten back into regular speed when the
collision occurred”; that as the two vehicles met and eollided, the bus
was being operated upon the right half of the highway in the direction
in which it was proceeding; that “the bus slowed down immediately
before the accident,” was driven “kind of off the hard surface on the right
side of the road,” and came to rest after the impact with its front end
“off the road” and its rear end “in the road”; that before the aceident
“there was talking and laughing at the front of the bus between part of
the passengers and the bus driver” and “the bus driver turned his head
to the right and said something” to one of the passengers; and that the
witnesses for the plaintiff “did not know which way his head was turned”
at the time of the collision.

‘When the plaintiff had introduced her evidence and rested her case,
the court allowed the motion of the defendant for a compulsory nonsuit
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under G.S. 1-183, and entered judgment accordingly. The plaintiff
excepted and appealed, assigning this ruling as error.

John A. Wilkins and S. B. Dolley for plaintiff, appellant.
W. M. Nicholson and Porter B. Byrum for defendant, appellee.

Ervin, J. A motor vehicle carrier for compensation is not absolutely
liable to its passengers for personal injuries sustained by them in the
course of their transportation. But it does owe to its passengers the duty
of exercising the highest degree of care for their safety compatible with
the practical operation of its motor vehicles, and is legally accountable to
them for personal injuries proximately caused by its negligence in failing
to perform such duty. Humphries v. Coach Co., 228 N.C. 399, 45 S.E.
2d 546 ; White v. Chappell, 219 N.C. 652, 14 S.E. 2d 843.

The appeal presents this problem : Was the evidence adduced by plain-
tiff at the trial sufficient to show the essential elements of a cause of
action under this rule?

The plaintiff maintains that this question should receive an affirmative
answer. To support this position, she lays hold upon the testimony that
before the accident the bus driver was talking and laughing with passen-
gers seated near the front of the bus, and on that basis alone invokes a
triple inference: (1) That since he was talking and laughing, the bus
driver did not observe the highway ahead; (2) that since he did not see
the highway ahead, he did not anticipate that the automobile would
suddenly swerve across the highway and strike the bus just as the two
vehicles met; and (3) that since he did not foresee the untoward swerving
of the automobile, he “made no effort to stop the bus or do anything else
to avoid a collision, which he should have reasonably expected under the
circumstanees.”

The wisest of men noted the therapeutic property of laughter centuries
ago, and  reserved his discovery in the uplifting proverb: “A merry heart
doeth good like a medicine.” A poet of a later age and clime has declared
that “there’s nothing worth the wear of winning but laughter and the love
of friends.” TFar these reasons, the law ought not to do such a solemn
thing to life as t~ discountenance laughter unless it is forced to do so by
the direst of compulsions. Besides, there may be more than a modicum
of scientific truth in the oft repeated assertion that man is distinguished
from other animals marely by his capacity to laugh, and we would be
reluctant, indeed, to ad' ndicate with grave mien in any case that possibly
the only characteri~sic difference between man and beast constitutes evi-
dence that man is a negligent creature. Happily, the record on this
appeal saves us from so gloomy a task. It negates the two prerequisites
to liability, to wit, negligence and proximate cause.
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The evidence of the plaintiff discloses with positiveness that the
operator of the bus was driving in a careful manner and at a lawful speed
upon the proper side of the highway as he approached and met the auto-
mobile. Brown v. T'ruck Lines, 229 N.C. 122, 47 8.E. 2d 711. Moreover,
it compels the conclusion that he was keeping a vigilant lockout for
vehicles approaching from the opposite direction. This is made certain
by the testimony showing that despite the sudden and unexpected deflec-
tion of the auntomobile, the driver of the bus tock immediate steps to
extricate the bus and its occupants from the ensuing peril by reducing the
speed of the bus and attempting to drive it from the paved highway onto
the dirt shoulder to his right.

The law does not expect clairvoyance of operators of motor vehicles.
A motorist, who is proceeding on his right side of the highway, is not
required to anticipate that an automobile, which is coming from the
opposite direction on its own side of the road, will suddenly leave its side
of the road and turn into his path. He has the right to assume under
such circumstances that the approaching automobile will remain on its
own side of the road until the vehicles meet and pass in safety. Brown v.
Products Co., Inc., 222 N.C. 626, 24 S.E. 2d 334; Hancock v. Wilson,
211 N.C. 129, 189 S.E. 631; James v. Coach Co., 207 N.C. 742, 178 S.E.
607 ; Cory ». Cory, 205 N.C. 205, 170 S.E. 629; Shirley v. Ayers, 201
N.C. 51, 158 S.E. 840.

The judgment of nonsuit is

Affirmed.

STATE v. MARION CRANFORD, DONALD RAY ROBERTSON anp
JOHN H. McMAHON, JR.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

1. Criminal Law § 28—
The State must prove defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

2, Criminal Law § 52a (3)—

Evidence tending to show that upon the arrival of police officers at the
scene of a break-in in response to a telephone call, they saw the three
defendants running up the street, that defendants got into a car and drove
quickly away and were not stopped by the officers until after a ten mile
chase, and that appealing defendant denied any knowledge of the break-in,
is held insufficient to be submitted to the jury, and judgment of nonsuit is
allowed in the Supreme Court on appeal. G.S. 15-173.

Arrrar by defendant, Donald Ray Robertson, from Crisp, Special
Judge, June, 1949, Special Criminal Term, of MECRLENBURG.
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Criminal prosecution on indictment charging the appealing defendant
and two others with breaking and entering an industrial plant with intent
the goods and chattels therein, the property of the owner, to steal and
carry away.

In response to a telephone call, shortly before 2:00 a.m., 28 May, 1948
three members of the Charlotte police force arrived at the plant of the
Coca-Cola Bottling Company, situate on Morehead Street, near Summit
Avenue, and immediately thereafter saw three boys cross Morehead
Street and run up Summit Avenue about a quarter of a block away. One
of the officers identified the boys as McMahon, Cranford and Robertson
(defendants herein). The three boys entered a Terraplane-Hudson auto-
mobile and drove quickly away. The officers gave chase and stopped
them after a run of about ten miles. McMahon who was driving told
the officer “the reason he didn’t stop was that he had no driver’s license.”
The car when stopped was occupied by the three defendants herein.

Upon investigation it was found that a window of the Coca-Cola plant
had been entered and two desks opened, but nothing particularly dis-
turbed. The only thing missing was a coin changer, and that was found
the next morning under a bush just outside the window that had been
entered.

When questioned about the break-in, the appealing defendant Robertson
told the police that he knew nothing about it.

All three of the occupants of the Terraplane-Hudson automobile were
taken into custody, all were indicted herein, convicted and each sentenced
to the State’s Prison for a term of not less than three nor more than five
years.

The defendant Robertson appeals, assigning errors.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton
for the State.
Elbert E. Foster and J. F. Flowers for defendant.

Stacy, C. J. Undoubtedly the record points an accusing finger at the
appealing defendant as one of the participants in the crime here charged.
But this would seem to be all. A careful scrutiny of the evidence leaves
us with the impression that it falls short of the degree of proof required
to conviet a defendant in a eriminal prosecution. It all may be true,
and yet the appealing defendant may be innocent. 8. ». Goodson, 107
N.C. 798, 12 S.E. 329; S. v. Tillman, 146 N.C. 611, 60 S.E. 902; S. 2.
Montague, 195 N.C. 20, 141 S.E. 285; S. ». Battle, 198 N.C. 379, 151
S.E. 927; S. v. Shu, 218 N.C. 387, 11 S.E. 2d 155; S. v. Penry, 220 N.C.
248, 17 S.E. 2d 4. In 8. v. Penry, supro, it is said: “The State’s case
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fails at the first hurdle,” and in the present case we are inclined to the
view that it does so in the end at least.

The State must prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. §. v. Creech,
929 N.C. 662, 51 S.E. 2d 348; 8. v. Harvey, 228 N.C. 62, 44 S.E. 2d 472;
8. v. Warren, 228 N.C. 22, 44 S.E. 2d 207; S. v. Ewing, 227 N.C. 535,
42 S.E. 2d 676; S. v. Godwin, 227 N.C. 449, 42 S.E. 2d 617; 8. v. Harris,
9293 N.C. 697, 28 S.E. 2d 232; 8. v. Smith, 221 N.C. 400, 20 S.E. 2d 360;
S. v. Miller, 212 N.C. 361, 193 S.E. 388 §. v. Schoolficld, 184 N.C. 721,
114 S.E. 466.

‘We hold that on the present record the prosecution has failed to make
out a case against the appealing defendant. His demurrer to the evidence
or motion for judgment in case of nonsuit will be allowed here. G.S.
15-178; S. v. Ray, 229 N.C. 40, 47 S.E. 2d 494; S. v. Minton, 228 N.C.
518, 46 S.E. 2d 296; 8. ». Wrenn, 198 N.C. 260, 151 S.E. 261.

Reversed.

SMITH BUILDERS SUPPLY, INC, v. H. B. RIVENBARK, RECEIVER OF
J. F. CASEY, INcoMPETENT, DELVA RAWLS CASEY, Wire oF J. F.
CASEY, G. DUDLEY HUMPHREY, TrUsTEE, AND F. E. LIVINGSTON,
TRUSTEE.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

Mortgages § 12: Laborers’ and Materialmen’s Liens § 8—

A purchase money deed of trust stands upon the same footing as a pur-
chase money mortgage, and its lien is superior to the lien for material
which was begun to be furnished the purchaser while he was in possession
under a lease with option to purchase, since no lien against the purchaser
could attach prior to the lien of the deed of trust, the execution of the
deed and the deed of trust being regarded as but one transaction.

ArpeaL by plaintiff from Hamilton, Special Judge, April Term, 1949,
of NEw Hanover. Affirmed.

Plaintiff instituted this action to recover for materials furnished for
the erection of a building on lands of defendants Casey, and to enforce
lien therefor which had been filed under the statute (G.S. 44-1), 12 Sep-
tember, 1947.

It was agreed that plaintiff began furnishing material 2 June, 1947,
and that balance due therefor was $1,487. It was also agreed that de-
fendants Casey had entered the land in May, 1947, under a lease with
option to purchase; that Casey had exercised the option 81 July, 1947,
and that simultaneously with the execution and delivery of deed from the
vendors to them Casey and wife executed deed of trust to H. Dudley
Humphrey to secure $4,000, the purchase price, loaned by J. O. Hinton.
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The deed and deed of trust were recorded 31 July, 1947. Subsequently
the deed of trust was foreclosed with no excess over the debt secured.

It was agreed that only an issue of law was raised, and that the facts
set out in the pleadings were true. Thereupon it was adjudged that the
deed of trust to Humphrey, trustee, to secure Hinton was a purchase
money deed of trust, and superior to the lien of the plaintiff for materials
furnished.

Plaintiff appealed.

Stevens, Burgwin & Mintz for plaintiff, appellant.
Kellum & Humphrey for defendants, appellees.

Deviy, J.  The court below has ruled correctly upon the admitted facts
here presented. The lien of the deed of trust to secure the purchase
money loaned, which had been executed and recorded simultaneously with
the deed to the vendees, was superior to that of the materialman.

The principle has been uniformly upheld here that a deed and a mort-
gage to the vendor for the purchase price, executed at the same time, are
regarded as one transaction. The title does not rest in the vendee but
merely passes through his hands, and during such instantaneous passage
no lien against the vendee can attach to the title superior to the right of
the holder of the purchase money mortgage. Bunting ». Jones, 718 N.C.
242; Moring v. Dickerson, 85 N.C. 466; Hinton v. Hicks, 156 N.C. 24,
71 S.E. 1086; Humphrey v. Lumber Co., 174 N.C. 514, 93 S.E. 971;
Chemical Co. v. Walston, 187 N.C. 817 (825), 123 S.E. 196; T'rust Co.
v. Brock, 196 N.C. 24, 144 S.E. 3865. And this rule is equally applicable
where a third party loans the purchase price and takes a deed of trust to
a trustee to secure the amount so loaned. Moring v. Dickerson, supra;
Chemical Co. v. Walston, supra; Trust Co. v. Brock, supra. The cases
cited by appellant may not be held controlling on the facts here presented.

Judgment affirmed.

STATE v. WILLIE WILLIAMS.

(Filed 30 November, 1949.)
1. Homicide § 25—

Evidence that while bathing in a pond, defendant went to where de-
ceased was standing in shallow water holding to a post, and against her
will and over her protest that she could not swim, pulled her into deep
water where she drowned, is sufficient to be submitted to the jury on the
charge of involuntary manslaughter.
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2, Homicide § 8a—

Involuntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being
unintentionally and without malice, but proximately resulting from the
commission of an unlawful act not amounting to a felony, or to some act
done in an unlawful or culpably negligent manner, when fatal consequences
are not improbable under all of the facts existent at the time.

Arrrar by defendant from Bobbitt, J., May Term, 1949, of Moore.
No error.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistant Attorney-General Moody
for the State.

H. F. Seawell, Jr., for defendant.

Dzvin, J. The defendant was convicted of manslaughter in causing
the death by drowning of one Dorothy Lynn Smith. From judgment
imposing prison sentence the defendant appealed.

The question chiefly debated here was whether the evidence was suffi-
cient to sustain the charge of involuntary manslaughter. The State’s
evidence tended to show that on 1 September, 1947, several woman and
children were bathing in West End pond which was shallow near the
banks; but deepened to 10 or 12 feet in the center. The defendant, a man
30 or 35 years of age, approached and inquired why the bathers didn’t
go out where they could swim, and followed this by wading out into the
water. All ran out of the pond except the deceased, a girl 16 years of age,
who in water not more than waist deep was holding to a post. In spite
of her objection defendant took hold of her, and, although she repeatedly
told him she could not swim, pulled her away from the post, and both fell
over in the deep water and she was drowned.

We think defendant’s motion for judgment of nonsuit was properly
denied.

There was no evidence of malice, or that the defendant intended to
drown the girl, but against her will and over her protest that she could
not swim he pulled her into deep water where she drowned. True the
defendant came near drowning also but that did not palliate his action.
The fatal consequences to Dorothy Lynn Smith under the evidence must

_be ascribed to the defendant’s unlawful and culpably negligent conduct
which it could reasonably have been foreseen was likely to result in serious
injury. 8. v. Scoggins, 225 N.C. 71, 33 S.E. 2d 473; 8. v. Cope, 204
N.C. 28, 167 S.E. 456; S. v. Rountree, 181 N.C. 535, 106 S.E. 669; S. ».
Tankersly, 172 N.C, 955, 90 S.E. 781. Involuntary manslaughter is the
unlawful killing of a human being unintentionally and without malice
but proximately resulting from the commission of an unlawful act not
amounting to a felony, or some act done in an unlawful or culpably negli-
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gent manner (8. v. Durham, 201 N.C. 724, 161 S.E. 398; 8. v. Stansell,
203 N.C. 69, 164 S.E. 580), and where fatal consequences of the negligent
act were not improbable under all the facts existent at the time. §. v.
Tankersly, supra; S. v. Lowery, 223 N.C. 598, 27 S.E. 2d 638. In S. v.
Rountree, supra, it was said that “Culpable negligence under the eriminal
law is such recklessness or carelessness, resulting in injury or death, as
imports a thoughtless disregard of consequences or a heedless indifference
to the safety and rights of others.”

The defendant assigns error as to portions of the court’s charge to the
jury, but upon examination we find none of his exceptions can be
sustained.

In the trial there was

No error.

STATE v. UZELLE JONES.
(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

Criminal Law § 80b (4)—

‘Where defendant fails to serve statement of case on appeal within the
time allowed, motion of the Attorney-General to docket and dismiss will
be granted, but when defendant has been convicted of a capital offense this
will be done only after an inspection of the record proper fails to disclose
error.

ArpeaL by defendant from Williams, J., at January Term, 1949, of
Hoxe.

Attorney-General McMullan and Assistont Attorney-General Moody
for the State.

No counsel contra.

Prr Curriam. The defendant was convieted of murder in the first
degree. Sentence of death by asphyziation was imposed. Defendant gave
notice of appeal, and was allowed thirty days to make and serve statement
of case on appeal, and the State was allowed thirty days thereafter to file
exception thereto, or to serve counter statement of case.

No case on appeal has been served, and the time for docketing appeals
from the Ninth District for the Spring Term, of this Court, expired at
10:00 a.m., 26 April, 1949. S.v. Moore, 210 N.C. 459, 187 S.E. 586.

The Attorney-General moves to docket and dismiss the appeal. The
motion must be allowed, but, according to our rule in capital cases, we
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have examined the record to see if any error appears. We find no error
therein. S.v. Watson, 208 N.C. 70, 179 S.E. 455.

Judgment affirmed.

Appeal dismissed.

H. L. CLARK v. INTERSTATE CONSTRUCTION CO., ET AL.
(Filed 30 November, 1949.)

AppEAL by defendant, Interstate Construction Company, from Clement,
J., February, 1949, Special Term, of MECKLENBURG.

Civil action to recover damages for alleged breach of building contract.

From verdict for the plaintiff, awarding damages in the sum of
$5,000.00 and judgment thereon, the defendant, Interstate Construction
Company, appeals, assigning errors.

J. Spencer Bell and Warren C. Stack for plaintiff, appellee.
J. M. Scarborough for defendant, appellant.

Prr Curtam. The appeal presents a question of evidence and a num-
ber of exceptions to the charge.

The exception to the evidence is without merit, and none of the exeep-
tive assignments of error to the charge can be sustained. The record
contains no exception to the inadequacy of the charge on the measure of
damages, only exceptions to portions as given which are admittedly eorrect
as far as they go.

In the absence of a more substantial showing, the verdict and judgment
will be allowed to stand.

No error.
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NYMPHUS GREEN HOUSE v. JOSEPH THOMAS HOUSE AND WIFE,
LUCILLE BAILEY HOUSE; JAMES ALLEN HOUSE AnNp WIFE, VIR-
GINIA MOORE HOUSE ; JOSEPHINE HOUSE, UNMARRIED ; DOROTHY
HOUSE WILLIAMS anxp HusBaND, H. BAGLEY WILLIAMS; WILLIE
HOUSE PERRY anp Huseanp, WILLARD H. PERRY; RUTH HARE
HOUSE, Wipow ; ALLINE HOUSE MEYERS axp Huseanp, CHARLES
A. MEYERS; EDITH HOUSE KING axp Hussanp, NEVINS F. KING;
HARPER HILLMAN HOUSE, JR, UnMArriED; TALMAGE WESLEY
HOUSE, A Minor; HOWARD MARSHALL HOUSE, A Mirvor; REBECCA
HOUSE, o Mirnor; MANUELLA HOUSHE, A Mivor; axp MARJORIE
RUTH HOUSE, A MINOR.

(Filed 14 December, 1949.)
1. Wills § 81—

A will must be construed to ascertain and effectuate the intent of tes-
tator unless contrary to some rule of law or at variance with public policy,
and to this end it is permissible for the courts to transpose words, phrases
or clauses.

2, Wills § 388c—
The courts favor the early vesting of estates.

8. Same—Will held to devise fee defeasible upon death of daughter without
issue her surviving.

Testator devised a life estate to his wife with provision that at her
death his lands should be divided among his living children, with particu-
lar description as to the share each should take, with further provision
that one daughter (who had living children at the time the will was
executed) should take a life estate in her share with remainder to her
children, and that his other named daughters and three named sons should
have their share in fee simple forever “And if either one of my daughters
shall die without issue, their share of the lands shall be equally divided
among” the three named sons. Held: The words “shall die without issue”
refer to the death of the devisees of the fee and not to the death of the
life tenant, and the daughters took a defeasible fee so that upon the death
of one of them without issue her surviving, her share became vested in
the three named sons.

BARNHILL, J., dissenting.

ArpEaL by interveners from Hamilton, Emergency Judge, from judg-
ment signed out of term by consent, 30 June, 1949. From WakEe.

This is an action begun as a special proceeding before the Clerk of the
Superior Court of Wake County, for the sale of lands for partition.

Mrs. Dorcas Sealey and husband, Wade Sealey, Mrs. Estelle Richards
and husband, D. E. Richards, Mrs. Otelia Ferrell and husband, W. R.
Ferrell, and Mrs. Metta Straughn, were allowed to intervene and file
pleadings.

The interveners allege that the devise of lands to Martha Virginia
Paschal, under the will of Thomas Wesley House, was a devise in fee
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simple and that upon her death, the title to the lands vested in her heirs
at law and next of kin.

Thomas Wesley House died leaving a last will and testament, which
was duly probated in Wake County. He devised all his lands to his wife
Louisa Jane House, for life; then to his children in the manner set forth
in Ttem Five of his will, which reads as follows:

“IreM Frve:—At the death of my wife, the land hereinafter described
of which I may die seized and possessed, shall be divided among my living
children, and if one of them is dead, leaving children then these children
shall have the share of their parent. My daughters, to-wit: Dorcas Anne
Ceily, wife of Wade Ceily, Martha Virginia Paschal, wife of Edward
Paschal, Otelia Sunshine Ferrell, wife of Walter Ferrell, at the death of
their mother shall have their shares of the land herein bounded and
deseribed in fee simple forever. My sons, to-wit: Nimfus Green, Ezra
Lyman and Harper Hillman shall each have their share of the land in
fee simple forever. And if either one of my daughters shall die without
issue, their share of the land shall be equally divided among these three
of my sons (sic).

“My daughter, Meta Mason Straughan, wife of Elias Straughan, shall
have use of the land hereinafter given to her, and all the rents and profits
arising therefrom, so long as she may live, and at her death, the same
shall be equally divided among her children and held by them in fee
simple forever.”

Item Seven of the will describes by metes and bounds the lands devised
to each of the devisees; a tract of 414 acres having been devised to
Martha Virginia Paschal.

The life tenant is dead, and upon her death the devisees named in
Ttem Five, went into possession of the respective tracts of land designated
for them in Ttem Seven of the will.

Martha Virginia Paschal died intestate and without issue, in June,
1948.

This cause came on for hearing below, and his Honor held that the
devise to Martha Virginia Paschal in fee, was not absolute, but defeasible
upon her death without issue, and that upon her death without issue, the
title to the said 41%4 acres of land became vested in Nymphus Green
House, Ezra Lyman House and Harper Hillman House, as provided in
said will.

The interveners excepted to this ruling and appealed, assigning error.

Douglass & McMillan, Bickett & Banks, and Robert L. McMillan, Jr.,
for appellee.
Brassfield & Maupin for appellants.
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Dzexny, J. The paramount aim in the interpretation of a will is to
ascertain, if possible, the intent of the testator, considering the instrument
as a whole, and to give effect to such intent, unless contrary to some rule
of law or at variance with public policy. Williams v. Rand, 223 N.C.
734, 28 S.E. 2d 247; Culbreth v. Caison, 220 N.C. 717, 18 S.E. 2d 136;
Smith v. Mears, 218 N.C. 193, 10 S.E. 2d 659; Williamson v. Cox, 218
N.C. 177,10 8.E. 2d 662; Heyer v. Bulluck, 210 N.C. 321, 186 S.E. 356.
And, it is permissible, in order to effectuate or ascertain a testator’s inten-
tion, for the Court to transpose words, phrases, or clauses. Willtams v.
Rand, supra; Heyer v. Bulluck, supra; Washburn v. Biggerstaff, 195
N.C. 624, 143 S.E. 210; Gordon v. Ehringhaus, 190 N.C. 147, 129 S.E.
187; Crouse v. Barham, 174 N.C. 460, 93 S.E. 979; Baker v. Pender,
50 N.C. 351.

Algo, generally speaking, when a will is sufficiently ambiguous to permit
construction, the courts favor the early vesting of estates, and the first
taker of an estate by will is ordinarily to be considered as the primary
object of the testator’s bounty. Weil v, Weil, 212 N.C. 764, 194 S.E. 462;
Westfeldt v. Reynolds, 191 N.C. 802, 183 S.E. 168; Goode v. Hearne,
180 N.C. 475, 105 S.E. 5; Bank v. Murray, 175 N.C. 62, 94 S.E. 665;
Whitfield v. Douglas, 175 N.C. 46, 94 S.E. 667.

The real question, therefore, submitted for our decision on this appeal,
is simply this: Did the testator devise to his daughter, Martha Virginia
Paschal, an estate in fee simple, or a defeasible fee?

The appellants contend that it was the intent of the devisor to devise
the lands deseribed by metes and bounds in Ttem Seven of his will, in fee
simple to his three daughters, Dorcas Anne Sealey, wife of Wade Sealey,
Martha Virginia Paschal, wife of Edward Paschal, and Otelia Sunshine
Ferrell, wife of Walter Ferrell, should they survive their mother, the life
tenant; and, that it was only in the event of the death of either one
or more of the designated daughters without issue, prior to the death of
the life tenant, that the testator intended for the share of such deceased
daughter to be equally divided among the three sons, citing Whitley v.
Meclver, 220 N.C. 435, 17 S.E. 2d 457.

On the other hand, the appellees contend that the “dying without issue”
is referable to the death of the first taker of the fee and not to the death
of the life tenant. G.S. 41-4; Patterson v. McCormick, 177 N.C. 448,
99 S.E. 401; Rees v. Williams, 165 N.C. 201, 81 S.E. 286; Perrett .
Bird, 152 N.C. 220, 67 S.E. 507; Dawson v. Ennett, 151 N.C. 543, 66
S.E. 566; Williams v. Lewis, 100 N.C. 142, 5 S.E. 435; Galloway v.
Carter, 100 N.C. 111, 5 S.E. 4; Buchanan v. Buchanan, 99 N.C. 308.

This appeal turns largely upon the construction given as to the time
the testator intended these words in Item Five of his will, to be appli-
cable: “And if either one of my daughters shall die without issue, their
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share of the land shall be equally divided among these three of my sons.”
In the absence of a plainly expressed intention to the contrary, appearing
in the will, the above words must be construed in the light of the Act of
1827, now G.8S. 41-4, which reads as follows: “Every contingent limita-
tion in any deed or will, made to depend upon the dying of any person
without heir or heirs of the body, or without issue or issues of the body,
or without children, or offspring, or descendant, or other relative, shall be
held and interpreted a limitation to take effect when such person dies
not having such heir, or issue, or child, or offspring, or descendant, or
other relative (as the case may be) living at the time of his death, or
born to him within ten lunar months thereafter, unless the intention of
such limitation be otherwise, and expressly and plainly declared in the
face of the deed or will creating it: Provided, that the rule of construc-
tion contained in this section shall not extend to any deed or will made
and executed before the fifteenth of January, one thousand eight hundred
and twenty-eight.”

Many of our early decisions, decided before the Act of 1827, now G.S.
41-4, as well as later cases construing deeds and wills executed prior to its
enactment, support the contention of the appellants. See Rice v. Sater-
white, 21 N.C. 693 Brown v. Brown, 25 N.C. 134; Hilliard v. Kearney,
45 N.C. 221; Gibson v. Gibson, 49 N.C. 425, and other cases cited and
discussed by Clark, C. J., in Patterson v. McCormick, supra.

In this latter case the testator devised the property in question to his
mother for life and disposed of the fee in the following language: “After
the death of my mother I will and bequeath the plantation above men-
tioned to my nephews, John D. and Clem Jowers, to be divided equally
between them. In case they or either of them die without issue, it is my
will that the property herein bequeathed shall go to the heirs of Archibald
and Gilbert Patterson and to the surviving brother John D. or Clem
Jowers, as the case may be, to be equally divided between them.” The
life tenant died and the nephews went into possession of the property.
Thereafter, John D. died without leaving issue surviving him. Therefore,
the facts raised the identical question of construction that is presented
on this appeal; and the heirs of John D. Jowers took the position that
since he survived the life tenant, he took the property in fee simple; but
the Court held otherwise, and said: “The act of 1827 has been construed
by this Court at least twenty-six times, beginning with Tllman ». Sin-
clatr, 23 N.C. 183 (decided in 1840), and ending with Kerkman v. Smith,
175 N.C. 579, and in every case in which it has come before the Court
for construction it has uniformly been held that ‘Dying without heirs or
issue,” upon which a limitation over takes effect, is referable to the death
of the first taker of the fee without issue living at the time of his death,
and not te the death of any other person or to any intermediate period,”
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citing the twenty-six cases. See also these additional cases, which are in
acecord with the above opinion: Ex parte Rees, 180 N.C. 192, 104 S.E.
358; Willis v. Trust Co., 183 N.C. 267, 111 S.E. 163; Ziegler v. Love,
185 N.C. 40, 115 S.E. 824; Vinson v. Gardner, 185 N.C. 193, 116 S.E.
412; Amer. Yarn Co. v. Dewstoe, 192 N.C. 121, 133 S.E. 407 ; Henderson
v. Power Co., 200 N.C. 443, 157 S8.E. 425; Turpin v. Jarrett, 226 N.C.
135, 87 S.E. 2d 124.

In the case of Rees v. Williams, supra, the testatrix devised to her
daughter, Jennie Lee, a house and lot. If she had added nothing further,
the devise would have been in fee simple. However, in another item of
her will, she inserted this language: “In case my daughter Jennie Lee
shall die leaving issue surviving her, then to such issue and their heirs
forever; but if my said daughter Jennie Lee shall die without issue
surviving her, then I desire said property to return to my eldest daughter,
May Lee Schlesinger, and to my son, Harry Lee, to be equally divided
between them, or to their heirs, share and share alike.” On the appeal
it was insisted that the dying of Jennie Lee without issue surviving was
intended to mean “dying without issue surviving in the lifetime of her
mother, the testatrix.” The Court cited with approval the following
statement from 1 Underhill on Wills, See. 848: “The rule which con-
strues death without issue to mean death without issue prior to that of
the testator is not favored by the courts. . . . In such a case, particularly
where at the date of the execution of the will any of the primary devisees
are unmarried, it may be fairly presumed that the testator had in con-
templation a future marriage and birth of issue, and that, intending to
keep the property in his family, he meant a death without issue to take
place after his death. If, therefore, the primary devisees survive him,
they take an estate in fee which is defeasible by their subsequent death
without issue.” The Court said further, in connection with the conten-
tion that “dying without issue’” meant “dying without issue in the lifetime
of the testatrix”: “In order to sustain such construction, we must inter-
polate words by adding to those in the will, that is ‘dying with or with-
out issue’ the following, “in my lifetime,” instead of adopting the natural
meaning, which her own language conveys and which does not so limit the
devise.”

Also, in Galloway v. Carter, supra, the testator devised to his wife
certain lands for life and then devised separate tracts of land in fee
simple to each of his four sons and three daughters. Thereafter, he
inserted the following: “My will further is, that if any, or either of my
children, should die without leaving issue at his, or their death, the share
or shares of him, or them, so dying (as well the accruing as the original
share), shall be, go over and remain to the surviving brothers and sisters,
and the child or children of such of them as may be then dead, equally to
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be divided between them, share and share alike; but the children of my
deceased child shall, in such case, represent their parents, respectively,
and take in families.” One of the daughters died without leaving issue.
It was contended that the testator intended that “dying without issue”
should have application and operative effect only in case one or more of
his children died in his lifetime, after the execution of his will; and that
his daughter Mary, having survived him, took her devise in fee simple.
The Court did not coneur in this contention, but said: “It will be
observed, that the testator first makes provision for his wife, and then for
his children, severally, and in order, giving each in severalty, certain
lands in fee, besides slaves and other personal property. . . . Now, in
our judgement, the testator of the will under consideration, intended . . .
to render the estate and title of the property devised and bequeathed to
his several children, defeasible, and to provide that, in case anyone or
more of them should die at any time after the death of the testator, with-
out leaving issue living, at his, her or their death, respectively, the
property so devised and bequeathed including any that might have
accrued under the clause, should at once, upon his, her or their deaths
respectively, at any time, go over to, and become the property of, the sur-
viving brothers and sisters, and the child or children of such of them as
may then be dead, equally to be divided among them, share and share
alike, the children of any deceased child representing their parents respec-
tively, and taking as families.”

And in the case of Buchanan v. Buchanan, supra, the testator devised
to his son Richmond all the remaining part of his property not otherwise
disposed of in his will, but added, “should Richmond die without bodily
heir, it is my will and desire that my son Andrew should have it all.”
Richmond died after the death of Andrew, and without issue. It was
contended that since Richmond survived the testator, he took a fee simple
title to the devised lands. The Court, as in the case of Galloway v.
Carter, supra, did not sustain the contention, but said: “Unless, then,
the gift be to two tenants in common, with a clause of survivorship,
which, for the forcible reasons given in Hilliard v. Kearney, confines
the limitation over to a death occurring in the testator’s lifetime ; or there
is an intent apparent in the will or inferable from its other provisions,
to restrict the contingent event to the testator’s life, we see no sufficient
reagons for qualifying the words ‘dying without issue,” by adding what
he does not say, that the ‘dying’ must be before he dies himself. . . . The
testator, in the will before us, limits the property to one son upon the
death of the other without issue, and with no other qualifying restrictions,
How then, by construction, can such a restriction as requires the death
to occur before the death of the testator be introduced into the clause and
it be made to speak what the testator has not said #”
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Now, let us examine the will of the testator in the light of G.S. 41-4,
and the cited cases. All the land involved was devised to his wife for
life. Then he said, “At the death of my wife, the land hereinafter
described of which I may die seized and possessed, shall be divided among
my living children, and if one of them iz dead, leaving children then their
children shall have the share of their parent.”

In Item Six of the will the testator said, “I have had all my land
except the lots in Knightdale . . . mapped and platted by . . . County
Surveyor, which map I have caused to be recorded in the Book of Maps
in Wake County, and for the description and boundaries of the land
herein devised, I make and constitute this map a part of this my last will
and testament.”

In the Eighth Ttem of his will, the testator devised the lots in Knight-
dale to his sons, Nymphus Green House, Ezra Lyman House, and Harper
Hillman House, in fee simple, with a further statement that “they may
divide said lots equally among themselves or, if they desire, they may sell
said lots to the highest bidder or at private sale and divide the money
equally among themselves.”

The testator divided his other land among his nine living children and
set out each tract in Jtem Seven of his will, and follows the description
of each tract with the following statement: “I give this tract of land to
my (naming a son or daughter) as provided in Item Five as hereinbefore
set out.”

An examination of Item Five of the will discloses that the only part
thereof that refers to all nine of his living children is the first sentence
therein. It appears from the will that four of the testator’s five daughters
were married at the time of its execution, and that one son, James Rufus
House, and the one unmarried daughter, now Mrs. Louis Estelle Richards,
wife of D. E. Richards, were not mentioned by name in Item Five of
the will.

Therefore, if we adopt the appellants’ view in this case, we must find
that the testator intended to make the fee defeasible only during the life
of the life tenant, and then only as to his daughters. In this connection,
it is important to note that the question of survivorship is not involved
in the respective devises contained in Item Seven and the first part of
Item Five of the will. The land is not devised to his nine children as
tenants in common, to be divided among those surviving at the death of
the testator or the life tenant. The land was divided by the testator,
described by metes and bounds, and eight of his nine children were given
his or her share in severalty, and in fee simple, subject only to the life
estate of the testator’s widow. The other one was given a life estate with
remainder to her children. Then he proceeded to insert the controversial
part of his will: “My daughters, to wit: Dorcas Anne Sealey, wife of
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Wade Sealey, Martha Virginia Paschal, wife of Edward Paschal, Otelia
Sunshine Ferrell, wife of Walter Ferrell, on the death of their mother
shall have their shares of the land herein bounded and described in fee
simple forever”; and added a similar statement as to three of his sons.
He then added the following sentence: “And if either one of my daugh-
ters shall die without issue, their share of the land shall be equally divided
among these three sons.” It would seem reasonable to infer from the
testator’s will as a whole, that it was his intent to give the three daughters
named above, as well as his unmarried daughter, a fee simple title forever,
unless they died without issue. But we think it is equally clear that he
intended the fee to be defeasible upon the death of any or either of these
daughters, without issue, regardless of the time of their death. Moreover,
we think the language used in connection with the death of the wife is
significant. “At the death of my wife, the land . . . shall be divided
among my living children, and if one ts dead, leaving children then these
children shall have the share of their parent.” But he did not say, “if
one of them is dead without children, their share shall go to thus and so.”
But, on the contrary, after reaffirming the character of the estate devised
to six of his nine children, which he intended for them to have and possess
at the death of their mother, he then added, “And if either one of my
daughters (which would include all five of his daughters) shall die with-
out issue, their share of the land shall be equally divided among these
three of my sons.” We think it is clear that the testator intended that
none of his daughters should have an indefeasible fee in the devised prop-
erty. Apparently he intended to keep the devised tracts of land in his
family. Rees v. Williams, supra. For it is apparent that one daughter
had children at the time of the execution of the will, and the testator
limited her estate to one for life and devised the remainder to her children.

Furthermore, it was provided in Item Seven of the will, that if the
husband of Martha Virginia Paschal, did not make full settlement with
the testator of all their business transactions before his death, then the
devise to her would be null and void; and her share was to be sold and
divided among all his children.

Doubtless the testator felt that the diserimination made against hig
five daughters, in favor of three of his sons, might result in litigation.
Therefore, about two vears after the execution of his will, he added a
codieil, as follows: “If one or more of the devisees under my will above
mentioned, shall bring suit to break and set aside my last will and testa-
ment, or any portion thereof, I revoke any gift and devise which I may
have made to such devisee or devisees in my said last will and testament,
and direct that such devisee or devisees shall not take anything whatsoever
under my said last will and testament, and the same shall be equally

9—231
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divided among those devisees who do not bring suit to break and set aside
my said last will and testament.”

Construing the will as a whole, in light of the provisions of G.S. 41-4
and the cited authorities, leads us to the conclusion that Martha Virginia
Paschal took the property in controversy, in fee, defeasible upon her
dying without issue before or after the death of the life tenant, and we
so-hold. Henderson v. Power Co., supra; Patterson v. McCormick,
supra,; Kirkman v. Smath, 175 N.C. 579, 96 S.E. 51; Rees v. Williams,
supra; Perrett v. Bird, supra; Harrell v. Hagan, 147 N.C. 111, 60 S.E.
909 ; Buchanan v. Buchanan, supra. ‘

The case of Whitley v. McIver, supra, upon which the appellants are
relying, presented a different factual situation. No intermediate estate
was created or an estate by way of remainder or executory devise, but the
limitation over was by way of substitution. Therefore it was held, and
properly so, that the “vesting in any event was to take effect and become
absolute at the death of the testatrix.”

The judgment of the Court below is

Affirmed.

BarwHILL, J., dissenting: The majority conclude that the judgment
entered in the court below should be affirmed. In this conclusion I am
unable to coneur. As the correct application of cardinal rules of con-
struction of wills is involved, I feel compelled to express my views on
the question presented. This may not be done intelligently except at the
expense of repetition of matters contained in the majority opinion.

Thomas Wesley House died testate, seized and possessed of certain land
in Wake County. He had five daughters and four sons who survived
him. One daughter, Martha Virginia Paschal, survived the testator
and his widow, the life tenant, but died without issue in June, 1948.
Who now owns her share in the estate is the question involved.

Ttem Five of the will, which is the battleground of the controversy, is
quoted in the majority opiniomn.

The one real determinative question posed by the appeal is this: Does
the last sentence of the first paragraph of Item Five, to wit, “And if
either one of my daughters shall die without issue, their share of the land
shall be equally divided among these three of my sons,” provide and
describe alternate devisees who shall answer at the roll call in the event
one of the daughters is then dead and without issue, or does it limit the
estate devised to the daughters?

If it limits the estate devised, then the majority conclusion is correct.
But I adhere to the view that it is a part and parcel of the description
of the ultimate takers. Tt provides a condition or contingency attached
to the right to answer when the roll is called. If the majority are correct,
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then we write out of the will and render utterly meaningless the provision
therein that the three named daughters “shall have their shares of the
land . . . in fee simple forever.” If my construction of the language
used is.sound, then this provision is given full force and effect. Every
word is accorded its ordinary meaning and no part is rejected. Welliams
v. Rand, 223 N.C. 734.

What did the testator intend? The dominant purpose in the interpre-
tation of a will is to discover this intent and give it effect unless it runs
counter ‘to some established rule of law or is at variance with publie
policy. Schaeffer v. Haseltine, 228 N.C. 484 ; Smith v. Mears, 218 N.C.
193, and cases cited.

In ascertaining this intent, no word ought to be rejected if any mean-
ing can possibly be put upon it. Schaeffer v. Haseltine, supra,; Bank
v. Corl, 225 N.C. 96; Holland ». Smath, 224 N.C. 255. Apparently
repugnant clauses should be reconciled and effect given, where possible, to
every clause, phrase, and word. Williams v. Rand, supra.

In order to ascertain and effectnate the intent of the testator or recon-
cile or eliminate apparently inconsistent or repugnant provisions, it is
permissible for the Court to transpose words, phrases, or clauses of the
will. Heyer v. Bulluck, 210 N.C. 321; Williams v. Rand, supra.

Applying these cardinal prineiples of construction in seeking the intent
of the testator as expressed in Item Five of his will, every word, phrase,
and clause thereof may be given full force and effect, consistent with
every other part of the will.

It is apparent that to ascertain who shall take as remaindermen the
roll must be called at the death of the life tenant. “When the gift to the
survivors is preceded by a particular estate for life or years, words of
survivorship, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention
usually refer to the termination of the particular estate.” The period
of division is the death of the tenant for life. Jessup v. Nizon, 193 N.C.
640 ; Whitley v. McIver, 220 N.C. 485 ; Bradshaw v. Stansberry, 164 N.C.
356; Mercer v. Downs, 191 N.C. 203, '

In seeking the intent of the testator, it must be noted that the crucial
sentence relates to all five daughters—not merely to the three who are to
take their shares in fee. The sentence, therefore, is not couched in terms
to indicate the testator was referring to the fee estate devised to the three
named daughters, but to those who should answer at the roll call in the
event any one of his daughters was then dead without issue surviving.

While the testator desired his real property to go to his five daughters
and four sons, he knew that all of them might not be living when the
roll was called. He made provision against this contingency. His prop-
erty was to be divided, at the death of his widow, among his living chil-
dren. If any child should die before the roll call, leaving children, then
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the children should answer and take their parent’s share. If any one
of his daughters should then be dead and without issue, the three named
sons should answer in her stead and take her share. - One daughter, Meta
Mason Straughan, should take only a life estate, with remainder to her
children.

It has been suggested, however, that no provision was made against
the contingency that a son might die without issue and therefore the last
sentence in the first paragraph of Item Five may not be deemed a deserip-
tion of devisees. But this is not the case. Survival was the condition
on which the right of the sons depended.

Thus, in my opinion, Item Five of the will should be construed to read
in this manner: “At the death of my wife, the land hereinafter described
of which I may die seized and possessed, shall be divided among my
living children, and if one or more of them is dead, leaving children, then
these children shall have the share of their parent. If any one of my
daughters shall be dead and without issue, their share of the land shall
be equally divided among my sons, Nimfus Green, Ezra Lyman, and
Harper Hillman. My daughters, Doreas Anne, Martha Virginia, and
Otelia Sunshine, and my sons, Nimfus Green, Ezra Lyman, and Harper
Hillman, shall have their shares of the land herein bounded and deseribed
in fee simple forever, My daughter Meta Mason Straughan shall have
a life estate with remainder over to her children in fee simple.”

As so construed, every part of the will harmonizes; every word and
phrase is given force and effect. The presumption in favor of the first
taker prevails, Smith v. Creech, 186 N.C, 187, Dunn v. Hines, 164 N.C.
113, and the express provisions of the statute, G.S. 31-38, are observed.
Smith v. Creech, supra.

If the last sentence in the first paragraph of Item Five is construed to
limit the estate devised, such construction not only nullifies a pertinent
and material provision of the will and has the testator declaring that
he desires his daughters to hold their estate in fee and in the next breath
limiting that very estate to a defeasible fes, but also converts every devise,
save one, into a defeasible fee.

Rejection of any part of the will is the last resort and it must be
imperative. Rees v. Williams, 165 N.C. 201.

Why should the testator be so careful to define the quality of the estate
devised to these three daughters if he did not mean it? If he meant it,
then why should we not adopt that reasonable construction of the will
which effectuates that intent? Martha Virginia Paschal was living when
the roll was called. She took her share in fee. The contingency, upon
the happening of which the three sons were to answer in her stead, never
occurred. They, as devisees, took no part of her share.
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It cannot be said that the testator, by the contested provision, was
seeking to keep his land in his own line of descent, for if a daughter
should die without issue, her husband, if any, would take nothing. The
land, in any event, would descend to her brothers and sisters or their
lineal descendants.

The codicil provision against any contest of the will was not aimed
exclusively at the daughters. It applies to all devisees alike.

If we accept the premise that the erucial sentence in Item Five neces-
sarily qualifies the estate devised to the three daughters, then the cases
cited in the majority opinion are pertinent and controlling. As I cannot
accept that premise as the basis of decision, they, in my opinion, have no
bearing on the question presented.

Therefore, for the reasons stated, I vote to reverse.

STATE v. N. L. CARPENTER.
(Filed 14 December, 1949.)

1. Convicts § 2: Public Officers § 7a—

The fact that disciplinary punishment inflicted on a prisoner by a prison
official is administered in accordance with the rules and regulations of
the State Highway and Public Works Commission does not render the
prison official immune to prosecution for assault unless the particular
regulation relied on is within the statutory authority of the Commission.
G.8. 148-11, G.S. 148-20. The statute conferring authority to promulgate
such rules and regulations is constitutional.

2., Same—

A prison official is not immune from prosecution for assault in adminis-
tering disciplinary punishment to a prisoner even though the mode of
punishment be specified in valid regulations if in the manner of applying
the punishment and the extent to which it is carried the punishment is
unreasonable.

3. Same—

Evidence in this prosecution of a prison official for assault that upon
direction of defendant a prisoner was handcuffed to bars so that he could
not assume a sitting or reclining position for a period of 50 to 60 hours,
without food, with rest periods of 15 minutes every five hours, with further
evidence by the prisoner that he was not always given the rest periods as
prescribed, is held sufficient to overrule demurrer to the evidence.

4. Indictment and Warrant § 15: Courts § 4b—

On appeal to the Superior Court from a county court upon conviction
for assault, the Superior Court has power to allow an amendment of the
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warrant by the addition of the words “inflicting serious injury” provided
the charge as amended is within the jurisdiction of the county court (G.S.
7-405; G.S8. 7-435; G.8. 7-149, Rule 12), since the amendment does not
change the offense with which the defendant was charged.

5. Criminal Law § 53b—

An instruction to the effect that only in the event the jury should not
believe the testimony of defendant beyond a reasonable doubt should the
jury return a verdict of not guilty, must be held for reversible error even
though the defendant as a witness in his own behalf may have made
admissions which would have to be discounted before an acquittal counld
be had.

Derenpant’s appeal from Sharp, Special Judge, Regular July 1949
Criminal Term, Ricamonp Superior Court.

The defendant-appellant was tried in the Special County Court of
Richmond County on a warrant eharging him as follows:

“C. H. Holland on Inf. & Belief, being duly sworn, complains and
says that at and in said County of Richmond, Rockingham Town-
ship, on or about 11 Aug. 1948 & at various other times in past 12
mts. N. L. Carpenter did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously
assault and hang Clarence Lett by his arms on the wall for seventy
(70) hours in the N. C. Prison Camp #607 and did inflict cruel and
unusual punishment upon him, contrary to the form of the statute
and against the peace and dignity of the State.”

He was convicted in that court and appealed to the Superior Court of
Richmond County. When the case was called in the Superior Court and
before the jury was impaneled, or entry of a plea, the defendant moved
to quash the warrant and dismiss the case (a) because he had been tried
in the lower court and found guilty of “cruel and unusual punishment,”
and there was no such crime; and (b) that the lower court did not have
jurisdietion and since the jurisdiction of the Superior Court was deriva-
tive, the case should be dismissed.

The court denied this motion and defendant excepted. Thereupon the
Solicitor moved to strike out the words “cruel and unusual punishment
upon him,” and insert in lieu thereof, “serious and painful injuries upon
the person of Clarence Lett,” so that the warrant should read, after the
amendment, “did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously assault and hang
Clarence Lett by his arms on the wall for seventy (70) hours in the N. C.
Prison Camp No. 607 and did inflict serious and painful injuries upon
the person of Clarence Lett.” Defendant objected to the amendment as
changing the nature of the crime. The amendment was allowed and
defendant excepted.
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Clarence Lett, the prisoner upon whom the assault was alleged to have
been made, testified in substance as follows:

The witness was in August, 1948, and several months previously, serv-
ing time as a prisomer in the prison camp in Richmond, a term of 18
months for a misdemeanor. Carpenter was Superintendent of the prison
camp at the time he was there. Some time in August, 1948, a punish-
ment was administered to the witness by Mr. Carpenter. The witness
and other prisoners were working on the highway and ditching along the
road and a beer truck came along, and the witness said, “I would like to
have me a case of beer,” and one of the prisoners said, “Budweiser is what
you need—makes you wiser,”—“and the guards loaded us up and carried
us in and hung us up for it. Captain Carpenter had me hung up.”

Sometime in the first of the spring Carpenter came through the mess
hall of the prison camp and stated that he was making new rules and that
if prisoners were caught talking on the road they were going to be hung
up and punished for it. The conversation happened after he had been
told that. They were carried into camp after the beer truck passed by.

The witness saw Mr. Carpenter the afternoon on which they were
brought in. He came in there after Capt. Meeks had already hung the
witness and others up and talked to another prisoner and hung him up.
It was all for the same thing.

By being “hung up” the witness stated that “you had to stand with
your hands out before you, when they were handcuffed to the bar.”
Standing, the hands were about even with the chest. “The bars we were
handcuffed to are about like these over here in jail—regular cell bars.
They are round, little ridge running down each side. They are far
enough apart for you to get your arms through all the way. The hand-
cuffs were strapped around my wrists. There was one bar between my
arms. There are cross-bars to these (cell) bars. This eross-bar is a sheet
of steel”’—(about a thickness of a few inches)—‘“that runs across the
bars about waist high from the floor. That’s the highest bar under my
arms.”

“My wrists were handeuffed on the other side of the bars and I was left
standing there for a certain period of time with my feet on the floor. I
could take the weight of my body off my feet by pressing my arms on the
cross-bar, but how long could I stand there with it on my arms? I stood
there from Wednesday to Saturday and went to work Saturday morning.
I worked every day after I was taken down. I could get my arms through
the bars up to my elbows. I could get my elbows through the bars. I
could get almost to my shoulders through the bars,—could get as far as
my head and the rest of my body would let me. My arms could get
through the bars until my entire body was resting against the bars but
that wouldn’t have anything to do with my feet. My feet did not leave
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the floor at any time. I was not suspended at any time so that my feet
were above the floor.”

“I went to work on Saturday morning when the squad went out, about
7:00. I was not given any breakfast before I left. I was not released
from the bars Friday night; me and Whitey Williams stood up there
until Saturday morning. I was not released around eight o’clock Friday
night. T did not sleep in my bunk all Friday night until T was awakened
the next morning, when I was released from the cuffed position he just
uncuffed me and I got my water and walked around for 15 minutes. The
night watchman lets us down and sometimes Cap’n. Meeks. There are
four or five different night watchmen. Cap’n. Arnett was one of them
in August. He was the one that released me on Thursday at night.

“I went to work on Saturday and worked as long as any of the rest
of the squad. We got in camp at 12:00. I did not make any complaint
about swollen legs or feeling bad to the guards or foremen. Mr. Carpen-
ter never put his hands on me when I was cuffed to the bars; he come
through there one day and I had my foot set up on the bank and he told
me if I didn’t get it down he would slap it down. He did not put his
hands on me at any time.”

“Nobody took the trouble to examine my feet. My legs were swollen
up after I was taken down two or three days. I was brought in from work
on this Wednesday about three o’clock and immediately hung up right
after we come in. This was the same day that the talking out on the
highway took place.”

Carl Holland, a witness for the State, testified that he was Sheriff
of Richmond County and that he had investigated the alleged assault at
the Richmond County prison camp. He had a conversation with Car-
penter with respect to Lett,—the punishment administered to him. Car-
penter carried him out into the cells and showed him how the punishment
was administered. While talking about the indictments which had been
brought against Meeks and Carpenter, Carpenter stated that Meeks had
nothing to do with it; that Meeks administered the punishment under
his direction.

This witness stated that he exhibited to him the prisoner at that time
handeuffed to the bars; that he was in a crouched position, partially on
his legs and knees.

Carpenter said that the punishment was not administered in the
presence of a doctor ; that he did not have a doctor unless he thought it was
necessary. The floor was a cement floor.

At the close of the State’s evidence the defendant demurred thereto
and moved for judgment as of nonsuit, which was denied, and defendant
excepted.
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The defendant offered in evidence an authenticated copy of the “Rules
and Regulations Governing the Management of Prisoners under the
Control of the State Highway and Public Works Commission,” and these
were received as evidence and identified as defendant’s Exhibit A.
Excerpts therefrom are quoted infra.

The defendant Carpenter testified that he was at the time mentioned
employed by the State Highway & Public Works Commission, and was
now so employed, in the capacity of superintendent and manager of pris-
oners in the Richmond County prison camp. That he was responsible
for the conduct and keep of the prisoners at the camp and employed the
prison guards; and had the responsibility for diseiplining of prisoners.
He testified that on August 11, 1948, he had oceasion to impose discipli-
nary punishment on Clarence Lett; that Clarence Lett was assigned
to the road gang working on the highway under the supervision of guards
and State maintenance foremen. The prisoner Lett was sent to the camp
by the guard ; he was sent in at 20 minutes to 4 :00 o’clock on Wednesday,
August 12. As a result of the report from the guard, the witness gave
orders to his steward to handcuff Lett to the bars. Witness introduced
the report that he had made with reference to the incident, which report
was entitled, “Grade Demotion and Punishment Report,” and shows that
the punishment was for. “unsatisfactory work and disorderly conduet on
the roads,” and contained the punishment recommended with grade demo-
tion. Witness’ recommendation was “48 to 60 hours and demote to C.
Grade.” Below the report there was a printed form for grade demotion
and the statement, “Handcuffed to bars 30 to 60 hours without food, but
plenty of water. Give the prisoners a fifteen minute rest period each five
hours and do not handcuff the arms above the waistline.”

The witness stated that he was not present when Lett was handcuffed
and did not see him; did not touch him; did not release him at any time
but gave instructions to release him periodically. The witness further
testified that he had given instructions to the night guards Arnett and
Miles to release the prisoner every five hours for 15 minutes. The witness
stated that he had seen Clarence Lett occasionally during the period he
was handeuffed to the bars; that he had walked in in the morning and
checked to see that all the prisoners were out of the cells and had to walk
right by him. He did not recall how he was standing when he saw him,

Carpenter testified that he gave instructions to handeuff the prisoner
to the bars at the time he came in at 20 minutes to four and to be “let
down” at 8:00 o’clock Friday night; did see the prisoner when he was
checked out to work at 7:00 o’clock Saturday morning; at 6:50 o’clock.
Saw him coming out and getting into line with the rest of the road gang.

The witness testified that respecting “Rules and Regulations Governing
the Management of Prisoners” that he ran his camp by that book. “I
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mean on the discipline. The book is mailed to us from Raleigh. Copies
of that book I distributed among the prisoners in the cell.”

On cross-examination the witness stated that in response to the report
“T had when he was sent in, I had him handcuffed to the bars within
30 or 40 minutes after he was sent into the camp. Our rules and regula-
tions say: ‘Handcuff and require to remain in standing or sitting posi-
tion for a reasonable period of time; period of punishment to be approved
by the disciplinarian.’” Witness stated that he got the approval on
Saturday after the prisoner was down.. “Our rule says that the man in
Raleigh, who is the disciplinarian, is supposed to tell us how long we can
hold a man up there. I didn’t get any such permission on this occasion.
I don’t know why I got a report dated on the 14th from Raleigh after
the man had already been sentenced and hung up and cut down. I am
just superintendent of the camp. As superintendent I am supposed to
know how to run it.”

The following interchange of question and answer took place:

“Q. So you didn’t have any authority at the time this man was
hung up there to hang him for one hour?

“A. Only the custom of the Prison Department. It is not a writ-
ten rule. It is instructions we get.

“Q. As a matter of fact, these rules and regulations you are talking
about you don’t pay any attention to them at all, do you? You go
by custom ?

“A. In that particular case we have to.

“Q. This report Mr., Peters showed you and you read—what is
the date up there at the top?

“A. T didn’t read that report. That is a different report.

“Q. This is dated down here August 14th. This is the one?

“A., Yes, sir.

“Q. And the man was hung up August 11th?

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. And you say now that is done by custom and not by written
rule? That correct?

“A. That is the instructions I got.

“Q. Who did you get instructions from to that effect?

“A. Tt starts down the line from the supervisors on.

“Q. Who instructed you to disregard the rules and regulations
of the Prison Department and act on some custom ?

“A. The supervisor on down to the director.

“Q. ‘Period of punishment to be approved by the disciplinarian’—
Now, what does that mean? Mr. Carpenter, the authority that says
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you can handeuff a man says you must have authority from Raleigh
from the disciplinarian, as to the period of time, doesn’t it?

“A. Says ‘to be approved.’

“I handcuffed the boy to the bars when he came in. I did not
have any authority from the disciplinarian in Raleigh telling me
how long this man could be hung up, not on the 12th of August. I
ordered him handcuffed. It was done under my orders. I gave
instructions to take him down Friday night. I did not see him
Friday night and I do not know of my own knowledge when he was
taken down. The next time I saw him was in the yard Saturday
morning, going to work. I did not have a doctor examine him at any
time while he was up at those bars. After he was taken down the
doctor came to the camp on Saturday and had the prisoners to come
down if they wanted to come. He (Lett) didn’t come. He was
already down and had been back to work on Saturday. I did not go
by to examine him to see whether he was suffering or whether his
feet were swollen or anything was the matter with him. My Steward
did that. I was the man in charge of the prisoners. I told the
Sheriff, when Mr. Meeks was indicted, that he had nothing to do
with it, that I was the man responsible. That was my opinion. I
assumed full responsibility.”

The witness testified that the prisoner had been released in accordance
with instructions during the period of less than 60 hours.

The defendant put on certain prisoners who testified in support of
defendant’s claim with regard to the relief given at stated times during
the period of punishment.

Owen Meeks testified that he was steward at the prison camp at the
time Clarence Lett was handcuffed to the bars; that he had occasion to
administer to him and let him down; that he let him down every five
hours for 15 minutes at a time and then put him back to the bars; he
was handcuffed to the bars Wednesday afternoon and was not taken down
during that afternoon; took him down next morning, Thursday, around
7:00 o’clock. Took him down again around noon and again around five
o’clock in the afternoon; saw him on Friday “and took him down the
same.” Witness went to work Saturday morning at 5:30; Lett had then
been let down.

Kyle Matthews was offered by the defendant and testified that he was
chief inspector for the Prison Department. The defendant sought to
show by him what had been done with respect to minor offenses in other
camps and under other superintendents. To this the State objected and
the evidence was excluded. Defendant excepted. The defense also
sought to show by witness Matthews what instructions he had given to the
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defendant Carpenter respecting enforcement of the rules. The evidence
was rejected on objection by the State, and defendant excepted. The
jury was excused and in its absence the witness testified: “The only
punishment they had to wait for approval of was corporal, that is, when
you are going to use a leather strap. They had to get that approved by
the Raleigh office before it was put into effect. That is provided by the
rules. The other punishment is never required to be approved before
the punishment was put in effect since I have been with the Prison
Department. It is in accordance with the prison rules and regulations
and in accordance with our training that superintendents administer
punishment for minor offenses before they hear from the disciplinarian
in Raleigh. We instructed all the superintendents that they did not have
to wait to get the approval back from Raleigh to punish them—to punish
a prisoner—for minor offenses, anything except corporal punishment—
they had to wait for that. By that I mean, when you use the leather
strap to whip one—that has to be approved by the Chief of the Highway
Commission.”

R. B. Finison was offered by the defense in the absence of the jury,
who testified that he was superintendent of Montgomery County Prison
Camp and had been for 15 years; that in punishing prisoners for miinor
offenses it was his custom to cuff them to the bars. “I have heard the
description of cuffing to the bars as given this morning. That is the
same thing that I do. I also report to Raleigh. I do not wait until T
have the approval from Raleigh before I cuff prisoners to the bars becaunse
our instructions and our prison supervisors instruct us to go ahead and
handcuff them to the bars and state the rules to Mr. Honeycutt, and it
has always been approved.”

On cross-examination he said he handeuffed prisomers to the bars in
his camyp and did not get the approval of the disciplinarian before he did
that. “It has always been approved. Sometimes it comes in later and
sometimes earlier. We write them up. When a man is brought in from
the road for breaking the rules we decide on what kind of punishment he
should have. Then I give it to him and at the same time I write it up
and send it in to Raleigh to Mr. Honeycutt.”

The witness further testified: “The disciplinarian has never failed to
approve a punishment for me. I have not hung them to the bars for as
long as sixty hours. I wouldn’t say how long is the longest I ever had
one fastened up—I never had one up that long. I would not consider
that cruel and unusual punishment if he deserves it; some of them that
don’t have any effect on. I haven’t had one up sixty hours. I have had
them in the dark hole longer than that. I don’t remember how long is
the longest period I have had a prisoner cuffed to the bars.”
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S. P. Helms, superintendent of Union County Prison Camp, was
offered in the absence of the jury and testified to the same effect. He
stated that for minor offenses he had administered the punishment as
described in the evidence and without waiting for approval of the dis-
ciplinarian. That it had always been approved. The longest that he
had ever hung a man, he thought, was 60 hours.

The jury was returned and all this evidence was excluded.

From defendant’s Exhibit A, that is, The Rules and Regulations
Governing the Management of Prisoners under the Control of the State
Highway and Public Works Commission, adopted by the Commission at
its meeting of September 26, 1945, was introduced under the heading
“Punishment and Discipline,” the following:

“(a) The superintendent, warden, or the officer next in authority
designated by the superintendent or warden in his absence, will be
permitted to administer such punishment as herein provided.

“(b) For Minor Offenses: . . .

“Handeuff and require to remain in standing or sitting position
for a reasonable period of time. Period of punishment to be ap-
proved by Disciplinarian.

“(e¢) For Major Offenses:

“1—Reduction in grade.

“9—Place the prisoner in shackles.

“3— Restricted diet and solitary confinement. Period of punish-
ment to be approved by the Disciplinarian.

“4—-Additional time to the minimum sentence for a prisoner serv-
ing indeterminate sentence.

“5—Corporal punishment, with the approval of the Chairman of
the State Highway and Public Works Commission, administered
with a leather strap of the approved type and by some prison officer
other than the person in immediate charge of said prisoner and only
after physical examination by a competent physician and such pun-
ishment must be administered either in the presence of a prison
physician or a prison chaplain.”

Reprint of the other exhibits is not relevant to the decision.

At the close of all the evidence defendant renewed the motion for
judgment as of nonguit, which was denied. The defendant then moved
for a directed verdict of not guilty, which was denied, and defendant
excepted.

Exceptions to the Judge’s charge pertinent to the decision will be found
in the opinion.
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The case was submitted to the jury and resulted in a verdiet of guilty.
The defendant moved to set the verdict aside for errors committed on the
trial. The motion was denied, and defendant excepted.

To the ensuing sentence the defendant objected, excepted and appealed,
assigning errors.

Attorney-General McMullan and Walter F. Brinkley, Member of Staff,
for the State.

A. P. Kitchin, W. G. Pitiman, B. Brookes Peters, and E. O. Brogden,
Jr., for defendant, appellant.

Seawerr, J. The rules and regulations adopted by the State Highway
and Public Works Commission for the control and discipline of prisoners
committed to its custody and intended for the guidance of those who have
their immediate control cannot confer upon the latter immunity for dis-
ciplinary acts which would otherwise be offensive to the criminal law,
unless the particular regulation, per se, is within the authority of the
statute relied upon, and the statute itself not violative of the provisions
of the Constitution. Section 148-11 of the General Statutes, on which
the appellant claims authority for the disciplinary measures taken, reads
as follows:

“The state highway and public works commission may adopt such
rules and regulations for enforcing discipline as their judgment may
indicate, not inconsistent with the constitution and laws of the state.
They shall print and post these regulations in the cells of the con-
viets, and the same shall be read to every conviet in the state prison
when received.”

This statute is supplemented in appellant’s brief by G.S. 148-20, read-
ing as follows:

“Tt is unlawful for the state highway and public works commission
to whip or flog, or have whipped or flogged, any prisoner committed
to their charge until twenty-four hours after the report of the offense
or disobedience, and only then in the presence of the prison physician
or prison chaplain; and no prisoner other than those of the third
class as defined in this article shall be whipped or flogged at any
time.”

S. v. Nipper, 166 N.C. 272, 81 S.E. 164, furnishes a complete back-
ground of the law as it stands at present, (G.S. 148-20). The constitu-
tionality of the statute (G.S. 148-11) was upheld in 8. v. Revis, 193 N.C.
192, 136 S.E. 346, in an opinion by Chief Justice Stacy which touches
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practically every phase of the question now before us. But to render
lawful any corporal punishment directly provided for in the act or by
analogy supposed to be within the authority of the rules and regulations
provided for in the preceding section, G.S. 148-11, that sort of discipline
must be within the rule of reason contemplated by the statute; and
excessive punishment may deprive the perpetrator of its protection. 8. v.
Mincher, 172 N.C. 895, 90 S.E. 429.

It should be made clear that if the Commission has, under the supposed
authority of the statute, adopted rules for discipline of prisoners by
punishment or corrective measures not within its purview, the principle
of regard for administrative interpretation evidenced by practice will not -
control; and the fact that the defendant may have supposed himself to
be within the performance of a regimented duty is not a defense.

In a fair consideration of this case we must take note of the fact that
prison discipline in this country has been developed in an atmosphere of
sterner justice through the courts than that which now prevails, and has
taken on that flavor. But during the years both the courts and the
executive administration of its edicis have been greatly mollified by more
modern, if not more effectual philosophy respecting crime and its punish-
ment; and we have finally come to the point where it has become a
question for the humanitarians, (and we all wishfully, at least, belong
to that class), the criminologists, and experienced officials working in
the field of prison control as to what manner and degree of discipline is
best suited for the purposes of the eriminal law, and may with propriety
and observance of the humanities be applied. The passage between Scylla
and Charybdis has not been free from conflicting storms of acrimonious
critieism.

We certainly have not time or space in this opinion for any dissertation
on the ultimate purpose of enforeing the eriminal law,—whether for the
punishment of the crime or the reform of the prisoner. Conceding it to
be both, it is obvious, we think, that neither philosophy would be best
served by permitting open rebellion or insolence, or such disobedience to
the custodial will as would nullify the mandate of the Court, breed dis-
respect for the law and contempt for those who must enforce it.

With the Court itself which tries the accused and determines his guilt
and attempts to measure the debt which he owes to society, as well as
whether the debtor may, in some respects, be salvaged from his antisocial
behavior, the task is more practical than theoretical. Humanitarian
considerations, as far as the Court may consider them, (and there is no
other phase of the judge’s duty that is so difficult and usually so con-
scientiously faced), these are reflected in the judgment rendered, often
leading to probation, many judges no doubt properly thinking the peni-
tentiary or prison is a poor college from which to graduate the subsequent
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citizen. The duty of the Court, however, ends with the judgment; and
we come to the very practical question which boils up to the top of the
pot in cases like these: What rights does a prisoner of the law retain
when the sentence of the Court is announced and he is inducted into his
new station or status; and what rights has he surrendered to society?

In the first place it is clear that his status is not expressly fixed by the
judgment of the Court,—that does not reach forward and minutely detail
his treatment in his new station; there is something over when the sen-
tence is imprisonment, or imprisonment “at hard labor.” Human ele-
ments are to be dealt with,—the things which custodians may or may not
do to him. Some of them are necessarily implied in the sentence and
incident thereto; and some of them must be in accord, to some extent,
with the prevailing mores of the people who stand back of the law.

We observe in the first place that as a matter of conclusive inference,
the prisoner has, with the temporary surrender of his corporal freedom,
also parted with some of those rights and liberties that are pertinent to
the free civilian in exercising his will as he may desire. The sentence to
imprisonment at hard labor carries with it more than a mere willingness
on the part of the prisoner to comply with these conditions. A want of
willingness must be supplied by reasonable encouragement, or corrective
measures. All of them are imposed upon him én invitum; and he has
surrendered those rights of free choice and action which must of necessity
be abridged in order that the mandate of the Court may be carried out
effectively.

In the second place he has forfeited his free choice of conduet, of engag-
ing in practices calculated to destroy the order and effectiveness of the
institution to which he has been committed. We all agree to this.

But, in all cases where the rule of reason is the important factor or
eoefficient of action, there is an extensive area in which there are no
sharply drawn lines leading to easy definition; instead a twilight zone,
on one side of which conduct may not be challenged as other than lawful
or innocent, and on the other is clearly nocuous. Even the discretionary
power of the judge, ordinarily unreviewable, may come within appellate
correction because of its abuse.

We cannot, therefore, accept the theory suggested by the defense that
because the mode of punishment meted out to the prisoner was specified in
the regulations, it was, therefore, necessarily lawful. The manner of its
application as testified to by the prisoner, the extent to which it was
carried, the period during which it continued, the want of attention
during that time, taken in connection with the lack of food and water,
and rest from a position intended to infliet discomfort, and which un-
reasonably protracted was caleculated to produce serious injury,—we
cannot say that these did not go beyond the rule of reason and render its
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perpetrator liable to the law. TFifty or sixty hours of such treatment in
the manner disclosed by the State’s evidence might well raise the question
whether the Creator has fashioned the human frame to withstand serious
consequences to bone and sinew, not to mention that central nervous com-
plex at the receiving end of pain and misery.

We express no approval of the regulation immediately concerned or the
mode of its enforcement, and we think the conception of the treatment
given the prisoner as not being “corporal punishment” is neither diction-
ary-wise nor penologically-sound. Why an ex post facto approval of the
punishment inflicted should be required, or what effect it is supposed to
accomplish does not appear. In so far as the disciplinee is concerned
it 18 Lydford law.

It is unfortunate that the defense of the superintendent charged with
the violation of the law resolves itself into a defense of the system, of the
regulations and administrational practices which it is contended justify
in law the excesses exemplified in the punishment inflicted on the Prisoner
Lett as detailed in the State’s evidence. Since these rules and regulations
have been put in evidence as exculpatory of the defendant, and evidence
of official character offered to show that practices similar to that with
which we are now dealing are common in prison camps throughout the
State, it becomes necessary for us to say that however these disclosures
may be received in nonjudicial circles, we find them so inconsistent with
the rule of reason contemplated in the statute and so repugnant to natural
justice that we cannot regard them as conferring any immunity on the
defendant in the instant case.

The original warrant on which the defendant was tried in the recorder’s
court charged an “assault attended with cruel and unusual punishment.”
In the Superior Court from which this appeal comes, the Solicitor moved
to amend the warrant to have the charge read “inflicting serious injury.”
This was allowed over the defendant’s objection and exception. Conced-
ing that an amendment to the warrant completely changing the offense
with which the defendant was charged could not be made, the nature of
the amendment does not present a violation of the rule. The descriptive
matter supplied is merely in aggravation of the assault. That might in
certain inmstances have a jurisdictional bearing; but mnot here. The
Special County Court of Richmond County was created under the general
law, now G.S. 7-405, ef seq.; and by G.S. 7-435 all eriminal offenses under
the grade of felonies have been declared petty misdemeanors respecting
the jurisdiction of the courts. G.S. 7-435; S. v. Shine, 222 N.C. 237,
22 S.E. 2d 447; 8. v. Camby, 209 N.C. 50, 182 S.E. 715; S. v. Hyman,
164 N.C. 411, 79 S.E. 284. The amendment, permissible in the County
Court, was properly made in the Superior Court. G.S. 7-149, Rule 12;
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8. v. Brown, 225 N.C. 22, 23 S.E. 2d 121; S. v. Wilson, 221 N.C. 365, 20
S.E. 2d 278; 8. v. Holt, 195 N.C. 240, 141 S.E. 585.

It follows that the motion to quash the warrant and the motion for
arrest of judgment are without merit. Demurrers to the evidence were
properly overruled.

But we think that while the trial judge was justified in submitting the
evidence to the jury, she suffered a casualty in giving to the jury the
following instruction :

“If you do not believe the evidence of the defendant beyond a
reasonable doubt, then in that event only, would you return a verdiet
of not guilty.”

The instruction is doubtless based on the theory that the defendant, as
witness in his own behalf, had made such admissions as would have to
be discounted, or unbelieved, before his acquittal could be had.

However this process may enter into and direct our thinking, the Court
has never, we believe, approved the formula or passed favorably on an
emphasis of this sort on the evidence of the defendant alone, or even the
testimony of the defendant himself, as bearing so critically on the single
issue verdiet of guilt or innocence. The negative manner of the statement
was calculated to confuse the jury on the necessity of conviction beyond
a reasonable doubt on consideration of the whole evidence before they
could find the accused guilty, and must be held for error.

We do not wish it understood that the Court approves all the instruc-
tions to which the appellant has directed exceptions. We do not find it
necessary to enter into a maze of discussion which may not be helpful on
a new trial, and do not find it necessary to decision to consider other
exceptions in the record.

For the error indicated the defendant is entitled to a new trial. Tt is
so ordered.

Error. New trial.

MRS. GERTRUDE HIGDON axp HusaND, E. R. HIGDON, SUING oN BEHALF
OF THEMSELVES AND ALL OTHER OWNERS OF LOTS IN THE SUBDIVISION OF
MYERS PARK 1x 1HE CITY OF CHARLOTTE, MECKLENBURG
COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, WHO MAY CoME 1IN AND BE MADE PARTIES
PrLAINTIFF IN THIS AcTioN, v. BEN JAFFA aAnxp Wirg, BLANCHE JAFFA.

(Filed 14 December, 1949.)
1. Deeds § 16b—
‘Where the owner of lands subdivides same and sells separate parcels
with restrictions pursuant to a general plan of development, each grantee,
and also each owner of a lot by mesne conveyances from such grantee, may
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2.

4.

6.

7.

8,

enforce the restrictions against any other owner who took title with notice
of the restrictions.

Same—

A purchaser of land is chargeable with notice ot restrictive covenants
if such covenants are contained in any recorded deed or other instrument
in his line of title, even though it does not appear in his immediate deed,
since he is charged with notice of every fact affecting his title which an
examination of his record chain of title would disclose.

Same—

Where the owner of land subdivides and sells same according to a gen-
eral scheme for the entire traet, the fact that he develops contiguous land
owned by him under a different plan does not affect the uniformity of the
restrictions essential to a general scheme of development, since each is
a separate, distinct and integral subdivision.

Same—

‘Where the owner of a subdivision sells each lot therein with restrictive
covenants according to a general scheme of development, a further pro-
vision in its deeds to the several purchasers that nothing therein contained
should impose any restrictions or easements on any land of the owner not
conveyed, is rendered nugatory by its sale of every lot in the development
subject to the restrictions, and the owner cannot revive such provision by
the repurchase of lots theretofore sold by it under the restrictions.

Same——

The fact that the owner of a subdivision by stipulation in one deed
retains the right to alter or close any street in the subdivision not adja-
cent to the lot sold and not necessary to the full enjoyment of the property
conveyed can have no bearing on the uniformity of the scheme of develop-
ment when it appears that the street in question is necessary to the enjoy-
ment of the lot sold and further had been dedicated and accepted by the
municipality for use as a street.

Same—

The fact that in addition to the restrictive covenants common to all the
deeds to lots in a residential subdivision, one deed alone contains a restric-
tion that no part of the lot ‘“‘shall be used for agricultural purposes except
the part set aside as service premises, which should not be nearer the
street than 75 feet” is held not such a variation as to destroy the uni-
formity of the general scheme of development, it not being necessary to a
general scheme of development that there be absolute uniformity in detail
of the restrictions.

Trial § 22a—
On motion to nonsuit, plaintiff’s evidence will be taken as true and he
will be given advantage of every fair and legitimate inference which it
raises.

Deeds § 16—
In this action by the owner of a lot in a residential subdivision to enjoin
another owner from using his lot for business purposes, nonsuit is improp-
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erly entered on plaintiff’s evidence tending to show that all of the lots
in the subdivision had been sold with restrictions according to a general
scheme of developing the property exclusively for residential purposes and
that there had not been a single violation of the restrictive covenants any-
where within the subdivision.

9. Same—

The fact that restrictive covenants in deeds to land in a subdivision are
inserted by the owner to enable it to dispose of the property to better
advantage does not create a mere personal right in favor of the owner,
since such restrictions are devised also for the benefit of purchasers of
lots in the subdivision.

10. Same—

Mere increase in traffic upon streets in a subdivision restricted solely to
residential purposes does not impair the suitability of lots within the sub-
division for residential purposes so as to render the restrictions unenforce-
able in equity.

11. Same—

The fact that an adjacent subdivision or surrounding property is used
for business purposes does not alter the character of a subdivision used
exclusively for residential purposes so as to justify a court of equity in
relieving an owner against his restrictive covenants, and further, evidence
as to changed conditions outside the development are incompetent in an
action to enjoin the violation of the restrictions.

ArpEAL by plaintiffs from Patton, Spectal Judge, at the May Term,
1949, of MECKLENBURG.

This is a civil action in which the plaintifis, as owners of Lot No. 17
in Block 11-C of a certain subdivision in Myers Park in Charlotte,
North Carolina, seek to enjoin the defendants from erecting or maintain-
ing upon an adjoining lot, ¢.e., Lot No. 16 in Block 11-C of such sub-
division, “any business or commerecial strueture whatsoever” on the theory
that applicable restrictive eovenants limit the use of such adjoining lot
to residential purposes.

To sustain their claim to the relief sought, the plaintiffs presented
testimony of the matters and things set forth below.

On 24 June, 1924, the Stephens Company, a corporation, subdivided

a tract of land in Myers Park in Charlotte, which it owned in fee, into
37 building lots, whose irregular shapes and comparatively large sizes
rendered them more suitable for residential purposes than for business
uses. In so doing, the Stephens Company virtually bisected the property
from east to west by a passage named Henley Place, which it dedicated
to public use. Such dedication was accepted by the City of Charlotte,
which maintains Henley Place as one of its public streets. Henley Place
intersects with three other thoroughfares, to wit, Baldwin Avenue, East
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Morehead Street, and King’s Drive, at the western boundary of the tract.
The Stephens Company designated the 20 lots of the subdivision lying
north of Henley Place as Block 11-D, and the 17 lots of the subdivision
situate south of Henley Place as Block 11-C. Lot No. 16 of Block 11-C
abuts upon the intersection of Baldwin Avenue, East Morehead Street,
Henley Place, and King’s Drive. It is bounded on the east by Lot No.
17 of Block 11-C, which fronts on Henley Place alone. :

The Stephens Company caused a map of the subdivision, which it styled
a “plat of Blocks 11-C and 11-D, Myers Park, Charlotte, N. C.,” to be
registered in the office of the Register of Deeds of Mecklenburg County,
and sold all of the 37 lots in the subdivision to various grantees by
recorded conveyances deseribing the property by reference to the re-
corded map.

All of the deeds from the Stephens Company to the original purchasers
of the 37 lots of the subdivision preseribe in unvarying phraseology that
“the property shall be used for residential purposes only”; that “nothing
herein contained shall be held to impose any restrictions on or easements
in any land of the Stephens Company not hereby conveyed”; and that
“no apartment house shall be erected on the lot hereby conveyed.” The
deeds expressly state, however, that the term “apartment house” shall be
construed to mean “any building designed to house more than two fami-
lies.” The conveyances also contain additional “covenants, conditions,
and restrictions” regulating the number of residences to be erected on the
lots ; the building lines of residences, outbuildings, and fences; the height
and cost of residences; and the height of fences. They specifically state
that “no sign boards of any description shall be displayed on the property,
with the exception of signs ‘for rent,” which signs shall not exceed 2x 3
feet in size.”

Each deed from the Stephens Company to a purchaser expressly recites
that the property therein described is conveyed subject to the specified
restrictions on its use, which the parties to the instrument stipulate “shall
be covenants running with the land” and which the grantee, acting “for
himself, his heirs and assigns, hereby covenants and agrees to perform
and abide by.”

Lot No. 17 of Block 11-C was originally transferred to A. I. Henderson
by the Stephens Company on 1 September, 1925, by a duly registered deed
containing the restrictions on use heretofore set out, and passed to the
feme plaintiff, Mrs. Gertrude Higdon, in 1937 under mesne conveyances
from Henderson. The plaintiff, E. R. Higdon, unites in this action in his
character as husband of the feme plaintiff.

The defendants, Ben Jaffa and his wife, Blanche Jaffa, deraign title
to Lot No. 16 of Block 11-C under the following recorded instruments:
(1) Deed from Mrs. Sophia Goodman to the defendants, dated 26 Mareh,
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1937; (2) deed from Home Real Estate and Guaranty Company to Mrs.
Sophia Goodman, dated 30 October, 1930; (3) deed from G. O. Doggett
to Home Real Estate and Guaranty Company, dated 6 April, 1926; and
(4) deed from the Stephens Company to G. O. Doggett, dated 25 March,
1926. The deed from the Stephens Company to Doggett contains the
restrictions on use heretofore described, and the deed from Doggett to
Home Real Estate and Guaranty Company recited that the property is
conveyed subject to the restrictive covenants set out in the deed from the
Stephens Company to Doggett. The last two instruments in the chain of
title of the defendants do not refer to the restrictions.

After it had sold all of the lots in the subdivision by registered deeds
containing the restrictions, the Stephens Company reacquired Lots Nos.
1, 2, and 8 of Block 11-D under mesne conveyances from those who had
formerly purchased such lots from it.

The deed from the Stephens Company to A. I. Henderson contains a
restrictive covenant bearing the number 9 and reading as follows: “The
Stephens Company, its successors or assigns, shall have the right to
change, alter or close up any street or avenue shown upon said map not
adjacent to the lot above described and not necessary to the full enjoyment
by the party of the second part of the above deseribed property, and shall
retain the right and title to, and control of all streets and avenues within
the boundaries of Myers Park, subject only to the rights of the party
of the second part for the purposes of ingress and egress necessary to the
full enjoyment of the above described property.” It does not appear that
this provision is in any other deed. Moreover, the deed from the Stephens
Company to G. O. Doggett has an eighth restrictive covenant in these
words: “No part of the property shall be used for agricultural purposes
except the part set aside as service premises, which shall not be nearer
any street than seventy-five feet.” This clause does not appear in any of
the conveyances in the plaintiffs’ chain of title.

Many proprietors have erected substantial and valuable dwellings “up
and down Henly Place” on lots shown on the recorded map of the sub-
division. Nearly all of these structures have two stories, and most of
them are of brick construction. Some are duplex or two-family houses.
A few of them are rented. “There are no business properties on any of
the lots shown on the map of Blocks 11-C and 11-D, only residential.”

The plaintiffs have erected a substantial duplex dwelling on Lot 17
of Block 11-C. They reside in one side of it, and rent the other.

Lot No. 16 of Block 11-C is vacant. The defendants concede, however,
that they are preparing to erect a store building thereon and to lease it
to third persons for merchandising purposes, and that they will do so
unless precluded by decree in this action.
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The plaintiffs entered into two stipulations at the trial at the request
of the defendants. In the first stipulation, they admit that the Stephens
Company had established other subdivisions in Myers Park; that one
of these other subdivisions was located just across East Morehead Street
from the lot of the defendants; that the Stephens Company had sold lots
in such other subdivision for commercial purposes; and that the pur-
chasers of such lots had erected various types of business buildings
thereon, and were devoting them to sundry commercial enterprises. The
second stipulation recites that the increase of vehicular traffic along
Baldwin Avenue, East Morehead Street, Henley Place, and King’s Drive
since the plaintiffs and the defendants bought their respective lots in
Block 11-C of Myers Park has necessitated the installation of a traffic
circle at the intersection of such streets “to slow up and regulate traffic.”

Furthermore, the court allowed the defendants to cross-examine the
plaintiff, E. R. Higdon, as “to conditions and changes in the territory
outside of the subdivision shown on the map” of Blocks 11-C and 11-D of
Myers Park. The plaintiffs reserved exceptions to the testimony elicited
by such eross-examination.

After the plaintiffs had offered their evidence and rested their case,
the court sustained the motion of the defendants for a compulsory nonsuit
under G.S. 1-183, and entered judgment accordingly. The plaintiffs
excepted and appealed, assigning the entry of the nonsuit and the admis-
sion of the evidence as to conditions and changes in the territory outside
the subdivision as error.

James L. DeLaney for plaintiffs, appellants.
Charles W. Bundy, Sol Levine, and Arthur Goodman for defendants,
appellees.

Ervin, J. The primary question presented by this appeal is the pro-
priety of the compulsory nonsuit.

It is well settled in this State that “where the owner of a tract of land
subdivides it and sells distinet parcels thereof to separate grantees, impos-
ing restrictions on its use pursuant to a general plan of development or
improvement, such restrictions may be enforeced by any grantee against
any other grantee, either on the theory that there is a mutuality of
covenant and consideration, or on the ground that mutual equitable ease-
ments are created.” 26 C.J.S. Deeds, section 167; Brenizer v. Stephens,
220 N.C. 395, 17 S.E. 2d 471; Bailey v. Jackson, 191 N.C. 61, 131 S.E.
567; Homes Co. v, Falls, 184 N.C. 426, 115 S.E. 184,

Moreover, the right to enforce the restrictions in such case is not con-
fined to immediate purchasers from the original grantor. It may be
exercised by subsequent owners who acquire lots in the subdivision
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covered by the general plan through mesne conveyances from such imme-
diate purchasers. 14 Am. Jur., Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions,
section 319,

Furthermore, covenants limiting the use of land may hbe enforced
against a subsequent purchaser who takes title to the land with notice of
the restrictions. Dawis v. Robinson, 189 N.C. 589, 127 S.E. 697. The
law contemplates that a purchaser of land will examine each recorded
deed or other instrument in his chain of title, and charges him with
notice of every fact affecting his title which such an examination would
disclose. In consequence, a purchaser of land is chargeable with notice
of a restrictive covenant by the record itself if such covenant is contained
in any recorded deed or other instrument in his line of title, even though
it does not appear in his immediate deed. Sheets v. Dillon, 221 N.C. 426,
20 S.E. 2d 344; Turner v. Glenn, 220 N.C. 620, 18 S.E. 2d 197; Bailey
v. Jackson, supra.

The defendants maintain with much earnestness that the nonsuit was
proper on the ground that the testimony at the trial was insufficient as a
matter of law to sustain the allegations of the complaint that the Stephens
Company had imposed the restrictions on the use of the lots pursuant to
a general plan to develop the subdivision as a restricted residential com-
munity or neighborhood. They advance several arguments to support this
position.

They assert initially that the Stephens Company had developed Myers
Park as a unit composed of its different subdivisions; that it had sold
lots in another subdivision of Myers Park situated just across East More-
head Street from the lot of the defendants for commercial purposes; that
the purchasers of such lots had erected various types of business buildings
thereon, and were devoting the same to sundry commercial enterprises;
and that these facts negative the claim of the plaintiffs that Bloeks 11-C
and 11-D, which are merely parts of Myers Park as a whole, constitute
a restrieted residential community or neighborhood. The defendants
overlook the fact that this identical contention has been expressly rejected
by this Court on at least four ocecasions. McLeskey v. Heinlein, 200
N.C. 290, 156 S.E. 489; Johnston v. Garrett, 190 N.C. 835, 130 S.E. 835;
‘Homes Co. v. Falls, supra; Stephens Co. v. Homes Co., 181 N.C. 335,
107 S.E. 233. The land shown on the map of Blocks 11-C and 11-D of
Myers Park “is in fact, and was designed to be, a separate, distinet and
integral subdivision,” bearing no relationship whatever in the present
field of law to any other subdivision of Myers Park. Stephens Co. v.
Homes Co., supra.

The defendants insist secondarily that the restrictive covenants in the
deeds from the Stephens Company to the original purchasers were de-
signed to create a mere personal right in favor of the Stephens Company,



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1949. 249

HieDON v. JAFFA.

and were not intended to benefit the lots sold or those who purchased
them. They say that this proposition is established by this provision
appearing in all of the original deeds: “Nothing herein contained shall
be held to impese any restrictions on or easements in any land of the
Stephens Company not hereby conveyed.” The defendants rely on Hum-
phrey v. Beall, 215 N.C. 15, 200 S.E. 918, in which this Court corrected
an erroneous judgment rendered by the writer of this opinion while he
was serving as a Superior Court Judge and by reason thereof was still
subject to what Chief Justice Bleckley of the Supreme Court of Georgia
was pleased to call “the fallibility which is inherent in all courts except
those of last resort.” Broome v. Daves, 87 Ga. 584, 586, 13 S.E. 749.

The facts in the instant action are quite different from those in Hum-
phrey v. Beall, notwithstanding that most of the deeds in that case con-
tained a stipulation like that quoted above. The grantor in the Hum-
phrey case, i.e., the Charlotte Consolidated Construction Company,
retained unsold approximately 60 lots scattered throughout the 255 lots
in its development, and was empowered by the clause under consideration
to sell those unsold lots without restrictions. The Stephens Company,
however, did not reserve any land in Blocks 11-C and 11-D of Myers
Park free from the restrictions. The contrary is true. It sold every lot
in the subdivision subject to restrictive covenants limiting its use to
residential purposes. In so doing, the Stephens Company rendered the
stipulation in question wholly nugatory. It did not revive this clause
by repurchasing Lots Nos. 1, 2, and 3 of Block 11-D. This is necessarily
50 because its re-acquirement of those lots was under chains of title sub-
jecting them to the restrictive covenants. Pappas v. Highty Hundred
Realty Co., (Mo. App.), 138 S. W. 2d 762. Besides, each deed in the
Humphrey case expressly provided that any restrictions upon the lot sold
might be changed at any time and in any manner by the mutual written
agreement of the granior and the owner for the time being of the lot
conveyed. No such vitiating stipulation appears in the deeds of the
Stephens Company.

The defendants invoke the ninth restrictive covenant in the deed from
the Stephens Company to A. I. Henderson, who was the plaintiffs’ ante-
cessor in title, as a refutation of the idea that the restrictions were
embodied in the conveyances pursuant to a general plan to develop the
subdivision as a restricted residential community or neighborhood. This
argument is without convincing force. The ninth restrictive covenant
in the Henderson deed has never vested in the Stephens Company any
power “to change, alter, or close up” Henley Place, which is the only
“street or avenue” shown on the map of Blocks 11-C and 11-D of Myers
Park. This is true because Henley Place is adjacent to Lot No. 17 and
is necessary to its full enjoyment. Moreover, the controversy in respect to
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this particular restrictive covenant is a mere academic disquisition. The
City of Charlotte accepted the dedication of Henley Place to public use as
a street of the municipality, and has exclusive control over it as such.

The defendants contend finally on the present aspect of the litigation
that the eighth restrictive covenant in the deed from the Stephens Com-
pany to G. O. Doggett, their predecessor in title, purports to limit the
use of their lot “for agricultural purposes”; that no comparable restrie-
tion appears in the plaintiff’s chain of title; and that this variation in
restrictions destroys the uniformity essential to establish a general plan
for the improvements of the lots in Blocks 11-C and 11-D. This argument
ignores the legal principle that absolute uniformity in details is not
required to establish a general plan for the development of a tract sub-
divided into a number of building lots. Franklin v. Realty Co., 202 N.C.
212, 162 8.E. 199; Bailey v. Jackson, supra; Snow v. Van Dam, 291
Mass. 477, 197 N.E. 224; Humphreys v. Ibach, 110 N. J. Eq. 647, 160
A. 531, 85 A.L.R. 980; Neidlinger v. New York Ass'n for Improving
Condrtion of Poor, 121 Misc. 276, 200 N.Y.S., 852. The mere fact that
all of the restrictions are not exactly the same in all-of the deeds does not
prove that the restrictive covenants limiting the use of the property to
residential purposes are not intended to apply to all the lots in the sub-
division. 14 Am. Jur., Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions, section
202.

In passing on the propriety of the compulsory nonsuit, we must assume
that the evidence of the plaintiffs is true, and give them the advantage of
every fair and legitimate inference which it raises. Hughes v. Thayer,
229 N.C. 773, 51 S.E. 2d 488,

When the testimony of the plaintiffs is accepted as truth, it makes out
this case:

The Stephens Company subdivided Blocks 11-C and 11-D of its Myers
Park property into 37 building lots so that it might sell the entire prop-
erty in separate parcels to various purchasers. The shapes and sizes of
the lots rendered them more suitable to residential purposes than to
business uses. The Stephens Company sold all of the 37 lots to various
grantees by deeds containing covenants that the different grantees and
their respective heirs and assigns should use the lots “for residential pur-
poses only.” The defendants and all other present proprietors of property
within the subdivision took title to their respective lots with notice of the
restrictions. This is necessarily so for all of them acquired their lands
under recorded chains of title containing deeds embodying the restrictive
covenants. Many of the owners of lots in Blocks 11-C and 11-D have
erected substantial and valuable dwellings upon their holdings. There
has not been a single violation of the restrictive covenants anywhere
within the subdivision. The erection of duplex houses and the renting
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of dwellings within the subdivision do not constitute violations of the
covenants for the deeds permit these acts.

These facts fairly and legitimately warrant these inferences:

It cannot be gainsaid that the restrictive covenants were put in the
deeds to enable the Stephens Company to dispose of its property to its
greatest advantage. But this does not show that the restrictions were
designed to create a mere personal right in favor of the Stephens Com-
pany, and were not intended to benefit the lots sold and those who bought
them. The reverse is, indeed, the case. The object of the Stephens Com-
pany to sell its land to its greatest advantage was effected only because
its representations as to the restrictions convinced the purchasers of the
several lots that the observance of the restrictions within the borders of
the subdivision would enhance the value of the lots which they purchased.
This being so, the restrictions were devised to benefit the lots in the sub-
division, and those who bought them as well as the Stephens Company.
Sanford v. Keer, 80 N. J. Eq. 240, 83 A, 225, 40 L.R.A. (N.S.) 1090.
The soundness of this conclusion is shown by another factor. Since the
Stephens Company did not contemplate reserving any part of the land and
did not do so, it necessarily intended that the protection of the restrictive
covenants should inure to the benefit of the purchasers of the lots in the
subdivision, and that each of the purchasers should be entitled to enforce
them as against all of the others.

It follows, therefore, that the evidence of the plaintiffs was sufficient
to sustain a finding that the restrictive covenants were placed in the deeds
pursuant to a general plan to develop Blocks 11-C and 11-D of Myers
Park as a restricted residential community or neighborhood.

The defendants assert with much strenuosity, however, that even this
conclusion does not warrant the reversal of the compulsory mnonsuit.
They say that Blocks 11-C and 11-D of Myers Park have lost their resi-
dential character since the restrictions were created, and that in conse-
quence it would be oppressive and inequitable to give the restrictions
effect as against their lot. This claim is predicated on the evidence that
traffic has increased on Baldwin Avenue, East Morehead Street, Henley
Place, and King’s Drive, and that business establishments have grown
up in territory adjoining or surrounding the subdivision.

The testimony invoked by the defendants on this phase of the case does
not show that the increased traflic has substantially impaired the suit-
ability of lots in Blocks 11-C' and 11-D for residential purposes. Conti-
nental Oi Co. v. Fennemore, 88 Ariz. 277, 299 P. 132; Strong v. Han-
cock, 201 Cal. 530, 258 P. 60 ; Ludgate v. Somerville, 121 Or. 643, 256 P.
1043, 54 A.LR. 837. .

It does disclose, however, that all business changes have occurred in
territory outside the development. There is'not a single business estab-
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lishment within the subdivision. It is, indeed, utilized exclusively for
residential purposes in conformity to the restrictions. This being so, the
fact that adjoining or surrounding property is now used for business
purposes does not alter the character of the subdivision itself, and those
who have been led to buy lots or build homes in that locality by reason of
the restrictive covenants are entitled to have their property preserved for
the purpose for which they purchased it. Vernon v. Realty Co., 226 N.C.
58, 36 S.E. 2d 710; Turner v. Glenn, supra; Brenizer v. Stephens, supra;
McLeskey v. Heinlein, supra.

This conclusion compels a further decision for the plaintiffs on the
secondary question arising on the appeal. The court erred in permitting
the defendants to cross-examine the plaintiff, E. R. Higdon, as to changed
conditions outside the development. Twurner v. Glenn, supra; Brenizer
v. Stephens, supra.

For the reasons given, the compulsory nonsuit is

Reversed.

Ix THE MATTER OF THE WILL oF T. M. FRANKS.

(Filed 14 December, 1949.)
1. Wills § 6—

It is not necessary that testator sign his will in the presence of the
attesting witnesses, but it he does not do so he must acknowledge his
signature either by acts or conduct.

2. Wills § 7—

It is not required that subscribing witnesses sign same in the presence
of each other but they must sign simultaneously with or subsequent to the
signing of the instrument by testator.

3. Wills § 24—

Testimony of one subscribing witness to the effect that he signed the
instrument at the request of testator simultaneously with the testator, and
testimony of the other that when he signed same it had already been signed
by testator, together with testimony that testator stated to the witnesses
that the instrument was his will and requested them to sign same, is held
sufficient to show formal execution of the will, G.8. 31-3, and to support
the charge of the court thereon.

4. Wills §§ 22, 25—

The burden of proof on the issue of mental capacity is on caveators, and
therefore an instruction to the effect that if the jury should find from the
greater weight of the evidence that the will had been executed in con-
formity with law to answer the issue of devisavit vel non in the affirmative
“unless the evidence satisfies you that at the time” testator did not have
testamentary capacity, is not error.
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5.

6.

9.

8.

9.

Wills §§ 23b, 23c—

Testimony that some three years prior to the execution of the will at-
tacked on the ground of undue influence and mental incapacity, testator
had executed an instrument making practically the same disposition of his
property, is competent upon the issue of mental capacity and undue in-
fluence.

Wills § 23¢—

The exception to the exclusion of testimony of a witness that the general
public thought the testator was influenced by propounder to make the will
is without merit when the witness also testifies to the effect that he did
not know it to be a fact that testator was so influenced.

Same—

‘Where caveators introduce evidence to the effect that propounder, prior
to the execution of the will, had been given certain property by his father,
the testator, it is competent for propounder to introduce a written state-
ment executed by his father, duly identified, to the effect that propounder
had paid full purchase price for the property in question.

Wills §8 23b, 23c—

The fact that testator devises his property to one child to the exclusion
of others, or to strangers in blood to the exclusion of blood kin, is com-
petent to be considered with other evidence on the question of mental
capacity and undue influence. But in the present will the testator ex-
plained his reason for leaving the greater portion of his property to one
of his sons, and therefore testimony that testator had no reason for a
disproportionate distribution of his estate was properly excluded.

‘Wills §8§ 21c¢, 25—

Instructions to the jury to the effect that undue influence need not
necessarily involve moral turpitude or even bad or improper motive, but
that it is such influence by fraud or force or both as to amount to a sub-
stitution of the will of the influencing party for that of testator, is held
without error.

10. Same—

Instructions on the issue of undue influence to the effect (1) that
whether it was exerted by the beneficiary or by any other person in his
behalf is a deduction to be made by the jury from all the evidence, (2) that
mere persuasion would not render a will void in the absence of imposition
or fraud, and (3) influence gained by kindness and affection is not undue
influence even though it induced testator to make an unequal and unjust
disposition of his property, if such disposition was voluntarily made, held
without error.

AppraL by caveators from Stevens, J., at May Civil Term, 1949, of

WaARE.

Issue of devisavit vel non decided in favor of propounder,
T. M. Franks died in February, 1948, leaving a last will and testament

dated 12 September, 1940, which was duly admitted to probate in common
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form in Wake County. The widow of the testator and all his children
and grandchildren, except his son, David Preston Franks, chief bene-
ficiary under the terms of the will, caveated the will and it was pro-
pounded for probate in solemn form. Four issues were submitted to the
Jjury and answered as follows:

“1. Was the paper writing propounded, dated the 12th day of Septem-
ber, 1940, executed by T. M. Franks, according to the formalities of the
law required to make a valid last will and testament? Answer: Yes.

“2. At the time of signing and executing said paper writing did said
T. M. Franks have sufficient mental capacity to make and execute a valid
last will and testament? Answer: Yes.

“3. Was the execution of the paper writing, propounded in this cause,
procured by undue influence, as alleged? Answer: No.

“4, Ts the said paper writing referred to in Issue No. 1, propounded
in this cause, and every part thereof, the last will and testament of T. M.
Franks, deceased? Answer: Yes.”

From judgment on the verdict, the eaveators appeal and assign error,

Bickett & Banks for propounders.
Simms & Stmms for caveators.

Dexny, J. The grounds relied upon by the caveators in the trial
below were non-execution, mental incapacity and undue influence.

The caveators except and assign as error the following portion of his
Honor’s charge: “Now, Gentlemen, if this evidence satisfies you by its
greater weight that Mr. T. M. Franks did sign this paper in the presence
of Mr. Johnny Murray and Mr. F. T. Carroll, and asked them to sign it
as subscribing witnesses and he also signed it, and has further satisfied you
by its greater weight, the burden being upon Mr. D. P, Franks, that they
were told by him that he had signed the paper and that he requested them
to sign it and that they signed as subscribing witnesses, that all of these
witnesses were requested to sign by him as subscribing witnesses and they
all signed as such in his presence and at his request, then that would con-
stitute what the law calls a formal execution of the paper writing and
under those circumstances, nothing else appearing, if the evidence satisfies
vou that the requirements, as I have indicated them, of the law, were
complied with, then you would answer the issue Yes, the first issue, unless
the evidence satisfies you that at the time he made the will he did not have
mental capacity, what is known as testamentary capacity, that is, that
the execution was procured by undue influence.”

This assignment of error challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to
show that T. M. Franks executed his will according to the formalities

required by law.
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Johnny Murray and J. T. Carroll, the subscribing witnesses, each
testified that he signed the purported will of T. M. Franks, at his request
and in his presence, but not in the presence of each other.

J. T. Carroll testified that Mr. T. M. Franks requested him a time or
two to stop by in passing, “that he had a paper he wanted to get me to
sign, so I stopped in, and he brought the paper out. He told me what it
was, and I signed it in his presence.” Later in the trial this witness was
recalled, and counsel for propounder asked this question: “I don’t recall
whether I asked you or not, but please state whether or not the purported
will of Mr. Franks was signed by him at the time you signed it.” Answer:
“Yes, it was.”

Johnny Murray testified, Mr. Franks requested him to come to his
house, “that he wanted him to sign his will, and so he did, and he was in
Mr. Franks’ home, in the sitting room, the two were present and no one
else. . . . Mr. Franks brought the paper in the sitting room and that he
(the witness) signed it.” In response to a question as to what statement,
if any, Mr, Franks made concerning the paper, the witness said: “Well
he told me that was the will he wanted me to sign. . . .” Thereafter, on
cross-examination by counsel for the caveators, the witness, according to
the record, testified “that he did not see Mr. Franks sign the paper, that
it was already signed when the witness signed it; when the witness signed
it, Mr. Franks’ name was already on it.”

It is not necessary for a testator to sign his will in the presence of the
attesting witnesses. However, he must do so, or acknowledge his signa-
ture in their presence. This acknowledgment need not be in words, but
may be by acts and conduet. And, while subscribing witnesses to a will
must sign such instrument in the presence of the testator, it is not required
that such withesses sign in the presence of each other. In re Will of
Bowling, 150 N.C. 507, 64 S.E. 368; In re Herring’s Will, 152 N.C. 258,
67 S.E. 570; Watson ». Hinson, 162 N.C. 72, 77 S.E. 1089; In re
Broack’s Will, 172 N.C. 520, 90 S.E. 681; In re Will of Deyton, 177
N.C. 494, 99 S.E. 424, In re Wil of Johnson, 182 N.C. 522, 109 S.E.
378; In re Wil of Fuller, 189 N.C. 509, 127 S.E. 549; In re Will of
Kelly, 206 N.C. 551,174 S.E. 453; In re Will of Etheridge, 229 N.C. 280,
49 S.E. 2d 480.

In order to prove the formal execution of a will by subseribing wit-
nesses, as required by G.S. 31-3, it must appear that the will was signed
by the testator or some other person in his presence and by his direction,
and subseribed in his presence by at least two witnesses, Watson v.
Hinson, supra. And when the testator does not sign the will in the
presence of the witnesses, the signature should be acknowledged by him.
This acknowledgment, however, which may be inferred from the acts and
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conduct of the testator (In re Herring’s Will, supra) presupposes that the
testator had signed his purported will prior thereto.

The law contemplates that the signing of a will by the testator shall
precede the attestation, or that the testator and witnesses sign eotempo-
raneously in the presence of each other, so as to constitute one transaction.
Cutler v. Cutler, 130 N.C. 1, 40 S.E. 698. There must be a signature to
acknowledge or attest before there can be an acknowledgment or attesta-
tion. In re Wil of Pope, 139 N.C. 484, 52 S.E. 235; In re Will of
Baldwin, 146 N.C. 25, 59 S.E. 163 In re McDonald’s W1ll, 219 N.C. 209,
13 S.E. 2d 239. In re Will of Pope, supra, Hoke, J., speaking for the
Court, said : “In construing the statute as 4o written wills, with witnesses,
it is accepted law that the witness must subscribe his name to the paper
writing anwmo testandr, in the presence of the testator, and affer the
testator has himself signed the same.”

In this case, we have the testimony of the subseribing witnesses to the
effect that the purported will was already signed when they subseribed
their names as witnesses thereto. Carroll’s testimony bearing on this
point, is to the effect that the purported will of Mr. T. M. Franks was
signed by him at the time he (the witness) signed it. And the other
subscribing witness testified on direct examination, that he knew the
handwriting of the testator, and on eross-examination he testified that
when he witnessed the purported will “it was already signed . .. Mr,
Franks’ name was already on it.”

This evidence, when considered in the light of the testator’s conduect in
procuring these neighbors to witness his will, and his statement to the
witnesses that the instrument was his will, together with the fact that
his name already appeared hereon, is suflicient to meet the requirements
of the statute as to the formal execution of the will. Moreover, no ques-
tion has been raised by the caveators, as to the genuineness of the signa-
ture of the testator.

Therefore, the above portion of the charge was not prejudicial to the
caveators, and the exception thereto will not be sustained. On the other
hand, if the jury had answered the first issue in favor of the caveators,
the propounders might have shown error, since the court instructed the
jury in sum and substance that if the testator had already signed the will
when the witnesses subscribed their names thereto, the jury was required
to find that the testator told the witnesses at the time they witnessed the
will that he had signed it. The acknowledgment of his signature in
words, as heretofore pointed out, is not necessary, but may be inferred
by the acts and conduct of the testator. In re Herring’s Will, supra.

The caveators further complain of the instruction on the first issue
because his Honor added these words: “Unless the evidence satisfies you
that at the time he made the will he did not have mental capacity, what
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is known as testamentary capacity, that is, that the execution was pro-
cured by undue influence.” The burden on this issue was on the pro-
pounder, and the instruction was not prejudicial to the cavyeators.

Exceptions 4 through 2114 and 23 and 24, are directed to the admission
of the testimony of Mr. Sam Morris, who prepared a will for the testator
in 1937, and redrafted the instrument at the request of the testator in
1940, making certain minor changes therein, none of which, according to
the testimony, affected or in any way changed the devise now under
attack. And the substance of Mr., Morris’ testimony is to the effect that
i 1937 he drew a will for Mr. Franks; that Mr. Franks gave him all the
information he had in drafting the will and that the devise to Preston
Franks was identical in both instruments. The evidence was admissible
on the issue as to mental capaeity and as to undue influence. Ruffin,
C. J., in speaking for the Court, in Love v. Johnston, 3¢ N.C, 355, said:
“Minutes for a will are common evidence of capacity and the animus
testandi,; and letters, or verbal declarations, containing expressions of
preference for particular persons, or importing a voluntary purpose of
making particular dispositions, are the ordinary means of rebutting the
imputation of undue solicitation or influence.”

These and other exceptions challenging the admissibility of evidence
bearing on the mental capacity of the testator to execute a will on
12 September, 1940, are without merit. The evidence is overwhelmingly
in favor of an affirmative answer to the issue, relating to the mental
capacity of the testator at the time he executed his will. As a matter of
fact, the evidence offered by the caveators alone is sufficient to sustain
the verdict of the jury on this issue.

Exceptions 1 and 2 are directed to the refusal of the court to admit the
testimony of a witness as to what the community generally thought as to
whether or not Mr. Franks was especially influenced by his son Preston
from time to time. The witness, if permitted to answer, would have said :
“The general public,thinks he was persuaded to make the will.” How-
ever, the witness in answering for himself, as to whether he thought he
was especially influenced by his son Preston, said, “I don’t know that to
be a fact.” Myatt v. Myatt, 149 N.C. 137, 62 S.E. 887. The exceptions
are without merit.

The caveators except and assign as error, the ruling of the trial judge
in permitting the propounder to introduce and read in evidence a paper
writing which had been duly identified, which is as follows:

“To whom it may concern:

“Since it has been intimated that I gave my son, Preston, his present
home at McCullers and since the assertion is untrue, I desire to state
the facts about the matter.

10—231
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“I did bid the place in for my son, Preston, for the sum of $4,000.00
dollars. I put one thousand $1,000.000 dollars in the place of my own
money and Preston put one thousand $1,000.00 dollars of his own money
in the place. We then jointly borrowed two thousand $2,000.00 dollars
from the Commercial National Bank of Raleigh, N. C. T took title to
the place as a matter of safety, as I was responsible for three thousand
$3,000.00 dollars of the purchase price. A little later Preston paid the
bank its two thousand $2,000.00 dollars and a little later he paid me back
the one thousand $1,000.00 dollars that I advanced on the place. I then
gave my son, Preston, a clear title to the place for love and affection.
I did not give my son, Preston, one dollar on the place. He, Preston,
paid for it in full from his own money.

“I affirm the above statement is correct.

(s) T.M.Franrs (Seal)
“Witness: J. T. CarroLL
Norwoonp Carrorr.”

The caveators contend that the witnesses did not testify as to the trans-
action referred to in this paper writing, and that its admission was highly
prejudicial and tended to confuse the jury; that it had no proper place in
the testimony relating to the trial. This exception might have merit were
it not for the fact that the caveators undertook to show by the brother of
the testator that the propounder had obtained the tract of land referred
to in the above instrument, without consideration. The Rev. Jesse E.
Franks testified, “that my brother Cad (T. M. Franks) bought land down
there from my oldest brother, Nat, and I know Preston owned it later on.
As to definitely hearing them say just when, T don’t know. But Preston
owned the land that Nat formerly owned and Cad bought it from Nat.
I was told that Cad paid $4,000.00 for that property. It was in McCul-
lers. That is where Preston lives. I never knew of Preston paying my
brother anything at all for that place.” In the face of this testimony, the
exception is feckless. )

A careful consideration of all the evidence adduced in the trial below
would seem to support the conclusion that the caveators relied more upon
the unnaturalness of the will, to show undue influence, than upon the
conduect of the propounder. The propounder was devised the home place
of the testator, subject to the payment of $4,000.00 for the benefit of
several other children and grandchildren of the testator; and subject to
the right of his second wife to occupy and use the house and out-buildings,
including yard lot and all other buildings used by the testator and his
wife, for her life or until she remarried. The testator set out in his will
that he had sent certain of his children to college and that they were
indebted to him; that one of them had received more than his share, but
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he gave and bequeathed to them all the respective sums owed to him by
them. Several witnesses testified the 113 acre farm devised to Preston
Franks, the propounder, was worth from $10,000.00 to $15,000.00 in
1940,

The law presumes that every man has the mental capacity to make a
will, and anyone alleging otherwise has the burden of showing the lack
of such mental capacity. And where a testator devises the whole of his
estate to one child, to the exclusion of other children, in the absence of
some reasonable ground for such preference, or devises his property to
strangers in blood, to the exclusion of his blood kin, such fact may be
considered, with other evidence, on the question of mental capacity and
undue influence. In re Will of West, 227 N.C. 204, 41 S.E. 2d 838;
In re Will of Redding, 216 N.C. 497, 5 S.E. 2d 544 ; In re Hardee’s Will,
187 N.C. 381, 121 S.E. 667; In re Staub’s Will, 172 N.C. 138, 90 S.E.
119; Ross v. Christman, 23 N.C. 209.

However, the will under consideration gives a reasonable explanation
as to why the testator disposed of his property in the manner set forth
in the will. Therefore, we do not think it can be considered what in law
is termed an unnatural will. In re Will of Cooper, 223 N.C. 34, 25 S.E.
2d 1686.

The 45th exception and assignment of error is to the following portion
of his Honor’s charge: “One who is incapable at the moment of signing
the paper of comprehending the nature and extent of his property, the
disposition to be made of it and the persons who or should be provided for,
is not of disposing memory, and if such mental condition be really shown
to exist the will must fail and fall even though he may have a flickering
knowledge that he is endeavoring to make a testamentary disposition of
his property.” The exception is without merit, this portion of the charge
is in the exact language of the charge in I'n re Craven’s Will, 169 N.C.
561, 86 S.E. 587, which was upheld by this Court.

The 51st exception and assignment of error is to the following excerpt
from the charge: “Undue influence is defined to be an influence by fraud
or force or both, and if its application to the making of a will signified
that through one or both of these means the will of the decedent, and that
is in this case T. M. Franks, was perverted from its free action and
thrown aside entirely and the will of influencing party substituted for it,
the fraudulent influence overruling or controlling the mind of the person
operated on.”

The eaveators complain of the definition given of undue influence, par-
ticularly in view of the fact that the court had previously said: “That
undue influence does not necessarily involve moral turpitude or even bad
or improper motive,” ete. In re Will of Efird, 195 N.C. 76, 141 S.E. 460;
In re Broach's Will, supra; In re Craven’s Will, supra. The charge as
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given is substantially in accord with the definition given by Manly, J.,
in the case of Wright v. Howe, 32 N.C. 412, and cited with approval in
In re Craven’s Will, supra. See also In re Abee, 146 N.C. 273, 59 S.E.
700. The exception cannot be upheld, for undue influence is a fraudu-
lent, overreaching or dominant influence over the mind of another which
induces him to execute a will or other instrument materially affecting
his rights, which he would not have executed otherwise. Or, to put it
another way, it means the exercise of an improper influence over the
mind and will of another to such an extent that his professed act is not
that of a free agent, but in reality is the act of the third person who
procured the result. Lee v. Ledbetter, 229 N.C. 330, 49 S.E. 2d 634;
In re Will of Harris, 218 N.C. 459, 11 S.E. 2d 3103 In re Wil of T'ur-
nage, 208 N.C. 130, 179 S.E. 832; I'n re Wil of Efird, supra; In re Will
of Cross, 173 N.C. 711, 91 S.E. 956 ; Myatt v. Myatt, supra.

The 52nd, 53rd and 54th exceptions and assignments of error are to
the following parts of the charge: (1) “But while undue influence, as
thus defined, may void a will, whether it was exerted by the beneficiary or
by any other in his behalf is a deduction to be made by the jury from all
the evidence.” (2) “A will is not void because it has been obtained by
persuasion; to make it void the persuasion must be undue and fraudu-
lent.” (8) “Influence gained by kindness and affection will not be
regarded as undue if no imposition or fraud is practiced, even though it
induces the testator to make an unequal and unjust disposition of his
property in favor of those who have contributed to his comfort and
administered to his wants, if such disposition is voluntarily made.”

- Here again the identical langnage complained of was approved in I'n re
Craven's Will, supra. In Gilreath v. Gilreath, 57 N.C. 142, Pearson, J.,
said: “A child is allowed to use fair argument and persuasion to induce
a parent to make a will or deed in his favor.”

There are many other exceptions to the charge, but when it is con-
sidered contextually, as it must be, it is in substantial accord with our
decisions, and is free from prejudicial error.

Altogether the record contains 70 assignments of error. We have not
undertaken to discuss all of them. However, a careful examination of
each one of them, considered in connection with the entire record, leaves
us with the impression that the case was fairly tried and no substantial
or prejudicial error has been shown.

The verdict and judgment will be upheld.

No error.
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L. B. CHERRY aAxp JOANNA RAYNOR v. J. E. ANDREWS anxp MARY W.
GODDARD.

(Filed 14 December, 1949.)

1. Appeal and Error § 51a—

The determination on a former appeal that exceptions taken to the
report of the referee and tender of issue thereon made by defendant was a
sufficient compliance with the rules to entitle him to a jury trial, precludes
the matter, and plaintiff’s motion upon the subsequent trial for judgment
on the referee’s report and objection to the submission of the issue ten-
dered are properly overruled.

2. Reference § 14d—

The findings of fact and conclusions of law of the referee are not com-
petent as evidence in the trial of the issue raised by exceptions to the
report. G.S.1-189.

8. Trial § 36—

Where the issues submitted present to the jury all proper inquiry as to
all determinative facts in dispute, and afford the parties opportunity to
introduce all pertinent evidence and to apply it fairly, they are sufficient,
and exceptions thereto will not be sustained.

4. Boundaries § 3b—

‘Where a call in plaintiff’s deed is down a branch to a swamp then up
said swamp, the question of whether the call runs to the edge of the
swamp or further into the swamp to its thread is a question of fact for the
determination of the jury from all attendant evidence, and exceptions to
the charge which fairly and correctly submits this guestion to the jury and
exceptions to the refusal to give requested instructions to the effect that
as a matter of law the call would take the line to the thread of the swamp,
cannot be sustained.

5. Appeal and Error § 51a—

Principles of law enunciated on a former appeal become the law of
the case, and exceptions to the charge and rulings of the court upon the
subsequent trial in substantial accord with such principles will not be
sustained.

AprpeaL by plaintiffs from Bone, J., at February Term, 1949, of
Begrrtiz.

Civil action to recover land, and for damages on account of trespass
thereon.

This case was here on former appeal, 229 N.C. 333, 49 S.E. 2d 641,
where the facts pertinent thereto are stated. However, in the light of
the record, as it now appears, we deem it expedient to recount the case in
pertinent aspeets.

Plaintiffs allege in their complaint that they are the owners in fee
simple of two certain specifically described tracts of land in Windsor
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Township, Bertie County, North Carolina,—the boundaries of the second
tract only are controverted.

Defendants, answering the allegation of ownership of the land de-
scribed in the complaint, admit that “the plaintiffs own title to the
Benjamin Raynor lands, which are more particularly described in the
Benjamin Raynor land division of record in Book 172, at page 126, et al,
Bertie County Public Registry”; and they aver “that the eastern bound-
ary of said land begins at a marked gum tree on or near the banks of
Cashie River, and extends a northerly direction from said marked gum
tree, and the southern boundary line of said land runs from said marked
gum tree north 85 deg. west 3624 poles; then north 70 deg. 30 min. west
16 poles a chopped beech tree, all as designated on the plat of Benjamin
Raynor land division and which said line adjoins the Watson Tayloe
heirs land . . .”

And upon the hearing before the referee, plaintiffs offered evidence in
pertinent part, substantially as follows:

1. The admission of defendants, as above stated, that is, that “plain-
tiffs own title to the Benjamin Raynor lands . . .”

2. A deed from Jonathan S. Tayloe to Watson Tayloe, dated 20 Sep-
tember, 1869, Book NN, page 250, description reading as follows:

“Beginning at a ditch across the road leading from James Duers to
the old mill across Chiskey, James Duers’ line; then down said ditch and
branch James Duers’ line, to a large gum, said Duers’ corner; thence
continuing down said branch until it intersects another branch a short
distance above the crossing place in traveling to the Old Chiskey Mill
seat; thence continuing down said last named branch a part of which is
ditched to a large dead cypress tree standing about 30 yards from the
field fence; thence continuing nearly parallel with the fence through
the swamp to the Main Run of Cashie River; thence up the Main Run
of Cashie to where the Main Run of Chiskey enters into Cashie; thence
up Chiskey run to the Old Mill seat, continuing from thence to James
Duers’ line, following his line to the road, including a small piece of
land on which Abram Phelps resides; thence along the road to the
Beginning, containing 200 acres more or less.” And plaintiff offered
testimony tending to show that the description in this deed covers the land
now in controversy.

Plaintiff also offered two deeds from Watson Tayloe to Benjamin
Raynor, one in 1878 for 100 acres of land, and the other in 1886 for
50 acres of land, and offered evidence tending to show that the land
conveyed by these two deeds are parts of the tract obtained by Watson
Tayloe from Jonathan Tayloe, as above set forth; and that the deserip-
tion in the older deed runs “to the run of Cashie Swamp; thence up the
run to the run of Chiskey Branch.”
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And plaintiff also offered in evidence a mortgage deed from Watson
Tayloe and wife to William J. Myers, dated 18 March, 1890, registered
in Book 68, page 244, the description being the same as the second tract
in the complaint, and is as follows:

“Beginning at the Benjamin Raynor back gate on the path leading to
where Watson Tayloe now resides, and running said path to the branch;
thence down the branch to Cashie Swamp; thence up said swamp to
Benjamin Raynor’s line; thence up said line to the Beginning, contain-
ing 150 acres, more or less, being a part of the Joanna S. Tayloe land.”

And also a deed from William J. Myers, mortgagee, and John Hughes
to Benjamin Raynor, dated 9 February, 1892, registered in Book 99, page
387, in which the recitals are that “William Myers sold under power;
John Hughes bought; assigned his bid to Benjamin Raynor”—the de-
scription being the same as in the mortgage deed from Watson Tayloe to
William J. Myers, registered in Book 68, at page 244, as above set forth.
(And it is the contention of plaintiffs that the description in the mort-
gage covers the then unsold portion of the tract of land Jonathan Tayloe
conveyed to Watson Tayloe as described above.)

And plaintiff also offered testimony tending to show that the land
described in the said mortgage adjoins and lies south of the land described
in the first deed from Watson Tayloe to Benjamin Raynor as above
set forth.

And the plaintiff offered testimony tending to show that the branech
referred to in the call “thence down the branch to Cashie Swamp”
extended from the highlands through the swamp land into the run of the
swamp or Cashie River. Defendants offered evidence to the contrary.

The referee, in his report, finds as facts, among other things: “Fourth:
That the lands in controversy in this action are swamp lands . . . That
there is a well defined line of demarcation between the high land and the
swamp land, being as high in some places as ten feet.

“Fifth: That there is some appreciable physical evidence of a branch
extending from said point A (in red) to the run of Cashie Swamp; That
the call in the aforesaid mortgage deed, Book 68, page 244, ‘thence down
the branch to Cashie Swamp’ has as its northern terminus the run of
Cashie Swamp; and the call of boundary in said mortgage deed ‘thence
up said swamp’ ete., is the run of said Cashie Swamp . . .

“Ninth: That the true dividing line between the lands of the plaintiffs
and the said Mrs. Gladys W. Tayloe, under whom defendants claim, is
the projection in a straight line of the eastern boundary of the aforesaid
Lot No. 5 to the run of Cashie Swamp, and thence in a general northern
direction along the run of Cashie Swamp.”

And the referee made his conclusions of law in keeping with such find-
ings of fact.
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Defendants filed exceptions Nos. 3, 4 and 8 to the 4th, 5th and 9th
findings of fact, respectively, and tendered this issue.

“l. Are the plaintiffs the owners of and entitled to the possession of
lands lying east of a line extending from a marked gum tree north 85
deg. west 3624 poles; north 70 deg. 80 min. west 16 poles to a chopped
beech tree and situate between the highwater mark of Cashie Swamp and
the run of Cashie Swamp”? as being particularly raised by defendant’s
exceptions 3, 4 and 8.

Plaintiffs thereafter moved the Superior Court (1) to overrule the
exceptions of defendants, and (2) for judgment confirming the report.
The motions were overruled, and plaintiff excepted.

And when the case came on for hearing at May Term, 1948, as stated
in opinion on former appeal, the trial court entered judgment as of
nonsuit, predicated upon the premises that “counsel for plaintiffs ad-
mitted in court that if the deseription in the deed from Myers, mortgagee,
to Benjamin Raynor does not extend from red letter ‘A’ on the map sent
by the referee with the report, on to the run of Cashie Swamp the plain-
tiffs could not recover . . . and it being admitted by parties plaintiff
and defendants that Cashie River is a non-navigable stream, and the court
having considered the report, exceptions and the evidence bearing upon
the sole question involved as to the proper location of plaintiffs’ lines,
and the court being of the opinion upon the record and admissions made
in court that plaintiffs are not entitled to recover.”

And plaintiffs in their brief filed on the appeal to this Court, presented
as “Questions Involved” these two: “1. Whether the line of the deed
from Myers, mortgagee, to Ben Raynor, ‘thence down the branch to
Cashie Swamp,’ stops at the edge of the swamp as shown by red ‘A’ on
the division map, or goes to the run of Cashie Swamp (Exceptions 2,
p- 21, and 3, p. 29) ; and

“9, Whether the exceptions filed by defendants to the report of the
referee conforms to positive statutory requirements and decisions of this
Court. (Exception No. 1, R. p. 20.)”

The decision of this Court, reported in 229 N.C. 333, 49 S.E. 2d 641,
was (1) “that whether the call ‘thence down the branch to Cashie Swamyp’
terminates at the edge of the swamp or extends on to the run of it, involves
a matter of fact to be found by the jury upon the evidence offered”; and
(2) that “testing the exceptions to the referee’s report filed by defendants,
and their tender of issues by rules of procedure for preserving right to
jury trial in a compulsory reference case, as enunciated in decisions of
this Court, it appears that they meet the requirements sufficiently to with-
stand successful attack.” For error pointed out the judgment of nonsuit
was reversed.
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The record now before us on this appeal shows that when the case was
called for trial:

1. Plaintiffs moved for judgment on the report of the referee. Motion
overruled. Exception.

2. Plaintiffs objected specifically to the first issue tendered, which issue
was amended on motion of defendants, substituting the word “south” for
the word “east,” as appeared in the original exceptions,—objection being
based on the ground that the issue did not arise from the findings of the
referee and the pleadings. Overruled. Exception.

The case was thereupon submitted to the jury upoen the evidence offered
by the parties on the hearing before the referee, and under the charge
of the court, and on the issue quoted above, to which the jury answered
“NO-”

Plaintiffs requested certain speeial instructions to the jury. The court
gave them in modified form, to which plaintiffs excepted.

And from judgment for defendants plaintiffs appeal to Supreme Court
and assign error.

H. 8. Ward for plaintiffs, appellants.
J. A. Pritchett and F. T. Dupree, Jr., for defendants, appellees.

WixsorNE, J. Plaintiffs challenge, on this appeal, the correctness of
the judgment from which appeal is taken, on several grounds. However,
after careful consideration of each exception, we are constrained to hold
that error of sufficlent import to justify disturbing the judgment is not
shown.

I. The first and second exceptions may be treated together. They
relate (1) to the overruling of plaintiffs’ motion for judgment on the
report of the referee, and (2) to the submission of the first issue. It is
contended that no issue was submitted in defendants’ exception on the
finding of fact No. 5,—*“which presented the pivotal and controlling point
in the case,” that is, “that the line in the Tayloe mortgage and the Ben
Raynor deed went to the run of the swamp.” And it is contended that
the first issue does not arise on the pleadings and findings of the referee.
Moreover, it is stated, in reference to these exceptions, that “it is apparent
that the report of the referee has been treated as of no more significance
than a judgment of a J. P.” But be that as it may, these exceptions relate
to straw threshed out on former appeal. Reference to the exceptions filed
by defendants, as shown in the records on former appeal and on this
appeal discloses that exception is made specifically to finding of fact
No. 5, and the first issue tendered by defendants is expressly directed to
this finding of fact. And on the former appeal the question of the suffi-
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ciency of the exceptions and tender of issues to preserve defendants’ right
to a jury trial, was raised, and considered, and determined.

It is true that the former appeal also challenged the ruling of the court
in granting the nonsuit. But since it was held (1) that whether the call
“thence down the branch to Cashie Swamp” terminates at the edge of the
swamp or extends on to the run of it, involves a matter of fact to be found
by the jury upon the evidence offered, and (2) that the issue tendered was
sufficient to withstand successful attack, confirmation of the report of the
referee was not in order. It must be borne in mind that the reference
had in this action was ordered under the provisions of the statute provid-
ing for compulsory reference. G.S. 1-189. Under this Section it is
declared that “the compulsory reference . .. does not deprive either
party of his constitutional right to a trial by jury of the issues of fact
arising on the pleadings, but such trial shall be only upon the evidence
taken before the referee.” And the decisions of this Court hold that the
report of the referee, consisting of his findings of fact and conclusions of
law, would not be competent as evidence before the jury. See Bradshaw
v. Lumber Co., 172 N.C. 219, 90 S.E. 146, and Booker v. Highlands,
198 N.C. 282, 151 S.E. 635.

And it is not inappropriate to say that while the first issue might have
been framed differently, it arose upon the pleadings, G.S. 1-196, and was,
and is deemed sufficient to present to the jury the controverted question
as to whether plaintifis own the swamp land lying between their highland
and the run of Cashie Swamp. Issues submitted are sufficient when they
present to the jury proper inquiries as to all determinative facts in dis-
pute, and afford the parties opportunity to introduce all pertinent evi-
dence and to apply it fairly. Lister v. Lister, 222 N.C. 555, 24 S.E. 2d
342, and cases cited.

II. Exceptions Nos. 3 to 9, both inclusive, grouped under two head-
ings, bring into focus the principles of law for proper construction of the
description in question.

Exception No. 3 relates to three deletions from instructions requested
by plaintiffs as follows: “It is a general rule of law for the construction
of deeds, that where a deed calls for a swamp, or creek not navigable it
extends to the run or thread of the stream” ; “If the run of the branch can
be defined and appears to extend beyond the edge of the swamp and into
the swamp, the law carries that line to the run”; “You may consider the
nature and character of the branch, beyond the edge, if it is definite, then
this deed and its eall would go on to the run of the swamp,”—eliminating
the words, “then this deed and its calls would go to the run.” Tt is
insisted that these requests are not met in the general charge.

And Exceptions 4 to 9, both inclusive, are directed to portions of the
charge as given, and “are collected,” as plaintiffs say “as presenting the
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same question, whether the construetion of this deed and its line by the
call ‘to the swamp’ followed by the next call ‘thence up the swamp,’
presents a WHAT and not a WHERE.”

Exception 6 is directed to this charge: “As I understand it the deed
from the mortgagee to Benjamin Raynor has the same description as
this mortgage. You see this deseription does not say whether the edge
of the swamp or the run of the swamp but says, ‘thence down the branch
to Cashie Swamp,” and therefore it becomes necessary to decide in this
case, and it is the question for the jury to decide as to whether the de-
seription takes it to the edge of the swamp or to the run of the swamp.”

Exception No. 7 is to that charge, immediately following that to which
Exception No. 6 relates, reading: “If the deed had said specifically that
it went to the run of the swamp, then there would not have been any
question about it, or if it had said to the edge of the swamp there would
have been no question about it, but when it says ‘down the branch to
Cashie Swamp,” it leaves the matter in such a state that the court cannot
determine it as a matter of law but it is for the jury to say what was
meant, taking into consideration all the evidence and the surrounding
facts and circumstances described by the evidence.”

And, continuing, the court charged: “I charge you as a matter of law
that where a creek is called for by name, nothing else appearing, the
call must go to the running stream, and when neither the side line or the
bank, nor the middle line is expressed, the conclusion of law is, that the
channel or middle line is intended. This rule applies when the natural
object is unique or has properties or characteristics peculiar to itself and
which admit of its easy and certain identification, as a creek or river.
There is then no ambiguity in the call, and resort to oral evidence is not
necessary in order to fit the description to the thing. (But when, as in
this case, the Cashie Swamp is called for it is for the jury to say upon
the evidence what was intended, whether the edge of the swamp or
whether the run of the swamp).” The portion in parenthesis only is the
subject of Exception No. 8.

And continuing the court further charged: “The law in this situation
will not say arbitrarily whether it is the run of the swamp or the edge of
the swamp, but it is a question of fact for the jury to determine upon all
the evidence as to which was intended by the call in this mortgage and
in this deed.”

Exception No. 9 is to court charging that the first issue, reading it,
will be submitted to the jury.

Then, after stating the contentions of the parties, the court, at the
request of plaintiffs, gave these instructions: “The question is whether
that mortgage from Watson Tayloe to Wm. J. Myers . . . and the deed
from Wm. Myers to Benj. Raynor . . . covered the land in controversy.
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That question seems to turn upon the question whether the call in the
mortgage and the deed: ‘thence down the branch to Cashie Swamp’
extends to the run of that swamp. The court is leaving that question to
you. In determining this question, the jury may consider whether the
branch, by a perceptible run or line, reaches the run or thread of the
stream. Another aid to the jury is the consideration of the next line,
which in your case is: ‘thence up the swamp’ to what is admitted to be a
tract owned by Benj. Raynor at the time this deed was made. You may
also consider the nature and character of the branch beyond the edge and
if it is definite. The plaintiffs contend that they have shown, to your
satisfaction, that this branch does extend beyond the edge and on to the
run of the swamp.”

In connection with these portions of the charge, it is to be recalled
that on the former appeal, it is held by this Court: “In the light of
applicable principles of law declared in the case of Rowe v. Lumber Co.,
133 N.C. 433, 45 S.E. 830, particularly in respect of the ‘Watkins 50-
acre tract,” and again in same case reported in 138 N.C. 465, 50 S.E. 848,
in which Brooks v. Britt, 15 N.C. 481, is cited with approval, it would
seem that whether the call ‘thence down the branch to Cashie Swamp’
terminates at the edge of the swamp or extends on to the run of it,
involves a matter of fact to be found by the jury upon the evidence
offered.” 7

In Brooks v. Britt, supra, in opinion by Gaston, J., the Court had this
to say: “His Honor was unquestionably correct in laying it down as
a principle in law, that the swamp was a natural object more certain, and
therefore more worthy of reliance than the distances called for in the
grant; that this swamp was in law a boundary of the patent, and that the
defendant’s grant must be extended to it, if the distances would not reach,
and restrained by it, if these distances overreached it. But we are of
opinion that he erred in pronouncing that if there was a certain and
known channel for the water to run in said swamp, the call of the grant
was for that run. Whether the run in the boggy and sunken land, or the
margin of such boggy and sunken land, was the call of the grant, depended
upon facts fit to be proved, and proper to be passed upon by the jury. If,
when ‘the grant issued, the low grounds were known as the Swift Creek
Swamp,; and the run or channel was not termed the swamp, but had
another appellation, such as Swift Creek, or east prong, or any other
distinctive name, then the call of the grant was for those low grounds,
and not for the run. If, on the contrary, the run was then known as
Swift Oreek Swamp, and the bottom lands were distinguished from it as
the low grounds of that swamp, then indeed, the call was for the run, and
not for the low grounds. If each were known by the same appellation,
and indiscriminately called Swift Creek Swamp, then there were two



N.C/] FALL TERM, 1949. 269

CHERRY ¥. ANDREWS.

natural objects, either of which corresponded with the call of the grant,
and which of these was intended, might and ought to be determined by
reference to other matters of description in the grant, or to extrinsic
facts, rendering the one or the other more probable.”

And in Rowe v. Lumber Co., supra, in respect of the Watkins 50-acre
tract, Walker, J., wrote for the Court: “The question raised in regard
to this tract is as to its proper location, and this largely depends upon
the determination of its first or beginning call . . .”

And further on in the opinion in this same case, the Court said: “But
the plaintiffs contend that the third eall, which is ‘thence said (Old
Field) branch to Catskin,” should stop at the edge of the swamp, or, at
least, that the matter should be left to the jury so that they can determine
what is meant by ‘Catskin,’—that is, whether the edge or the run of the
swamp was intended. The defendant insists that the call should go to the
run, but if, as a matter of law, the run is not called for, then the jury
should decide as a matter of fact where the end of this line should be.
We cannot say that either the edge of the swamp or the run is the objee-
tive swamp, but it should be submitted to the jury to ascertain, upon the
evidence and under the instructions of the court, where the end of the
third line or the fourth corner of the tract is, and then a line should be
run from this corner according to the call of the deed to the first station.
It will be seen, therefore, that the true location of this tract is to be
determined by the same general principle which was applied in the case
of the 64-acre tract. When the call is at all ambiguous or uncertain it is
always a question of fact for the jury to decide what was meant, and to
fix the boundaries according to what they may find from the evidence,
under the law as given to them by the court, was the real intention of
the parties to the deed.” And in respect to the 64-acre tract—the court
declared: “We still adhere to the doctrine so well stated by Gaston, J.,
in Brooks v. Britt, supra, that where a swamp is called for, whether the
run is in the boggy and sunken land, or the margin of such boggy and
sunken land, is the call of the grant, depends ‘upon facts fit to be proved
and proper to be passed upon by the jury.”

Testing the portions of the charge under consideration and the rulings
in respect of the deleted portions of requested instructions, by the excep-
tions. thereto, it appears that both the charge and the rulings are in
substantial accord with the principles of law on which the case was
decided-on former appeal. These principles therefore constitute the law
of the case,—and are binding on this appeal.

All other exceptions have been considered and in.them no prejudicial
error is made to appear.

Hence in the judgment on the verdict, we find

No error.
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RULANE GAS COMPANY v. MONTGOMERY WARD & COMPANY, INC.

1.

2,

3.

4.

5.

(Filed 14 December, 1949.)

Sales § 30—Evidence that seller represented that article was safe for use
in particular manner when consciously ignorant of defect, held to raise
implication of negligence.

Evidence that the retailer represented that the heater purchased by
plaintiff could be safely converted for use with bottled gas by proper
adjustment, that the adjustments were made and the heater installed by
a service company, and that after fourteen months use there was an
explosion, and that immediately thereafter it was ascertained that the
automatic cut-off valve had failed in its funection to cut off the gas after
the pilot light had gone out, i8 held sufficient to be submitted to the jury
on the issue of the retailer’s negligence, there being evidence that the
automatic cut-off valve was in substantially the same condition as when
purchased, and there being no evidence to show that its usefulness would
have been exhausted in that period.

Same: Negligence § 3—

The liability of a seller for resulting injuries when he authorizes an
article to be used for a specified purpose, when by reason of defective con-
struction injury may be reasonably apprehended from such use, rests upon
general principles of negligence and does not arise out of the contract.

Sales § 17—
The seller of an article manufactured for it by another is subject to the
same liability as the manufacturer if the article has been rendered poten-
tially dangerous by defect in the construction. of safety devices.

Negligence § 7—

Insulating negligence relates to proximate cause, and is an intervening
act which could not have been reasonably foreseen and which becomes the
efficient cause of the injury, and thus breaks the causal connection of the
primary negligence.

Same: Sales § 30—

The evidence tended to show that a service man, upon being called to
service a heater after the pilot light had gone out, struck a match after
being warned not to do so, causing the gas, which had escaped because of
a defect in the automatic cut-off valve, to explode. Held: The palpable
negligence of the service man could not have been reasonably foreseen by
“the seller, and therefore his acts constitute intervening negligence insu-
lating as a matter of law any negligence on the part of the seller in repre-
senting that the heater was safe for such use when it was consciously
ignorant of the defective condition.

Sracy, C. J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

Arrear by Montgomery Ward & Company from Shuford, Special

Judge, April Term, 1949, of MEckLENBURG. Reversed.
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Augusta E. Reis, administratrix of Louis A. W. Reis, deceased, insti-
tuted action against Rulane Gas Company to recover damages for the
injury and death of her intestate, alleging negligence on the part of
the Gas Company in the installation and service of an automatic gas
heater, resulting in an explosion with fatal consequences.

Plaintiff Reis, in her complaint, alleged that the negligence of Rulane
Gas Company in the respects set out proximately caused the injury
complained of. The Rulane Gas Company then moved under G.S. 1-240
that Montgomery Ward & Company, from whom the heater was pur-
chased, be made party defendant, and filed answer denying negligence on
its part, and setting up a cross-action against Montgomery Ward & Com-
pany for contribution in the event it should be adjudged liable to the
plaintiff. In its cross-complaint the Rulane Gas Company alleged that
Montgomery Ward & Company was negligent in that under a representa-
tion of safety it sold to plaintiff’s intestate an automatic gas hot water
heater not adapted for use with bottled or other liquefied petroleum gas,
and not equipped with proper automatic cut-off valve which would have
stopped the flow of gas to the heater when the pilot light was out, and
rendered an explosion impossible.

Defendant Montgomery Ward & Company, answering, admitted it sold
to plaintiff’s intestate a heater which had been manufactured for it by a
named manufacturer, but denied that any part of the apparatus was
defective when sold, or, if so, that the defect was one capable of detection
by ordinary care, and further that any negligence in this respect was not
the proximate cause of the explosion and consequent injury but was
insulated by the subsequently operating negligence of the defendant Gas
Company.

Upon issues submitted, the jury for their verdiet found that the injury
and death of plaintiff’s intestate was caused by the negligence of defend-
ant Rulane Gas Company, and also that this fatal injury was due to
“the joint and concurring negligence of defendant Montgomery Ward
& Company and the defendant Rulane Gas Company as alleged in the
further defense and cross-action of the defendant Rulane Gas Company.”
Damages were assessed in total sum of $25,000. Judgment was rendered
that plaintiff recover of defendant Rulane Gas Company $25,000, and
that Rulane Gas Company have judgment over against defendant Mont-
gomery Ward & Company for $12,500. The defendant Rulane Gas
Company has paid the amount of the judgment to the plaintiff, and in
order to preserve the lien of the judgment for the purpose of enforcing
contribution against the defendant Montgomery Ward & Company has
had the judgment